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PROJECT ?tiKULTRA, THE CIA'S PROGRAM OF 
RESEARCH IN BEHAVIORAL rtlODIFICATION 

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 3, 1977 

u.s. SENATE, 
SELECT "Co::o.nnTTI::E ox INTELLIGENCE, 

AND Scnco::o.nrrrTEt~ ox HEALTH 
'~·xo SciENTIFIC REsEARcH 

OF THE Co::o.nnTTF..F.. ox Hu?trAN RESOl.rRGEs, 
Washington, D.O. 

The committees met, pursuant to notice, at 9:07a.m. in room 1202, 
_Dirksen Senate Office Building, Senator Daniel K. Inouye-( chairman 
of the Select Committee on Intelligence) presiding. 

Present: Senators Inouye (presiding), Kennedy, Goldwater, Bayh, 
Hathaway, Huddleston, Hart, Schweiker, Case, Gam, Chafee., Lugar 
and Wallop. 

Also present: William G. ].filler, staff director, Select Committee on 
Intelligence; Dr. Lawrence Horowitz, staff director,· Subcommittee 
on Health and Scientific Research; and professional staff members of 
both committe.es. 

Senator INOUYE. The Senate Select Ccmmittee on Intelligence is 
meeting today. and is joined by the Subcommittee on Health and 
Scientific Research chaired by Senator Edward Kennedy of 1.-:fas­
sachusetts and Senator Richard Schweiker of Pennsylvania. Senator 
Hathaway and Senator Chafee are members of both committees. 'Ve 
are to hear testimony from the Director of Central Intelligence, Adm. 
Stansfield Turner, and from othe.r Agency witnesses on issues concern­
ing new documents supplied to the committee in the last week on drug 
testing conducted by the Central Intelligence Agency. 

It should be made clear from the outset that in general, we are 
focusing on events that happened over 12 or as long as 25 years ago . 
It should be emphasized that the programs that are of greatest con­
cern have stopped and that we are reviewing these past events in. 
order to better understand what statutes and other guidelines might be 
necessary· to prevent the recurrence of such abuses in the future. We 
also need to know and understand what is now being done by the CIA 
in the field of behavioral research to be certain that no current abuses 
are ·occurring. . · . · 

I want to commend Admiral Turner for his· full cooperation with 
thjs eonunittee and with the Subcommittee on Health in recognizing 
that thiS issue· needed our attention. The CIA has assisted our com­
mittees and staffs in their investigative efforts and in arriving at 
remedies which will serve the best interests of our country. · 
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The reappearance of reports of the abuses of the drug testing pro­
gram and reports of other pr~viously unh.-nown drug p·ograms a_nd 
projects for b€havioral control underline the nec.ess1ty for effectrve 
oversight procedures -both in the executi1"e branch and in the Con­
gress. The Select Committee on Intelligence has be-en '-rorh.-ing \ery 
closely with President Carter. the V1ce President. and Admiral 
Turner and his associates in de·,·e1oping basic concepts for statutory 
guidelines which will gO\·ern aU activities of the intelligence agencies 
of the United States. · 

In fact. it is my expectation that the President will soon announce 
his decisions on how he has decided the intelligence. a~encies of the 
United States shall be organized. This committee will be working 
closely with the President. and Admiral Turner in placing this new 
structure under the law and to develqp effecti\e o\ersight procedures. 

It is clear that effectiYI? oversight requires that information must 
be full and forthcomin,!!. Full at1d timely information is ob\iously 
necessar:r if the committee and th£> public is to be confident that any 
transJrressions can be d€'nlt with quicklv and forcefully. 

One purpose of this hearing is to gh·e· the committee and the public 
an understanding of what. n€'w information has been discoV'ered that 
ndds to the knowledg£>. already a\ailable from previous Church and 
Kennedy inquiries. and to hear the reasons n·hy these documents were 
not available to the Church and K€'nnedv committees. It is also the 
purpose of this hearing to address the issues raised by any additional 
illegal or improper acti\ities that have emerged from the files and to 
dev~lop remedies to pre\ent such improper actiV'ities from occurring 
a gam. 

Finally. there is an obligation on the pai't. of both this committee 
and the CIA to make eYer:r effort to help those individuals or institu­
tiot:ts.t~at. may ha\€' been hanned by any of these imp:ro~r or _i11ega1 
achntles. I am certain that Admiral Turner will work w1th th1s com­
mittee to S<>e that this will be done. 

I would now like to welcome the mo~t distinguished Senator from 
1\fassachusetts, the chairman of the Health Subcommittee, Senator 
Kennedy. · · 

Senator KF.X~""Enr. Thank Tou verr much, :Mr. Chairman. We are 
de~ighted to j~in. together in· this· Yery important area of public in­
quiry and pubhc mterest. 

Some 2 years ago. the SenatE.> Health Sulx:ommittee heard chilHng 
testimony about the human €'xperimentation acti\ities of the Central 
Inte114z-encc Agency'. The Deputy Director of the CIA re\ealed that 
0\'er 80 universities o:nd institutions were in\olved in an "extensive . 

·testing and experirri(mtation" program which included co,·ert drug 
. t~s on unwitting citizens "at all social le\els, high and low~ native 
Americans and foreign." Severa] of these tests invoh-ed the adminis­
tration of I..SD to "unwitting subiects in SO<.'ial situations.:' .. 

At least one death. that of D1·. OJsen. resulted from these act.ivities. 
The Asrency itself acknowled~d that these tests made little scientific 
sense. The a1rents doinl! the monitoring were not qualified scientific 
observers. The test stibjects were seldom accessible lx>_vond the fin,-t 
hours of the test. In a number or instances~ the test subject became ill 
for hours or days, and effecth·e fo11owup was impossible. 
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Other experiments were equally offensh·e. For example, heroin 
addicts wcr~ enticed into participating in LSD experiments in order 
to get a I\.ward-heroin. 

Perhaps most disturbing of all was the fact that the extent of ex­
perimentation on human subjects was unknown. The records of all 
these activities were destroyed in January 1973, at the instruction of 
the.n CIA Director Richard Helms. In spite of persistent inquiries by 
both the Health Subcommittee nnd the Intelligence Committee, no 
additional records or information were forthcoming. And no one-­
nc.· single individual--could be found who remembered the details, not 
the Director of the CIA, who ordered the documents destroyed, not 
the official l'i~sponsible for the program, nor any of his as..;:;ociates. 

"\Ve believ•!o. that the record, incomplete as it was, was as complete 
as it \vas going to be. Then one individual, through a Freedom of In­
formation request, accomplished what two U.S. Senate committees 
eould not. He spurred the agency into finding additional records per­
taining to the CIA's program of experimentation with human subjects. 
T~ese new records were discove1·ed by the agency in ~larch. Their 
ex1stence was not made known to the Congress until July. 

The records reveal a far rnore extensive series of experiments than 
had previously been thought. Eighty-six universities. or .institutions 
were involved. New instances of unethical behavior were revealed. 

The int~lligence community of this Nation, which requires a shroud 
of secrecy in order to opet:ate, has a very sacred trust from the 
American p~ople. The .CIA's program of human experimentation of 
the fifties and sixtit>s .violated that trust. It was violated again on the 
day the bulk of the agency's records were destroyed in 197'3. It is 
violated each time a res.ponsibJe official refuses to recollect the details 
of the program. The best. safeguard against abuses in the future is a 
complete public accounting of the abuses of the past. · 

I think this is illustrated, as Chairman Inouye pointed out. These 
are issues, are questions that happened in the fifties and, sixties, and 
go back some 15, 20 years ago, but they ure front page news today, as 
we see in the major newspapers and on the television and in the media 
of this country; and the reason thev are, I think, is because it just con­
tinuously beiins to trickle out. sort of, month after month, and the 
best way to put this period behind us, .obviously, is to have the full 
information, and I think that is the desire of Admiral Turner and of 
the members of this committee. 

The Central Intelligence Agency drugged American citizens with­
out their knowledl!e or consent. It used university facilities and per­
so.nnel without their knowledge. It funded leading researchers, often 
without their knowledge. · . 

These. institutes,. these individuals, have a. ril!ht to know who they 
are and how and wl1en they were used. As of today, the Agency itself 
refuses to d~classify the names of those institutions and individuals, 
quite a.ppropriately, I might say, with re!rard to the individut;l~ ~nder 
the Privacy Act. It seems to me to be a fundamental responsibility to 
notify those individuals or institutions, rather. I think many of them 
were cau~rht up· in an unwittin~ manner to do research for lhe 
Agency. l\fany researchers, distinguished researchers, some of our 
most outstanding members of our scientific community, involved in 
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this network, now really do not. know whether they were involved or 
not, and it seems to me .th&t t.he whole health and climate in terms of 
our unhrersity and our scientific and health facilities are entitled to 
thn t. response. . · 

So, I intend to do al1 I can to p<>r:mad~ the Agency to, at the Yery 
least, officially inform those institutions and individuals involved. 

Two years ago, when these abuses were first. revealed, I introduced 
legi.shition, with Senator Schweiker and Senator tT avits, designed to 
minimize the potential for any similnr abuses in the future. That 
legislation expanded the jurisdiction of the National Commission ·on 
Human Subjects of Biomedical nnd Behavioral Research to cover aU 
federally funded research involving human sttbjects. The research 
initially was just directed toward HE'Y activities, but this lt'gislation 
cove.red DOD as well as the CIA. · 

This Nation: has a biom('dical and b('havioral research capability 
second to none. It has had for subjects of HE'V funded research for 
the past 3 years a system for the protC'etiori of human subjects of bio­
medical atid behnyforal research second to none, and the Human Ex­
perimentation Commission has prO\·en its value. Today's •hearings 
and the record already established underscore the need to expand its 
jurisdiction. . 

The CIA supported thatletrislation in 1975. and it passed the Senate 
unanimously last year. I belieYe it is needed in order to assure a11 
our people that they will have the degree of prot('ction in Jmman ex­
p~rimentation that they deserve and have. every right to expect. 

Senator INOUl.T.. Thank you very much. Now we ·will proceed with 
the hearings. Admiral Turner¥ · 

[The prepa~ed stn.teinent of Admiral Turner follo,\·s :] · 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ADlURA.L STANSFIELD TuRNER, DIRECTOR OF CE:'\TRAL 
INTELLIGENCE 

1\Ir. Chairman: In my letter to you of July 15, 1977, I reported our -recent dis­
covery of seven boxes of documents related to Project 1\IKULTRA, a closely held 
CIA project conducted frqru 1953-1964. As you may recall, l\IKULTRA wns an 
~·umbrella. project" under which ~rtaln sensitive subprojects :were funded, in­
volving among other things research on drugs and behavioralmodlftcatlon. Dur­
ing the Rockefeller Commission and Church Committee investigations In 1975. 
the cryptonym became publicly known:when details of the drug-related death of 
Dr. Frank OlSon were publicized. In 1958 Dr. Olson, n ch·lllan employee of the 
Army at Fort Detrick, leaped to his death from -a hotel room wlndO\\' In New 
York City about a week after having unwittingly consumed LSD administered to 
him as an experiment at a meeting of J.SD researchers called by CIA. 

Most ot what ·-was known about. the Agency'-s invol~ement with behavioral 
drags during the investigations In 1975 was contained In a report on Project 
1\IKULTRA prepared by the Inspector General's office in 1003. As a result of 
that report's recommendations, unwitting tt.'Stlng ot·drugs on U.S. citizens was 
subsequently discontinued. The MKULTRA-related report was made available to 
the Church Committee investigators and to the staff of Senator KenJJedy's Sub­
committee on Hea1tl1. Until the recent discovery, it was believed tbat all of the 
-MKI]L';l'RA files dealing with bepa~lornl modification had. been destroyed In 
1973 .9ri. the orders of _the then retiring Chief ot the Oftlce of Technfeal Sen·ice, 
with the authorization of the then DCI, ns has been previously reported. Almost 
all of the IJeople who bad had any· connection 'vlth the aspects ot the project 
which Interested Senate Investigators in 197G were no longer With the Agency 
at that time. Thus. there was little detnlled knowledge ot the MKtrLTRA sub­
projects available to CIA during the Church Committee investigations. This 
~ck of available details, moreover, wns probably not wholly attributable to the 

• 



... 

"' 

5 

destruction of lH\:ULTRA files in 1073; the 1963 report on 3.1KULTRA by the 
InS11ector General notes on page 14: "Present practice is to maintain no records 
of the planning and approval of test programs." 

"'hen I reported to you last on this matter, ruy statr 'llad not yet had an 
opportunity to review the newly located material in depth. This has now been 
accomplished, and I am in a position to gl\-e you a description of the contents of 
thE:' reco\·ered material. I belie\'e you will he most interested in the following 
aspects of the recent discoTery : 

How the material was dlsco\·e•·ed and why It was not previously found; 
The nature of this recently located material i 
How much new information there is in the materral which may not .have 

been pret"iously known and reported to Senate im·estigators; and 
What we believe the most significant aspects of this find to be. 

To begin, as to ho\V we disco\·ered these materials. Tbe material had been 
sent to our Retired necords Center outside of "•ashington and was discovered 
there as a result of the extensh·e search efforts of an employee charged with re­
sponsibility for maintaining our holdings on behavioral clrugs and for responding 
to Freedom of Information Act requests on this subject. During the Ch&rch 
Committee investigation In 1975, searches for :.'K:UL'l'RA-related material were 
made by examining both the active and retlrt!d records of all branches of CIA 
considered at all likely to have bad association with l\IKULTRA documents. 'l'he 
retired records of the Budget and l!'iscal Section of the Branch responsihh for 
such ·work were not searched, however. Tl1is was because financial papers as­
sociated with sensitive projects such as MKULTRA were normally main~.ainecl 
by the Branch itself under the project file, not by the Budget and Fiscal Section. 
In the case at hand, howel"er, the newly located material was sent to the Re­
tired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and l<'lscal Section as part of ils 
own retired holdings. The reason for this departure from normal procedure is not 
known. As a result of it, however, the material escaped retrie,·ai and destruction 
in 1973 by the then-retiring Director of the Office as well as discovery in 1975 
by CIA officials responding to Senate im·estl,!mtors. 

The employee 'vho located this material did so by lea\·ing no stone unturned 
in his efforts to respond to FOIA requests. He re\•iewed all listings of material 
of this Branch stored at the Retired Records Center, including those of the 
Budget and Fiscal Section and, thus, discon.•red the 1\IKUL'l'RA-related docu­
ments which had been missed in the pre\·ious searches. In sum, the Agency failed 
to uncover these particular documents in 1973 in the Jlrocess of attempting to 
destroy them; it similarly fallt>d to locate them In 1975 in response to the Church 
Committee hearings. I am con\'lnced that there was no attempt to conceal this 
material during the earlfer st>arches . 
. · Next, as to the nature of the recently located material, it is im1)()rtant to 

·realize that tile reco\·ered folders are finance folders. The bulk of the material in 
them consists of appro\·als for advance of funds, vouchers, ac<'ountings, and the 
llke--mQst of which are not v..ery informative as to the nature of the activities 
that were undertaken. Occasional project proposals or rnE.'mOranda comment­
Ing on some aspect of a subproject are scattered throughout this material. 
In general, llowever, the recovered material does not include status reports or 
other documents relating to operational considerations or progress in tbe \·arious 
subprojects, though some elaboration of the activities contemplated does ~ppear. 
The recovered documents fall roughly into three categories: 

First, there are 149 )!KULTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have 
some connection with research into behavioral ruodificntlon, drug acquisition 
and testing or administering drugs surreptitiously . 

Secdud, there nre two boxes of miscellaneous MKULTRA papers, including 
au~lt reports and financial statements !rou1 "cut-out" (i.e., intermediary) 
funding mechanisms used to conceal CIA's sponsorshli• of ,·arious research 
projects. 

l<''inally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certain intelligence 
acth·ltles prel"lously funded under l\IKULTRA which have nothing to do 
either with behavioral modification, drugs~ and toxins or with any other re-
lated matters. · · · ·· 

~ We have attempted to group the activities co\·ered by the 149 subprojects into 
categories under descripth·e heafllngs. In broad outline, nt leaf':t, this presents the 
contents of these tlles. The activities are placed in the following 15 categories: 
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1. Research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol: 
17 subprojects probably not invoh·Ing human testing; 
14 subprojects definitely invoh·lng tests on human volunteers; 
19 subprojects probably lnchtding tests on human volunteers. While not 

known, some of these subprojects may have included tests on unwitting sub· 
jects as well; 

6 subprojects involving tests on unwitting subjects. · 
2. Resenl:'ch on hypnosis: 8 subproject~. including 2involdng hypnosis and drug& 

in combinntlon. 
3. Acquisition of chemicals or drugs: 7 subprojects. 
4. Asve-cts of magicians' nrt us£>ful in co\·ert operath:ms: e.g., surreptitious de­

livery ot drug-related materials: 4 suhprojt'!cts. 
5. Studies of human behavior, sleep research, and beha\·ioral changes dt!ring 

psycllotherapy: D subprojects. 
0. Ubrnry searches and attendance at semin.:-rs and International conferences 

on helun·ioral modttlcation: 0 subprojects. 
7. ?.loti'\'atlonal studies, studies of defeetors, assessment, and training tech· 

nlques: 23 subprojects. 
8. Polygraph research: 8 subprojects. 
9. Funding mechanisms for !\IKULTRA. external research acth·ities: 8 

subprojects. . 
10. Research on drugs, toxins, and biologicals in human tissue: provision ot 

exotic pathogens and the capabfllty to incorporate tilem ln. effective deliYery 
systems : G subprojects. "" 

11. ActiYities whose objectives cannot be determined from available documen· 
tntion: 8 subprojects. 

12. SuiJprojects fnvoh1ng funding support for unspecltied acti\'iti~:-s connected 
with the Army's Special Operations Dh·Ision at :n. Detrick, lid. This nctiYity is 
outline in t.ook I of the Church Oommittee Report. pp. 388-389. (S<>e Ap}Jeudix A, 
pp. 68-69. Under CIA's Project 1\IKNAOMI, the Army Ar:'llsted CIA in develop­
iu~r. t£>sting. au<l malntalniug l11ologicrd agents and dellYery systems for use 
against humans as well as against nnimals and crops. The objectiv£>s of these 
subprojects cannot be:> Identified from the rero\·ert>d material beyond th£> fact 
that the money was to be used wherE.> normal funding channels would require 
more written or oral justifl<'ation tluui -appenrt>d <leslrahle for se;curlty reasons 
or where operational considt>rntions dictated short lend Um£>s for Imrcbast>s. About 
$11,000 was fm•olved during this period 1953-1960: 3 subp1-ojects. 

13. Single s-ubprojects in such areas as effects of electro-shot~k. harassment tech· 
niques for offensh·e use, analysis ot extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays 
and nerosots, and four subprojects 1m·olving crop and material sabotage. 

14. One or two snbpro~ects on each of the following: 
"Blood .Grouping" research, controlllng the acthity of animals, energy 

storage and transfer In organic systems; and 
stimuluR and response in biologleal systems. 

15; Three subprojf'Cts canceUed before any l\·ork was done on them having to 
do with laboratory drug screening, research on brain concussion, and research 
on ltiologicaUy·actlve materials to be tested through the skin on human volunteers. 

No'\\·, as to how much new the reco\'ered rr.aterial adds to what has previously 
been reported to the Church Committee and to Senator Kennedy's Subcommittee 
on Health on these topiCl, the answer is additional detail, for the most part : e.g., 
the names or previously unidentified researchers a.nd Institution~; associated on 
E>fther a witting or unwitting basis with MKUT..TRA activities, and the names of 
CIA officials who approved or monitored the varloua subprojects. Some new sub­
stantive material Is also present : e.g., details concerning proposals for experi- · 
mentation and cllnfenl testing associated with varfoua research projects, and S. 
possibly improper contribution by CIA to a private Institution. However, the 
prt~clpaltypes of activities lnclqded baYe, for the most part, either been outlined 
to Rome exttnt or generally described In what was prevlouRly available to CIA 
In the :way of documentation and was supplied by CIA to Senate Investigators. 
For example: 

Financial dlsburAemt>nt records for the period 1960-1964 tor 7G ot the 14S. 
numbered IIKUT~TRA subprojects bad been reco'\'ered from the Office of Finance 
by CIA nnd were made available to the Church Committee Investigators In August 
or ~ptemher 1975. ·· · · . · 

The 1968 Inspector General report on MKUT .. TRA mftde available to both the 
Church Committee and Senator Kennedy's Subcommittee mentions P.tectro-shock 
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and l~nrassment substances (pp. 4, 16); ooYert testing on unwitting U.S. citizens 
(pp. '• 1Q-12): the search for new materials through arrangements ,-,·Hh special· 
ists in unh·ersltles, pharmaceutical houses, hospitals, state and federal institu­
tions, and private research organizations (pp. 7, 9); and the fact that the Tech­
nical Serdce Division of CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control 
of human beha\~lor between 1953-1963 (p. 21). 

The relevant sedion of a 1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Serv­
ice Division was also made available to the Church Committee staff. That report 
discusses techniques for human assessment and unorthodox methods of com­
munication (p. 201) ; discrediting and disabling materials which can be covertly 
administered (pp 201-202) ; studies on magicians' -arts as applied to covert oper­
ations (p. 202); specific funding mechb.nlsrus for research performed outside of 
CIA (pp, 202-203, 205); research being done on "K" (knockout) material, alcohol 
tolerance, and hypnotism (p. 203); research 'on I,SD (p. 204); anti-personnel 
harassment and assassination delivery systems including aerosol generators and 
other spray de,·ices (PP. 206-208); the role of Fort Detrick in support of CIA's 
Biological/Chemical Warfare capnbllity (p. 208) ; and material sabotage research 
(p. 209). Much of this material is reflected in the Church Committee Report, 
Book I, pp. 385-422. (See Appendix A, pp. 65-102). · 

The most significant new data discovered are, first, the names of researchers 
and institutions who participated in the liKULTRA project and, se<.'Ondly, a 
possibly improper contribution by CIA to a prh·ate institution. We are now i.n 
possession of the names of 185 non.government researchers and assistants who 
are identified in the reco,·ered material dealing with the 149 subprojects. The 
names of 80 institutions where work was done or with wU~:t these people were 
affiliated are also mentioned. 

The institutions include 44 colleges or universities, 15 research foundations or 
cheomlcal or pharmaceutical com})dnies and the like, 12 hospitals or clinics (ln ad­
dition to those associated with universities), and 3 penal institutions. Whlle the 
identities or some of these people and institutions were known previously, the 
discovery of the new identities adds to our knowledge of MKULTRA. 

The facts as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are as follows: 
One project involves a contribution of $375,000 to a bulldlng fund of a private 
medical institution. The fa.ct thnt a contribution was made was previously 
known; indeed it was mentioned in a 1957 Inspector General report on the 
Technical Service Division of CIA, pertinent portions of which had been re­
viewed by the Church Committee staff. The newly discovered material, however, 
makes it clear that this contribution was made through an intermediary, which 
made it appear to ben private donation. As a private donation, the contributiol!­
was then matched by federal funds, The institution was not made aware of the 
true source of the gift. This project was approved by the the:t DOl, and concurred 
in by CIA's top management at the time, including the then General Counsel who 
wrote an opinion supporting the legality of the contribution. 

The recently discovered documents. give a greater insight into the scope or the 
unwitting drug testing but contribute llttle more than that. We now have col· 
laborating information that some of the ·Un\\ittlng drug testing was carried on 
in safehouses ln San Francisco and New York City, and we have identified that 
three inrllvlduals were invoh·ed in this undertaking as opposed to the previously 
reported one person. We also know now that some unwitting testing took place 
on criminal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital and that, additional­
ly, ;<search was done on a knock-out or "K" drug ln parallel w'tb reS\.."S.rch to 
develop pain k11lers for cancer patients. 

These, then are the principal findings Identified to date ln (IUr review ot the 
recovered material. As noted enrller, we b-elieve the detail on the Identities ot 
researchers and institutions involved in CIA's sponsorship ot drugs and be­
havioral modlftcatlon is a new element and one which poses a considerable prob· 
lem. M:ost of the people and lnstltutlons .Involved are not aware ot Agency 
,..ponsorshtp. We should certainly assume that tht" researchers and instltutioos 
'\\'hich cooperated with CIA on a witting .busts acted in good fal·th and in the 
belief that they were aiding1heir government in.a legitimate and proper purpose. 
I belleve we all bu·e a n1'oral obllgo.tlon to these researeht"rs and institutions t9 
protect them from any unjustified embarrassment or damage to their reputations 
which revelation of tbelr identi.ties might bring. In addition, I have a legal 
obligation under the Privacy Act not to publicly disclose the names of the in­
dividual researchers without their consent. This is especlally true, ot course, for 
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those researchers and institutions which were unwitting participants in CIA-
sponsored activities. . · 

NeverthelE-SS, recognizing the right and the need of both the Senate Select 
Committee on Intellfgence and the Senate Subc<llllUlittee on Health to in>estigate 
the circumstances of these activities in whaten•r detnll theY consider ne .... essar,v. 
I nm provhling your Committee with all or the names Oil a classi1ied oasis. I 
hope that this will facilitate yonr investigation while protecting the individuals 
and iustltutlons involved. Let me emphasize that the )IKULTRA e\·ents are :I2 
to. 2~ years In the pnst. I assure you that the CIA is in no .way engaged in either 
Wltt.mg or nuv.1tting testing of drugs today. 

Fmally, I nm working closely with the Attorney Genernl and with the Secre­
tary of HeJllth, Education and Welfare on this matter. 'Ve are m.aklng available 
to the Attorney General whateyer materials he may deem necessary to any 
investigation he may elect to undertake. We are working with both the Attorney 
General and the Secretary of Health, Edncntion and 'Y!'lfare to determine 
whether it is practicable from this new evidE-nce to att€'mpt to identify an;\' of 
the persons to whom drugs may have beE>n administered unwittingly. No ouch 
names are part ot theRe records, but we are working to determine if th€'re t~re -
nd£>Quate clues to lend to their identification; nnd if so, ho'\\· to go about fulfillh;~ 
the Go;ernment's responsibilities in the mntter. 

TESTI~ONY OF ADM. STANSFIELD TURNER, DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL 
INTELLIGENCE, ACCOMPANIED BY FRANK LA UBINGER, OFFICE 
OF TECHNICAL SERVICES; AL BRODY, OFFICE OF INSPECTOR 
GENERAL; ERNES'l; MA YERFIELD, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL; 
AND GEORGE L. CARY, LEGISLAT~VE COUNSEL 

Admiral 'l'uR:-<ER. Thank you, ~rr. Chairman. r would like to begin 
by thanking you and Senator Kennedy for havfng n joint hearing this 
morning. I hope. this will expedite and facilitate our getting all the 
information that both of your committees need into the record quickly. 

I would like also to thnnk you both for prefadng the remarks today 
by reminding us all that the events about which we are here to talk 
are 12- to 24-years old. They in no wny represent the current activities 
or policies of the Central Intelligence Agency. 

'Vhat we ar~ here to do is to give yon all the information that we 
now have and which 've did not previously have on a subject known 
as Project 1\fKULTRA, a project which took place from 1953 to 1964. 
It was an umbrella project under which there were numerous sub­
projects for research. among other things, on drugs and behavioral 
modification. \Yhat the new mat.erial that we offer today is n sup­
plement to the considerable material that was m'adc available in 1975, 
during -the Church committee hearin!!S, and also to the Senate Sub-· 
committee on I-Iealth and Scientific Re8earch; 

At that time, the CIA offered up a11 ~of the information and docu­
ments it believed it had available. The principal one nvailable at that 
time that ,:raYe the sz~atest amount of inf.ormation on this subject 
was a report o.f the CIA's Inspector General \,·ritten in 1963. and which 
led directly to the termination. of this activity in 1964, 18 years ago. 

The iitfonnation aYailahle in 197p to the various investi~ating­
l!l'oups was ~ndeed ~P.nrsc, first. because of the destruction of material 
that -took place in 1978. as detailed by Senator Kenn£'dy a minute ago. 
with the concurrence of the then Director of Central Tntelliaence and 
under the :,11pervision~ of the ·nirt>.ctor of the Office of Teochnical 
Services th~t supervised Project, 1\fKtiT.~TilA .. 
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The material in 1975 was also sparse because most of the C~A people 
who had been iiwolved in 1953 to 1004 in this acth·ity had rettred :from 
the Agency. I would further add that I think the material was sparse 
in part because it v.·as the practice at that time not to keep detailed 
records in this category. . . 

For instance, the 1903 report. of the Inspector General notes: 
Present practice is to maintain no ·:'"'corus of the planning and approval of 

test programs . 

In brief. there were few records to begii1 with and less after the 
destruction of 11173. · . 

\Vhat I would like to do now~ though, is to proceed and let you know 
what the new material adds to our knowledge of this topic, and I 
will start by describing how the material was discoYered and why i~. 
wa~ not previously discovered. The material in question, some seven· 
boxes, had been sent to our Retired Records Center outside of the 
\Vashington area. It was discO\·ered there as the result of an extensive 
search by an employee charged with the responsibility for maintain­
ing our holdings on beha viornl drugs and for responding to Freedom 
of Information Act requests on this subject. 
Durin~ the Church committee investigation of 1975, searches for 

~IKULTRA-related material were made by examining both the active 
and the retired records of all of the branches of CIA considered likely 
to ha,·e had an association with MKULTRA documents. The retired 
re<:ords of the Budget and Fiscal Section of the branch that was respon­
sible for such work were. not searched, however. This was because the 
financial paper associated with sensitive projects such as MKULTRA 
were normally mainta-ined by the branch itself under the project title, 
MI\:ULTRA., not by the Budget and Fiscal Section under a special 
budget file. · . · 

In the case at hand, however, this newly located material had been 
sent to the Retired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and Fiscal 
Section of this branch as part of its own retired holdings. In short, what 
should have been filed bv the branch itself \~as filed bv the Budget 
and Fiscal Section, and what should have been filed under the project 
title, MKULTRA, was filed under budget and fiscal matters. The rea­
son for this departure from the normal procedure of that time is simply 
not known, and as a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval 
and destruction in 1973, as well as discovery in 1975 . 

The emJtloyee who located this material did so by leaving no stone 
unturned 111 his efforts to respond to a Freedom of Information Act 
request, or several o_f them, in fact. He reviewed all of the listings of 
material of this branch, stored at the Retired Records Center, including 
those of the Budget and Fiscal Section, and thus discovered the 
:MKULTRA-related documents, which had been missed in the previous 
sea rclu!s. 

In sum, the agency failed to uncover these particular documents in 
1973, in the process of attempting to destroy them. It similarly failed 
t.o locate them in 1975, in response to the Church committee hearin·gs. 
I am personally persuaded that. there is no evidence of any attempt to 
conceal this material during the earlier searches. ~foreover, ns we will 
discuss as we proceed, I do not believe the material itself is such that 
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t.hcrc would ben motive on the part of the CIA to withhold this, having 
disclosed what it did in 1975. 

Next, let me move to the nature of this recently located material. 
It is important to remember what I have just noted, that these folders 
that were discovered are financP. folders. The bulk of the material in 
them consists of approval~ for the advance of funds, vouchers, and 
accountings and such, mo~t of which are not very informative as to 
the nature of the activities that they were supporting .. Occasional proj­
ect proposals or memoranda commenting on some aspect of a subproject 
are scattered throughout this material. In genera], however, the re­
covered material does not include overall status reports or other docu­
ments relating to operational considerations, or to the progress on 
various subprojects, though some elaboration of the activities contem­
plated does appear from time to time. 

There are roughly three categories of projects. First, there are 149 
~flCULTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have some connec­
tion with research into behavioral modification, drug acquisition and 
testing, or administering drugs surreptitiously. ·second, there are two 
boxes of miscellaneous l\fKULTRA. papers, including audit reports 
and financial statements from intermediary funding mechanisms used 
to conceal CIA sponsorship of various research projects. 

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certain in­
telligence activities previously funded under ~fKULTRA but which 
have nothing to do either with behavioral modifications, drugs and 
toxins. or any closely related matter. 

We have attempted to group the activities covered by the 149 sub­
projects into categories under descriptive headings. In broad outline, 
at least, this presents the contents of these files. The following 15 
categories are the ones we have divid2d these into. 

First, research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol. 
Within this, there are 17 projects probably not involving human test­
ing-. There are 14 subprojects definitely involving testing on humaiL-. 
volunteers. There e:.re 19 subprojects probably including tests on human 
'\'oluntee~ and. .6 subprojects involving tests on unwitting 
ht~man bemgs. · ., 

Second, there is research on hypnosis, eight subprojects, including 
two involving hypnosis and drugs in combination. · 

Third, lhere are seven projects on the acquisition of chemicals or 
drugs. ·. · 

Fourth, four subproiects on the aspects of the magician's art, useful 
in covert operations, for instance, tlie surreptitious delivery of drug-
related materials. · · · · 

Fifth, there are nine projects on studies .of human behavior, sleep 
research, and _behavioral change during psychotherapy. 

Sixth, there are projects on library searches and attendants at semi­
nars and international conferences .on behavioral modifications. 

Seventh, there a~ 23 projects on motivational studies, studies of 
defectors, assessments of behavior and training techniques. 

Eighth, there are three subprojects on polygraph research. 
Ninth. th~rc are three subprojects on funding mechanisms for 

}..fKULTRA'sexternal research activities. 
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Tenth, there are six subprojects on research on drugs, toxins, and 
biologicals in human tissue, provision of exotic pathogens, and the 
capability to incorporate them in effective deliv6ry systems. 

Eleventh, there are three subprojects on activities whose nature 
simply cannot be determined. 

Twelfth, there are subprojects involving funding support for un­
specified activities conducted wit.h the Army Specia-l Operations Divi- · 
sion at Fort Detrich, ~fd. This activity is outlined in Book I of the 
Church committee report, pages 388 to 389. (See Appendix A, pp. · 
68-69). 

Under CIA's Project ~IICNAOMI, the Army assisted the CIA in 
developing, testing, and maintaining biologicn'l agents and delivery 
systems for use against humans as well ns against animals and crops. 

Thirteenth, there are single subprojects in such areas as the effects 
of electroshock, harassment techniques for offensive use, analysi~ of 
extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays and aerosols, and four 
subprojects involving crop and material sabotage.· · · 

Fourteenth, one or two subprojects on each of the following: blood 
grouping research; controlling the activities of animals; energy stor­
age az:d transfer in organic systems; and stimulus and response in 
biological systems. · 

Finally, i5th, there are three subprojects canceled before any work 
was done on them having to do with laboratory drug screening, re­
search. on brain concussion, and research on biologically active 
matenals. . 

Now, let me address how much this newly discovered material adds 
to what has previously been reported to the Church committee and 
to Senator Kennedy's Subcommittee on Health. The answer is basi­
cally additional detail. The principal types of activities included in 
these documents have .for thb most part been outlined or to some 
extent generally described in what was previously available. in the 
way of documentation and which was supplied by the CIA to the 
Senate investigators. · · . . 

For example, financial disbursement records for the period of 1960 
to 1964 for 76 of these 149 subnrojects h.!ld been recovered by the 
Office of Finance at CIA and ,;.ere made available to the Church 
committee investigators. For example, the 1963 Inspector General 
report on :AfKULTRA made available to both the C1"~.urch committee 
and the Subcommittee on Health mentions electro!::!~~k and harass­
ment substances, covert testing on unwitting U.S. citizens, the search 
for new materials through arrangements with specialists in hospitals 
and universities, and the fact that the Technical Service .Division of 
CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control·of human 
behavior. · 

For instance also, the relevant section of a 1957 Inspector General 
report was also made available to the Church committee staff. and 
that ·report discusses the techniques for human assess:rnent and un~ 
orthodox methods of communication, discrediting and disablin~ ma­
terials which can be covertly admbtistered, studies on magicians' arts 
as applied to co,~ert operations, and. Qther similar topics.. · 

The mo$t si~ificant ne\V data that has been discovered are,: first, 
the names of researche.rs and institutions who participated in 
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!,IKULTRA. projects, nnd RC'cond, a possibly improper contribution 
by the CIA to n prh·ate institution. '\re are now in the :r;>osses­
sion of the names of 185 nono-overnment researchers and n.sststants 
who are identified in the reco~ered material dealing with these 149 
sabprojE>rh;, 

There are also names of 80 institutions where \\'ork wns done or 
with which these people wer(' affi1iated. The institutions include 44 
colleges or universities. 15 rC'senrch foundation or chemical or pharma­
ceutical companies or 'the like, 12 hospitals or clinics, in addition to 
those associated with the universities, and 3 penal institutions. 

1\'"hile the identities of some of these people and institutions were 
known previously, the discovery of the new identities adds to our 
know ledge of ~fKlJLTRA. 

The facts as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are 
as follows. Oae project involYcs a contribution of $375,000 to a build­
ing fund of a prh·ate medical institution. The fact that that con­
!ribution was made was previously known. Indeed, it wa~ mention.ed 
m the 1957 report of the Inspector General on tl1e Techm..:al Service 
Division of CIA that supetTised JIKULTRA, and pertinent portions 
of this had been reviewed by the Church committee staff. 

The newly cliscov<'recl material. hm,,ever~ makes it clear tiu~t this 
contribution \Yas made through an intermediary. which made it ap­
pear to be a private donation. As a private donation, the contribution 
·was then matched by Fcd~ral funds. The institution was not made 
aware o.f the true source of the. gift. This project \Yas approvE>cl h•· 
the then Director of Central InteJJigence and concurred in by CIA's 
top management including the then General Counsel, who wrote an 
opinion supporting the legality of the contribution. 

The recently discovered documents also gh·e greater insight into 
the scope of !:he unwitting nature of the drug testing, but contribute 
little more than that. \Ve now do have corrobOrating information that 
some Qf the unwitting drug testing was c.:trried out in what is known 
in the intelligence trade as safe houses in San Francisco and in New 
York City. and we ha,·e identified that three individuals were in­
Yolved in 'this undertaking, whereas we previously reported there was 
only one person. 

\Ve also know now that some un'i•:itting testing took place on crimi­
nal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital, and that addi­
tionally research was done on a knockout or K drug in parallel with 
research to develop painkillers for cancer patients. 

· These, then, are the principal findings identified to date in our re­
view of this recovered material. As noted earlier, we believe the de­
tail on the identities of researchers and institutions involved in CIA 
sponsorship of drug and behavioral modification research is a· new 
element and one which poses a considerable problem. Most of the peo­
ple and institutions involved were not aware of CIA sponsorshiv. 1\T<>. 
should certainly assume that the researchers and institutions which 
cooperated with CIA on a 'vitting basis acted in good faith and in 
the belief that they were aiding their Government in a legitimate and 
proper purpo~e. . 

I believe th~t we all have a moral obligation to these researchers 
and instituthns to protect them from any unjustified embarrassment 
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or damage to their reputntionR which revelation of their identities 
might. bring. In addition, I have a ]ega] obligation under the Privacy 
Act not to publicly disclose the names of the indi,·idual researchers 
without their consC'nt. 

This is especia11v true, of course. for those researchers and institus 
tions which were unwitting participants in CIA sponsored act.ivities. 

Nonet.helrss, ~fr. Chairninn, I certainly recognize th~ right and the 
need of both the Senat<' Select Committ<'e on Intelhgenc.e and the 
Senate Subcommittee on HC'alth and Scientific Res~?.arch to investisate 
the circumstances of thPse acth·itiC's in whatever detaH you consider 
neces.c;;ary. I am providing your committee with a11 of the documenta­
tion, im·:1uding all of the names, on n classified basis. I hope that thi! 
wi11 facilitate your investigation while still protecting the individuals 
nncl the institu't.ions involved. 

Let me emphasize again that the ~fKlJLTRA e,·ents are 12 to 24 
years in the past, and I assure :ron that CIA is in no way engaged in 
either witting or unwitting testing of drugs today. . 

Finally. I am \Yorking closely- with the Attorney General on this 
matter. \Ye are making a\·ai1ab1e to the Attorney General whatever 
matPrials he may deem llC'CC'ssnry to any im·estigat.ions that he may 
C'1ect to undertake. Beyond thnt, we are. also working with the Attorney 
General to determine whether it is practicable from this new eYidence 
to identify any of the pPrsons to whom drugs may ha\·e been admin~ 
isterPd unwittingly. No such nnmPs are part of these records. \Ve have 
not identified the indh·iduals to whom drngs "~ere administered, but 
we are trying now to determine if there are adE!quate clues to lead to 
their identification, and if so ho'\': best to go about fulfilling the Gov­
ernment's responsibi1iti~s in this matter. 

Air. Chairman, as we procred "\yith that process of att.('mpting to 
identify the individuals and then determining what is our proper rc­
sr:onsibility to then:, I will keep both of these committees fully ads 
vtsed. I thank you, s1r. 

Senator IxoUYE. Thank you ,·ery much, Admiral Turner. Your 
spirit of cooperation is mncli apprecintrd. I would like to announce to 
the committee that in order to gin~ every member an opportunity to 
participate in this hearing, that we ":.ould set a time limit of 10 minutes 
per Renator. · 

Admiral Turner, please give this committee the genesis of ~fKUI.~ 
TRA. \Vho or what committee or commission or agency wa:" responsi­
ble for dreamin.g- up this grandiose and sinister pr~ject, and why was 
it necessary? \Vhat is the rationaie or justification for such a project 
and was the President of the United States aware of thisf 

Admiral TuRNER. :Mr. Chairman. I am f!Oingo to ask ~fr. Brody on 
my right, who is a long-time member of the CIA to address that in 
more detail. I believe everything that we know about the ;!enesis was 
turned over to the Church eommittee and is contained ii1 that. rna~ 
terial. Basically, it was a CIA-initiated proje-ct. It started ont of a 
concern of our being taken advantage of by other powers who would 
use drugs a~rainst onr personne1. and it. was approved in tl1e Agenov. I 
hn.ve asked the question you just nsked rqc, and have been assured' that 
there is no evidence within the Agency of any inYolvement at hil!her 
echelons, the White House, for instance, or specific approval. That 
does not say there was not, but we J,ave no such evidence • 
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1\fr. Brody, would you amplify on my comments there, please? 
1\:fr. BRoor. :Mr. Chairman, I really haxe very little to add to that. 

To my knowled~e, there was no Presidential ln\owled~e of this proj­
ect at the time. It was a CIA projeet, and as the adtmrnl said, it was 
a project designed to attempt to counteract what was th~n thought to 
be a ser·ious tlu('at by our enemies o£ usjng drugs against us. 1\lost of 
what else we know about it is in the Senate Church committee report. 

Senator INOU'l"E. "\Vere the nuthorizc_d members o£ the Congress 
made aware o£ this project through the budgetary process? 

1\!r. BRODY. "\Vc have no knowhidge of that, sir. . 
Senator INoUYE. Are you suggesting that it was intentionally kept 

away from the Congress and the President of the United Statesi 
Admiral TuRNER. No, sir. "\Ve are only saying that we :r.~ve no evi­

dence one way or the oth('r as to whether the Congress was informed 
of this particular project. There are no records to indicate. 

Senator INouYE. Admiral Turner, are yon persona11y satisfied by 
actual im·estigntion that this newly discovered information was not 
intentiona1ly kept awa.Y from the Senate of the United States? 

Admiral Tt:;RNER. I have no way to prove that, sir. That is my con­
viction from everything I haYe seen of it. 

Senator INot:YE. No,,·, we have been advised that th<.'se documents 
were initia11y discovered in 1\Inrch of this year. and you were notified 
in .Tuly of this year, or .Tune of this year, and the committee was noti­
fied in .Tuly. Can you tell us why the Director of Central Intelligence 
was notified ~months after its initial discovery, why the delay¥ 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes, sir. All this started with several Freedom of 
Informn.Hon 'Act rNJUests, and :Mr. Laubinger on my left was the in­
dividual who took it upon himself to pursue these requests with great 
diligence. and got permission to go to the Retired Records Center, and 
then made the decision to look not only under what. would be the ex­
pected subject files, but through every file wjth which the branch that 
conducted this type of activity had anv conceivable connection. 

Very late in M-arch, he discovered these seven boxes. He arranged 
to have them shipped from the Retired Records Center to Washing-

. ton, to our headquarters. They arrived in early April. He advised,his 
appropriate superiors, who asked him how long he thoug-ht it would 
take him to go through these and screen them appropriately, clear 
them for Freedom of Information Act release. · 

There are, we originally estimated, 5,000 pages here. \Ve now think 
that was an underestimation, and it may be closer to 8,000 pages. He 
estimated it would take about 45 days or into the middle of May to 
do th-at. He was told to proceed, and as he did so there was nothing 
uncovered in the beginning of these 149 cases thnt appeared particu-
larly startling or particularly additive to the knowledge that had al­
ready been given to the Church committee, some details, but no major 
revelations. . . · 
. · He and his assO!'iates :proceeded with deliberateness, but not a great 
sense of urgency. There were other interfering nctivities that carne 
and demanded his time also. He wns not able to put 1{)0 percent of his 
time.on it, 1llld there did not appear to be cause for a great rush here. 
"\Ve were trying to be responsive to th(~ Freedom of Information Act 
request within the limits.of our manpower and our priorities. 
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In early .June, howen:r, h0. discovr.rcd two projects, the one related 
to I~ dru~s nnd. thC' one rrlat<'d to the fnnd~ng at th~ institnt.ion, and 
reahzed Immediately that he had substanti-al new mformat10n. and 
he immediately reported this to his superiors. · 

Two actions we1·e taken. One was to notify the lawyers of the prin­
cipal Freedom of Information Act reqnt>stor that we ''ould have sub­
stantial ne'' material and that it would be forthcoming as rapidly as 
possible, and th~ second was to start a mt>morandun1 up the chain 
that indicated his bE> lief that n·e should notif,· the Senate Select Com­
mittee on Int<'1ligence of this discovery because of the character at least 
of these two documents. · 

As that proceeded up from the 18th of .Tune, at each echelon we 'had 
to go through the legal office, th··. legislatin• liaison office and at each 
echelon about the same question was asked of him: Have you gone 
through all of this, so that when we notify th<' Senate Select Com­
mittee we do not notify half of the important rC'le,·ations and not the 
other half~ The last thing I 'rnnt, ::\fr. Chairman. is in any \Yay to 
be on -any topic, give the appearance on any topic of being recalcitrant, 
reln.ctant, or ha.ving to hav('. you drag things out of mt>, and my sub­
ordmates, much to my pleasure, had each asked. have you really gone 
through these 8,000 pages enough to h!lo'v that we are not going to 
uncover a bombshell down-at the bottom~ . 

By late June, about the 28th, this process reached my deputy. He 
notified me a.fter his re,·ie\Y of it on the 7th of .July, whfch is the first 
I knE'w of it. I began readin~ into it. I asked the same probin~ ques­
tion directly. I then notified my superiors, and on the 15th deliYered 
to you my letter letting you know that we had this, and we have been 
working, many people, many hours since then! to be sure that what we 
are telling von today does inc]udt> all the relevant material. 

Senator- fxouYE. f would like to commend Mr. Laubinger for his 
diligence and expertise, bnt was this diligence the result of the Free­
dom of Information Act. or could this diligence have been exercised 
during- the Church hearings? "~hy was it not. exercised~ 

Admiral Tunxt:n. There is no question that theoretically this dili­
!!t>nce could h:.we been exercised at any time, and it mav well he that 
the Freedom of Information Act has made us more aware of this. 
'Vould you speak for yourself, please. 

:Mr. i..ArrnrNGER. I renllv don't attribute it. Senator, to diligence so 
much as thoroughness. If you can imag:ine the pressures under an 
organization trying to respond~ which I think the CIA did at the time 
of the Church committee hearmgs, the hallways of the floor I am on 
were full of boxes from our records center. Every box that anyone 
thought could possibly contain anything was called up for search. It 
was one of a frantic effort to comply. 

"rhen the pressure of thnt situation cools down, and you can sta1t 
looking nt things systematically; you are apt to fin4 things that you 
wouldn't under the heat of a crash program, and that 1s what. happened 
here. 

Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much. Senator Kennedy~ 
Senator KENNEDY. Admiral Turner, this is an enormously distress­

ing report that you give to the American Congress and to the American 
people today. Granted, it happened many years ago, but what we are 
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basic~lly talking about is .an activity which took place in the country 
that I.m·oh·ed the pervers~on a.nd the cormption of many of our out­
standmg re&~arch centers m this countrv~ with CIA funds. where some 
of our top researchers were unwittingh· involved in reser.rch spon­
sored by the Agency in ~hich they had no knowledge of the back-
ground or the support for. -

Much. of i.t was done wit~ Amer~can citizens who were completely 
unknowmg m terms ?f takmg various drugs, and there are perhaps 
any number of Amencans who are wnlkin(l' around today on tht~ east 
coast or west C?ast who were given drugs, with all the kinds of physical 
~nd psycholog1cal d~mage ~h~t c~n ?e caused. 1'\"e hav~ gone ol"er that 
mvery careful deta1l, and 1t IS significant and severe mdeed. 

I do not know what could be done in a less democratic countrY 
tho.t would be more alien to our own tradition~ than was really donwe 
in this ~arrow area, and as you' give this report to the committee, I 
would hke to get some sense of your own concern about this type of 
~cth·i~y, and how you react. hn Ying a~snmed this important responsi?il­
Ity w1th the confidence of President Carter and the ol"erwhe]mmg 
support: obviously, of the. Congress, under this set of circumstances. 

I did not get much of a fee ling in reviewine- vour statement here this 
:morning of the kind of abhorrence to this t~-oe of past activity which 
I think the American people would certahiiv deplore and \,hich I 
believe th~t you do~ but. could you comment upon that guest ion, and also 
perhaps give us what 1deas you have to insure that 1t cannot happen 
again Y • 

Admiral Tt:RXER. Senator Kennedy, it is totallY abhorrent to me to 
think of using a human b€ing as a guinea pig and in any way jeopardiz­
ing his life and his health~ no matter how great the cause. I am not 
here to pas.<; judgment on mv predeces...~rs~ but I can a...c;::sure you that 
thi:; is totally beyond the pa'le of my contempla!ion of actidt.ies that 
the CIA or any other of our intelligence agencies should undertake. 

I am taking and have taken what I 'l::x.>lieve arr adequate steps to 
insure that such things nre not continuing today. . 

s~nator KEXXF.DY. Could YOU tell us a little hlt about that? 
Admiral T"CnXER. I have asked for a special report as:mring me that 

there-are no drug activities extant. that is. drug actidties that im·olve 
<.>xperimentation. Obviously~ we collect intelligence about dru~ and 
drug use in other countries~ but ther~ are no experimentations bei!lg­
conduct€'d by the C.entral Intell!gence Agency, and I haYe had a special 
check made. because of anothE.'r mcident that was uncovered some vears 
ago about the unauthorized retention of some 'toxic material:; at the 
CIA. I have had nn actual inspection made of the storage place:. and 
the certification from the people in charge of those that there are no 
~uch chemical biological materials present in our keeping, and I h1n·e 
1ssued express orders that that shall not be the case. 

Beyond that, I have to rely in large measure on my seiL-;e of com­
mand and direction of the :people and their knowledge of the attitude 
I have just expressed to you m this regard. . 

Senator KEXNED1·. I think that is very commendable. 
Admiral TUR!-."'ER. Thank you, sir. 
Senator KEN:O.."'EDY. I think it is important that the American people 

understand that. 
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Yon know, much of the i·esenrch which is our area of interest that 
was being done by the Agency and the whole invoh·cd seqn<.'nce of. ac­
tivities done by the A~ency, I am convinced could han~ been done m .n 
legitimate way through the research programs of the. National Insti­
tutes of Menh\1 Health, other sponsored activitie:--. I mean, that is ~orne 
ether question, but I think you went to an awful lot of trouble, where 
these things could have been. 

Let me ask :rou specifically, on the followup of ~IKUI,TRA, are 
there now-I think you ha,·e answered, but I wnnt to get a complete 
answer about any e.x'perimentations that are being done on human. be­
ings. whether it 'is druO's or behndornl alt('rations or patterns or any 
sttpl)ort, either d i rect1y 1.':> or indi rect1y, being provided by the Agency in 
t<.'rms of nny experimentation on human beings. 

Admirn1'TunxEn. There is no experimentation with drugs on human 
beings, witting or unwitting, being co!lducted in any. wa>'· · 

S<.'mttor KExxJmY. All right. Or bemg support~d In(hrectly ~I mean, 
are you contracted out 7 · 

..:.\dmiral TunxEn. Or being in any way supported. . 
. Senator K1::xxr:nY. All right. How aiJOut the nondrug t>Xpt>rnnenta­

tlon our Committee has seen-psychosurgery, for example, or psy­
chological res<'arch ~ 

Admiral TvnxEn. w·c :trc continual1y im·olved in what we. call as­
sessment of bel1avior. For instance, we are trying .to con~inually im­
prove our poly~rnph proc<'dures to, you know, assess whether a person 
is lying or not. This do<'s not invoh·e any tampering with the individ­
ual body. This im·oh·es studying records of people's behavior under 
different circumstances, and so on, but it is not an experimental thing. 
Have I described that accurately, AI¥ 

~fr. BnoDY. Yes. 
Senator KENXF.DY. ''re11, it is limited to those ar'eas~ 
Admiral TURN En. Yes; it rlocs not in vol \'e attempting to modify be­

havior. It only invoh·es studying behavior conditions. but not trying 
to ncth·ely modify it, as was one of the objectin's of ~IKUI.JTRA. 

Senator K:t;xNF.DY. 'Veil, we arc scarce on time, but I am interested 
in the_ other areas besides polygraph where yon are doing it. 1\faybe 
you can either respond now or submit it for the record, if you would do 
that. 'Vonld you provide tl1at for the record Y 

Admiral TonNER. Yes.· · 
[The material on psychological assessments follows:] 
Psychological assessments are perfo17med as a serYice to officers ln the opera­

tions directorate who recruit and/or handle agent~. Except for peOple inYolved 
in trnlnlng courses; the subjects of the assessments are foreign nationals. The' 
assessments are generally done to determine the most successful tactic to persuade 
the subject to acceptcovert employment by the CIA, and to make an appraisal of 
his rellabllity and truthfulness. · . 

·A majority of the work is done by a sta1f of trained psychologists, some of 
whom are stationed o\•ersens. The assessmE'nts they d6 may he either direct or 
Indirect. Direct assessments Involve a personal interview of the subject by the · 
psychologist. Whe!l poss!,ble the subject fs asked to complete a formal "inte111-
gence test .. which Js actually a disguised llSycbological test. Individuals being. 
assessed are not given drugs. nor are they subjectt>d to physical harassment or 
torture. When operating conditions are such that a taee-to-face Interview· is not 
possible, the psychologist may do an fndlrt>et aSS(>SSDlE"Ut, USing as SOUrce ma· 
terfals descrlpUons of the suuject by others, interviews with people who know 
him, specimens ot hls writings, etc. · · · 
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The other psychological assessments involve handwriting analy~:~ls or grapho­
logical assessment. 'l'he work is done by a pair of trained graphologists, assisted 
by a small number of measurement technicians. 'l'hey generally require at least 
a page of handwritten script by the subject . .Measurements are made of about 
30 diiferent writing characteristics, and these are charted and furni~:~hed to the 
graphologist for assessments. 

'l'he psychologists also give courses in psychvloglcal assessment to group of 
operations 0'1ficers, to sharpen their own capabilities to size up people. As part o! 
the training course, the instructor does a psychological assessment ot each 
student. ·xhe students aro witting participants, and results are discussed witll 
them. · 

It 1~ important to reiterate that psychological assessments s.re only a s~rvice 
to the op-;;rations officers. In the ttnal analysis, it is the responslbillty of tile 
operations officer to decide how a potential agent should be approached, or to 
make a jcdgement as to whether any agent is telling the truth. · 

Admiral TuRNER. The kind of thing we are interested in is, what 
will motivate a man to become an agent of the United States in a diffi­
cult situation. 'Ve have to be familiar with that kind of attitudinal 
response that we can expect, from people we approach to for one reason 
or another become our spies, but I will be happy to submit a very 
specific listing of these. 

Senator KENNEDY. 'Vould you do that for the committee~ 
In the followups, in the l.fKSEARCH, in the OFTEN, and the 

CHICK,VIT, could you give us also a report on those particular 
programs¥ 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes, sir. 
Senator l(ENNEDY. Did they involve experimentation, human 

e:x:perhnentation ~ 
Admiral TURNER. No, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. None of them¥ 
Admiral TURNER. Let me sa:y this, that CHICK,VIT program is tho 

code name for the CIA participation in what was basically a Depart­
ment of Defense progr·am. T:5s program was summarized ·and re­
ported to the Church committee, to the Congress, and I have since they 
have been rementioned in the press in the last 2 days here, I ha, .. e not 
had time to go through and personally review them. I have ascertained 
that all of the files that we had: and made available ·before are intact, 
and I have put a special order CJut that nobody \vii! enter those files 

· or in any way touch them without my permission at this point, but. 
they are in the Retired Records Center outside of 'Vashington, and 
they are available. . 

I am not prepared to give you full details on it, because I simply 
·haven't read into that part of our history1 but in addition I would sug­
gest when we want to get into that we should get the Department of 
Defense in with us. 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, you will supply that information to the 
. Intelligence Committee, the relevant, I mean, the health aspects, obvi-

ouf?ly, and the research we ~re interested in Y 
Admiral 'TuRNER. Yes, str. 
Senator KENNEDY. Will you let us know, Admiral Turner~ 
Admiral TuRNER. I will be happy to. 
[See p.169 for the material referred to.] 
Senator KENNEDY. Thank you. I am running out of time. Do you 

support the extension· of the protection of human subjects legislation 
to include th~ CIA and the DOD! You commentedfavorably on that 
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before, and I am hoJ>eful we can get that on the calendar early in 
September, and that lS our strong interest. 

Admiral TuRNER. The CIA certainly has no objection to that pro­
posed legislation, sir. It is not my role in the administration to be the 
supporter of it or the endorser of it. . · 

Senator KENNEDY. As a personal matter, since you have reviewed 
these subjects, would :rou comment Y 1 knew it is maybe unusual, ·but 
you can understand w'hat we are attempting to do. 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. From your own experience in the agency, you 

can understand the value of it. 
Just finaiiy, in your own testimony now with this additional infor­

mation, it seems qitite apparent tom~ that you can reconstruct in VCIJ7 

careful detail th1s whole project in terms of the responsible CIA 
officials for the program. You have so indicated in your testimony. 
Now with the additional information, and the people, that have been 
revealed in the examination of the documents, it seems to be. pretty 
c1e-ar that you can track that whole program in very careful detaii, 
an4 I would hope, you know, that you ,,·ould want to get to ~},e bottom 
of It, as the Congress does as well. I will come back to that m my next 
round. Thank you very much. 

Senator INouYE. Senator Goldwater¥ 
Senator GoLDWATER. I have no questions. 
Senator INOUYE. Senator Schwe1ked 
Senator ScHWEIKER. Thank you, :Mr. Chainnan. 
Admiral Turner, I would like to go baek to.yonr testimony on page 

12, where you discuss the contribution to the building fund of a 
priYate medical institution. You state, "Indeed, it was mentioned in a 
1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Service Division of 
CIA, pertinent portions of which had been reviewed by the Church 
cormmttee staff." I would like to have you consider this question very 
carefully. I served as a member of the original Church committee. 
1tfy staffer did ·a lot of the work that you are referring to here. He 
made notes on the IG's reJ>ort. My ~uestion to you is, are you saying 
that the section that specifically debneates .!ln 1mprop~r contribution 
was in fact given to the Church committee staff to seet 

Admiral TURNER. The answer to your question is "Yes." The infor­
mo.tion that a contribution had been made was made available, to the 
best of my knowledge . 

Senator ScH'\\"EEKER. Only certain sections of the report were made· 
available. The report had to be reviewed out at Langley; it was not 
reviewed here, ana copies were not given to us here. I just want you to 
carefully consider what you are saying_, because the only record we 
have :are the notes (bat. the staff took on anything that was of 
significance. · 

Admiral TURNER. My understanding was that :M:r. :M:axwell was 
shown the relevant portion of this report that disclosed that the con­
tribution had been made. 

Senator. ScHWEIXER. To follow this up further, I'd like to say that 
I think there was c. serious flaw in the way that the IG report was 
handled and the Church committee was limited. I am not making any 
accusations: but because of limited accesS to the report, we have a situ-
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a.tion where it is not even clear whether we actually saw that material 
or not, simply because we could not keep a COJ>Y of the report under 
the procedures we had to fellow. We· were lim1ted by notetaking, and 
so it is rather ambiguous as to just what was seen and what \vas not 
seen. I certainly hone that the new Intelligence Committee will not 
be bountl. by procedures that so restrict its ability to exercise effective 
oversight. 

I have a second question. Does it concern you, Admiral, that we userl 
a subterfuge which resulted in the use of Federal construction grant 
funds to finance facilities for these sorts of experiments on our own 
people? llP-cause as I understand what you are saying, while the CIA 
maybe only put up $375,000, this triggered a response on the part of 
the Federal Government to provide on a. good faith basis matching 
hospital funds at the same level. We put up more than $1 million of 
matching funds, some based on an allegedly private donation which 
was really CIA money. . 

Isn't there something bnsically wrong with thaH 
Admiral Tun~ER. I certainly believe there is. As I stated, the Gen~ 

eral Counsel of the CIA at that time r(lndered a legal opinion thnt. 
this was a legal undertaking, and again I am hesitant to go back and 
rtwisit the atmosphere, the laws, the attitudes at that time, so whether 
the counsel was on good legal ground or not, I am not enough of n. 
lawyer to be sure, but it certainly would occur to me if it happened 
today as a very questionable ac.tivity. 

s .. nator ScJi'\vEIKER. 'yell, I think those of us who worked on nnd 
amende<.l the Hill-Burton Act and other hospital construction ns­
sistnnce la,ws over the years, would haven rnt.h".r rliff~rent opinion on 
the legal intent or object.of Congress in passing laws to provide hos­
pital construction project money. These funds weren't intended for 
thl& . 

It r<>minds men little bit of the s1u.•11fish toxin Rituntion which turned 
up -when I was on the Church committee. Tl1e Public Health Service 
was used to produce a deadly poison with Public. Health money. Here 
we are usin~ general hospital construction money to carry on a series of 
drug experiments. 

Admiral TunxEn. Excuse me, sir. If I could just be, I think, ac­
curate. I don't think any of this $375,000 or the matching funds were 
used to conduct drug experiments. They were used to build the hos­
pital. Now, the CIA then put more money into a foundation that. was 
conducting research on the CIA's behalf supposedlv in that hospital, so 
the i~tent. '~as certainly there, but the money~ wns not used for 
expenmentabon. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. 'Veil, I understand it was used for bricks and 
mortar, but the bricks were used to build the facility where the experi­
ments were carried on; were they not i 

Admin.l TURNER. W"e do not have positiYe evidence that thev were. 
It certainly would seem that that W3S the intent, but I do not want to 
draw inferences here- · · · 

Senator ScnwEIKER. Well, why else would they give this money for 
the building fund .if the building was not used for a purpose that 
benefited the CIA program W 

Admiral TuRNER. I certainly draw the inference that the CIA 
expected to'beriefit. from it, and some of the wording says the General 
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Counsel's opinion was that this was legal only if the qiA waR going 
to derive ndequnte benefit from it, but, sir, there is no cndence of what 
benefit was derived. .. 

Senator ScHwEm:.En. There must hnve been some pretty good benefits 
ut. stake. The Atomic Energy Commission was to bear a share o£ tht~ 
cost, nnd when tlwy backel out for some reason or another1 the CIA 
picked up pnrt of their tab. So, at two different points tnere were 
mdications that CIA dccisionmnkers thought there wns great benefit 
to be <lf:rh·ed from whate,·er happened within the brick and mortar 
walls of thnt facility. . 

Admiral Ttm·~~a:n. You nre absolutely right. I am only t~kmg the 
position that I cannot substantiate that there was benefit denved . 

Senator ScuwEIKF.R. The agreement documents say that th,~ CIA 
would hav<' ncc('SS to one-sixth of the space involved in the construction 
of the wing, so how would you enter into nn agreement that specifically 
says that. you will han~ acCeSS to and USC of one-Rixth of the Space and 
not. perform something in that space~ I cannot believe it was empty. 

Admiral Tunx.:n. Sir, I nm not disputing you at all, but both of us 
nre saying that the infE>rence is that one-sixth of the space \vas used, 
that expf.'rim(.>ntntion wns done, and so on, but there ]s no factual evi­
denct>. of whnt went on as a resu]t of that payment or what went on in 
tlu;t hospital. It is just missing. It is not that it didn't happen. 

Senator ScuwF.nn:n. Admiral Turner, one other-­
Senator KENNEDY. 'Yould the Senator yield on that point~ 
Sf.'nntor SciiWEIKEn. I understand that in the agency's documents 

on the ngt·ef.'ment it was explicitly stated that one-sixth of the facility 
would be designnt~d for CIA use and made nvailnblc for CIA r~­
search. Aro you famiiiar--

::L\Ir. Bnon.Y. Senator~ as I recall, you are right in that there is IL mc.n­
tion of one-sixth, but any mention at all has to do with planning. Th~re 
urc no subsequent. reports as to what happened after the construct10n 
took place. 

Senato1· SC'lH\'EIKJm. Admiral Turner, I rend in the New York Times 
that part of this seri<•s of ::L\IKUI ... TRA experiments involved an ar­
rangement with the Federal Bureau of Narcotics t-o test LSD sur­
reptitio\tsly on unwitting patrons in bars in New York and San 
Francisco. Some of the subjects became violently ill and were hos­
pitalized. I wonder if you would just briefly describe what we were 
doing there and bow it was carried out¥ I assume it was through a. safe 
house operation. I don't believe your statement went into much detail. 

Admil'al TURNER. I did mention the safe house operation in my 
statement, sir, and that is how these were carried out. What we ha\~ 
learned from the new documentation is the location and the dates at 
which tlte safe houses were run by the CIA and the identification of 
t.hree individim1s who were associated with running those safe houses. 
'Ve know something about. the construction work that was done in 
them becau~e t~ere were contracts for: this. Beyond that, we are pretty 
much d.rawmg mferences as to the thmgs that went on asto·what you 
are P..aymg here. 

Senator ScnwEtKER. "\Vell, the subjects were unwitting. You can 
infer that m~•ch, right.¥ 

Admiral TURNER. Right. 
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Senator ScHWEIKER. If you happened to be at the wrong bar at the 
wrong place and time, you got it. 

Mr. BRODY. Senator, that would be-contacts were made, as we 
understand it, in bars, et cetera, and then the people may ha1e been 
invited to these safe houses. There really isn~t any indication as to 
the fact that this took place in the bars. . · . 

Admiral TuRNER, We are trying to be very precise with you, sir' and 
not draw an inference here. There are 6 cases of these 149 wi1ere we 
have enough evidence in this new documentation to substantiate that 
there was unwitting testing and some of that involves these safe 
houses. There are other cases where it is ambiguous as to whether t~e 
testing was witting or voluntary. There are others where it was clearly 
voluntary. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. Of course, after a few drinks, it is questionable 
whether informed consent means anything to a· person in a bar 
anyway. 

Admiral TuRNER. Well, we don't have any indication that all these 
cases where it is ambiguous involved drinking of any kind. There are 
cases in penal institutions where it is not clear whether t'he prisoner 
was given a choice or not. I don't know that he wasn't gi.ven a choice, 
but I don't positively know that he was, and I claSFify that as an 
ambiguous incident. 

Senator INOUYE. Your time is up, Senator. 
Senator Huddleston Y 
Senator HUDDLESTON. Thank you, lfr. Chairman. 
Admiral Turner, you stated in your testimony that you are con­

vinced there was no attempt to conceal this recently dis~overed docu­
mentation during the. ear her searches. Did you question the individ­
uals connected w1th the earlier search before you made that judgment¥ 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes; I haven't, I don~t think, questioned eYery­
body who looked in the files or is still on our payroll who looked in 
the files back in 1975, but .Mr. Laubinger on my left is the best author­
ity on this, and I have gone over it with him in some detail. 

Senator HUDDLESTON. But you.have inquired, you think, sufficiently 
to assure yourself that there was no intent on the part of any person 
to conceal these records from the previous committee I 

Admiral TuRNER. I am persuaded of that both by my questioning 
of people and by the circumstances and the way in which these docu~ 
ments were filed, by the fact which I did not and should have men­
tioned in my testimony, that these were not the official files. The ones 
that we have received or retrieved were copies of files that were work­
ing files that somebody had used, and therefore were slipped into a 
different location, and a.gain I say to you, sir, I can't imagine their 
deliberately concealing these particular· files and .revealing the other 
things that they did- reveal in 1975. I don't see the motive for that, 
because tpese are not that damning compared with the overall material 
thnt was provided. · · 

Senator HUDDLESTON. Is this the kind of operation that if it were 
conti~ming nmv or if t. here were anythif!g simpar to it, that you would 
feel compelled-to report to the Select Committee on Intelligence¥ 
~dm~ral ~NER. Y~~' sir. Yon mean, if I discovered·that some­

thmg hke th1s were gomg on without my knowledge~ Yes, I would 
feel absolutely the requirement to--
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Senator HunnLESTON. But if it were going on with your knowledge, 
would you report it to the committee¥ I assume you would. 

Admiral 'l'L:"RNER. Yes. 'Veil, it would not be going on with my 
kmn~ ledge, but theoretically the answer is yes, sir. · 

Senator HUDDLESTON. 'Veil, then, what suggestions would you have 
as we devise charters for the various intelligence agencies i What 
provision would you suggest to '~'•rohibit this kind of activity from 
taking place Y 'Vould you suggest that it ought to be specifically out­
lined in a statutory charter setting out the parameters of tlw per­
missible operation of the various agencies~ 

Admiral 'l'uRNER. I think that certainly is something we must con­
sider ns we look at the legislation for charters. I am not on the face 
of it opposed to it. I think we would have to look at the pa.rticular 
wording as we are going to have to deal with the whole charter issue 
as to exactly how precise you want to ·be in delineating restraints and 
curbs on the intelligence activities. 

Senator HUDDLESTON. In the case of sensith·e type operations, which 
this certainly was, which might be going on today, is the oversight 
activity of the agency more intensive now than it was at that time' 

Admiral 'I'URNER. ~fuch more so. I mean, I have briefed you, sir, 
and the committee on our sensitive operations. We have the Intel­
ligence Oversight Board. We have a procedure in the National Se­
curity Council for approval of very sensitive operations. I think the 
amount of spotlight focused on these a.ctivities is many, manyfold 
whnt it was in these 12 to 24 years ago. 

Senator Huoo!.ESTON. How about the record keeping~ 
Admiral ~~R. Yes; I can't imagine anyone having the ga.ll to 

think that he can just blithely destroy records today with all of the 
nttel!tion that has come to this, and certainly we are emphasizing that 
that IS not the case. 

Senator HUDDLESTON. Admiral, I was particularly interested in the 
activityt.hat took place. at the U.S. Pubhc Health Service Hospital at 
Lexington, Ky., in which a Dr. Harris Isbell conducted experiments 
on people who were presumably patients there. There was a narcotics 
institution, I take it, and D.r. Isbell was, according to the New York 
Times story, currying on a secret series oi correspondence with an 
indhridual at the agency by the name of Ray. Have you identified who 
that person isi . 

Admiral 'l'o:RNER. Sir, I find myself in a difficult position here at 
a public hearing to confinn or deny these names in view of my legal 
responsibilities under the Privacy Act not to disclose the names of 
individuals here. 

Senator HUDDLESTON. I am just asking you if you have identified 
the person referred to in that article as Ray. I am not asking you who 
he was. I just want to know if you know who he is. 

Admiral TuRlot'"ER. No. I am sorry, was this W-r-a-y or R-a-y9 
Senator HUDDLESTON. It. is listed in th~ news article as R-a-y, in 

quotations. · · 
Admiral TURNER. No, sir, we haYe not identified him. 
Senatpr HUDDLESTON. So you have no knowledge of whether or 

not he is still a member ofyour stsff or c-onnected with the Agency in 
any way. Have you attempted to identify him! 
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[Pause.] · 
Admi lPT'I-...- ( 

. ra .L u.tt.....,""ER. Senator, we have a. former employee whose first 
naSee 1s Ray who may ~av~ had some connection with these activi.ties. 
h nator. H~DLEsro:s. lou suspeet that but you have not venfied 

t at hat this tl!ll~>, o:r at least you are not in a position to indicate that 
you ave verified 1 t ~ 

Admiral Tom;·En. That is ~orrect. 
Senator HUDDLESTON. Thank you. 
Thank you, :1\fr. Chairman. 
Senator INoUYE. Senator Wallop~ 
Sena~or WALLOP. Thank you, :1\fr. Chairman. 
Adm.1ral ~n1er, not all of the-and in no way trying to excuse 

you. of the hideous nature of some of these projects, but not all of the 
proJects unqer :1\fKULTRA are of a sinister or even a moral nature. -
Is that a .fa1r statement~ · · 

Admiral TuR::-.x:n. That is correct. 
S~nator .:WALLOP. Looking down through some of these 17 projects 

not mvolvmg human testing, aspects of the magician's art, it doesn't 
seem as though there is anything ''en· sinist~r about that. Studies of 
hu.man beha-vior and sleep research, library searches. Now, those 
thn;gs il! their way are still of interest, are they not, to the process 
of mtelbgence gathering~ 

Admiral Tun~"'ER. Yes, sir. I have not tried to indicate that we 
either are not doin_g or would not do a.ny of the things that were 
involved in :1\fKULTRA~ but wh~n it comes to the witting or unwitting 
testing of people with drugs, that is certainly·verboten, but there are 
other things. 

Senator WALLOP. Even with "'7olunteer patients~ I mean, I am not 
trying to put you on the spot tO say whether it is going on. but I mean, 
it is not an uncommon thing, is it, in the prisons of the. United States 
for the Public Health Serviee to conduct various kinds of experiments 
with vaccines and, say~ sunburn creams~ I know in Arizona they have 
done so. 

Admiral TURNER. ~f:v understandin_g is, lots of that iR authorized. 
but I am not of the opinion that this is not the CIA's busin~ss, and 
that if we need some information in that ca.te.l!ory, I would prefer 
to go to the other appropriate authorities of the Government and ask 
them to get it for us r$\ther than to in any way--

Senator WALIJ()P. Well, you know. ·you ha\'e library searches and at­
tendants at the national s;minnrs. This is why I wanted to ask you if 
the bulk of these projeCts were in any way the kinds of things tha~ the 
Agency might not do now. A President would not have been horrified 
by the list of the legitimate types of things. Isn't that probably the 
ca.Se¥ . 

Admiral TuR:r-.LR. Y t's, sir. · 
Senator WALLOP. And if it did in fact appear in the IG report, is 

there any reason to suppose that the President did not know of this 
projectfYou said there was no reason to suppose that he did, but let 
me reverse that. Is there any reason to suppose.that they did not¥ 

Admiral TuRNER. No. . 
Senator WALLOP. Well. you know. I just cannot imagine you or 

literally ·anybody undertaking projects of the magnitude of dollars 
here and just not knowing about it, not informing your superior that 
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these were going on, especially when certain items of it appear in the 
Inspector General's report on budget matters. 

Admiral TuRNER. 'Yell, I find it difficult when it is that far back to 
hypothesi:::e what the procedures that the Director was using in terms 
of informing hi~ superiors were. It is quite a different climate fro:n 
today, and I think we do a lot more informing today than they d1d 
back then, but I find it very difficult to guess what the level o£ knowl~ 
erlge was. 

Senator WALLOP. I am really not asking you to second-guess it, but 
it just seems to me that, while the past is past, and thank goodness we 
are oper; .. ting under different sets of circumstances, I think it is naive 
for us to suppose that these things were conducted entirely without the 
knowledge of the Presidents of the United States during those times .. _ 
It is just the kinds of resC'arch informntion that was being sought was 
vital to the United States, not the means, ·but the information that they 
were trying to find. · 

Adm'iral TonxEn. I am sorry. Your question is, was this vital~ Did 
we view it as vital~ 

Senator 'YALLOP. 'Yell, your implication ·at the beginning was that 
it was a respon=e to the kii1ds of beha,·ior that were seen in Cardinal 
l\Iindszenty's trial and other things. I mean, somebody must have 
thought that this was an important defensive reaction, if nothing e]se, 
on the part of the United States. 

Admirnl TonNER. Yes, sir, I am sure they did, but ngain I just don't 
know how high that permeated the executive branch. 

Senator "r ALLOP. But the kinds of information arc still important 
to you. I mean, I am not suggesting that. anyone go back and do that 
kind of titing again, but I'm certain it would be of use to you to know 
what was going to ·happen to one of your agents assuming someone hn.d 
put one of these things into his bloodstream, or tried to modify his 
behavior. · 

Admiral TURNER. Absolutely, and you know, we wouH b:'! very con­
r..erned if we thought there were: things like truth serums or other: 
things that our agents or others could be subjected to by usc or im­
proper use of drugs by other powers against our people or agents. 

Senator WALLOP. Are there Y I don't ask you to name them, but are 
there such serums i 

Admiral TuRNER. I don't know of them if there are. I would ha-ve to 
answer that for the record, sir. · · .. 

Senator WALLOP. I wpuld appreciate that. 
[The material referred to follows:] 

"T,BUTH" D1mos IN INTERROGATION 

The search for etrective afds to interrogation I~ probably as old as man's need 
to obtain Information from. an uncoopernth•e source and as persistent as hfs 
Impatience to shortcut an:y tortuous path; In the annals of police· investigation, 
physical roerclon. has .at times been substituted tor painstaking and time-con­
suming Inquiry in the belief' that direct ~ethods produce quick results. Sir 'James 
Stephens, writing: In 1883, rationa~l!es a grisly example of' "third degree" prac­
tices by ~e pollee of' Indl.a; ~·It is far pleasanter to sit comfortably In the shade 
rubbing r~ pepper ln a· poor de:dl's. eyes than to go about in the sun hunting up 
evidence."- .· : · · · · · · : · 

1\lore recently,· police officials in some countries·have turned to drugs fnr assist­
ance tn extracting confessions. from accused persons, drugs which ara esumed 
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ttl relax the indlvidual'.s defense!'! to the point that he unknowin~:ly reveal~ truths 
he has been trying to conceal. This hwesti~ati"'e technique, howev.:r hmnnn\tnrlan 
aR an alternath·e to physical torture, ::;till raises serious questions of indi"'l~unl 
rights and lihertit>s. In tllis country, when• drugs hu"'e gni1H>d only margl~lf\1 
nc('('ptancE> in police work. their use has prm·oked cries of "psychological th1rd 
degree'' and has precipitntt>d medico-legal controversies that nfter a I}Uurter of 
a century still occasionally tiara into the opt>n. 

'fhe use of so-called "trnth" drugg in police work is similar to the accl'pted 
pgycblntrlc practice- of nnrco-anil.iysis; the difference in the two pr?cedures lies 
in their different objeC't!;·el-l. The police investigator is concerned ,,.1th empirical 
truth that mny 1~ used against the suspect. nud therefore nlmost. solely with 
probafivt: ttuth: the ugefulness of the snspect'l' re\·elntlons dt>pt?nds ultimately on 
their acceptance in evidence by n court of law. 'fhe psychlatist. on tile other band, 
using the snme "truth'' d.·ugs in <liagnosis nnd tr('ntment of the mentally ill, is 
primarHy concerned with psuchological truth or ps;\·chological reality rather than 
empirical fact. A patie-nt's aberrations are renllty for him at the time they occur, 
and an accurate account of. these fantasies and delusions, rather than reliable 
recollection of past event~. can be the key to recovery. 

The notion of drugs capnhle of illuminating hidden recesses of the mind, help· 
'ug to bt>nl the mentall.v ill nnd pre,·enting or re>ersing the miscarriage of justi('e, 
hns pro·rided an exceedingly durable theme for the prel"s and popular literature. 
While a('knowledging that "truth serum'' is n misnomer twice owr-the drugs 
are not sera and they do not necessarily bring forth probath·e truth-journalistic 
accounts ('Ontinue to exploit the appeal of the term. 'fhe formula is to play up 
a few spectacular "truth" <lrng successess and to imply that the drugs are more 
maligned than need he and more widely employed in criminal i!'westigation than 
can officially ut.- admilleu. 

Any technique that promises nn increment of success in extracting information 
from an uncompliant source is ipso facto of interest ,in intelligence operations. 
If the ethical considerations which in Western countries inhibit the use of narco­
interrogation in police work are :t:elt also in intelligen<.>e, the \\·estern ser"'ices 
must at least be prepared against its possible employm~nt by the adversary. An 
understanding of "truth" drugs, their.chnrncteristic actions, and their potentiali­
ties, po!>ltivt" and negativP, fQr eliciting useful information is fundamental to an 
ade<}uate defense against them. 

This discussion, meant to help toward such an understanding, 6raws primarily 
upon openly published materials. It has the liinltations of projecting from crimi· 
nal inve:;Ugative practices and from the permissive atmosphere of drug psycho­
therapy. 

SCOP<.'LA'MINF. AS "TRUTH SERUM" 

Early In this century physicians he::an to employ scopolamine, along with 
morphine and chloroform, to induce a state of "twilight sleep" during childbirth. 
A constituent of henbane, scopolamine was kno\\·n to produce sedation and drowsl­

.. ness, confusion and disorientation, incoordination, and amnesia for events ex­
periericed during intoxication. Yet physicians noted that women in twilight sleep 
ami\\·ered questions accurately and often volunteered exceedingly candid remarks. 

In 19221t occurred to Robert House, a Dallas, Texas obstetrician, that a similar 
• . technique might be ~mployed In the Interrogation of tmspected criminals, and he 

arranged to interview under scopolamine two. prisoners tn the Dallas county 
jail whose guilt 'seemed clearly confirmed. Under the drug, both men deniro the 
charges on which they were held; and both, upon trial, were found not gullty. 
Enthusiastic at this success, House concluded that a patient under the in'fluence 
of scopolamine "cannot create a lie . • • and there Is no power to think or rea· 
son." [14] His experiment and this conclusion attracted wide attention, and the 
idea of a "truth" drug was thus launched npon the public consciousness. · 

The phrase "truth serum'' Is believed to have appeared first in a news ·report 
of :IJouse's experiment in the LoB Angeles Record, sometime in 1922. House resisted 
the t~rm for a while but cventuall1 came to employ it regularly himself. He pub­
llshed some eleven articles on scopolamine in the years 1921-1929 with a notice­
able increase in poleri:lical zeal as time went ·on. What had begup as something 
of a scienti~? statement turned fl~ally into a dedicated crusade by the "father of 
truth serum on behalf of his otrsprlng, wherein be was "grossly indulgent of its 
wayward ~ha,ior and stubbornly proud of its minor acbievements."[ll] 
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Only a handful of cases in which scopolamine was used for pollee interroga­
tion came to public notice, though there is e\'ldence suggesting that some pollee 
forces may ha,·e used it extensively. [2, 16] One pollee writer claims that the 
threat or scopolamine Interrogation has been effective In extracting confessions 
from criminal suspects, who are told they wlll first ~e rendered unconscious by 
chloral hydrate placed covertly tn their l:olfee or drlnkmg water.[lG] 

Because of a number of undesirable side etrects, scopolamine was shortly dls­
quallfied as a "truth" drug. Among the most disabllng of the side etfects are 
hallucinations, disturbed perception, somnolence, and physiological phenomena 
~uch as headache, rapid heart. and blurred nsicm, which distract the subject from 
the central purpose of the interview. Furthermore, the physical action is long, far 
outlasting the psychological effects. Scopolamine continues; in some cases, to make 
anesthesia and surgery safer by drying the mouth and throat and reducing secre­
tions that might obstruct the air passages. But the fantastically, almost painfully, 
dry "desert" mouth brought on by the drug is hardly con duel ve to free talking, 
even in ~ tr~ctable subject. 

THE BARBITURATES 

The first suggestion that drugs might· facllttate communication with emo­
tionally dlsturued patients came quite by accident In 1916. Arthur S. Lovenhart 
and his associates at the Uni-rersity or Wiscvnsin, experim~nting with respiratory 
stimulants, were surprised when, after an injection of sodium cyanide, a catatonic 
patient who had long been mute and rigid suddenly relaxed, opened his eye~. and 
e\·en answered a few questions. By the early 1930's a number or psychiatrists 
'1\"ere experimenting with drugs as an adjunct to established methods of therapy. 

At about this time police officials. still nttracted by the possibility that drugs 
migh help in the interrogation of suspects and witnesses, turned to a class of 
depressant dn1gs. known a<; the barbiturates. By 1935 Clarence '"· :!\Iuehlberger. 
bend of the :Michigan Crime Detection Laboratory at East Lansing, '\\•as using 
barbiturates on reluctant suspects, though police work continued to be hampered 
by the courts' rejection of drug-induced confessions except in a few carefully 
circumscribed instances. 

The barbiturates, first synthesized in 1903, are among the oldest of modern 
drugs and the most versatile of all depressants. In this half-century some 2,500 
hnve been prepared, and about two dozen of these have won an Important place 
in medicine. An estimated thre~? to four bllllon doses of barbiturates are pre­
scribed by physicians in the United States each year, 'and they ha,·e come to be 
known hy a variety of commercial names and colorftll slang expressions: "goof~ 
balls," Luminal, Nembutal, "req devils," "yellow jackets," "pink ladles," etc. 
Three of them which are used in narcoanalysis and have seen ser-rlce as ''truth" 
drugs are sodtum amytai (amobarbital), pentothal sodium (thiopental), and to a 
lesser extent seconal (secobarbital). 

As one pharmacologist explains it, a subject coming under the infiuen(!e of a 
bnrbi turate injected. intravenously g6es through all the stages of progressive 
drunkenness, bnt the time scale is 'On the order of minutes instead of hourS. 
Ontl\'ardly the sedfl.tion etfect Is dramatic, especially if the subject Is a psychiatric 
patient In tension. His features elacken, his body relaxes. Some people are 
momentarily. excited; a few beoeme silly and giggly. This usually pas$eS, and 
most subjects fall asleep, emerging later in disoriented semi-wakefulness; 

The descent into na·rcosis and beyond with progressively larger doses can be 
dl>ided as follows: . .. 

I. Sedative stage. 
II. Unconsciousness, with exaggerated reflexes (hyperactive stage) .. 
III. Unconsciousness, without refiex even to painful stimuli. 
IV •. Death. . . . 

Whether· all these stages can be di8tlnguishe:d in an.v given subject depends 
largely on the. dpse and the rapidity with . which. :the drug is induced; In 
anesthesia,· stages I and II may last only two· or three seconds. 

The tl.rst.or sedative stage can be fUTther divided: 
Plane 1. No evident etreet,.or slight sedative .eft'ect. 
Plane 2. Clot1diness. calmness, amnesia., (Up()n recovery, the subject will 

not remember what happened at this or !~lower" planes or stages.) · 
Plane ~. Slurred speech, old thought J)atterns disrupted, lnablllty to inte­

grate or learn new patterns. Poor corordln.ation. Subject becomes unaware 
of panltul stlmuU. · . · 
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Plane 3 Is the psychiatric "work" stage. It may last only a few minutes, but 
It can be extended by further slow injection of drug. The usual practice is to 
bring the subject quickly to Stage II and to conduct the interview as he passes 
back into the sedative stage t>n the way to full consciousness. 

CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAl. STlH'IIF.A 

The genei.'al abhorrence ln Western countries for the use of chemical agents 
"to make people do things against their w111" bas precluded serious systematic 
study (at least as published openly) of the potentialities cf drugs for Interroga­
tion. Louis A. Gotbw.balk, surveying their use lu Information-seeking inter­
views, [13] cltea 135 references; bUt only two touch upon the extraction of 
Intelligence Information, and one ot these concludes merely that Russian tech­
niques In Interrogation and indoctrination are derived from age-old pollee 
methods and do not depend on the use of drugs. On the validity of confessions 
obtained with drugs, G<>ttS<'halk foun'li 'Onlr three published experimental studiea 
that he deemed worth reporting. 

One oi these reported experiments by D.P. Morris In which intravenous sodium 
amytal was helpful In detecting mallngerers.[12] The subjects, soldiersr., were 
nt fi:rst sullen, neg-atlYistic, Rnd non-productive under amytnl, but as the inter· 
view proceeded they revealed the tact of and causes tor their maUnger!ng. Usually 
the interviews turned up a neurotic or psychotic basis for the deception. 

The other two confession studies, being more relevant to the highly special­
ized, untouched area of drugs in tntelllgence Interrogation, deserve more detailed 
review. 

Gerson lind Victoro1![12] conducted am:rtalintervlews with 17 neuropsychiatric 
patients, soldiers who bad charges against them, at Tilton General Hospital, 
Fort Dix. First they were Interviewed without amytnl by a psychiatrist, who, 
nP.lther ignoring nor stressing their si-tuation as prisoners or suspects under 
8-Crutiny, urged eecb of them to discuss his social and family background, his 
army career, and hls version of the charges pending against him. 

The patients were told only a few minutes In ad\·ance that narcoanalysis would 
be pertormed. The doctor was considerate, but positive and forthright. Be indi­
cated that th~y had no choice but to submit to the procedure. Their attitudes 
varied from unquestioning compliance to downright refusal. 

Each patient was brought to romplete narcosis and pennltted to sleep. As he 
became semiconscious and rould be- stimulated to speak, be wa~ held in this stage 
with additional an1ytal while the que-stioning procf>eded. He was questioned 
tlrst about Innocuous matters from his background that be had discussed bl'fore 
recelvlng the drug. '\\'llenever possible, be was manipulated Into bringing up 
himself the charges pending against him before being questioned about them. 
If he did this in a too fully conscious state, It pro~ed more etrE>Ctive to ask him 
to "talk about that Inter" and to interpose a topic that would diminish suspicion, 
delaying the interrogation on his criminal activity until be was back in the 
proper stage of narcoms. ' 

The procedure differed from theraJ)eutic narcoanalysis In several ways: the 
setting,. the type or patients, and the kind o! "truth" sought. Also, the subjects 
were kept in twilight consciousness longer than usual. This state proved riche-st 
in yield of admissions prejudicial to the subject. In It his speech was thick, 
mumbling, and disconnected, but his discretion was markedly reduced. This val· 
uable Interrogation period, lasting only five to ten minutes at a time, could be 
reinduced by injecting more amytal and putting the patient back to sleep . 

The Interrogation technique varied from case to case according t& background 
Information about the patient, the seriousne-ss o! the charges, the pa.tlt"nt't~ atti­
tude under nareosls, and his rapport with the doctor. Sometimes it was useful to 
pretend, as the patient grew more fully C-onscious, that be had already confessed• . 
during the amnestic period of the interrogation, and to urge him, while his mem­
ory arid :sense of aelt-protection were stlll limited, to continue to elaborate the 
details of whet be had .. already deScribed." When 1t was ob~-lons that a subject 
was wltbboldlng the truth, bls denials were quickly passed over and Ignored, 
and the key questions would be reworded In a new approach. · . 

Several patients revea~ed fantasies, fears, and delusions approaching delirium, 
much of which could readily be distinguished from reality. But sometimes there 
was no way for the examiner to distinguish truth from fantal'ly ~xcept by refer­
ence to other sources. One subject claimed to have a child that did not exist, 
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another threatened to kill on sight a stepfather who had been dead a year, and 
:ret anotber c-onfessed to participating in a robbery when in fact he had only 
purchasW. goods from the participants. Tt>stJmony concerning clates and specific 
places was untrustworthy and often contradictory because of the patient's loss 
of time--sense. His veracity in citing names and e\·ents IJro\·ed questionable. Be· 
cause of hls contusion nbout actu-al e,·eutl:! uutl what he thought or !eared had 
happened, the patient ut times managed to conct>9.1 the truth unintentionally. 

As tht> subject renved, he would become aware that be was being questioned 
about his secrets and, depending upon his personality, his fear of discoYery, or 
the degree or his disillusionment with the doctor, grow negath1stic, hostile, or 
physiC"ally aggrf'SSit'e. Occasionally patients had to be forcibly restrained during 
this period to pren:nt injury to themseh·f's or othf'rs as the doctor continued to 
interrogate. Some patients, ruo\"ed l.Jy fierce and diffuse anger, tbe assumption 
thnt they had al.ready beeu tricked into confE>sslng, and a still limited sense of 
discretion, defiantly acknowledged their guilt and challenged the obser•er to 

·· "do something al.Jout it." As the excitement passed, some tell hack on their orig­
inal ·stories and others t'erlfied the confessed material. During the follow-up 
Interview nine of lht> 17 admitted the Ynliditv ot their confessions; eight re-­
pudiated their confessions nnd reaffirmf.'d their earlier accounts. 

With respect to the relinl.Jllity o! the results of such interrogation, Gerson 
and Vlctorotr conclude that persistent. careful questioning can reduce ambigui­
ties in drug Interrogation, but cannot eliminate them altogether. 

At least one experiment has shown that subjects are capable of maintaining a 
lie ~·J:ile under the influence of n barbiturate. Redlich and his associates at 
Yale[25] administered sodium amytal to nine volunteers, students and protes· 
!'!!onal!!', who hfld prPvlou~ly, for purposes of the experiment, revealed shameful 
and guilt-prooucing episodes of their past nnd theu invented false self-protecth·e 
~torles to cover thE>m. In nearly e¥ery case the co-rer story retained oome ele­
ments of the guilt inherent in the true Rtory. 

Under the influence of the drug, the subjects were crossexnmlned on their 
COt'er stories by a second investigator. The results, though not definitive, showed 
that normal individuals who had good defenses and no overt pathological traits 
could stick to their in'fented stories and refuse confession. Neurotic Individuals 
with strong unconscious selt-puniti\"e tendencies, on the other band, both con· 
fessed more easily and were inclined to substitute fantasy for the trut.b, con· 
lessing to otfen.s~?s nt-fo:r stctually committed. 

In recent years drug therapy has made some use ot stimulants, most notably 
amphetll!nine (Benzedrine) and its relatl'fe methamphetamine (Methedrine). 
The-se drugs, usW. either alone or following intravenops barbiturates, produce 
an outpouring of ideas, emotions, and memories which bas been of help in diag­
nosln:;- mental disorders. The potential of stimulants in interrogation has re­
cei'fed UttlP. attention, unless in unpublished work. In one stndy of their psychl· 
atrlc use Brnssel et a.l. {7] maintain that. methedi:'lne gives the liar no time to 
think or to organhr.e his dec:eptions. Once the dn1g tokes hold, they say. an in­
surmountable urge to pour out speech traps the malingerer. Gottschalk, on 
the other hand, says that this claim is extravagant, asserting without elabora· 
tion that the study lacked proper controls. [13] It Is evident that the combined 
use o! barbiturates and stimulants, perhaps along with ataraxics (tranquilizers), 
should be further explored. 

OBSEBYAnONS FROM PRACnCE 

1. M. MacDonald, who as a psychiatrist for the District Courts o! Denver 
bas bad extensive experience with narcoanalysis, says that drug interrogation 
is. of doubtful value in obtaining confessions to crimes. Criminal suspects under 
the lntluence of barbiturates may deliberately withhold information, persist ill 
gh·ing untruthful answers, or falsely confess to erimes they did not commit. 
The psychopathic personality, in portlcnlar, appears to resist successfully the 
infiuence of drugs. · 

MacDonald tells of a criminal psychopath who, having agreed to narco-lnter· 
rogation. receh·ed 1.5 grams of sodium amytal over a period of five hours. This 
man feigned amnesia and gave a false account of a murder. "He displayed little 
or no remorse as he (falsely) described the crime, including bnrial of the body .. 
Indeed be was very self-possessed and he appeared almost to enjoy the examina­
tion. From time to Ume be would requeRt that more amytal he injected."[21] 

· MacDonald concludes thut a person who gives !else information prior to re-
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eehing drugs is likely to give false information also under narcosis, that the 
drugs are of little vnlue for ren~aling de<'ept:ions. and that they are more etredive 
in releasing unconsciously ~ material than in evoking <.-onsciously sup· 
prE!1med information. 

Another psychiatrist known for bi!'l work with crlmin:.l& L. Z. Freedlliau, 
gave sodium am:nal to men aC".:.'Uaed of various civil and military antisocial acts. 
The subjects were mentally unstallle. their ronditions ranging from character 
disorders to neuroses and vsychOHeS. The drug interviews proved psychiatrically 
beneficial to tht'! patients, bnt l''~m!ln found that bis \iew o! objectin~ reality 
was seldom improve-d by their rel"elations. He was unable to say on th<.> basis of 
the narro-interNgation whether a given act had or had not occurred. Like Mac­
Donald, he found that ~ycbopathic individuals ('iln df!ny to the point of uucon­
tK:iousness crimetl that erery objeetive b;gn indicates they bav•' committed.[lO] 

F. G. Inbau, Professor of Law at :-iorthwestern l"niversity, who has bad con· 
6iderahle experienC1' obServing and participating in •·truth" drug tests. claims 
that they aN> CloC'Casionally effective on persons who would have disclosed the 
truth anyway bad they been properly interrogated. but that a person deter­
mined to lie will usually be able to continue the deception under drugs. 

The two military psychiatri.!rt.8 who made the most extensive use of nal'C'~nal· 
rFis during the war rears. Roy R. Grinker and John C'. ::;piegel. concluded that 
in almost all cases they could obtain !rom their pati('nts (-sSoential!y th-e- same 
material and give them the same emotional release by therapy without tb('o use 
«f drug&, provided they had sufficient time. 

The essence of these romments from professionals of long experience is that 
drugs provide rapid access to information that is psychlutric·ally USE"!Ul but o! 
douutful validity as empirical truth. The same psycholog:it'al iuform~tlVii and a 
less adulterated empirical truth can be obteined !roru tuUy conscious subjects 
through non-drug psychotherapy and skillfali,.,lice interrogation. 

A.PPLICATIO!f TO C:t I!fTEKROOATIOl'{ 

The almost total absence o! controlled experimental studies of "truth" drugs 
and the spotty and anecdotal nature of psy<'.biatric and pollee evidence require 
that extrapolations to intelligence operations be made with care. Still. enough 
is known about the drugs' action to suggest certain considerations atrecting the 
possibilities for their use in Interrogations. 

It should be cl('oar from tht- foregoing that at best a drug can only serve &I!! 
an aid to an interrogator who hu a tmre understanding of the ps.rchology and 

. techniques of normal interrogation. In some respects. indeed. the demands on his 
skill will be Increased uy the baffUng mixture of truth and fantasy in drug-induced 
output. And the tendeney against wiJich be mu.~t gnard in the Interrogate to give 
the responses that seem to be wanted without regard for facts will be heightened 
by drugs: the literature abounds with warnings that a subjeet ln nareosis is 

. extremely suggestible. 
It seems possible that this suggestibility and the lowered guard of the narcotic 

state migbt be put to advantage in the case of a subject teigning ignorance of a 
language or some other- skill that bad become automatic 'With him. Lipton[20] 
found sodium amyt.al helpful in determining whethe::- a foreign trubject was merely 
pretending not to understand English. By extension. one can guess that a drugged 
interrogatee might have d.Wficulty maintaining the pretense that be dld not com· 
prebend the idiom <i'lt a profession be was trrtng to bloo. 

There is the turtber ,problem of hostillty in the interrogator's relationsi .. ip to 
a resistance source. The accumulated knowledege about "'truth" drug reaetion 
has come largely from patient-physician relationships of trust- and 'COntldenee. 
The subject in narcoanalysis Is usually motivated a priori to cooperate Y.ith the 
psychiatrist, either to obtain relief from mental stn!ering or to contribute to a 
scientific study. Even .in pollee work, where an atmosphere ot an:rlety and threat 
may be dominant, a relationship of trust frequently asserts Itself: the drug is 
administered by a medical man bound by a strict code ot ethics; the suspect 
agreeing to undergo narcoanalysis in a desperat::: bid for corroboration of bis 
testimony truSts both drug and psychiatrist. however apprehen.si:rely; and finally, 
as Freedman and lfacDona.ld bave indicated. the pollee psychiatrist frequently 
deals with a "sick" criminal. and some order of patient~pbysiclan relationship 
necessarily evolves. · 

.. 

• 

• 



" 

• 

• 

• 

31 

Rarely has a drug interrogation im·oh·ed "normal" indil"lduals in n hostile 
or genuinely threatening milieu. It \>as from a non-threnteniug exper·imentnl 
.setting that Eric Lindemann could say that his "normal'' subjects "reported a 
general sense of euphoria, ease and confidence. and they exhibited a marked in­
crease In talkativeness and communlcability."[18} Gerson and \'lctorotr list poor 
doctor-patient rapport as one factor interfering with the completeness and au­
thenticity ot confessions hy tll~ Fort Dix soldiers, caught as they were In il. 
command performance and told they had no choice but to submit to narco­
lnterrogatlon. 

From all Indications, subject-interrogator rapport is usuallv crucial to obtain­
ing ti.Ie psychological release which may lead to unguarded disclosures. Role-play­
ing on the part of the interrogator might be n possible solution to the problem 
of establishing rapport with a drugged subject. In therapy, the British narco­
nnalyst W1lliam Sargent recommends that the therapist deliberately distort the 
facts of the patient's life-experience to achie\·e heightened emotional response 
and abreactlon.{27] In the drunken state of narcoanalysis patients are prone to 
accept the therapist's false constructions. There is reason to expet't that a drugged 
subjt>ct would communicate freely with an interrogator playing the role of rela­
tive, colleague, physician, Immediate superior, or any other person to whom his 
background indicated he would be responsit'e. 

E\·en when rapport is poor, however, there remains one facet of drug action 
eminently exploHable In inten·ogation-the fact that subjects emerge from 
narcosis ff'eling they ha \'e re,·enled a great deal. even when tht>Y ha Ye not. As 
Gt>rson and Victorol'f' demonstra.ted oat Fort Dh:, this psychological set provides a 
major opening for obtaining genuine confessions. 

POSSIBLE Y.ARIATIONS 

In studies by Beecher and his associates, [3--6] one-third to one-half the 
individuals tested proved to be placebo reuctors, subjects who respond with 
symptomatic relief to the administration of any syringe, pill, or capsule, regard­
less of what it contains. Although no studies are known to have been made of the 
placebo phenomenon as.applled to narco-interrogatlon, It seems reasonable that 
when a subject's sense of guilt interferes with productive interrogation, a placebO 
for pseudo-narcosis could have the etl'ect of absolving him of the responslbUlty 
for his acts and thus clear the wa1· for free communication. It is notable that 
placebos are most likely to be etl'eetlve in situations of stress. The individuals 
most likely to react to placebos are the more anxious, more self-centered, more 
dependent on outside stimulation, those who express their needs more freely 
socially, talkers who drain off anxiety by conversing with others. The non­
reactors are those clinically more r~gid and with better than average emotional 
control. No sex or I.Q. dUferences ootween reactors and non-reactors have been 
found. 

Another possiblllty might be the combined use of drugs with hypnotic trance 
and post-hypnotic suggestion: hypnosis could presumably 1>revent any recollec­
tion of the drug experience. Whether a subject can· be brought to trance against 
his will or unaw:are, however, is a matter of some disagreement. Orne, in a survey 
of the potential uses of hypnosis in interrogation,[23] asserts that It is doubt­
ful, despite many apparent indicaWms to the contrary, that trance can be induced 
in resistant subjects. It may be possible, be adds, to hypnotize ·a subject unaware, 
but this would require a posltlve relationship with the hypno~ist not likely to 
be found in the interrogation setting. 

In medical hypnosis, pentothal sodium is sometimes employed when only light 
trance bas been induced and deeper narcosis is desired. This procedure is a 
possibillty for interrogation, but If a satisfactory level of narcosis could be 
achieved through hypnotic tranee. there would appear to be no need for drugs. 

DEFENSIVE KEAStJ~ES 

There is no known way of building tolerance for a "truth" drug without creat­
Ing a disabling addiction, or of arresting the action of a barbiturate onee induced. 
The only :full safeguard against nnrco-lnterrogation Is to prevent the adminis­
tration of the drug. Short of this, the best defense is to make use of the same 
lmowledge·tbat suggests drugs for offensive operations·: if a subject knows that 
on emerging from narcosis he will have an exaggerated notion of bow much he 
has revealed he can better resolve to deny he has said anything. 
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The disadvantages and shortcomings of drugs in off'ensl\"e operations become 
positive features of the defense posture. A subject in narco-interrogatlon is 
intoxicated, wavering between deep sleep and semi-wakefulness. His speech is 
garbled and irrational, the amount of output drastically diminished. Drugs 
disrupt established thought patterns, including the will to resist, but they do so 
indiscriminately and thus also icterfere \\"ith the patterns of suhstanth·e infor­
mation the interrogator seeks. Enm under the conditions most fat"orable fot· 
the interrogator, output will be contaminated by fantasy, distortion, and untruth. 

Possibly the most effective way to arm oneself against narco-interrogation 
would be to undergo n "dry run." A trial drug interrogation with output taped 
for playback would familiarize an indi\·idual with his own reactions to "truth" 
drugs, and this famllinrity would help to reduce tbe effects of harassment by 
the interrogator before and after the drug has been administered. From the view· 
point of the intelligem·e service, the trial exposure of n particular operati\"e to 
drugs might pro,·ide a rough benchmark for assessing the kind and amount of 
information he woul<t divulge in narcosis. 

There may be concern over tbe possibility of drug addiction intentio11.nlly or 
accidentally induced by an adversary service. llost drugs w111 cause addiction 
with prolonged use. and the barhiturntes nre no exception. In recent studies at 
tbe U.S. Public Health Service Ho:;;pital for addicts in Lexington, Ky., subjects 
recei\"ed large doses of harbituratf's m·er a period of months. Upon removal of 
the drug, they experienced acute withdrawal symptoms and behaved in e,·ery 
respect like chronic alcoholics. 

Because their action is extremely short. however. nnd because there is little 
likelihood that they would he administered regularly O\'er a prolonged period, 
barbiturate "truth" drug:,; prt:&ent sllgbt dsk or operational addiction. If the 
adversary sen·ice were intent on creating addiction in order to exploit with· 
drawal, it would ha'\"e other, more rapid.means (,f producing states as unpleasant 
as withdrawal symptoms. 

The hallucinatory and psychotomim~Uc drugs such as mescaline. marihuana, 
LSD-25, and mh-rotlne are sometimes mistakenly associated with uarcoanalytic 
interrogation; These drugs distort the perception and Interpretation of the sen­
sory input to· the central nerYous f.lystem and affect \"ision, audition, smell. the 
sensation of the size of body parts and their position in space, etc. Mescaline and 
LSD-25 have been used to create experimental "psychotic states," anrl in a 
minor way as aids in psychotherapy. · 

Since information obtained from a person in a psychotic drug state would be 
unrealistic, bizarre. and extremely difficult to assess, the self-administration of 
LSD-25, which is effecti\"e in minute dosages, might in special circumstances 
off'er an operative temporary protection against interrogation. Concei\"ably, on 
the other hand, an ad\"ersnry ser\"ice could use such drugs to produce anxiety or 
terror in medically unsophisticated .subjects unable to distinguish drug-induced 
psychosis from actual insanity. An enlightent.>d operath·e could not be thus 
frightened, however. knowing that the effect of t~'3se hallucinogenic agents is 
transient in normalindit"iduals. 

llost broadly, there is evidence that drugs ha\·e least effect on well-adjusted 
individuals with good defenses and good emotional control, and that anyone who 
can .withstand the stress of competent interrogation in the waking state can do 
so in narcosis. The essential resources for resistance thus .appear to Ue within 
the individual. 

CONCLUSION A 
. -

The salient point~that emerge from this discl,lssion are th£ following. No such 
magic brew as the popular notion of truth serum exists. The barbiturates, by 
disrupting defensiYe patterns, may sometimes be helpful in interrogation, bqt 
even under the .best conditions they will elicit au output contaminated by-decep­
tion, fantasy, garbled speech, etc. A mnjor vulnerablllty they produce in the sub· 
Ject is a tendency to believe he has re\"ealed more than he has. It ts possible, how· 
ever, for both normal individuals and psychopaths to resist drug interrogation; 
it seemlf likely that any individual who can withstand ordinary intensive inter­
rogation can hold out in narcosis. The best ald to a defense against narco-inter­
rogatloU: ••f foreknowledge of the process all(} its limitations. There is an acute 
need for. controlled experimental studies of drug reaction, not only to depressants 
but also to stimulants· and to combinations. of depressants, stimulants.· and 
·ataraxics.· · · 
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Senator WALLOP. If they are, !·would assume that you would stiU 
try to find from either theirs or somebody else's information how to 
protect our people from that kind of activity. · 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes. . 
Senator WALLOP. Thank you very much. ~hank you, I\fr. Chairman. 
Senator INOUYE. Senator Chafee! . · 
Sena~r CuA.FEE. Thank you, Mr. Chainnan. 
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Admiral Turner, I s.ppreciate that these tawdry activities were tak­
ing place long before your watch, and I think you luwe correctly 
labeled them as abhorrent, but not only were they abhorrent, it seems 
to. me they were rather bungled, amateurish expQriments that don't 
seem to have been handled iu a very scientific way, at least from the 
scanty evidence we ha'\""e. 

It seems to me that there were the minimum of reports and the 
Agen~y didn't Jmye the ability to call it ~nits. It went on for some 12 
years, as you mentioned . .:What I would hke to get to is, are you con­
Yinced now in your Ag<•ncy that those seientific experiments. legiti­
mate ones that you were conducting with polygraph and so forth, were 
being conducted in a scientific manner and that you are handling it in 
a correct manner to get the best information that you are seekmg in 
the end? 

Admiral TURNER. Yes, I am, and I also have a sense of confidence 
that we nre limiting ourseives to the areas where we need to be in­
volved as opposed to areas where we can rely on others. 

Senator CuAFEE. I am convinced of that from your report. I just do 
hope that you have people who are trained in not only handling this 
type of experiment, but in preparing the proper ~·eports and drawing 
the proper data from the reports. You are connnced that you have 
this type of people~ 

Admiral TURNER. Yes, sir. 
Senator CrrAFEE. The second point. I am interested in was the final 

lines in your testimony here, which I believe are very important, and 
that is that the Agencj is ·doing all it can in cooperation with other 
branches of the Government to go about tracking down the identity of 
those who were in some way adversely affected, and see what can be 
done to fulfill the government's responsibilities in that resP.ect. I might 
add that I commend you in that, and I hope you will pursue it 
vigorously. 

A hospital in my State was involved in these proceedings, and it is 
unclear exactly what did fake place, so I have both a parochial interest 
in this and a national intei·est as· well, and I do hope you will press on 
with it. It involves not only you, I appreciate, but also HEW and per-
llaps the Attorney General. · 

Admiral TURNER. Thank you, sir. 'Ve will. 
Senator CHAFEE. Thank you. Thank you, Afr. Chairman. 
Senator INoUYE. Thank you very much. · . 
Admiral Turner, 1\IKUI..~TRA subproject 3 was a project involving 

the surreptitious administration of LSD on unwitting persons,.was it 
not¥ · . . 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes, sir. · · · . 
Senator .INOUYE. In February 1954, and this was in the very early 

stages of :MK~TRA, the Director of Central Intelligence wrote to 
the technical services staff officials criticizing their judgment because 
they had participated in an expei·iment involving· the administration 
of LSD on an unwitting basis to Dr. Frank Olson; who later committed 
suicide; Now, the individ~als criticized were the same individuals who 
were responsible for this subproject 3, involvh\1]: exactly the same prn.c­
tices~ Even though these individ~aJs were 'clearly aware of the dangers 
of surreptitious administration and had been criticized by the Director 
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of Central Intelligence, subproject 3 was not terminated immediately 
after Dr. OJso:a's death. 

In fact1 according to documents, it continued for a number of years. 
Can you provide this committee with any c>xplanntion of how such 
testing could have continued under these circumstances? 

Admiral TunxEn. No, sir, I really cnn~t. 
Senator IxoUl"E. Are the individuals in the technical services who 

carried on subproject 3 still on the CIA payroll~ 
Admiral TuRNER. I am ~orry. Are you asking, are they today! 
Senator INouYE. Yes. 
Admiral TuRNER. No, sir. · 
Senator INoUYE. "\Vhat would you do if you criticized officials of the 

technical services staff and they continued to carry on experimenta­
tion for a number of years~ 

.Admiral TuFNER. I would do two things, sir. One is, I '\·ould be sure 
at the beginning that I was explicit enough that they knew that I 
didn't want that to be continued anywhere eJse, and two, if I found it 
being continued, I would roll some heads. 

Senator INoUYE. Could you provide this committee with informa­
tion as to whether the individuals involved had' their head::; rolled~ 

Admiral TuRNER. I don't believe there is any evidence they did, but 
I will double check that. · 

[See p.l70 for material referred to.] · · 
. Senatorlxoun:. As you know, Senator Huddleston and his subcom­
mittee are deeplJ involved in the drafting of charters and guidelines 
for the intelligence community. "\Ve will be meeting with the President 
tomorrow. Our concern is, I thiuk, a basic one. Can anything like this 
occur again 7 · 

Admiral TuRXER. I think it woqld be very, very unlikely, first, be­
cause we are al1 much more conscious of these Issues than we were back 
in the :fifties, second, because we have such .thorough oversight proce­
dures. I cannot imagine that this kind of activity could take place 
today without some member of the CIA itself bypassing me, if I were 
authorizing this, and writing to the Intelligence Oversight Board, and 
blowing the whistle on this kmd of activity. 

I nm also doing my very best, sir, to 'encourage an openness with 
myself and a free commumcation in the Agency, so that I am the one 
who finds these things if they should happen. The fact is that we must 
keep you and your committee and now the new committee in the House 
informed of our sensitive activities. I think all of these add up to a 
degree of scrutiny such that this kind of extensive and flagrant activity 
could not happen today without it coming to the attention of the proper 
authorities to'stop it. · · · . · . · 

S~nator INoUYE. A sad aspect of the MKULTRA project was that 
it natu~lly inv?lved t~e people who unwit~ing~y _?r wittingly got in~ 
volved m exper1mentat10n. I would appreciate tt 1f you would report 
back to this committee in 3 months on what the Agency has done to 
notify these individuals and these institutions, and furthermore, to 
notify us as'to what steps have been t.ak~n to identify victims, and if 
identifi~d, what you have. done ~o assi~tthem, monetarily or otherwise. 

Admtral TuRNER. All right, su:•. I will be happy to. 
Senato! GowwATER. "\Vlll the Senator yield j 



.. 

36 

Senator INoUYE. Yes. sir. 
Senator GoLDWATER. 'I wonder if he could include in that report for 

our i.r:formation only a complete listing of the i.r:td!vidunls n~d. the 
experiments done on them, and whether thev were w1ttmg or umv1ttmg, 
Tolunteer or nonvolunteer, and what has been the result in each case. 
I think that would be interesting. 

Admirnl TURNER. Fine. Yes, sir. 
Senator INoUl""E. Senator Kennedy~ . 
Senator KENNEDY. Thank vou. It is :rour intention to notify the in­

dividuaJs who have been the subjects· of the research, is that right, 
Admiral Turned Do you intend to notify those individuals~ 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. If you can identify them, you intend to notify 

them~ · 
Admiral TuRNER. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. And you intend to notify the universities or re­

search centers as well? 
Admiral TURNER. Senator, I am torn on that. I understand your 

opening statement. I put myself in the position of the president of one 
of thosf'. universities~ let's say. If he were witting-if his university 
had been witting of this activity with us, he has access to nH that in­
formation today. If he were not witting, I ·wonder if the process of 
informing him might put his institution~s reputation in more jeopardy 
than letting them go on the way they are today, not knowbg. I really 
drm:t know the equities here.·· · · · 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, the problem is, all you have to do is pick up 
the newspapers and you see these universities mentioned. In many in­
stances, I think you are putting the university people at an extraordi­
nary disadvantage, where there is a complete change of administra­
tion, and they may for one reason or another not have information 
that they are under suspicion. There is innuendo; there is rumor. I 
cannot help but believe that it will just get smeared all over the news­
papers in spite of all the security steps tliat have been taken. 

It seems to me that those universities should be entitled to that infor­
mation, so that the ones with other administrations can adapt proce­
dures to protect those universities. The importance of preserving the 
independence of our research areas and the communities seems to me to 
be a very fundamental kind of question about the protection of the 
integrity of our universities and our research centers. 

Admiral TuRNER. You are saying that you feel that if we identify 
them privately_ to themselves, we can benefit them in an adequate way to 
cover the risk that this will lead to a more public disclosure~ There are 
lots of the. 80 who have not been identified publicly at this .point. 

Senator KENNEDY. I think the universities themselves should be noti­
fied. I think then the universities ~an take whatever steps in terms of 
~heir setting up the procedures tQ prot~ct their.own kinds of integrity 
m terms of the future. I would certamly hope th~t they would ·fe.el 
that they: could rqake a pu~li? comment or a pubhc statement on lt. 
I th!nk it is o! general p~tblic.u:~ere.~t, partiCularlj3 for the people that 
are mvolved m those un1vers1tle.C!, to have som~ kind of awareness of 
whetl1er they were used or were not used and how they were used. 
. I think they are entitled to it, and quite frankly, if .there is a public 
official or an official of the university that you notify and he wants 
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for his own particular reasons not to have it public, I don't see why 
those in a lesser echelon or lower echelon who have been effectively userl 
hy it should not ha,·e the information as well. 

So, I would hope that you would notify the unh·ersities and then 
also indicate to the public. I can~t conceive that this information will 
not be put out in the newspapers, and it puts the university people at 
an extraordinary disadnmtatre, and of course some of it is wrong, 
which is the fact of the matter. and I think some university official 
saying, well, it bn't so, is a lot (liffet·ent than if they know it is con­
firmed or it is not confirmed in terms of the Agency itself. I think that 
there is a responsibilitv there. 

Admiral TtiRNER. I have J:!reat sympathy with what you are saying . 
I ha.ve already notified one institution because the involvement was so 
exten:;ive that I thought they refdly net>ded to protect themselves, and 
I am most anxious to do this in whatever way v.-ill help all of the 
people who were perhaps unwitting participants in this, and the diffi­
culty I will have is, I can't quite do, I think, what you suggested, in 
that I may not be able to tell an institution of the extent and nature of 
its participation. . . 

Senator KENNEDY. "\Yell, you can tell them to the best of your in­
formation, and it seems to me that just because the university or an 
individual is going to be embarrassed is not a reason for classifying 
the information. So, I would hope--I mean, I ob,·iously speak as an 
individual Senator, but I feel that that is an incredible disservice to 
the innocent individuals and~ I think. a disservice to the integrity of 
the universities unless they are notified, to be abJe to develop pro­
cedures you are developing with regards to your own institution and 
we are trying to in terms of the Congress. Certainly the universities 
are entitled to the same. 

Admiral TURNER. Yes. Not. all of these, of course, were unwitting. 
Senator KENNEDY. That's right. · 
Admiral TURNER. ~!any of them were w.itti:ag, and therefore they 

can take all those precautionary steps on their own, but I am perfectly 
open to doing this. I am only interested in doing it in a way thut when 
identifying a university it will not lead to the public disclosure of the 
individuals. whom I am not allowed to disclose, and so on. 

Senator KENNEDY, That could be done, it seems to me. 
Admiral TtmNER. So, we will see if we can devise a way of notifying 

these institutions on a private bns]s so that they can then make their 
own decision whether their equities are best served by their announc­
ing it publicly or their attempting to maintain it-

Senator KENNEDY. Or you. I wonder. "\Vhat if they were to ask you 
to announce or indicate~ . · · 

Admiral TuRNER. ~fy personal conscience, sir, at this time, is that I 
would be doing a dissei·ve to these unh·ersities if I notified the public. 

Senator KENNEDl.-. 1Vould you meet with some university officials 
and ask what their views?-are or whether they· feel that the preserva­
tion of the.integrity of the unh:ersities would be better served or not i 
I think that would 'be useful to find out from small, large, private, and 
pub1ic universities' officials how they view the integrity--

Admiral TuRNER. Fine. I will phone several ul)iversity presidents 
today who are my friends and who are not invoh·ed in this, and ask 
them what they think the equities wou~d be. . . 
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Sena!or KENNEDY. All right. You let us know, too. . 
Adm1rnl TuRNER. But I am not sure that I see that there IS any grent 

bcucfit in my notifying the public as opposed to the university notify­
ing them. Let him have his choice whether he-wants-each-institution 
wants to hnve it made public. · 

Senator KENNEDY. Yes. The fact would remain that the institution's 
credibility would be better se1Ted if the institution's president were to 
deny it and the university indi<'ated that it did not participate in that 
program than if the university were to deny it and the Agency says 
nothing. It seems to me thnt that would be the strongest, and the only 
way thnt that is going to ~ credible. I would Yn.lue it if you would get 
some input from unh=ersities as to whnt they believe is the fairest way 
in terms of the presen·ation of the integritv of the universities. 

Let me, if I could. ask on the question~ of the uses of these safe 
houses, as I understa1id from information that ,,·ns provided to us in 
the course of our last committee, the testing of various drugs on in­
dividuals happened at all social levels, high and low, it happened on 
native Americans and also on foreign nationals. That is what I under­
stand was the nature of the project itself. 

Now, I am just wondering whether those tests were conducted at the 
two locations on the east coast and the west coast which were known 
as safe houses. To your knowJedge, is that correcd 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. In terms of the research in this pR.rticular pro­

gTam, it did not go beyond the safe houses located on the east coast and 
the west coast~ I believe I am correct on that. 

Admiral TURNER. That type of unwitting testing of sort of ran• 
domly selected individuals, yes. 

Senator KENNEDY. It. was just located in those two places' 
A~miral TuR4"ER. To the best of our knowledge, there were Clnly two 

locatiOns. . 
Senator KENNEDY. Well. how do we interpret randomly selected Y 
Admiral Tur~ER. Well, as opposed to prisoners in a prison who w.ere 

somehow selected. 
Senator KENNEDY. All ·right. Do you know from this information 

how many people were recruited during this period~ . 
Admi ra11'uRNER. No idea. 
Senator KENNEDY. Do you know approximately i .. 
Admiral TuRNER. I as'ked that question the other day, and we just 

don't have-apparently we are very-well,. either there were no 
records kept of the actual numbers and types of people tested or they 
were destroyed. 

Senator INoUYE. Senator Schweiker. 
Senator ScHWEIKER.. Thank you, ~{r. Chairman. 
Admiral Turner, I would like to come back to the experiments 

which may have been conducted at the· hospital research facilities 
which the CIA helped to finance. It wasn't ~lear to me from your pre­
vious answers what kind of work was done·there. I gather you are un­
clear on that,· too, from your remarks, yet I find in the CIA docu­
mentation which· you have supplied us, a list describing some of the 
advantages the Agency hoped to.gain. It says_: · 

· {a.) One-si:l:th of the total space In the new bosi>ttal wing wlll .ben l"ailable to the 
Chemical Dl"rision ot TSS • • • ; (b) Agency sponsorship of sensitive research 
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projeds will he completely deniable: (c) Full professional cover will be p-:ovided 
for. up to three hiochemical employees of the Chemical Division; (d) Human 
patients nnd >olunteers for experimental use will be available under cont.-oiled 
clinical contlitions v.:ith the full su~rvision of · 

and there is a blank. somdhing hns been delet~a. 
It. seems pretty clear to me what they intended to do in that par­

ticular w_ing. Doesn't it to you? W"h:r w"ould ;ron go to such elaborate 
preparations! to buy part of the wing, bring three of your own per­
sonnel there, giYe th~m a cover, and give them access to patients~ 
'Yhy would you go to such trouble and expense to arrange all that, if 
you weren't planning to cxpN·iment on people in the hospital? 

Admiral TrRXER. I agree with you 100 percent, sir. Those were 
clearly the intentions. I have no m~idence that it was carried out in 
thnt way. I am not trying to he defensive, Senator. I am only trying 
to be absolut('ly precise here. 

Senator Scuw:EIKER. 'Yell, tlwn, as to the nature of what was done 
there, the last paragraph on the same page of the. document says·, 
"The facilities of the hospital and the ability to conduct controlled 
~xperimentntions under safe clinical conditions using materials with 
which any agency connection must be completely deniabl~ will au~· 
ment and compl<~ment other programs recently taken over by TSS, 
such as," and then there's another deletion. 

Nm,, the. words following "such as" have been deleted. That is still 
classified, or at least it "ms removed when this document was sanitized 
and released. It seems to be that whatever y.;as deleted right there would 
give you a pretty good clue as to what they were doing, since it says 
that the acth·ities ,,.ould "augment and complement other ·programs" 

. undertaken by TSS. So, I lulYe trouble understanding why you don't 
know what was contemplated .• Just the. fact that similar programs are 
referred to in the document, though what they are is s~ill deleted, 
should enable you to check it out. 

You could look at what went on in the similar frograms mentioned 
following the "such as'' in the classified version o th1s documtnt. 

Admiral TonNER. Senator, I have not said that we don't know what 
was contemplated being done there. 'Ve do ·not know wh~t was done 
there. . . 

Sena1 or ScnwEIKEn. 'Vhy did you delete that reference? " 7hy ia 
that still classified, that particular project of whatever it is~ 

Admiral TuRNER. I don't know this particular case. 'Ve will get you 
the exact answer to that one and inform you about it, but it is quite 
probable that that other case is unrelated to this in the-,vell, not un­
related, but that that was a project that still deserves to be classified. 

[The material referred to follows!] 
Construction of the Gorman . An~e:x: was begun in 19i:n and the Annex was 

dedicated in March 191'"..>9. Of the several MKULTRA projects conducted at 
Georgetown only one involving human testing covered oa time span subsequent 
to March 1959. Subproject ·15 ran from 1955 to 1963, thus it is possible that 
the final four years (1959-1963) of the subproject could nave been spent in 
the Gorman Annex. However, there is no. reference to the Gormaq Annex or a 
"nev •. • Annex,. in Subproject 45 papers, neither is there any mention of the sulr 
project moving to a new location In 1959 or later years. 

Authorization to contribute CIA funds toward construction of the Gorman 
An.uex is contained in Subproject 35 of l\IKULTRA. RecE-ntly discovered material 
indicated that Dr. Geschickte1• continued his research for sleep- and amnesia· 
producing drugs 'under Project MKSEARCJI through July 1967 at Georgetown 
University Hospital. But it is impossible· to determine if the facilities of the 
Gorman Annex were involved • 
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Senator ScHwEIKEn. I think that would g:h·e us a pretty good clue 
as to what was going to be done in the win,g the CIA helped to finance. 

\Vas tJ1ere any indication at nll in the records vou found that the 
projed ult.imately used cancer patients or tcrmiii.nlly ill patients in 
connection with this facility~ · 

A~dmiral TuRNER. I'm sol:IJ •. I missed your question beeause I was 
trymg to g-et the data on the last one. I will read you the blank. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. Go ahead. · 
Admiral TuRNER. Ql\:HILLTOP. It doesn't help you~ but:--. 
St>nator ScHwEIKEn. Can you tell us what thnt is. or is It still 

classified 1 · 
Admiral TFR..."'\ER. I don't know, and I assume fi'Om. the fact that 

we delet~d it, it is still classified, but I will get you that answer, sir. 
Senator ScHWEilt.ER. Thank you. I'd like to see that information. 
[Seep. 171 for material referred to.] 
Now my next question was: Is there any indication, Admiral, that 

projects in that particular center invoh·ed experimentation on ter­
minally ill cancer patients? 

Admiral TuRNER. I missed the first part of :rour question, sir. I am 
very sorr:r. · 

Senator ScHWEIKER. Do you have any indication that some ('Xpcri­
ments in the facility used terminally ill cancer patients as subjects? 
You do acknowledge in your statenwnt and it is clar from other docu­
ments that these kinds of experiments were at some point being done 
somewhere~ ~fy question is, is there ;1ny indication that cancer patients 
or terminally ill patients were experimented with in this w·ing~ 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes, it does Rppear there is a connection here, sir. 
Senator ScuwEIKER. The other question I had relates to the de­

Yelopment of something which has been called the perfect concussion. 
A series of· experiments toward that end were described in the CIA 
documents. I wonder if you would just tell us what your understanding 
of pt~rfect concussion is. 

Admiral TuRN~R. Is that in my testimony, sir, or in some other 
document~ 

. Senator ScHWEIKER. SubprojeCt 54, 1\IKULTRA, which involved 
examination of techniques to cause brain concussions and amnesia by 
using weapons or sound wav('.s to strike individuals witl10ut giving 
warning and without leaving any clear physical marks. Someone 
dubbed it "perfect concussion"-maybe that was poetic license on the 
part of our staff rather than your poets over there. I wonder if you 
could just tell us what brain concussion experiments were about i 

Admiral TURNER. This project, No. 54, was canceled, and never 
carried out. · · 

Senator SoHWEIKER. Well, I do believe the first year of the project 
in 1955 was carried out by the Office of Naval Research, according to 
the information that you supplied U$. The CIA Seems to have been par­
ticipating in some way at that point., because the records go on to say 
that the experimenter at ONR tound out about CIA's role, discovered 
that it wag a cover, and . then the project was transferred to 
~fKULTRA in 1956. Again, this is all from the backup material you 
have given us. So, it was canceled at some time. I am not disagreeing 
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with that, but apparently for at least a year or two, somebody was 
investigating the producfion of brain ;concussions with special black­
jack::i, sound waves, and other methods as detailed in the oackup 
material. · 

Admiral TuRNER. The data available to me is that this project was 
never funded by the CL\.: but I will d mble-check that and furnish the 
information for the record for you as to whether there was ever any 
connection here and if so, what the nature of the work was. 

[Th~ material referred to follows:] 
::\Ir. Laubinger corrected his testimony regarcUng Subproject 54 during ~he 

St1ltemuer 21, 1977 bearings before the Subcommittee on Health and Scientlfic 
Rest>a:rch of the Human Resources Committae. The relevant portion is reproduced 
below: · 

:'llr. LAUBINOER. On project 54, it has got a rather sensational proposal in there, 
in terms of the work that they propose to do, and you asked about th.e proposal 
and I said. iu fact, it was never funded under ~lKULTRA. Now, I overlooked--at 
lea:;t, my memory did not sen·e me correctly when I went through that file folder 
to sE>e one memorandum dated January 10, 1956, which makes it t]Uite dear, ns a 
matter of fact, that that proposal was based on prior work that was funded .b~. 
the Agency. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. By what? 
~Ir. LAUBINGER. By the CIA. So, that information was in their file folder. It 

did not happen to be in my hP-flrl when I testified. 
Senator ScuwEIKER. I think I might have read you that, and that is why I 

argued at the time with you, because I think I had in front of me, ns I recall, 
some indication that it was funded there. I did read that to you. So, you did 
supply it to us; there is no argument about that information. 

M!'. Lit:r!!!NGER. Perhaps I am sort of headstrong, myself, and in my own view, 
I am reading under the UL'l'RA project, -that if it had been funded under 
rr..TRA, it \\'Ould ha >e had a project number and identified as such. The thing 
that threw me was that it was funded, apparently, outside of any MKULTRA 
actiYity and it was under the normal contracting process, so that it was not 
included in ).IKULTRA as any work done under that funding umbrella. 

The file folder that you have and I have, right here, makes it quite clear, 
howe,·er, that a year's work was done through navy funding-!1. navy funding 
mechanism-on wtlch the proposal was based that ultimately came into the 
liKULTRA program. That second proposal was never fundP.d; So, there was 
conftict and I, personally, I think, introduced a little bit at confusion in that 1n 
my testimony. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. Well, do you agree or not agree with DOD's statement 
here that even though the initial funding was navy, it was really a conduit for 
the CIA? 

1\Ir. I ... AuBINoER. I think that is correct. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. Yes; I would appreciate that. I would like to 
know how it went from ONR to CIA after a year. Somebody made a 
~ecision to make that transfer, g.nd to make this an 1\IKUL'i'RA sub­
Ject. There had to be some sort of review· that led to a decision to 
continue that kind of concussion-total blackout, maximum amnesia, 
and whatever else it was .you were interested in-study and testing. 

Afr. LAUBINGER. Senator, if I may try to say a few words on that, 
the files that were avnjlable to us for inspection, which are limited, 
indicat~d that there was a P.roject beil}g carried on by the Navy h!lving 
to do w1th the effects of bram concussiOn. The CIA developed an mter­
est in that, and considered funding it, but actually never did~ and as 
the admiral testified, the AiKULTRA is merely a funding mechanism, .. 
a place they go for money to do such things, but there is no ~vidence 
that I know of that that project was ever funded. 
. . . . . ... 
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Senator Scuw:r.mEn. 'Vell, I am confused, because here again is an­
other quote from a document that WC' ha,·e seen, which you ha\·c re-
leased and supplied to us: · 

J:'ollo"ing·fs the technica.i progress made under the current [deleted] contract: 
(c.) Spcde.!!z-ed IMtl'nmento.tion and numerous testing techniques llaYe been 
deYeloped to obtain the desired dynamic data; (b) considerable data bas now 
been obtained supporting the resonance-en rllation theory of brain concussion ; nnd 
(c) preUminary acceleration threshold data has been obtained for a tl uid-filled 
glass simulated skull. 

It goes on to talk about a blast range and n 2~:300-square-foot labora­
tory. The document notes that "Three blast test series hn,·e been run 
~o dat~.': It des~ribes a special blackjack device, "a pancake-type black­
Jack g1vmg a lugh peak impact. force with a low umt surface pressure.~' 

I ~gree t~H~ records are inconclusive as to the results of this work, 
but It certnmly seems that some testing was done. 

1\~r. LA.umxmm. St>nator, you are putting us in the same position 
I thmk you were stating that you were in earlier in referrinO' to docu­
ments not before us, but I bclie,·e you are quoting from ae proposal 
that someone sent to the Ageney to fund this work, and he is referring 
t? past work. The past wor:k would have encompassed a lot of things 
hke that, but CIA was not m\·olved with that. 

Senator ScnwEIKEU. 'Vhat do you mean, Admiral, on page 6 of your 
testimony when you mention projects using magician's art~ How do 
magicians get into the spook business 1 

Admiral Tun~rn. I have interpreted this as to how to slip the mickey 
into the finn, but I would like to ask my advisers here to comment. 

l\fr. BnoDY. I think that is essentially it, Senator. It is surreptitious 
administration of material to someone, deceptive practices, how to 
distract someone's attention while you are doing something else, as 
I understand it. It was also some· type of a covert communication 
project involved with the study of ho"· magicians and their assistants 
perhaps communicate in formatior; to one another without having other 
people know it. This is the type of thing that was involved, sir. 

Senator Scnw:r.uom. Thank you, :Mr. Chairman. 
Senator INOUYE. Senator Huddleston W 
Senator HUDDLESTON. Thank you, 1\fr. Chairman. 
Admiral, in your checking these nev~·ly discovered documents and 

interviewing members of the CIA staff, did you find information that 
would confirm the contention described by the reporters for the New 
York Times· that this type of experimentation was begun out of a 
fear at the Agency that foreign powers·might have had drugs which 
would allow them to alter the behavior of American citizens or agents 
or members of the Armed Forces who were taken into custody, and 
which would have resulted in false confessions and the like~ Is my 
question cleal." ¥ . •. . . · 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes, Sir. I haYen't personally read the docum~n­
tation on that. In my discussions with· the people who are well In-
formed in this t..rea at the Agency; I am told that that is the case. . 

. Senator Ht.ronrJESTON. 'Vas there any evidence or any indication that 
there were other motives that the Agency might also be ~o_?kil}g for 
dr·ngs that could be applied for other purposes, such as deb1htatmg an 
indhridual or even killing another person~ 'Vas this part of this kind 
of experimentation¥ · 
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Admiral TUR~ER. Yes; I think there is. I have not seen in this series 
of documentation evidence of desire to kill, but I think the project 
turned its character from a defensive to an offensive one as it went 
along, and there certainly was an intention hero to develop drugs that 
could be of use. 

Senator HmmLESTON. The project continued for some time after it 
was learned that, in fact, foreign powers did not have such a drug as 
was at first feared, didn't it~ 

Admiral TunxER. That is my understanding. Yes, sir. 
Senator HuooLESTOX. Is there any indication that knowledge gained 

as a result of these experiments has been useful or is being applied in 
any way to present operations¥ · 

Mr. BRODY. Senator, I am not sure if there is any body of knowledge. 
A gr<>nt denl of what there was, I gather, was ·destroyed in 1973. I 
would like to defer to Frank here. Do you Jmow of any¥ 

}tfr. LA t.'1HXGER. I k11ow of no drugs or anything like that developed 
under this program thnt eYer reached operational use or are in use 

-··-today. · ·· ... . ...... ---
. Senator HuDDLEBTOX. So apparently any information that was 

gathered was apparently useless and not worth continuing, not worth 
further development on the part of the Agency. 

Mr. LAUBINGER. I am having difficulty hearing your questions. 
Senator HUDDLESTON. I can hardly hear myself. 
Admiral TuRNER. I think the answer to your question is that we have 

no evidence of great usefulness on this, and yet I think we should 
remember--

Senator HUDDLESTOX. Well. is it accurate to say that this e:x:~rimen­
tation p!'oduced few useful results or had little application at all to the 
operations of the Agency or anybody else as far as we know¥ . 

Admiral TuRNER. I think that is basically correct. At the same time, 
I would point out that we had two CIA prisoners in China and one in 
the Soviet Union at this time. and we were concerned as to what kinds 
of things might be done to them, but I am not saying th~t-· -

Senator HUDDLESTON. Have you detected any sign that any other na· 
tion is continuing or has in the past conducted experiments similar to 
this or with a similar objective~ : 

Admiral TURNER. I am not prepared to answer that one off the top 
of my head, sir, but I will get it to you. 

[The material referred to follows:] 
We maintain no tiles of up-to-date information on the testing of drugs in 

foreign countries. Some years ago we occasionally would review foreign research 
on antibiotics and pharmaceuticals in connection with public tlealth and civil 

• defense· assesments. For a few yes.rs beginning in 1949 we assessed foreign 
-research on J~SD ull'der Project AR';I'ICHOKE beeause of concern that such 
drugs might be employed galnst Agency and other U.S. personnel. Information 
relative to this work has already been provided to relevant Committees. In this 
early work we also occasionally looked at foreign human e:r:perlment.atlon; we 
long ago eliminated our holdings on this subject and no collection requirements 
are any longer served As consumer interest in this area has dropped off 
and higher priority areas need attention. we have virtually no present coverage 
with the possible exception of an oee.ulonal scanning of the literature for a 
specitlc program. To the best of our l:nowledge no other unit in the Intelligence 
Community is tracking this subject now. · 
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Senator .HUDDLESro:s-. You don't know whether any of your agents 
anywhere m the world have been subjected to anv kind of procedure 
like this~ w 

Admiral TUR~ER. \Ve c.ertainlv know of other powers conducting 
research in these areas, yes. · 

Senator HunnLESTO~. Do you know how they go about that research? 
Admiral TuRNER. It is prettv sketch'\", the information we have. 
Senator HUDDLESTON. Do you know of any other organization in this 

country or any institution that has conducted extensive research on 
unwitting individuah.: and through unwitting institutions? 

Admiral TUR?o.LR. \Vell, I have read something in the newspapers 
about this~ but I have not familiarized myself with it in specifics. 

Senator HtrDDLES'J;'O~. It is not a normal mode of operation for hu-
man research, is it f 

Admiral TUR."•.-·ER. No. sir. 
Senator Huvnr.F.sro~.'Thank vou.11fr. Chairman. 
Senator I~OUTE. Sen::.tor Wa1lop"¥ 
Senator 1V ALLOP. :\fr. Chairman, I only have one to follow up on 

Senator Huddleston's questions and my earlier ones. You are not really 
~uying, are you, Admiral Turner! that there arc no mind-altering 
dr"J.g'S or behavior modification procedures which haYe been used by 
foreign powers~ 

Admiral TUR~ER. No, sir: I am not. 
Senator WALLOP. I drew that inference partly in answer to my ques­

tion that vou knew of no truth serum. ~favbe that is n misnomer, but 
surely there are relaxants that make tongt1es looser than they would 
otherwise be. Isn~t that true? 

Admiral TrRxr..R. Yes. 
Senator WALLOP. So I think it is fair to sav, too, that the experience 

of many American prisoners of war in tlie Korean conflict would 
indicate that there are be.havior modification procedures in use by 
foreign powers of a fairly advanced degree of sophistication. 

Admiral Tmn .. ""ER. Yes. sir. 
Senator WALLOP. Again, I will just go back and say I think this 

must have been part of the motivation. I don't think you would have 
mentioned Cardinal 1rfindszenty had you thought his behavior was 
nonnai at the time or had anybody else. So, I would just again say 
I think it is a little bit scapegoating. I don't think the object of this 
bearing is in any way to lay blame on those passed or those dead or 
otherwise, but I think it is a litt.le bit scapet.roating to say that it 
stopped with the directors of the CIA or the DCI's of the time. Also 
I think it is a little bit scapegoating to ;;ay they didn't even know it, 
but that it was some lower echelon actin~ alone. 

I think this was a behavior pattern that was prevalent in those 
years, and I think the object les...con is that we have disco':e~~' we 
think and we hope, through your assurances and other act1vttles of 
the Congress, means of a voiding future incidents of that kind. I thank 
you, Mr. Cha.innan. 

Senator INoUYE. Senator Chafee ¥ 
Senator CHAFEE. No questions. 
Senator INoUYE.· Senator Kennedy, I think you have another 

question.. 

.. 
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Senator KExXEDY . .Tnst talking about. the two safe houses on the 
east and west. coast as being the sources for the tin witting trials, now, 
the import{mce of this and the magnitude of it, I think, is of signifi­
cance, beeimse- we have seen from your records that these were used 
over n. period of 8 or !) nars, and the. munbers could hM·e been con­
siderable. You are unable to determin<>. at least in your own research, 
what the numbers would be and what the drugs were, how many people 
were involved, but it could Jmve been considerable during this penod 
of time. 

It would certainly .appear to me in examining the documents and 
the flow charts of cash slips that were expended in these areas that it 
was considerable, but that is a judgm('ntal factor on it, but I think 
it is important to try and find out. ,\·hat the Agency is attempting to 
do to get to the bottom of it. 

Now, the principal agent that was inn>lved as I understand it is 
deceased and has been deceased for .2 years. The overall agent, :Mr. 
Gottlieb. has indicated a fuzzy memory about this whole area. He 
has t<'stified before the Intellig-ence Conunittee. Yet he was respon­
sible for the whole program. Then, the Director had indicated the 
destruction of the various materials and . unfamiliarity with the 
project. . 

Now, you have indicated in your testimony today that there are two 
additional agents on page v of your te...c;:timony, you indicated there 
nrc two additional agents which you have uncovered at the bottom.of 
it, and you say, the names of CIA officials who approved or monitored 
the various projects. You talk about the t\\·o additional agents in your: 
testimony. · 

.Now, I am just wondering if you intend to interview those agents 
to find out exactly what is being done. I suppose, first of all, shouldn't 
the project manager know what was being done~ · 

Admirnl TtJRNER. Our first problem, Senator, is that we have been 
unable to associate an individual with those names at this p~int. 'Ve 
are still burrowing to find out. who these people are. 'Ve haven't identi­
fied them as having been CIA employees, and we don't know whether 
these were fa1se names. · 

Senator KENNEDY. You are tracking that down, as I understand it~ 
Admiral TuRNER. Yes, sir. · 
Senator KENNEDY. You are tracking that down, and you have every 

intention of interviewing those people to find out whatever you can 
about the program and project i .. . · · 

Admiral TuRNER. l\fy only hesitation here is whether I will do this 
or the Justice Department. · · 

Senator· KENNEDY. It will be pursued, though, I understand~ 
AdmiralTURNER. Yes, sir. 
Senator· KENNEDY. Either through the Agency or through the Jus-

tice P8J?artmen~ i . · · 
Admiral TuRNER. [Nods in the affirmative.]. . .· 
Senator.KENNEDY. Is it plausible that the director of the program 

would not under-Stand ·or know about the details of the program! 
Is. it plausible that Dr~ Got~lieb would not understand the full range 
of actiV:itie~·in those particular safe houses! . 

:· 
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Admira11l:m ...... ER. Let me so.y it is ynlikely. I don't know .l\fr. Gott­
lieb. 
· Senator KE:s-NEDY. Ho.s anybody in the Agency talked with 1\f r. 

Gottlieb to find out about this? 
Admiral TuRNER. Not since this revelation has come out.. 
Senator KENNEDY. Not since this revelation? 'Yell, why noH 
Armiral TuRNER. He has left our em ploy, Senator. 
Senator KENNEDY. Does that mean that anybody who leaves is, you 

know, covered for lifetime~ 
Admiral TuRNER. No, sir. 
Se.nator KENNEDY. 'Yhy wouldn't you talk with him and find out? 

You have new information about this program. It has been a matter 
of considerable interest both to our committee and to ·the Intelligence 
Committee. 'Vhy wouldn't you talk to 1\fr. Gottlieb~ 

Admiral TuRNER. '\Veil, again, I think the issue is whether this 
should be done by the .Tustice Department or ourselves. 

Senator KENNEDY. '\Veil, are we wrestling around because you and 
Attorney General Bell can't agree-- · 

Admiral TuRNER. No, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY [continuing]. On who ought to do it~ 
Admiral TuRNER. 'Ve are proceeding together in complete agreement 

as to hmv to go. I have, in connection with trying to find all of these 
Americans or others who were unwittingly tested, I have some con­
siderable concern about the CIA running around this country inter­
viewing and interrogating people, because I don't want to give any 
impression that we are doing domestic intelligence. 

Senator KENNEDY. I am just talking about one, in this case. That 
was the man who was responsible for the whole program, and to 
find out whether anyone within the A~ency since you have had this 
new material has talke.d to Gottlieb since 1975, and ifthe answer is 
no,, I want to know why not. · . 

Admiral TURNER. The reason he wiis not interviewed in connection 
with the 1975 hearings was that he had left .the employ of the CIA 
and there was a concern on the part of the Agency that it would appear 
to the investigators that .the CIA was in some way trying to influence 
him ·and influence his testimonv before the committee. If these 
committees have no objection, we would be happy to contact Dr. 
Gottlieb and see if he c.an augment anything here· in this new in for-

. mation, though I don't think there is much in this new information 
that he can add to as opposed to·what was available in 1975 . 

Senator KENNEDY. \Veil, you see, Admiral Turner, you come to the 
two committees this morning and indicate that now at 1ast we have the 
information. We don't have to be concerned about anything in the 
future on it. Now, I don't know how you can give those assurances to 
the mem·bei'S of these committees as well as to the American people 

. when you haven't. since 1975 even talked to the principal person that 
. w~s in cha.r~e of the program, and the records were destroyed. He is 
·the fellow that was running the program, and the Agency has not 
<tilked to him since the development of this new material. 

· Admiral Tum.,;n. Our only concern here is the proprieties involved, 
and we will dig into this and work with the Justice Department on 
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who, if either of us, should get into discussions with Dr. Gottlieb so as 
not to prejudice any legal rights that may be involved here, or to ap-
pear in any way to be improper. , 

Senator KExNEDY. \\r ell, do J understand you 11a.ve not contacted the 
Justice Department about this particular case since the development 
of this new material about Gottlieb~ 

Admiral TunxER. K ot about Gottlieb specifically. '\Ve have contacted 
him. 

Senator KEXNEDY. \\Tell, it is amazing to me. I mean, can you under­
?tand the difficulty that any of us might ha~·e in terms ~f comprehend­
mg that when you develop a whole new series of matenals that are on 
the front page of every newspaper in the country and are on every tele­
,·ision, I mean, that means something, but it docs not mean nearly as 
much as the interest that we havein the fact about the testing of un­
witting Americans, and every single document that the staff reviews 
has Mr. Gottlieb's 11ame on it and you come up to tell us that we don't 
have to worry any more, we have these other final facts, and :Mr. Gott­
lieb has not been talked to~ 

Admiral TunxER. Sir, I am not saying that these are in any way the 
final facts. I am saying these are all the facts we have available. · 

Senator Kt:::-\.NEDY. And you have not talked to the person who was 
in charge o£ the program, so what kind'of value or what kind of weight 
can we ~ive it~ . 

Admiral TURxEn. We are happy. to talk to him. I think-the issue 
here again is one of propdety and how to go about this. '\Ve have not, 
I believe, enough new information about Gottlieb's participation here 
to signal that his interview would be that much more revealing than 
what was revealed in 1975. 

Senator KENNEDY. The importance of it, I think, from our point 
of view, is, he would know the drugs that were administered, the vol­
ume of drugs, how it was administered, and in terms of your ability 
to follow up to protect these people and their health, to the extent that 
it can be done, that opportunity is being lost. · . ·. 

I want to get on to some others, but will you give us the assurance 
that you will get ahold of Gottlieb or that you will talk to Attorney 
General Bell and talk with Gottlieb~ 

Admiral TURNER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. And let us know as to the extent of it. I don't 

see how we can fufill our responsibility in this area on the drug test.­
ing without our ll~aring from Gottlieb as well, but I think it is im­
portant that you do so, particularly since. all of the materials haYe 
been destroyed . 

These other two agents~ have t.hey talked to them i 
Admiral Tun~~R. We don't know who they are, sir. '\Ve are try'ing 

to track down and see whether these names can be releated to anybody. 
Senator KENNEDY. That is under acth·e investigation by the Agency¥ 

- Admiral TonNER. Yes, sir. . . • 
Senator KENNEDY. And you have the intention of talking to those 

people when you locate them. Is that correct¥ 
Admiral TURNER. Yes, sir, under the same circumstances as Gottlieb. 
Sena~or KEN~~DY. And you have people working on it~ 
Admiral TURNER. Yes, sir. : . 
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Senator KENNEDY. '\Yitl~ regards to the activities that took place in 
these safe ho'uses, as I understand from the r~cords, two-way mirrors 
w~re used. Is that your understanding~ 

Admiral TuRNER. Yes. sir. \Ye haw~ records that. construction was 
done to put in two-way mirrors. 

Senator KENNEDY. And thi.!V were placed in the bedroom, as I 
understand. ... 

rPause.] . . . 
Senator KEN"NED'l-. \Yell, we haYe documents--
Admiral TuRNER. I believe that was in the Church record. but I 

don't h aYe the details. · 
Senator KENNEDY. And rather elaborate decorations were added, as 

I understand, at l<'ast., to the one in San Francisco, in the bedroom, 
which are French can-can dancers, flora] pictures, drapery, including 
installation of bedroom mirrors, three frnm<:'d Toulouse Lautrec post­
ers with black silk mats, nnd n number of other-red b~droom cur­
tains and recording- equipment, and then a series of documents which 
were provided to the committee which indicate a wide prolift-rntion 
of different cash for $100, ~nerally in the $100 range over nny period 
of time on the particular checks. E''£'11 the names are blocked out, as 
to the person who is receiving it. Cash for underrover ngP.nt~, opernt­
ing expenses, drinks, entertainment while administering. and then it 
is dashed out, and then the other documents. that would suggest, at 
least with the signature of your principal agent out there, that-· 
"called to the operation, midnight, and c1imax." 

'\Vhat can you ten· us that it might suggest to you about what. tech­
niqqes were being used by the Agency in terms of reaching- that sort. 
of broad-based group of Americans that were being evidently enticed 
for testing in terms of dru~s nnd others~ Do you draw any kind of 
conclusion about what might have been going on out there in these 
safe houses¥· · . 
· Admiral TURNER. No, sir. · 

[Generallaughter.J . 
Senator KENNEDY. There is a 1ight side to it., but there is also an 

en..:>rmously serious side. And that is that at least the techniques which 
are used or were used in terms of tt-sting, and trying to find out ex­
actly the range of drugs used ond .the numbers of people inYolved and 
exactly what that operation was about, as well as the constant reitera­
tiol1 of the use of small sums of cash at irregular intervals. A variety 
of different techniques were employed but ·there is an awful lot of 
documentation putting these matters together. 

. '\Vhen you look at the fact that it is a broad range population that 
has been tested, tested in these two areas, with the kind of cash slip~ 
that we_r:e used in this, payment mechanisms and decorations and aU 
of the rest, we are not·able to put a bottom line on it but one thing is 
fo~ sure, and that is, Gottlieo knows. That is one thing for sure, be­
cause ·his name appears on just about· every one of these documents, 
and -it. is, I think, very important to find out what hi~ understanding 
is of the nature of that. So, we wiU hear more nbout that.. . · 

Admiral ~NER. I believe Gottlieb has been interv~ewed by the 
Congress. .·· 

Senator KE.NNEDY. That's ri~ht~ he has, and in reviewing the record, 
it is not very satisfactory, and it just seems with the new information 
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and the new documentation and the new memornnda-nnd he did not 
hnvc the checks at that time-and with the wide variety of different 
memoranda with his name on it, his memory could be stimulated on 
that. 

Thank you. 
Senator !NOUYF.. I would like to thank the admiral and his staff for 

participating in this hearing. I believe the record should show that this 
hearing was held nt the request of the Agency und the admiral. It was 
not held because we insisted upon it. It was a Yolunteer effort on the 
part of the Agency. I think the record should also indicate that Ad· 
miral Turner has forwarded to this committee a classified file including 
all of the names of the institutions and the persons involved ns the 
cxperimentors. 

I shm; i·:i also indicate that this hearing is just one step inw>lved in 
the eommi:.tce's investigation of drug abuse .• Tustas you have had. much 
work in going oYer the 8~000 pages, the staff of this committee has had 
equal problems, bnt I would like the record to sho'v that you have 
made these papers and documents available to the ·committee. I thank 
you for that. 

As part of the ongoing investigation, we had intended to call upon 
man.r dozens of others, experimentors, or those officials in charge, nnd 
one of those will be Dr. Gottlieb. 

In thanking vou. I ,,·ould like to say this to the. American people, 
that what. we lia,·e experienced this morning in this committee room 
is not. being duplicated in anv other committee room in any other part 
of the world. I doubt that. very much. Our Agency and our intelligence 
community has been under much criticism and has been subjected to 
much abuse, in many cases justified, but this is the most open ~ociety 
that I can think of. For example, in Great Britain there are about six 
people who are aware of the identitv of the.man in charge of intelli­
gence. In other countries, similar coi1dit.ions exist. Here in the United 
States we not only know Admiral Turner~ we have had open hearings 
with him, such as this. The confirmation hearings were all open. 

In a few weeks, the Senate of the United States will debn.t.e a resolu­
tion to decide upon whether we should disclose the amounts and funds 
being used for counterintelligence and national intelligence. I would 
hope that in presenting this issue to the public, the media will take note 
that·tl1e Agency has cooperated and will ·continue to. The abuse that 
we haYe lenrned about this morning is one I hope will never happen 
ae:ain, but without constant oversight on the part of the Executive 
Office. on the part of the Congress, it could happen ag~in. It is impor­
tant therefo.re that we continue in this oversight activity • 

So, once agairt, Admiral, I thank you very much for helping us~ We 
will continue to call upon you for your assistance. "\Ve would like to 
submit to you several-questions that the members and staff ha,•e pre­
pared. We hope you--will look them over Ca.refully nnd prepare re· 
sponses for the record, .sir. · · 

Senator KENNEDY. ~{r. Chairman~ 
Senator INOUYE. Yes, sir? . 
Senator KENNEDY. I. too. ·want to thank Admiral Turner for his 

responsiveness. I have had ineetin~ with him in the committees and 
nlso .conversations, telephone conversations, and private meetings, and 
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I have found him personally to be extremely responsive, and it is a 
\'ery difficult chalJenge which he has accepted in heading this Agency. 
I \vant you to know, pe~sonally, I~ too, would like to ~e thi~ put behind 
us. I don't think we are quite there yet in terms of this particular area 
that we ar~ interested m. I think the Intelligence Committee has 
special re:::ponsibilities in this area of the testing, so we look forward 
to working with you in expediting the time that we can put it behind, 
but it does seem to me that we haYe to dig in and finish the chapter. 
So, I \Yant to personalJy express my appreciation to you, Admiral 
Turner, and thank you for your cooperation and your help, and I look 
forward to working with you. 

Admiral TunxEn. Thank you. 
Senator Hunnr,EsTox. Mr. Chairman, I am not sure you emphasized 

this enough, but I think the record ought to show that Admiral Turner 
informed the Select Committee on his own initiative when the new 
documentation '"as found. The documentation has been made a vail-
able to us voluntarily, in a spirit of cooperation. ' 

I think this shows a vast difference from the mode of operation that 
existed prior to the formation at least of the Church committee, and 
a difference that is very helpful. · 

Senator Ixou1:r;. Thank -von very much. Thank vou very much, 
Admiral. • ~ 

'\Ve would now like to call upon Mr. Philip Goldman and ~Ir. Jolu:t 
Gittinger. 

:\fr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger, will you please rise and take the 
oath. . 

Do you solemly swear that the testimony you are about to give is 
the truth, the whole truth al)d nothing but the truth, so help you, God~ 

l\fr. GoLDlrAN. I do. 
l\fr. GrrrrNGER. I do. 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you, sir. 

n .1\f~. Goldman, will you identify yourself, and after that, J\fr. 
,.:rittmger. . 

Senator KENNEDY. Before we start in, we had a third witnes.<;, Mr. 
Chairman, J\.fr. Pasternac, who planned to testify, traveled to Wnsh­
ington-he lives in \Vashington, and was contacted recently-with 
the intention of testifying this morning. And something-he cnlled 
us ]ate this morning and indicated that h.e wanted to get a counsel 
before he would wish to testify. 

Senntor INouYE. lfr. Goldman. · 
J\!r. Goldman, will you identify yourself, sir . 

TESTIMONY OF PHILIP GOLDMAN, FORMER EMP;LOYEE, CENTRAL 
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY . 

}fr. GoLDl't!AN. I am Philip Gold.man. · · . 
~ Senator INoUYE. And you are a former employee· of the. Central 
Tnte11ip:ence Agency~ 

1\fr. GoLDl\rAN. Over 10 years ago. 
Senator INouYE. And you were employed at the time whe~ 

1\fKULTRA wns in operation~ · 
. 1\fr. GoLDMAN. There were some 1\fKULTRA's .in operation at the 

time I was there. · 
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Senator INoUYE. And 1fr. John Gittinger, are you a former em­
ployee of the Central Intelligence Agency~ 

TESTIMONY OF J'OHN GITTINGER, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL 
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY 

:Mr. GrmNGER. I am .. 
Senator INoUYE. Are you. still an employee¥ 
:.M:r. GrrrrNoER. No. 
Senator INoUYE. Were you a member of the Agency at the time 

MKULTRA was in operation~ 
1Ir. GrmNGER. Yes . 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you. Senator Kennedy. 
Senator KEN:l>t"EDY. I want to welcome both of you to the committee. 
If we could start with ~fr. Goldman. \Vere you the project engineer 

for the safe houses in either San Francisco or New York~ 
_·-Mr. GoLDMAN. I know ofnosafehouse in·San·Frarrcisoo: -­

Senator MN:l>t"""EDY. How about in New York~ 
11r. GoLDMAN. I knew of one facility that was established there, 

but I didn't know anything of its operatiOn. · 
Senator KENNEDY. Were you a monitor on any t€sting of drugs on 

unwitting persons in San Francisco! · 
Mr. GoLDMAN. No. 
Senator KENNEDY. Well, we have a classified document here that was 

provided by the Agency that lists your name as a monitor of the pro­
gram and I would appreciate it if you would look-

~fr. GoLDlrAN. I think the misunderstanding arises because I was 
project officer. · 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, wquld you take a look at that¥ 
[Mr. Goldman inspected the document.] 
:Mr. GoLDMAN. This document as it states is correct. However, 

my--
Senator KENNEDY. That document is correct! 
Mr. GoLDMAN. As far as I see on the first page, the project. But. 

my--- . 
Senator KENNEDY. Well, could I get it back,,please. 
That would indicate that you were a monitor of the program. 
Mr. GoLDMAN. I was in charge of disbursing the moneys to Morgan 

Hall •. 
Senai or KENNEDY. To whom was that! · 
Mr. GoLD:HAN. To the individual whose name was listed at the top 

of that document . 
Senator KENNEDY. And you knew that he was running the project 

in San Francisco¥ ;. · 
Mr. GoLDMAN. I knew he was the person who was in charge out 

there. . · · · · · 
· Senator KENNEDY. All right. · 

Mr. GoLDMAN. But I had no knowledge nor did I seek knowledae of 
actually what he was doing, because there would be other things 
involved. · · · 

. I did receive--:.---- . . ·· 
Senator ~NNEDY~ What were you doing I 
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~Jr. GoLDX..-\N. I was collecting-! had to be sure that all the re­
ceipts that ever were turned in balanced with the moneys that were 
paid out to see that everything wus run all right. There was no illegal 
use of funds as far as we could determine by the receipts and cash. 

Senator KENNEDY. So even though the Agency document i~dicates 
that you were a monitor for the program, one of the few momtors of 
that particular program which you mentioned for San Francisco and 
:\fill Valley, Calif., you described your responsibility only as a carrier 
of money, is that correct~ 

~fr. GoLD~tAN. I would say as a disburser or carrying out-seeing 
that the moneys were bandied properly. There was within that-! 
don!t know what's done or what he did do in conjunctiQn with other 
people. 

Senator KENNEDY. 1Vere you responsible for the disbursement of 
all the fuads 1 

~Ir. GoLmrAN. !was responsible for turning over the check to him. 
Senator KENNEDY. And what did you know of the program itself~ 
:Mr. GoLo~rAN. The only thing I knew of the program· was what he 

fu1nished us in terms of receipts and that sort of thing. I didn't in­
dulge or conc~rn myself in that. 

Senator KENl\"EDY. Y(iU still wrote. and I'll let vou examine it­
it's a classified document-but VOU wrote a rather Stlbstantive review 
of the program .in l\Iav of 1963. ta1kinr. about the experiments, the 
factual data that had b· · n collected, co\·ert and realistic field trials, 
about the necessity of those particular-and talked about the effec­
tiveness of the various programs, the efficiency of various delivery 
systems. That doesn't sound to me like someone who is only-

1tfr. Gow~rAN. 1Vel1, if you would refresh m:v memory, if I could 
read this! would certainly agree with whatever is said there, if it was 
written. 

Senator KENNEDY. I am trying to gather what your role was. You\·e 
indicated .first of a11 that you didn!t know about-you knew about a 
safe house in New York; now we find out that you're the carrier for 
the resources as well and the -agent in San Francisco. 'Ye find out now 
that the CIA put JOU as a monitor. You're testifying that you only ''ere 
the courier, and here we have just one document, and there are many 
others that talk about the substance of that program with your name 
on it and I am just trying to find out exactly what role you were 
plavinJ!. . . 

1tfr. GorDMAN. The only thing I can tell you about this and I am 
drawing completely on my memory is that this individual who was 
in charge out there conducted the;::;e things and rePorted them back to 
the Arrency. I didn't participate in any of them. AU I know was that he 
furnished me with receipts for things that \Vere done and told of the 
work that they had done. · · 

Senator KENl'."ET>Y. W~ll. that document covers more than receipts. 
·J\{r. GoLDMAN. Yes, it tells of what-they had conducted work out 
~m . 

Sen~.tor KENNEDY. It descrihes, does it not~ Read the paragraph 2 .. 
. 1tfr.· Gorn!lr~\N, "A nnmher of covert"-- · 

Senator KEN~"EDY. Well, you can't read it. it's a classifi~cl document, 
and I don't know why, quite frankly, but it relates to the snbstan:.:;.) 
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of those programs and your name is signed to the memorandums on 
it. I am not interested in you trying to review for us now whnt is in the 
document, but I think it would be 1mfortunate if we were left with the 
opinion that all you were was a courier of resources when we see a 
document with your name or.. it, signed, that talks about the substance 
of the program. And what wo'rf\ interested in is the substance of the 
program. 'Ye have the recent documents that were J?rovided by the 
Agency, which do indicate that you were at least mvolved in the 
substance, and I'm just trying to find out whether you're .willing to 
tell us about that. · 

~fr. GoLDl\IAN. I am perfectly willing to tell you e\rerything that 
I can remember. 

Senator KENNEDY. But you can't remember anything. 
~fr. GoLD:'IrAN. I can't remember the subst ilntive parts of these 

things, I really can't. 
Senator KENNEDY. Of the prouram that was taking place . 

. · Do you ha,ve any greater familiarity with what was happening in 
· New York¥ 

~!r. GoLDJ.IAN. No, no. 
Senator KENNEDY. And you have the same function with regards 

to New York~ 
~fr. GoLD::&rAN. The same function with regard to New York. 
Senator KENNEDY. Did you ever go to San Francisco~ 
~fr. GoLD~rAN. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. Did you m~et with the agent in charge.~ 
},fr. GoLDMAN. Yes. · 
SenRtor KEN~"'EDY. And why did you meet with him~ 
~fr. GoLDMAN. To discuss some of the receipts and things that were 

there to find out if these were indeed true cxpenditul'es and to find out 
if everything was going along all right for the work that was being 
done. 

Senator KENNEDY. '\'11at work was being done¥ 
~fr. GoLD:.\IAN. No, the reports of these things and \-rhatever was 

being done. I don't know who .he reported to but he did report to 
somebody. · 

Senator KENNEDY. You travel out there to find out about the work 
that's being done, and what does he tell you, that the work is being 
done well and-- · 

l:fr. GoLDMAN. He told me that the work that they wete;doing was 
going along, progressing satisfactorily, but to be very frank with 
you-- · . 

Senator KENNEDY. But he didn't tell you what the work was~ 
lfr. GoLDMAN. To be very frank with you, Senator, I cannot re· 

member the things that hap'pened back in those days. I've been away 
from the company-from tlie A~ncy for over 10. years, and that is 
even farther back than that, and that was just about the time when I 
first engaged in this, so it was my first-- . 

Senator KENNEDY. Did they disburse a series of $100 checks; to 
your recollection 9 • · · 

Mr. GoLDMAN. I don't recollect it, but if you have it there, then 
they did~ . -· 

Senator KENNEDY. Did you know Dr. Gottlieb! 
Mr. GoLDMAN. Yes. . 
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Senator KENl'I"EDY. How did you lmow Dr. Gottlieb 9 
lfr. GoLDMAN. He had been head of the division when I was re­

cruited. 
Senator KENNEDY. Did you talk to him about these programs~ Did 

you have anything to do with him during this J?eriod of time i 
lfr. GoLDMAN. I didn't have anvthing to do w1th him until I would 

say probably in the sixties. " 
Senator KENNJo~'T. And can you tell us what you had to do with 

him then9 
:Mr. GoLDMAN. Just what you see there on the papers. 
Senator KENNEDY. Well, that is the request for the money and he 

app~oves it. 
:Mr. Gu:::...t)M.AN. That is the request for money and he approves it, 

and I am quite sure thut I probably discussed with him whether the 
work was going along all right, whether his reports were being turned 
in, and whether he was satisfied with the way things were going 
and did he have any complaints about the way other people were 
requesting him, but I did not engage myself in anything he was doing. 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, did you get the impression that Gottli~b 
knew what was going oni 

};.fr. GOI ... T)MAN. I didn't ask. 
Senator KENNEDY. But you told him that your impression that what 

~as going on even though you didn't know what was going on, was go­
mg on well, I guess 1 [Laughter.] 

lfr. GoLDl\!.AN. I told Gottlieb what you saw in there was that the 
things appeared to be going along all right. I was repeating and par­
roting back th~ words that were given to me while I was there. · 

Senator KEN~""EDY. What was the money being spent for, do you 
knowf 

Mr. GoLDMAN. No; I can't recall that, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. Would you remember if we told you it was red 

curtains and can-can pictures­
l{r. GoLDMAN. No, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. Floral pictures and the rest .• 
1\{r. GoLDMAN. No, sir. · 
Senator KENNEDY. Recorders. 
1\{r. GomMAN. No, sir. . . . 
Senator KENNEDY. Recorders and two-way mirrors. 
Mr. GoLDMAN. Wait, hold on. You're slipping a word in there now. 
Senator J{~NNEDY. But you would have authorized those funds, 

would :vou not. since _you were the---
Mr. GoLDMA.N. J;:>id you say two--way mirrors¥ 
Senator KENNEDY. Yes. 
Mr. GoLDMAN. Where t 
Senator KENNF..DY. In the safe houses. 
Mr. GomMAN. Where t . 
Senator K'ENNIDY. San Francisco. 
1\!r. GoLDMAN. No. 
Senator KENNEDY. How about New York¥ 
Mr. GowMAN .. -Yes. . 
Senator KENNEDY. You.remember'ilow that you approved expendi· 

tut:es for New Yorkf . 
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1fr. GoiDMAN. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. 1Yhat were those expenditures for' 
l\fr. GoLDliAX. That was a transfer of money over for the use in 

an apartment in New York by the Bureau·of 'Narcotics. It was for 
their use. 
~enator KENNEDY. Do you have any knowledge of what was going 

on m the apartment i 
:\Ir. Goi.DltAN. No, sir, other than I know that it had been used, ac­

cording to the information that I have been given, it was used by the 
Bureau of Narcotics to make meetings with individuals who they were 
interested .in with regard to pushing dope-not pushing dope, but sell­
.ing narcotics and that sort of thing. 

Senator KENNEDY. 'Vell, I am sure you had many responsibilities and 
it's a long time ago, but the Agency does indicate that you were projer.t 
monitor for tha.t particular program. . · 

Mr. GoLDlZAN. That's correct. 
Senator .KENNEDY. Your own testimony indicates you went out to re­

view the expenditures of funds to find out whether they were being 
\'dsely used, that you came back and talked to the project director, Mr. 
Gottlieb, to give him a progress report nbout what \vas going on out 
there. · 

:Mr. GoLDlrAN. Ye5, sir, I did. 
Senator KENNEDY. All those things are true, and yet you draw a 

complete blank in terms of what was the project itself. That's where 
the record is no,v. · 

1fr. GoLDlf.AN. I did not go out there to review the projects nor did 
I come back and talk with :Mr. Gott1ieb nnd review what I had observed 
in terms of any projects that they-tha.t is, other parts of the Agency 
might have in operation there. I simply reported back those thin~ 
which were told to me by the individual out there who-and I carried 
them back and they are contained in the report that you have in front 
of you, word for word, just as it was given to me. 

Sena.tor KENNEDY. The report that you examined here is a substan­
tive report on the particular program and project. And I don't think 
anyone who wasn't familiar with the project-this is a ·personal evalu­
ation-could write a report on the substance of it without knowing 
about it. Now, tha.t's mme. 1faybe you can't remember and recollect, 
and that's-- . 

1fr. GoLDMAN. No; everything I put down in there is things that I 
was told while I was out there, and if there was any ancillary mforma­
tlon involved in there I can tell you I just don~t remember that. I really 
don't. · · · 

At the time-tha.t was some years ago. At th~ time--a lot of time has 
passed since then and I have made quite sure that if I could recollect it 
nt all; I would do it. If you have some papers and you want me to cer­
tify whether yes, this is so or that is so, I can do th~t, but I can't recall 
it mentlilly. · .· · · 

Senator KENNEDY. You just certified the principal. There are others 
up here~·. . · 

I would like to go to Dr. Gittinger. 
· Mr. GrrrtNOER. It's Mr. Gittinger. · · 

SenatOr KENNEDY. How long did, you serve with the Agency i 

. ~: 
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l\!r. GrrTINGER. Twenty-six years. 
Senator KEXNEDY. Excuse me~ 
:Mr. GrrTIKGER. Twenty-six years •. 
Senator KENNEDY. Twenty-six years. 
And at some point you moved into the operational support side, is 

that correct i 
Mr. GrmNGER. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. And did you know Sidney Gottlieb~ 
:Mr. GI'ITINGER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. And did he inform you about the research proj­

ects involving LSD W 

Air. GtTIINGER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. It is my understanding that yon were also aware 

or some of the drug- testing proje<;ts conducted on unwitting subjects 
on the west coast usmg the Bureau of Narcotics people in the operation. 
Is that true~ 

l\:fr. GITIIXGER. I was. 
Senator INOUYE. Excuse me. Would you speak into the microphone~ 

I cannot hear you. · 
:Mr. GrrrtKGER. Sorry. · 
Senator KENXEDY. Do you know which drugs were involved in those 

tests~ 
.Mr. GITIINGER. LSD. And I can~t remember for sure much of the 

others. \Vhat is the substance of marihuana, cannabis, is that right, that 
can be delivered by other than smokingi 

Senator KENNEDY. Cannabis~ 
l\fr. GrrTINGER. There had been some discussion of that; yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. And was heroin also used~ 
.Mr. GITIINGER. Heroin used by CIA~ 
Senator KENNEDY. No. In the west coast operation. 
:Mr. GITIINGER. Absolutely not. · 
Senator KENNEDY. Now, to your knowledge, how were the drugs ad-

ministered to the unwitting subjects~ 
l\:!r. GrrrlNGER. I have no direct knowledge. 
Senator KENNEDY. \'Vhy did you j;{O to the safe houses~ 
l\!r. GITIINGER. It's a very complicated story. Just in justification of 

myself, this came up just day before yesterday. I have not really had 
enough time to get it all· straightened in my mind, so I ramble. 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, you take your time and tell us in your own 
words. We've got some time here. 

l\:!r. GI'rriNGE~ l\fy responsibilities which l_Vould involve any of the 
period of time that you were talking about really was not directly 
related to drugs at all .. I was a psychologist charged with the responsi­
bility of trying to develop as much information as I could on various 
cultures, overseas cultures, anthropological type data, if you follow 
what IIJ}ean. I ·was also engaged i~ trying to work out ways and means 
of assessmg people and understan:dmg pt:ople. · 

I originally became involved in this through working on Chinese 
culture, and over a series of time I was introduced to the problem of 
brainwashing, which is the thing that really was the most .compelling 
thing in relationship to thi.s, and became charged with the respon~d­
hility of trying to find QUt a. little bit about interrogation techniques. 
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And among other things, we decided or I decided that one of the best 
sources of interrogation techniques would be trying to locate and L'1ter· 
view and become. involv~:d with experienced police interrogators in 
the country nnd experienced people who had real practical knowledge 
of interrogation. The reason for this is that we had become pretty well 
convinc.ed after the experience of the brainwashing problems coming 
out of China, that. it was the techniques of the interrogators that were 
causing the individuals to make confessions and so forth in relationship 
to this, rather than any kind of drugging and so forth. So ''e were 
veiJ: much interested in interrogation techniques, and this led to me 
being introduced to the agent in the west coast, and I began to talk to 
him in connection with these interrogation techniques . 

Senator KEN!-.""EDY. OK. Now, that is the agent that ran the tests 
on the west coast on the unwitting people. That's where you come in, 
correct 1 

"Mr. GrrrrNOER. If I understand-would :vou say that again i 
Senator KENNEDY. The name ~forgan ·Hall has been-that is the 

name that has been used. 
Mr. GITriNGER. Yes. 
Senator KENNEDY. And that is the agent that you met with. 
Mr. GrrTINGER. That is right. 
Senator K:~-:xxEDY. And you met at the safe house. 
Mr. GrrriNGER. Y~:s. sir. 
Senator KExNEDY. iVhom did you meet with in the safe house?. 
l\fr. GxTriNOER. This is the part that is hard for me to say, and I am 

sorry that I ha\·e to. In connection with some work that we were 
doing, we needed to ha,·e. some information on sexual habits. :Morgan 
Hall prodded informants for me to talk to in connection with the sex 
habits that I was interested in trying to find information. During one 
period of time the safe house, as far as I ·was concerned, was used for 
just these particular type of interviews. And I didn't see the red 
curtains. 

Senator KE~NEDY. Those were prostitutes, were they Y 
Jtir. Gn'TINGER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KE~NEDY. How many difl'ercmt times were you there that 

you had similar--
. 1\fr. G:r:rrrNGER. I couldn't possibly say with any certainty on that. 
Fonr or five times. . 

Senator KENNEDY. Four or five times. 
~fr. GITriNGER. o,~er-you remember now, the period that I'm talk­

ing about when I would have any involvement. in this is from about 
1956 to 1961. So it's about a 4· or 5-year period which is the only time 
that I know anything about what you are talking about here today. 

Senator KENNF.or. Did ~MorJ{D.n }J:all make the arrangements for 
the prostitutes to meet with you t . · · 

Mr. GrmNGER."Yes, sir. · . ' 
Senator KENNEDY. Did the interviews that you had ha"·e anything to 

do with drugs t . · . 
Afr. GrrnNGER. Well~ as I tried to explain earlier when this was 

being discussed a little bit beforehand, again I think it is pretty hard 
for most people now to rec~p:nize how little there was lmown abop.t 
drugs at the period of time that we are talking about, because the 
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drug age or the drug culture comes later on. Consequently, those of 
us who had any responsibility in this area were interested in trying to 
get as much information as we could on the subculture, the subculture 
drug groups, and obviously the Bureau of Xarc.otic~ repre...~nted n 
means of doing this. Consequently, other types of thinQ'S that were 
involved in discussions at that time would ha ,.e to do with the under­
ground use of drugs. \\11en I am talking about this I am t!llking about 
the folkways in terms of unwitting use of drugs. Did these people that 
I was talking to have any information about this and on rare instances 
they were able to tell me about their use, and in most cases this would 
largely turn out to be a ~Iickey Finn or something of that sort rather 
than anything esoteric. 

I also was very much interested because we had relatively little 
information~ believe it or not, at that time, in terms of the various 
reactions that people were having to drugs. Therefore, these people 
,,·ere very informative in terms of they knew a great deal of infonna­
tion about reactions . 

.Senator KE:s-X.EDY. At least you gathered--or am I correct in assum­
ing that you gathered the impression that the prostitutes that you had 
talked to were able to slip the drugs to people as I understand it. Did 
you form any impression on that? . 

1tfr. Grrrr:s-GER. I certainly did not form the impression that they 
did this as a rule or--

Senator KEXXEDY. But they had the knowledge. 
:Mr. Grr:n:xGER. They had the h.,_owledge or some of them had had 

kno·;dedge of this being done. But again, as it turned out, it was ]argely 
in this area of knockout drops. 

Senator KEx:s-EDY. Looking back now did you form any impres.c;ion 
about how the Agency was actually testing the broad spectrum of social 
classes in these safe houSes~ ·with the large disbursal of cash in 
small quantities, $100 bills and the kinds of elaborate decorations and 
two~way mirrors in the bedrooms and all the rest, is there any question 
in your own mind what was going on in 'the safe houses, or the tech­
niques that were being used to administer these drugs¥ 

:Mr. GrrnxGER. I find it very difficult to answer that question~ 10ir. I 
had absolutely no direct knowledge there was a lar~e number of this. I 
had no knowledge that anyone other than-than ~forgan Hall was in 
any way invoh·ed in the unwitting administration of drugs. 

Senator KENXEDY. But Gottlieo would know, would he not 1 · 
:Mr. Grrri~GER. I believe so, yes, sir. 
Senator KEX~ED'l"'. Could we go into the Human Ecology Founda· 

tion and talk about that and how it was used as an instrument in terms 
of the support of research~ 

~!r. GrrnNGER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KEN!'.'"EDY. Could you describe it to us~ Could you describe 

the Human Ecology Foundation, how it functioned ~nd how it wor~ed ¥ 
:Mr. GlTriNGER. 1\!ay I tell something about how 1t evoh·ed, wh1c.h I 

think is important 1 
Senator KENNEDY. Sure . 

. ])!r. GrrnxaER. The Society for the Investiga.tio~ of Human Ecol­
ogy, so-called, was actually a-:-I am confused here now as to whether 
I should name you names. . 

• 
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Senator KENNEDY. Well, we're not interested in names or institu­
tions, so . we prefer that you do not. That has to be 'vorked out in 
arrangements between Admiral Turner and the individuals and the 
institutions. . . · · 

But we,re interested in what the Foundation really was and how it 
functioned and what its ,Purpose was. 

Mr. GrrTINGER. 'Vell, It was established to undertake research in the 
general area of the behavioral sciences. It definitely had almost no 
focus or interest in, say, drug·related type of activities except in a very 
minor way, because it was largely set up to attempt to gam a certain 
amount of information and to fund projects which were psychological, 
sociological, anthropological in character. It. was established in the 
sense of a period of time that a lot of us who are in it ''rish we could 
do it over again, but we were interested in trying to get together a Eanel 
of the most representative high-level behavioral scientists we could to 
oversee and help in terms of developing the So~iety for the Investiga-
tion of Humari Ecology type of program. . 

The ~ency in effect provided the money. They did not direct the 
projects. Now, the fact of the matter is, there are a lot of innocent peo­
ple who received the Society for the Investigation of Human Ecology 
money which I know for a fact they were never asked to do anything 
for the CIA but they did ge~ throu~h this indirectly. They had no 
knowledge that they were gettmg CIA money. . · 

Senator KENNEDY. Over what period of time did this. take place¥ 
:Mr. GI'ITINGER. As far as I was concerned, it was the period of time 

ending in 1961. I believe the Human Ecology fund finally phased out 
in 1965, but I was not involved in this phasing out. 

Senator KENNEDY. Can you give the range of the di:ft'erent sort of 
individual projects of the universities in which it was active e . 

lfr. GI'ITINGER. Well, it would have as many as-! am very fuzzy 
on my memory on the number of projects. It is over 10, 20, 30. 

Senator KEN!-."'EDY. After it made the grants, what wa.s the relation­
ship of the Agency with the results of the studies r The Foundation 
acquired the money to make the grants from the Agency, and then it 
made the grants tO these various research programs. 

Mr. GI'ITINGER. Yes, sir. . 
Senator 'KENNEDY. And that included eight universities as well as 

individual researchers i · . 
1tfr. GITTINoER. Yes, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. Then what follow· up was there to that, sir¥ 
Mr. GITnNoER. Well, in evety sense of the word, the organization 

was run exactly like any other foundation, and it carried with it the 
same thing in terms of making certain that the people that they had 
S!'iven money to used it for the purpose for which it had been granted, 
that they had access to any of the reports that they had put out, but 
there were no string$ attached to anybody. There wasn't any. reason 
thev couldrt't publish ttl'vthin,g- th~t thev put out.":· · · 

Senator 'KENNEDY. What sort of budget ar~ we talking; about here¥ 
-Mr. GITI'INGER. I honestly do nOt remember. I would P.'lless we arc 

. talkin~ in the realm of about $150,000 a year, but don't hold me to that, 
becauSe I don't know • 
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Senator KENNEDY. What is your v1ew about such funding as a pro­
f~ssiol}al person, in terms of compromising the integrity of a univer­
Sity, Sir¥ 

Mr. GrrnNGER. Well, obviously, s!r, insofar as today there is no 
question about it. I will have to say at the time that we were doing this 
there was quite an entirely different kind of an attitude, and I do 
know for a :fact that we moved to start towards phnsin:;r out the So­
ciety for the Investigation of Human Ecology and the Human Ecol­
ogy Fund for the very reason that we were beginning to recognize that 
it was moving into an area but this would be compromised. 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, that is commendable, both :your attitude 
and the reasons for it, but during that period of time it still was in­
volved in behavior research programs, as I understand it. 

Mr. GrrnNoEn. Yes, sir. On its own, in connection with this, it 
participated again, and thPse again were not CIA-direc~d projects, 
but these were nll things which would theoretically contribute to the 
rreneral lmowledge nt the time where the things like the study of the 
Hungarian refl!gees-obviously, the study o.f the Hungarian refugees 
who came to this country after the Hungarian revolt wns a very use­
ful exercise to try to get' information about the personality character­
istics of the Communists and so forth. 

Senator· KENNED·r. Were there other foundations that were doing 
similar kinds of work? 

Mr. GITMNOER. Not to my knowledge, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. You believe--
1\fr. GrrnNGER. You mean, CIA, other CIA~ 
Senator KENNEDY. Right. . . . 
1\fr. Grrr:rNOER. Well, my answer is in the sense thnt I know of no 

other CIA foundations, no. There 'vere. of course, other foundations 
doing similAr kinds of work in the United States. 

Senator KENNEDY. Have you heard of the Psychological Assess-
ments Foundation¥ 

lfr. GrrnNoEn. I certainly have. 
Senator KENNEDY. What was that? What function did that have? 
Mr. GITTINOER. Now, this was bringing us up to a different era. I 

believe the functions of that ors:anizntion have· nothing whatsoever 
to do with the things that are being talked about here while I was 
associated with it. 

Senator KENNEDY. Rnther than getting into the work, it was another 
foundation, was it not i It was another foundation supported by the 
Agency! · 

Mr. GI'I'I'TNGER. Whnt, the Psychological Assessment? 
Senator KENNEDY. Yes. 
Mr. GI'rrtNGER. No, sir, it was not. 
Senn:tor KENNEDY. It. did not get any support at all :from the 

Asrencyt · 

fi
. Mr. GlTI'INOER. Oh, yes, sir. It did get support, but it was a business 
rm. 
Senator KENNEDY. It was a business but it got support :from the 

A~ncy¥ ·. . . .. 
Mr. GI'ITINGER. It got money :from it, but it definitely was not in 

1\IKUL TRA or in nny way associated with this. · 

• 
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Senator KENNEDY. All right. I want to thank you for your help.ful 
testimony, 1-fr. Gittinger. It is not easy to go back into the past. I 
think you have been very fair in your characterizations, and I think 
it is quite appropriately indicated thn.t there are different standards 
now from what they were 25 years ago, and I think you have responded 
very fairly and completely to the inquiries, and I think with a good 
deal of feeling about it. 

You are a person who is obviously attempting to serve the country's 
interest, so I want to thank you ,;ery much for your statement and 
for your helpful timeliness. 

1-!r. GrrTINGER. Thank you, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. Senator Case~ 
Senator CAsE. Thank you, :Mr. Chairman. I am sorry that I had 

r,nother committee that I had to complete the hearing with this ~om-
ing before I O'Ot here. .· 

I shall rea~ the testimony with very great interest, and I appreci­
ate your testimony as I ha.ve heard it. I would like to comment just on 
one point, and that is, it relates to a story in the press yesterday about 
part of this program involving the funding of a grant at a foreign 
university. I would like to elicit from you a comment as to the addi~ 
tiona} sensitivity and difficulty that that practice involves from your 
standpoint as a scientist, as well as a citizen, if you will. 

Mr. GrrriNGER. I will say it was after the fact thinking. I~ was utter 
stupidity the way things worked out to have used some of this money 
outside the United States when it was CIA money. I can categorically 
state to my knowledge and I don't claim a complete knowledge all the 
way across of the human ecology functions, but to my knowledge, and 
t.his is unfortunate, those people did not know that they were getting 
money from CIA, and they were not asked to contribute anything to 
CIA as such. . · 

Senator CASE. It would be interesting to try to examine this by turn­
ing the thing around and thinking what we would think if th1s h,ap­
pened from a. foreign official agency to our own university. Thank you, 
M:r. Chairman. 

Senator INOUYE. Senator Schwciker. 
Senator ScHWEII\.ER. Thank you, 1-fr. Chairman. · 
Dr. Goldman, I wonder if you would tell us what your training and 

educational background is i . 
Dr. GoLDliAN. I have already given a bio~raphy for the record. 
Senator ScHWEIKER.·I have'not seen it. 'Vho has it' 1s .it classified~ 

We may have it for the record, but may I ask you to. briefly describe 
your training and background for us now i I hope it is no se-Cret. · 

Dr. Gor..oMAN. Well~ I was toJd if I was asked this tosay that. I was 
told that by-your staff' peOtple, but I have no objection to telling you. 
I am a resident from· Pennsylvania, southwest Pennsylvania, Lan­
caster County~ I went to Perin State, and I a.m in nutrition. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. In whnt' 
·Dr. GoLDMAN. Nutrition. 
Senator ScnWEIKER. Were you in charge of a section or segment of 
~~in~~~~l . 
·Dr. GOLDMAN. During the time I was with that organization, !·was 

in charge of one small section of it, one small segment of it; yes. 
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Senator ScH\VEIKER. 'Vhat was the function or purpose of that sec­
tion that you headed~ 

Dr. GoLDMAN. To provide support for the other parts of the division. 
Senator ScuwEIKER. 'Vhere m the chain of command would that put 

you in relation to Dr. Gottlieb j 
Dr. Gow!trAN. Pretty far down the line. 
Senator ScuwEIKER. :Mr. Gittinger, I would just like to ask you a 

few questions. 'Ve appreciate your frankness and candor with the com­
tnittee, and we realize this is a very difficult area to go into. I am not 
quite clear on two matters that were raised earlier. First, were the safe 
houses we were talking about here used on occasion by the prostitutes 
you referred to¥ 

.Mr. GrTTINGER. I really have not the slightest idea. 
Senator SCIIWEIKER. \Vere the prostitutes used in any way to slip 

the customers drugs for observation purposes¥ 
:M:r. GrrrrNGER. Not to my direct knowledge. 
SenatorScuwErKER. 'Yould you have been in a position to know the 

answer to either of these questions~ 
Mr. GrmNGER. l\fay I say, probably not, and may I make an nside 

to expJain a little bit of this, please, sid 
Senator ScHWEIKF.R. Mr. Gittinger, a moment r.go you mentioned 

brainwashing techniques, as one area that you had, I guess, done some 
work in. ·How would you characterize the state of the art of brain­
washing today? 'Vho has the most expertise in this field, and who is 
or is not doing it in terms of other governments? 

During the Korean war there was a lot of serious discussion about 
brainwashing techniques being used by t.he North Koreans, and I am 
interested in finding out what the state of the art is today, as you see it. 

Afr. GrrrrNGER. 'Vell, of course, there has be.en a great deal of work 
on this, and there is still a great deal of controversy. I can tell you ~a.t 
as far as I knew, by 1961, 1962, it was at least proven to· my satis­
faction that brainwashing, so caJled, is some kind of an esoteric device 
where drugs or mind-altering kinds of conditions and so forth were 
used, did not exi~ even though "The Manchurian Candidate" as a 
movie really set us back a long time, because it made something im:­
possible look plausible. Do you folJow what I mean? But by 1962 and 
1963, the general idea t.hat we were able to come up with is that brain­
washing was largely a proces.<:; of isolating n. human bein~, keeping 
him out of contact, putting him under long stress in rela.t10nship to 
interviewing and interrogation, and that they could produce any 
change that way. without having to resort to· any· kind of esot:oric 
~- . . 

Senatqr ScH'WEIK:ER. Are there ways that .we can ascertain this from 
. a .distance' when we see a ·captive prisoner either go· on television, in 
a photograph, or at a press conference¥ In other words, are there cer­
tain signs that you have learned. to reeognize from your technical 

· background, to tell when brainwashing ·has occurred~ Or is that very 
difficult to do f · · ·. .·· · · · · 

Mr. GrmNGER. It is difficult to do. ~I think it is posible now in terms 
of looking .at a 'Picture of somebody who has·been in enemy hands for 
a long· period of time. We can get same pretty good ideas of what kind 
of circumstances he has been -under, if t:hat is what you mean. 
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Senator ScHwEIKER. That is all I have, ~fr. Chairm~n. Thank you. 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much. 
Before adjourning the hearings, I would like to have the record 

show that Dr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger have voluntarily cooperated 
with the committee in staff interviews, that they appear this morning 
voluntarily, and they are not under subpena. 

Gentlemen, I reahze that this experience may have been an unhappy 
one and possibly a painful one. Therefore, we thank you very much 
for participating th1s morning. 'Ve also realize that the circumstances 
of that time differed very much from this day, and po...."Sibly the na­
tional attitude, the national political attitude condoned this type of 
aotivity. So, we have not asked you to come here as persons who have 
committed crimes, but rather in hope that you ca.n assist us in studying 
this problem so that it will not occur once again. In that spirit we 
thank you for your participation, and we look forward to working 
with you further in this case . 

Thank you v-er:.y much. 
Senator KENNEDY. Mr. Chairman, I would like also to thank the 

witnesses. These are difficult matters, and I think all of us are ver:.y 
grateful. 

Senator ScHWEIKER. I think the witnesses should know that though 
it may not always seem that way, what we are tr:.ying to do is to probe 
the past and look at t,he policies of the past to affect the future. I think 
our emphasis really is on the future, not the past, but it is important 
that we learn from ·the past as we formulate policies and legislation 
for the future, I hopg that all of the witnesses who did come before us 
voluntarily this morning, including Admiral Turner respect the fact 
that we are questioning the past to learn about the future. I think it 
should be looked at in that light. 

Senator KENNEDY. I think that is the spirit in which we have had 
these hearings. It seems to me that from both these witnesses and 
others, Got~lieb knows the information and can best respond, and we 
are going to make every effort in the Senate Health Committee to ~et 
A~r. Gottlieb to appear, and we obviously look forward to C?OOPe;atmg 
w1th Senator Inouye and the other members of the committee 1n get­
ting the final chapter written on this, but we want to thank you very 
much for your appea.rance here. 

Senator INoUYE. The hearing will stand in recess, subject to.tl.le call 
of the Chair. · . . 

[VVhereupon, at 12 :12 p.m., the hearing was recessed, subjoot to the 
call of the Chair.] . 
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APPENDIX A 

XVII. TESTING AND USE OF CHEMICAL AND BIOLOGI­
CAL AGENTS BY THE INTELLIGENCE CO~IMUNITY 

Under its mandate 1 the Select Committee has studied the testing and 
use of chemical and biologir.£Il ngents by intelligence agencies. Detailed 
descriptions of the programs conducted by intelligence agencies in­
volving chemical and biological agents will be included in a separately 
published appendix to the ~cnate ~elect Committee~s report. This sec­
tion of the report will discuss the rationale for the programs, their 
monitoring and control, and what the Committee's investigation has 
revealed about the reln.tionships among the intelligence agencies and 
about their relations with other go,·ermnent agencies and private in­
stitutions and individua.Is. 2 

Fears that countries hostile to the United States would use chemi­
cal and biological agents against Americans or America's allies led 
t(l the development of a defensive program designed to disco,·er tech­
niques for American intelligence agencies to detect and cotmteract 
chemical and biological agents. The defensive orientation soon became 
secondary as the possible use of these agents to obtain information 
from, or gain control over, enemy agents became apparent. 

Research and deve1opment programs to find materials which could 
be used to alter human behavior were initiated in the late 19-!0s and 
early 1950s. These experimental programs originally included testing 
of drugs invoh·ing witting human subjects, and culminated in tests 
using unwitting, nonvolunteer human subjects. These tests were de­
signed to determine the potential effects of chemical or biological 
agen:ts when used operationally against individuals unaware that they 
had received a drug. · 

The testhtg programs were considered highly sensitive by the in­
telligence agencies administering them. Few people, even within the 
agencies, k.riew of the programs and there is no evidence that either 
the executive branch or Congress were ever informed· of th~m. The 
highly compartmented nature of these programs may be explained in 
part by an observation made bv the CIA Inspector General that, "the 
knowledge that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activi-

1 Senate Resolution 21 directs the Senate Select Committee on Intelllgence 
Activities to investigate a number of issues: 

"(a) Whether agencies within the intelllgence community conducted Ulegal 
domestic actlvities (Section 2 (1) and (2)) ; · 

"(b). The extent to which agencies witlUn the intelligence community cooper-
ate (Section 2(4) and (8)); . 

"(c) The adequacy of executive branch and Congressional oversight of intel­
ligence activities·csection 2(7) o.nd (11)); 

"(d) The adequacy· of existing laws to safeguard the rights of American citi-
zens (Section 2(18) )." . · · 

. 
1 The details of these programs may neve:- be known. The programs were hl~hly 

compartmented. Few records were kept. What little documentation existed for 
the CIA's prlnctpal program was destroyed early 1n 1973. 
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ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic circles 
and would be detrimental to the accomplishment of its missions."~ 

The research and development program, and particularly the co­
vert testing programs, resulted in massive abridgments of the rights 
of American citizens, sometimes with tragic consequences. The deaths 
of two Americans 3 • can be attributed to these programs; other partici­
pants in the testing programs may still suffer from the residual ef­
fects. '\Vb.ile some controlled testing of these substances might be de­
fended, the nature of the tests, their scale, and the fact that they were 
continued for years after the danger of surreptitious administration 
of LSD to unwitting individuals was known, demonstrate a funda-
mental disregard for the value of haTDan life. .. · 

The Select Committee's investigation of the testing and use of chem­
ical and biologic.·1.l agents n.lso raise serious questions about the ade­
quacy of command and control procedures »ithin the Central Intelli­
gence Agency and military intelligence, and about the relationships 
among the intelligence a&encies, other governmental agencies, and 
private institutions and inaividuals. The CIA's normal a.dministrath·e 
controls were waived for programs invoh·ing chemical and biological 
agents to protect. their secur1ty. According to the head of the Audit 
Branch or the CL:\. these· waivers produced "gross administrative 
failures." They prC'':.,·nted the CL<\.'s internal review mechanisms (the 
Office of General Counsel, the Inspector General, and the Audit Staff) 
from adequately supervising the programs. In general, the waivers had 
the paradoxical effect of providing less .restrictive administrative con­
trols and less effective internal rsvie:v for controver;sial and highly 
sensith·e projects than those governing normal Agency activities. 

The security of the programs was protected not only by waivers 
of normal administrative controls, but also by a high degree of com­
partmentation within the CIA. This compartmentation excluded the 
CIA's j\fedical Staff from the :principal research and testing program 
employing chemical and biological agents. 

It also may have led to agency policymakers receiving differing 
and inconsistent responses when they posed questions to the CIA 
compo~ent involved. · · 

Jurisdictional uncertainty within the CIA was matched by juris­
dictional conflict among the various intelligence agencies. A spirit of 
cooperation and reciprocal exchanges of information which initially 
characterized the programs disappeared.l\filitary testers withheld in­
Iormation from the CIA, ignoring suggestions for coordination fro~ 
their superiors. The CIA similarly failed to provide information to 
the military on the CIA's testing program. This failure to cooperate 
was conspicuously ~anifested in an attempt by the Army to conceal" .. 

1 CIA Inspector Gen~ral's Survey of TSD, 1957: p. 217. . · 
~a On January 8, 1953. Mr. Harold Blauer died of circulatory collapse and heart 

!allure following an lntrave~ous injeet:ton of a synthetic mescaline derivative 
white a subject of tests·r.onducted by New York State Psychiatric Institute under 
a contract let by the U.S. Army Chemical Corps. The Commlttee•s investigation 
into drug testiJlg by U.S. intelllgence agencies fooused on the testing of LSD, how­
ever, the committee dld receive a copy of the U.S. Army Inspector General's 
Report, issued on October 1975, on the events and circumstances of Mr. Blauer's 
death. His death was dlrectl::r atributable to the admlnlstration of the synthetic 
mescaline derivative.· 
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their overseas testing prograin, which inciuded surreptitious admin­
istration of LSD, from the CIA. Learning of the Armis program, 
the Agency surreptitiously attempted to obtatn details of it . 
. The.Uecision to institute one of t~he Armts ~SD field testing proje~ts 

had been basedJ at least in part, on the findmg that no long-term reSid­
ual effects had ever resulted from the drug's administration. The 
CIA's failure to inform the Army of a death which resulted from the 
surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting Americans, may well 
have resulted in the institution of an ~mnecessary and potentially lethal 
pr~m. . · · . · 

The development, testin~, and use of ch('!nical and biological agents 
by intelligence agencies raises serious questions about the relationship 
between t.he intelli <Tence community and foreign governments, other 
a~encies of the Fe~eral Government, and other institutions and in­
dividuals. The questions raised range from the le¥itimacy of American 
complicity in actions abroad which violate American and foreign laws 
to tlie possible compromise of the integrity of public and private insti­
tutions used as cover by intelligence agene1es. 

A. THE PRooR.A.lls I:xvEsTIGATED 

1. Project CHATTER 
Project CHATTER was a Navy program that began iii the fall of 

1947. Respoi1ding to reports of "amazing results" achieved by the 
Soviets in using ".truth drugs/' the program focused on the identifica­
tion and tcst~ng of. snch drugs for use in interrogations and in the 
recruitmenr of agents. The research included laboratory experiments 
on animo !s and hum:~~ subjects involving A nab as is aphylla, scopola­
mine, and mescaline iu •)rder to determine their speech-inducing quali­
ties. Overseas experiments were conducted as part. of .the project. 

The project expanded substantially during the Korean \Var, and 
ended shortly afror the war, in 1953 •. 
9. Project BLUEBIRDIARTIOHOKl!.." . 

The· earliest of the CIA's major programs involving the use of 
chemical and biological agents, Project BLUEBIRD, was approved by 
the Director in 1950. Its objectives were: . 

·(a) discovering means of conditioning personnef to.prevent 
unauthorized extraction of information from them by known 
means, (b) investigating the possibility of control of an in­
dividual hy application of spe,cial interrog~ti~n tec.hniq·;es, 
(c) memory enhancement, and (d) esta.lihshmg defensive 

. means: f?r preventing hostile control' or Agency personneV1 

As a result of interrogati~ns cond'!cted overse~s during the project, 
a!}other goal was·added-.theevaluatlon of offens1ve uses of unconven­
tional interrogation techniques, including hypnosis and drugs. In 
·.\u!rnst1951, the project was renamed ARTICHOKE. Project ARTI­
CifOKE includea in-house experiments on interrogation techniques, 
co~ducted "under. m~.dics.l and s~curity .<~Qntrols which "\Yould ensure 

• CIA memorandum to the Select Committee, "Behavioral Drugs and Testing," 
2/11176. ·: . . .. . ·. . . .· . 
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that no damage was done to individuals who volunteer for the experi- · 
ments." • Overseas interrogations utilizing a combination of sodium 
pentoth!ll and hypnosis after physical and psychiatric examinations of 
the subJects were also part of ARTICHOKE. · 

The Office of Scientific Intelligence (OS!), which studied scientific 
advances by hostile powers, initially led BLUE·BIRD/ ARTICHOKE 
efforts. In 1952, overall responsibility for ARTICHOKE was trans­
ferred from OSI to the Inspection and Security Office (I&SO), pre­
decessor to the present Office of Security. The CIA's Technical Serv­
ices and Medical Staffs were to be called upon as needed; OSI would 
retain liaison function with other government agencies.6 The change 
in leadership from an inteJligence unit to an operating unit appar­
ently reflected a change in emphasis; from the study of actions by 
hostile powers to the use, both for offensive and defensive purposes, 
of special interrogation techniques-primarily hypnosis and truth 
serums. 

Representatives.from each Agency unit involved in ARTICHOKE 
met almost monthly to discuss the1r progress. These discussions in­
cluded the plannin~ of overseas interrogations 8 as well as further 
experimentation in tne U.S. 
. Infonnation about project ARTICHOKE after the fall of 1953 
is scarce. The CIA maintains that the project ended in 1956, but evi­
dence suggests that Office of Security and Office of :Medical Sen·ices 
use of "special interrogation" techniques continued for several yc!trs 
thereafter. 

3. 1./KNAOM/ 

MKNAOMI was. another major CIA pro{!ram in this area. In 1967, 
the CIA summarized the purposes of ~IKNAO:MI: 

(a) To provide for a covert support base to meet clandes-
tine operational requirements. · 

(b) To stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal ma­
tenals for the specific use of TSD [Technical Services Di-
vision]. . 

(c) To maintain in operational readiness special and unique 
items for the dissemination of biological and chemical ma-
terials. .. · · ·· 
· (d)· To 'provide for the required surveillance, testins.!, up­

grading, ·a.nd evaluation ·of materials and i~ms i.n. order to 
assure absence of. defects and complete predtctabthty of re-
_sult;S ~ ~J?e expected u~der OP.emtional. cond.ition~. 9 · ·. • 

Under an agreement ·reached Wlth ·the Army 1n 19o2~ the Rnec1al 
Operations Division (SOD}. at Fort Detrick was .to assist CIA. in 
d~veloping, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery 

• Me~orandum Jrom RobPrt ·Tavlor, 0/DD/P. to· thP. A$slstant peput;r (In-
spectlo.n Jlnd Security) and Cl\lef of the :Medical Staff, 3/22/52. : ··. 

'lremorandum from H. :Marshall Chad wE'll. Af:~:lstant Dlre ... tor. Scientific Intel­
Ugence, to the DepUty Dlrectnr/Plan<R lDDPl '!Prn1ect ARTICHOKE," 8/29/52. 

'••Progi'es~{Rel)!lrt, Projeet ARTICHOKE!' 1/12,153. · ' 
'Memorandum from-Chief, TSD/Blologtcat Brant''tt to Chief. TSD "MKNAOMI : 

Fundln~r. Obiectlv,.s. Pnt\ AccnrnnHo'tt""'"nh:r." 10/18/R'T. l>. 1. Fri.,. a fuller deserlp­
t!on ot liKNAOlii and the relationship between CIA and SOD. see p. 860 tt. 
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sys'"vems. By this a.gi-eement, CIA acquired the knowlede;e, skill, and 
facilities of the Army to deveiop biological weapons su1ted for CIA 
use. 

SOD developed darts coated with biological agents and J.lills con· 
taining several ditf.:-rent biolo~eal agents which could remam ~t~t1t 
for weeks or months. SOD also developed a special gun for firmg 
darts coated with a chemical which could allow CIA agents to incapaci­
tate a guard dog, enter an installation secretly, and return the dog to 
conscicusness when leaving. SOD scientists were unable to develop 
a similar incapacitant for humans. SOD also p,hysically transferred 
to CIA personnel biological agents in "bulk ' form, and delh·ery 
devices, including some containing biological agents. 

~ In addition to the CIA.'s interest in biological weapons for use 
against humans, it also asked SOD to study use of biolo~ical agents 
against crops and animals. In its 1967 memorandum, the viA stated: 

Three methods end systems for carrying out a covert attack 
against crops and causing severe crop loss ha \"e been devel­
oped and evaluated under field conditions. This was accom­
plished in anticipation of a requirement which was later 
developed .but \Vas subsequently scrubbed just prior to put-
ting into action. ea . 

.. l\fKNAOlii '~as terminated in 1970. On November 25, 1969, Presi­
dent Nixon renounced the use of any form of biological weapons that 
kill or incapacitate and ordered the disposal ot existing stocks of bac­
teriological weapons. On February 14, 1970, the President clarified the 
extent of his entlier order and hidicated that toxins-chemicals that 
are not lhins organisms but are produced by 1ivin~·orga:nisms-were 
considered b10logicai weapons subject to h1s preY1ous directive and 
were to be destroyed. Although instructed to relinquish control of 
material held for the CIA by SOD, a CIA scientist acquired approxi­
mately 11 grams of shellfish toxin from SOD personnel at Fort De­
trick whicli were stored in a little-used CIA laboratory where it went 
undetected for five years.10 

·. 4- MKl'LTRA 

. l!KULTRA was the principal CIA program involving the .research 
and development· of chemical ·and biological agents. It wa_s "con· 
cerned with the re$E!arch and development of chemical,.biological, and 
ra~iological materials. capable of employment Jn clandestine oper-
ations to control human behavior." 11 · · · 

In January 1973, l:IXUIJTRA records Wflre destroyed by Technical 
Service.3 Division personnel actinp. on the verbaJ ord~rs of Dr. Sidney 
Gottlieb, Chief of TSD. Dr. Gottlieb. has testified, and former Direc­
tor Helmi' has confirmed, that. in ordering· the records destroyed, Dr. 
Gottlieb wss. carrying. out the verbal order of then DCI Helms. 

liKULTRA began with 0. . proposal from the Assistant-· Deputy 
Director for Plans, Richard Helm~, to the. DCI, outlining a specifil 

ib Ibid. p. 2. . . · .. 
m Senate Se)ect Committee, 9/ltl/75; Hearings. Ve.l. 
,u Memol'a;ndum t,rom the. CIA Iuspeetor General to the Dl~ector, 7/26/GS~ 
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funding mechanism for highly sensitive CIA research and devel_op· 
ment projects that studied the ·use of biological and chemical materials 
in altering human behavior. The projects involved: 

Research to develop a capa,};>ility in, the covert use of bio~ 
logical and chemical materiil.lS. This nJ:ea involves the produc­
tion of various physiological conditions which could support 
present or future clandestine operations. Aside from the of­
fenshre potential. the development of a comprehel)sive capa­
bility in this field of covert chemical and biological warfare 
gives us a thorough knowledge of the enemy's theoretical 
potential. thus enabling us to defend oursehres against a foe 
who might not be as restrained in the use of these tech-
niques as we are.12 . 

~fKu"'LTRA. ·was a.pproved by the DCI on April 13, 1953 along the 
lines propose.d by ADDP HE>.lms. . 

Part of the rationale for the establishment of this special fund­
ing mechanism was its extreme sensitivity. The Inspector General's 
survey of ~Il{:t.TLTRA in 1963 noted the fo11owing reasons for this 
sensitivitY: · . . 

a. r~~·~earch in th~ matiipu]ation of human behavior is con- . 
sidered by mnn~.~ :ldhorities in medicine nnd related fields 
to be. ·profession:dly unethical, therefore the' reputation of 
professional participants in the ~llCULTRA..prQgram are on 
occasion in jeopardy. . . 

b. Some ~HCULTRA activities raise questions of iegelity . 
implicit ·in the original charter. · . 

. c. A finalphase of the tcstin~ of ~fKULTRA products 
places the ri~hts and inte.rests of U.S. citi?:ens in jeopardy. 
· d. Public disclosure of some aspects of 1.fKULTRA activ­
ity could indnce serious ad,~erse reaction in U.S ... public 
opinion. as well as stimulate offensh·e and defensive action 
in this field on the part of. foreign inteJligence services.13 

0\\er th~ ~en,. year life of the program. many "additional avenues to 
the control of human behavior" were designated ns appropriate for 
investig-ation under the ~fKULTRA. charter. Tht:>se include "radiation. 
electroshock9 various fields of psycholditJ~· psychiatry, sociology. and 
anthropolo~·~ ~trapholo~y, harassment· substances1 and paramilitary 
o~";ces and materials." u • · · · · · · . ·· · , . 

The res<'nrch and development of matenals to be used for altering. 
· 1nn}lan be~1uv.ior consisted· of· three phases: first,. the search for rna-
. ten~ls smtabl~ for. study: second. laboratory· testin~ on volnntar:v 

humfl·t:\ snnie,'!ts in various types of in~titntions; third, the appli<iation 
of 1\!KTTLTRA materials hi nonnnllife se.ttin~ZS. · · · .· · 

The searc-h- for suitable ma:tf>.rials was conducted· throusrh· standing 
. arrn.l}aPmNtts with· snt>eialists in unh·ersities, pha:rmaceuticnl houses, 

. · hosp1tn.J~~ state ,and federal institutions, and priYate research organi-

:lrE'mornndum frnm ADDP H~>lms. to DCI DulleS. 4/3/53. Tab A. pp.l-2. 
u T.G. Report on liKULTRA, 1003. pp.l-2. . ·· . · 

lbU, p.4. .. . . . 
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zations. The annual grants of funds to these specialists were made 
under ostensible research foundation auspic€5, thereby conc.er..ling tho 
CIA's interest from the spPCinli~t's institution. 

The next pha..<:;e of the MKULTRA program involved physicians, 
toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, narcotics~ and general 
hospitals, and in prisons. Utilizing the products and findings of the 
basic research phase, they conducted intensive tests on human subjects. 

· One of t.he first studies was conducted by the National Institute of 
1\.fental Health. This studv was intendPd to test various drugs. inclnd­
~ng hallucinogenics. at the NIMH Addiction Research Center in Lex­
mgton, Kentucky. The "Lexington Rehabilitation Center," as it. was 
t~en c.alled, was a prison for drug addicts serving sentences for dntg 
viOlations. 

Th.e test subject~ were v~lun.teer prisoners who, after taking a br~ef 
physH·al exammat10n and s1gnmg a general consent form, were admm­
istered hallucinogenic drugs. As a reward for participation in the 
program~ the addicts were provided with the druir of their addiction. 

LSD was one of the materials tested in the ~fKULTRA program. 
The final phase. of LSD testing im·olved surreptitious administration 
to unwitting nonvolnnteer subieets in normal"life settings by under­
cover officers of the B~treau of Narc.otics acting for t.he CIA. 

The rationale for such testing was "that t(lsting of materials under 
accepted scientific procedures fails to disclose the full pattern of reac­
tions and attributions that may occur in operational situations." u• 

Ac.cordin.!! to the. CIA, the ach·antage of the relationship \'lith the. 
Bureau was that 

test subjects could be sdught and cultivated within the setting 
of narcotics control. Some subiects have been infonners or 
members of suspe.ct criminal elements from whom the [Bu­
reau of .Narcot.icsl has obtained rPsnlts of onPrational value 
through the tests. On the other hand, the effecti-lHJnesa of the 
aubstan.cea on indh·iduals a.t all social levels, high a11.d low, 
na.tive American a·nd /01•eig,n, is of great significance and 
testin,q has been performed on a 1..•ariety of indi'Vid1tals within 
these catego1ies. [Emph~:~.sis added.] 18 

A special procedure. dPsillllated ~!KDELT A. was es~ab1ishcd to 
gO\·ern the use of l\IKULTRA. materials nbroM{. Sn"h materials were 
used on a number of occasions. Because ~!KULTRA records were 
dPstrovpi{, it is imnossible to re.constn1ct the operational use of 
~fl{UL TRA mate.rials by the ·erA overseas; it has been determined 
that the use of these tt).a.terials abroad began in 1953, and possibly as 
earlv as 1950. · 

Dnurs were used primarily as an aid to interroA'ntions. but 
~IKULTRA/lfi{DELTA materials were also used for harassment, 
discrediting-. or disnhlin~ purposes. According to a.n Inspector General 
S11.rvev of tlle Teclmical Services Division of the CIA in 1957-nn 
inspect.ion which did not discover the ~fKuLTRA nroject inYolving 
the ~urreptitiQUS administrntion of I,SD t<? unwitting, nonvohmteer 

:r.s Ibid, p. 21. 
a Ibi.~, pp. 11.;.12, 
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subject&-the CIA had developed six drugs for ·operational use and 
they had been used in six dinerent operations on a total of thirty~ three 
subjects.11 By 1963 the number of operations and subjects had in­
creased substantially. 

In the spring of 1963, during a wide-rangin:J' Inspector General 
sun·ey of the Technical Services Division, a. member of the Inspector 
Generars staff, John Vance, learned about ~fKULTRA ~nd about 
the project involving the surreptitious ·administration of LSD to un­
witting, nonvoluntary hwnan subjects. As a result of the discovery 
and the InsJ;>ector General's subsequent report, this testing was halted 
and much tighter administrative controls were imposed on the pro­
gram. According to the CIA, the project was decreased significantly 
each budget year until its complete tennination in the late 1960s. 

5. The Test.ing of LSD by the Army 
There were three major phases in the Army~s testing of LSD. In the 

first, LSD was administered to more than 1,000 American soldiers ,...,.ho 
volunteered to be subjects in chemical warfare experiments. In the 
second phase, :Material Test.in~ Progre.m EA. 1729, 95 volunteers re­
ceived LSD in clinical expenments designed to evaluate potential 
intelligence uses of the dmg. In the third phase, Projects THIRD 
CHANCE and DERBY HAT, 16 unwitting nonvolunteer subjects 
were interrogated after receiving I.SD ns part of operational field 
tests. 

B. CIA DReG TEsTING PROGRAMS 

1. The Raticm.ale for the Teating Program/3 
The late 1940s and· early 1950s were marked by concern over 

the threat posed by the actndties of the Soviet Union, the People's 
Republic of China, and othe.r Communist bloc countries. United States 
concern over the use of chemical and biological agents by these povrers 
was acute. The belief that hostik nowers had used chemical and bio­
logical agents in interrogations, brainwashing, and in attacks designed 
to harass, disable, or kiTl Allied personnel created considerable pres­
sure for a "defensive" program to investigate chemical and biological 
agents so that the intelligence <".Ommunity could understand the mech­
anisms by which these substan~ worked and how their effects could 
be defeated.18 

Of particular concern was the drug LSD. The CIA had received 
reports that.the Soviet Union was engaged in intensive efforts to pro~ 
duce LSD; and that the Soviet Union 1iad attempted to purchase the 
world's supply of the chemical. As one CIA. officer who was deeply 
involved in worlt: with this drug described the climate of the times: 
"(It] is awfully hard in this day and age to reproduce how f.rightening 
all of this was to us at the time, particularly after the drug scene has 
become as widespread and ns knowledgeable in this count·~Y as it did. 
But we were literally terrified, because this was the one material that we 

. lf Ibid, 1957, p. 201. -: . . , ·. .· . 
u Thus an ofticer ln · tbe omce of Security ot the OIA stressf"d the "urgency of 

the discovery ot techniques and method that would permit our personnel, in the 
·event of their C4pture by the enemr, to resist or defeat enemy Interrogation." 

( lUnutes of the .ARTICHOKE conference ot 10/22/53.) · 
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had ever been able to locate that re.ally had potential fantastic possi­
bilities if used wrongly." 111 

But the defensive orientation soon became secondary. Chemical and 
biological agents were to be studied in order "to perfect techniques ••• 
for the abstraction of information from individuals whether willing or 
not" and in order to "develop means for the control of the activities and 
mental capacities of individuals whether willing or not." 20 ·One 
Agency official noted that drugs would be useful in order to "gain con­
trol of bodies whether they were 'villing or not" in the process of re­
moving personnel from Europe in the event of a Soviet atta~k.21 In 

· other programs, the CIA began to develop, produce, stockpile, and 
maintain in operational readiness materials which could be used to 
harass, disable, or kill specific targets. ::z · 

Reports of research and develo2ment in the Soviet Union, the Peo­
ple's Republic of China, and the Communist Bloc countries provided 
the basis for the transmutation of American programs from a defen­
sive to an offensive orientation. As the Chief of the ~Medical Staff of 
the Central Intelligence Agency wrote in 1952: 

There is ample evidence in the reports of mnumerable inter­
rogations that the Communists were utilizing drugs, physical 
dl!ress, e~ectric shoe~, and P.OS;Sibly hypnosis against their ene- . 
rrues. 'VIth such evidence 1t IS difficult not to keep from be­
coming rabid about our apparent laxity. 'Ve are forced by this 
mountmg evidence to assume a more aggressive role in the 
development of these techniques, but must be cautious to 
maintain strict inviolable control because of the havoc that. 
could be wrought by such techniques in unscrupulous hands.23 

In· order to meet the perceived threat to the national security, sub-
. stantial programs fo:- the testing and use of chemical and biological 
agents-mcluding projects involving the surreptitious administra­
tion of I...SD to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects "at all social levels, 
high· and low, native American and foreign"-were conceived, and 
implemented. These programs resulted in substantial violations of the 
rights of individuals within the United States. 

18 Testimony of CIA officer,ll/21/75, p. 33 . 
., Memorandum frorn the Director of Security· to ARTICHOKE representa­

tlt>es, Subject: "ARTICHOKE Restatement of Program ... 
· 

11 ARTICHOKE memorandum, 7/30/53. 
u The Inspector General's Report of 1957 on the T~hnical Sert>lces Division 

noted that "Six specific products have been developed and are a\·allnble for oper­
ational use. Three of them are discrediting and disabling materials which can be 
administered unwittingly and permit the exercise of a measure of control over the 
actions of the subject.'' · · · 

A memorandum ·tor the Chief, TSD, Biological Bra ncb to the Chief, TSD, 
10/18/67, described two ot the objectives of the CIA's Project l!K~AOl.U as: 
"to stockpile severely incapacitating and letha:t materials fer tbe specific use of 
TSD'.' ·and "to maintain in operational readiness special and unique items for 
the dissemination of biological and chemical materals!' · 

• Memorandum !17om the Chief ·of the Medical Statr, 1/25/52. 
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Although the CIA recognized these effects of LSD to umvitting in~ 
dividuals ~vithin the United States, the project continued.24 ·A~ the 
Deputy D1rector for Plans, Richard Helms, wrote the Deputy Direc­
tor of Central Intelligence during discussions which led to the cessa­
tion of unwitting testing: 

While I share your uneasiness and distaste for any pro­
gram which tends to intrude upon an individual's private 
and legal :prerogatives, I believe it is necessary that the 
Agency mamtain a central role in this activity, keep current 
on enemy capabilities the manipulation of human behavior, 
a~d maintain an offensive capability.25 

. . 

There were no attempts to secure approval for the most controversial 
aspects of these programs from the executive branch or Congress. 
The nature nnd extent of the programs were closely held secrets; even 
DCI ~IcCone was not ·briefed on all the details of the program in­
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD until 1063. It was 
deemed imperative that these programs be concealed from the Ameri­
can people. As the CIA's Inspector General wrote in 1957: 

Precautions must be taken not only to protect operations 
from exposure to enemy forces but also to conceal these ac­
tivities from the American public in general. The knowledge 
that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activities 
would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic 
circles and would be detrimental to the accomplishment 
of its mission.26 

e. The Death of Dr.Frank0l8tm 
The most tragic result of the testing of LSD by the CIA was the 

death of Dr. Frank Olson, a civilian employee of the Army, who died. 
on November 27, 1953. His death followed his participation in a CIA 
experiment with LSD. As part of this experiment, Olson unwitting]y 
received approximately 70 micrograms of LSD in a glass of Cointreau 
he drank on November 19, 1953. The drug had been placed in the bottle 
by a CIA officer, Dr. Robert Lashbrook, as part of an experiment 
he and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb performed at a meeting of Army and 
CIA scientists. 

Shortly after this experiment, Olson exhibited symptoms of para­
noia and schizophrenia. Accompanied by Dr. Lashbrook, Olson sought 
psychiatric assistance in New York City from a physician, Dr. Harold 
Abramson. whose research on LSD liad been funded indirectly by 
the CIA. \Vhile in New York for.'treatment, Olson fell to his death 
from a tenth.stoxj window in the Statler Hotel. 

• 'a4 Even.~durlng th& discussions whteh led to the termination ot the unwitting 
testing, .the .DDP turned down the option of halting sueh tests within the U.S. 
nnd continuing th«:>m ilbroad despite the !act that the Teehnlcal Services Divi-

. slon had conducted numerous operations nbrond making use of J..SD. The DDP 
made this decision· on the basis ot security noting that the past etrort.s overseas· 
hnd resulted in "mnklng nn inordinate number of foreign nntlonals witting of 
our rol~Jn the very sensitive activity." (1\leri1ornndum for the Deputy Director 
of • Ce'!fnl.l Intellfgence !rom the Deputy Director for Plans, 12/1 i /63, p. 2.) 

I'btt!., pp. 2-3. • 

•.. 
. ·~. 

• I. G. survey ot TSD, 1957, p. 217. 
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a. Backr~round.-Olson, an expert in aerobiology who was assigned 
to the Special Operations Division (SOD) of the U.S. Army Biolog­
ic~! Center at. Uamp Detrick, lfaryland. This Division had three 
pr1mary funct10ns: · . . 

( 1) assessing the vulnerability of American installations 
to biological attack; 

(2) developing techniques for offensiYe use of biological 
weapons; and 

(3) biological research for the CIA.2
' 

Professionally, Olson was well respected by his colleag-...tes in hoth 
the Anny and the CIA. Colonel Vincent Ruwet, Olson~s immediate 
superior at the time of his death, was in almost daily contact with 
Olson:. According to Colonel R~wet: "As a professional man ..• his 
ability ... was outstanding." 28 Colonel Ruwet stated that "during 
the period prior to the experiment ... I noticed nothing ·which 
would lead me to believe that he was of unsound mind." 29 Dr. Lash ... 
brook, who had monthly contacts with Olson from early 1952 until 
the time of his death, stated publicly that before Olson received LSD, 
"ns far as I know, he was perfectly normal." 30 This assessment is in· 
direct contradiction to certain statements evaluating Olson's emo­
tional stability made in CIA internal memoranda written after 
Olson's death. · · 

b. The Experiment.-On ~o\~ember 18, 1953, a group of ten scien­
tists ·from the CIA and Camp Detrick attended a semi-annual review 
and analysis conference at a cabin located at Deep Creek Lake, :Mary­
land. Three of the participants were from the CIA's Technical Serv­
ices Staff. The Detrick representatives 'vere all from the Special 
Operations Division. · 

According to one CIA official, the Special Operations Division 
participants "agreed that an unwitting experiment 'vould be 
desirable." 31 This account directly contradicts Vincent Ruwet's recol­
lection. Ruwet recalls no· .such discussion, and has asserted that he 
would rem~mber any such discussion becau~ the SOD participants 
would have strenuously objected to testing on unwitting subjects.32 

In :May, 1953, Richard Helms, Assistant DDP, held a staff meeting 
which the Chief of Technical Sen•ices Staff attended. At this meeting 
Helms "indicated that tho drug [LSD] was dynamite and that he 
should be advised at all times when it was intended to use it." 33 In 
addition, the then DDP, F.rank 'Visner, sent a memorandum to TSS 
sta~ing ,t.he requirement that the DDP personally appro,·e the use of 

. LSD. _Gottlieb went ahead with the ex:periment,3' secur~g the ap-

: Statr 'svmmary of Vi.ncent Ruwet interview, 8/13/75, p. 3. · · · · . . 
:M'emora.ndu.t:n of Col. Viqcent -Ruwet, '.ro Wbom It May Concern, no date; 

p. 2,; , . .: ·.. · ' • · ·c·· _:s~, 

• Ruwet ~remorandum. p. 3. . · · ·.<\,, · = J'osepb B. Treaster, New York Timel, 7/19/75~'~p. 1 •. 
~!emot~ndum f()r the Record from Lyman Kirkpatrick, 12/1/53, p. 1. 

:a Ruwet-:(staff sun1mary), 8/13/i5, p. 6. . . · 
• Inspector General Diary, 12/2/53.: . . . · ' •·, · · · . 
·!' IlHtl. ·Dr. Gottleib has testltletLf:llat h.e~ilties not remember either the meeting 

with Helms nor ".the Wisner me!Ilol.'andum: · (Gottlieb, 10/18/15, p. 16.) · 
~ . _: ... '::· .. \~\.~~~~~·~! .. ·. .. . .· . . :. . ....... ,~;,_ 

-~:;-~~_:r:~,-:: :· 
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proval of his immediate supervisor. Neither the Chief of TSS nor 
the ppP specifically autho!:"~~e4 the .f:x~r:irlfent in which Dr. Olson 
part1c1 pated. as 

According to Gottlieb.36 a "very small dose" of LSD was placed in 
a bottle of Cointreau which was served after dinner on Thursday, 
November 19. The drug was placed in the liqueur by Robert Lash­
brook. All but two of the SOD partici,Pants received LSD. One did 
not drink; the other had a heart c'ond1tion.37 About twenty minutes 
after they finished their Cointreau, Gottlieb informed the other par­
ticipantsthat they had received LSD. 

Dr. Gottlieb stated that "up to the time of the experiment," he 
obsen·ed nothi~ tmusual in Olson!s behavior.37• Once the experiment 
was underway, uottlieb recalled that "the drug had a definite effect on 
the group to the point that they were boisterous and laughing and thet, 
could not continue the meeting or engage in sensible conversation.' 
The meeting continued until about 1:00 a.m., when the participants 
retired for the evening. Gottlieb recalled that Olson, among others, 
complained of "wakefulness1

' during the night.311 According to Gottlieb 
on ~·ridav morning- "aside from some evidence of fatigue,.! observed 
nothing unusual m [Olson's] actions, conversation, or general be­
havior." 89 Ruwet recalls that Olson "appeared to be agitated" at 
breakfast, but that he "did not consider this to be abnormal under the 
circumstances." "0 

c. The Treatment.-The following ~Ionday, November 23, Olson 
was waiting for Ruwet when he came in to work at 7:30 a.m. For the 
next two days Olson!s friends and family attempted to reassure hint 
and help him "snap out" of what appeared to be a serious depression. 
On Tuesday, Olson again came to Ruwet and, after an hour long co.n-

• Dr. Gottlleb testified that "gil'en the Information we knew up to this time, 
and ·based on a lot ot our ov."U selt-adininlstration, we thought lt was a fairly 
benign substance in terms of potential harm.'' This is in contlict not only with l!r. 
}Jelms' statement but also with material which had been supplied to the Technical 
Ser\·ices Staff. In one long memorandum on current research with LSD which 
was supplied t'J TSD, Heney Beecher described the dangers involl'ed with such 
re·seareb in a prophetic manner. "The second reason to doubt Professor Rothland 
came when I raised the ,question as to any accidents which had arisen from 
the use of LSD-25. He said in a ver:y positive way, 'none.' As it turned out 
this answer could be called overly positive, for later on ln the el'ening r was 
discussing the matter wlth Dr. W. A. Stohl,. J'r., a psychiatrist hi Bleulera•s 
Clinic in· Zurich where I had gone at Rothland's insistence. Stohl, when asked 
the snme question, replied, 'yes,' and added spontaneously,. 'there is a case 
Professor Rothland knows about. In Geneva a woman physician who bad been 
subject to "d.epresslon to some extent took LSD-25 ·in nn experiment and became 
severely arid suddenly depressed and committed suicide three weeks later. 
Wblle the connection is not definite, common kno\vledge of this could hardly 
have allowed the positive statement Rothland permitted himself. This. case Is 
a warning to us to avoid engaging_ subjects l\•ho are depressed, or who ha\·e been 
subject to depression;'" Dr. Gottlleb testified th'at he had no, recollection of 
either the report or that particular section of it. (Sidney Gottlieb testimony, 
10/19/75, p. 78.) . . . . :: 

• :\Iem0randum of Sheffield Edwards for the record. ll/28/53, .p .. 2. 
,., Lashbrook (staff summary), 7/19/75, p. 3; 
*7

" Gottlieb Memorandum, 12/7/53. p. 2. 
• Edwards memorandum, 11/28/53, p. 3. 

· • Gottlieb memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 3. 
.o Ruwet memorand_um, p. S . 

,. 
• 

• 



77 

397 

versation, it was decided th:.t~ medical assistance for Dr. Olson was 
de.si ra ble. 41 

Ruwet then called Lashbrook and infonned him that "Dr. Olson 
'vas in serious trouble and needed immediate professional" attention." 42 

Lashbrook agreed to make appropriate arrangements s.nd told Ruwet 
to bring Olson to Washington, D.C. Ruwet and Olson proceeded to 
Washington to meet with Lashbrook, and the three left for New York 
at about 2: 30 p.m. to meet with Dr. Harold Abramson. 

At that time Dr. Abramson was an allergist and illl.lllunologist 
practicing medicine in New York City. He held no degree in psycliia­
try, but was associated with research projects supported indirectly 
by the CIA. Gottlieb and Dr. Lashbrook both followed his work closely 
in the early 1950s.43 Since Olson needed medical help, they turned to 
Dr. Abramson as the doctor closest to 1Vashington who was experi­
enced with LSD and cleared by the CIA. 

Ruwet. Lashbrook, and Olson remained in New York for two days of 
consultations with Abramson. On Thursday, November 26, 1953, the 
three flew back to 'Vashington so that Olson could spend Thanksgiving 
with his family. En route from the airport Olson told Ruwet that he 
was e.fcaid to face his family. After a lengthy discussion! it wa::; de­
cided that Oison and Lashbrook would return to New York, n11d that 
Ruwet would go to Frederick to explain these events to :urs.. Olson." 

Lashbrook and Olson flew back to New York. the same day, again 
for consultations with Abramson. They spent Thursday night 1n a 
Long Island hotel and the next morning returned to the city with 
Abramson. In further discussions with Abram~on, it was agreed 
that Olson should be placed under regular psychiatric care at an 
institution closer to his home. n 

d. The Death.-Because they could not obtain air trn,nsportation for 
a return trip on Friday night, Lashbrook and Olson made reservations 
for Saturday morning and checked in.to the Statler Hotel. Between 
the time they checked 'in and 10 :00 p.m.; they watched television, 
visited the cocktail lounge, where each had two martinis, and dinner. 
According ~o Lashbrook, Olson "was cheerful and ~ppeared to enjoy 
the entertamment." He "appeared no longer partlc.ulary depressed, 
and almost the Dr. Olson I knew prior to the expenment." 4 • 

After dinner Las;hbrook and Olson watched television for about 
an hour, an.d at 11 :00, Olson suggested that they go to bed, saying that 
"he felt more relaxed ·and contented tha,n "he had since [they] came 
to New York." 41 Olsdn then left a call w'ith the hotel operator to wake 
them in the morning. At approximately 2:30 a~m~ Satu,rday, Novem· 
her 28, Lashbrook was awakened by a loud "crash of glass." In his 
report on the incident, he stated only that Olson "had crashed through 
the closed window blind and the cloSed ·window and· he fell to his death 
from the window of our room on the lOth floor." 48 

"Ibid., p. 4. . 
0 Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 1 . 
.. Staff summary ot Dr, Harold Abramson interview, 7/29/75, p. 2. 
"Lashbrook memorandum, 1217/:SS, p. 3. · 
" Abramson memorandum, 12/4/53. 
"Lashbrook memora.ndum, ·12/7/53, p. a. 
'

1 Ibid., p. 4 • 
.. Il!ld. 
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Immediately after finding that Olson had leapt to ·his death, Lash­
brook telephoned Gottlieb at his home and informed him of the in­
cident.n Gottlieb called Ruwet and informed him of Olson7

S death 
at approximately 2:45 a.m. 5° Lashbrook then called the hotel desk 
and reported the incident to the operator there. ·Lashbrook called 
Abramson and infonned him of the occurrence. Abramson told Lash­
brook he "wanted to be kept out of the thing completely," but later 
changed his mind and n~reed to assist Lnshbrook.51 

Shortly thereafter, umformed police officers and SOIIl;e hotel. e~­
ployees came to Lashbrook!s room. Lashbrook told the pollee he d1dn t 
know why Olson had corrunitted suicide, but he did knO\v that Olson 
"suffered from ulcers." 52 

e. The Aftermath.-Followin6 Dr. Olson's death, the CIA made 
a substantial effort to ensure thnt his family received death benefits, 
but did not notify the Olsons of the circumstances surrounding his 
demise. The _Agency also made considerable efforts to prevent the 
death being connected with the CIA, and supplied complete cover for 
Lashbrook so thnt his association with the CIA would remain a secret. 

After Dr. Olson's death the CIA conducted an internal investiga­
tion of the incident. As part of his responsibilities in this in\·estiga­
tion, the General Couns~l wrote the Inspector General, stating: 

I'm not hnppy with what seems to be a very casual attitude 
on the part of TSS representatives to the way this experi­
ment was conducted and the remarks that this is just one of 
the risks running with scientific experimentation. I do not 
eliminate the need for taking risks, but I do believe, espe­
cially when human health or life is at stake, that at least the 
prudent, reasonable measures which can be taken to mini­
mize the risk must be taken and failure to do so was culpable 
negligence. The actions of the various individuals concerned 

d after effects of the experiment on Dr. Olson became manifest 
also revealed the. failure to observe normal and reasonable 
precautions. 53 

· ;,.,':.' As a result of the investi~tion DC! Allen Dulles sent a personal 
1ctter to the Chief of Technical Onerations of the Technical Services 
'Staff who had approved the exp-eriment criticizing him for "poor 

. . judgment ... in authorizing the use of this drug on such an unwittint:( 
~ ~~- ,fibnsis and without p:oximn~e medical safeg~tards.~' ~-~_Dulles also sent 

·::f}a letter to Dr. Gottlieb, Ch1ef of the Chemical Division of the Tech-
·. -.~n'lcal Services Staff, cri.tici~ing him for recommending the "unwitting 
· ·. ~pplication of the drug" in that the proposal "did not give suffic.ient 

emphasis for medical collaboration and tor the proper consideration 
. ·:;:.of the rights of the individual to whom it ·was being-administered." 55 

.. 

. ; ' . ;. 7 • CIA Field Office Report,12/3/53, p. 3 . 
.. · • ,···. 

10 Ruwet :\Iemorandum, p. 11. 
,-_ .·· · ... :.f'A CIA Field Office-Report, 12/3/53, p. 3. 

0
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0

_;•-;';(. {:!orandum from t~e General Counsel to thexf~~ctor Gene;a~ 1/4/M. 
·.· ,.. ·;o;. ~ ~lemorandum from DCI to Chief, Te<>hnical tions, '.DSS, 2/12/5!. 
·. '~~ ' ·> -,• :Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, · '2/54... . .. 

'}. ~ 0 • 

•. . "l 

....... ·' .. 

- ] 

.. 

• 



• 

• 
. .. 

• 

79 

399 

The let.ters were hand carried to the individuals to be read and 
returned. Although the letters were critical, a note from the Deputy 
Director of Central Intelligence to l!r. Helms instructed him to in­
form the individuals that: •'These are not reprimands and no person­
nel file notation are being made." 511 

Thus, although the Rockefeller Commission has characterized them 
as such, these notes were explicitly not reprimands. Nor did participa­
tion in the events which led to Dr. Olson's death haYe any apparent 
effect on the advancement within the CIA of the individuals involved . 
3. The Surreptitio-us Administration of LSD to Unwitting No-n-

Volunteer Human Subjects by the 0 I A After the Death of Dr. 
Olson 

The death of Dr. Olson could be viewed, as some argued at the time, 
as a tragic accident, one of the risks inherent in the testing of new sub­
stances. It might be ar!!'lled. that LSD was thought to be benisn. 
After the death of Dr. 01son the dangers of the surreptitious admm· 
istration of LSD were clear, yet the CIA continued or initiated 57 a 
project involving the sul'reptitious administration of LSD to non­
volunteer human subjects. This program exposed numerous individuals 
in the United States to the risk of death or serious injury without their 
informed consent, without medical supervision, and without necessary 
follow-up to determine any long-term effects. . · 

Prior to the Olson experiment, the Direc~cr of Central Intelligence 
had .approved MKULTRA, a research program designed to develop 
a "capability in the covert use of biological and chemical agent 
materials.'' In the proposal describing l!KULTRA 1\!r. Helms, then 
ADDP, wrote the Director that: 

we intend to investigate the development of a chemical mate­
rial which causes a reversible non-toxic aberrant mental state, 
the specific nature of which can be reasonably well predicted 
for each individual. This material 'could potentially aid in 
discrediting individuals, eliciting information, and lmplant­
ing suggestions and other f~rms of mental control."· 

On February 12, 1954, the Director of the Central Intelligence 
Agency wrote TSS officials ..;riticizing them for "poor judgment" in 
ndmimstering LSD on "an unvritting basis and without proximate 
medical safeguards" to Dr. Olson and for the lack of "pro;per consid­
eration of the rights of the individual to whoin it was bemg admin­
istered." 59 On the same day, the Inspector General reviewed a report 
on Subproject Nmnber 3 o£ l-fi{ULTRA, in which the same TSS 
officers. wh<? had just received letters from the Directqr 'Were- quoted 
as st.atmg that one of the purposes of Subproject N~ber 3 was to 

.. Note from DDCI"to Richard Helms, 2/13/54. · .: 
11 The 1963 IG Report, which described the project involving the surreptitious 

administration. ot LSD, placed the project beginning in 1955. Other CIA docu· 
ments reveal that it was in existence as early as February 1954. ,'~'he CI'A ha~ 
told the Committee that the project began ln 1953 and that the experiment which 
led to Dr. Olson's death was part of the project. . ·.,. · ,· . 

.. ~!emorandum from A.'DDP items to DOI Dnlles, 4/3/53, tab A, p. 2. 
• llemorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, 2/12/54; and memorandum from . 

DCI to Chlef ot-Opera.tlons, TSS, 2/12/54. 
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"observe the behavior- of unwitting persons being questioned after 
having been given a drug." eo There is no evidence that Subproject 
Number 3 was terminated even though these officers were uneqmvo­
cally aware of the dangers of the surreptitious administration of LSD 
and the necessity of obtaining informed consent and providing medical 
safeguards. Subproject Number 3, in fact, used methods which showed 
even less concern than did the OLSON e-xperiment for the safety and 
security of the participants. Yet the evidence indicates the project 
continued until1963. 61 

In the project, the individual conducting the test might make 
initial contact with a prospective subject selected at random in a bar. 
I!e wouid then invite the person to a "safehouse" where the test drug 
was administered to the subject through drink or in food. CIA per­
sonnel might debrief the indindual conducting the test, or observe 
the test by using a one-way mirror and tape recorder in an adjoining 
room. 

Prior consent was obviously not obtained from any of the subjects. 
There was also, obviously, no medical prescreening. In addition, the 
tests were conducted by indi\.ri.duals w·ho were not qualified scientific 
observ-ers. There were no medical personnel on hand eit.het· to admin­
ister the drugs or to 'Observe their effects, and no follow-up was con­
ducted on the test subjects. 

As the Inspector General noted in 1963: 
A significant limitation on the effectiveness of such testing is 
the infeasibility of performing scientific observation of re­
sults. The [indnri.duals conducting the test] are not qualified 
scientific observers. Their subjects are seldom accessible be­
yond the first hours of the test. The testing may be useful in 
perfectin~ delivery techniques, and in identifying surface 
characteristics of onset, reaction, attribution, and side-effect. 62 

This was particularly trouble..c:;ome as in a 
number of instances, ... the test subject. has become ill for 
hours or days, including hospitalization in at lenst one case, 
and the agent could only follow up by guarded inquiry 
after tihe test subject's return to normal life. Possible sickness 
an.d attendant economic loss are inherent contingent effects 
of the testing. n 

Paradoxically, greater care seems to :have been taken for the safety 
of foreigt1 nationals against whom LSD was used abroad. In several 
cases medical examinations were performed prior to the use of LSD. a. 

., :Memorandum: .to Inspector General from Chief, Inspection and Review, on 
Subproject #3 of MKULTRA, 2/10/54. 

Cl IG Report on 1\IKULTRA, 1963. 
u Ibid., p. 12. · 
ea lbi(l. According to the IG's survey ln 1963, physicians associated with 

MKULTRA could be made avallable in an emergency . 
.. The Technic.,_l Services Division which was responsible for the operational 

use of LSD abroad took the position that "no physical examination of the subject 
is required prior to atl.Iqlnlstration of "[LSD] by TSS traJ~?-ed personnel. A physi-

~· 
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:Moreover, the administration ahroa.d was marked by constant obser­
\·ation made possible because the material wes 'being used S-z:,«ainst 
prisoners of foreign intelligence or security organizations. Finally., 
during certain of the LSD int~rrogations abroad, local physicians 
wem on call, though these physicians nad h·ad no experience with LSD 
and would not be told that hallucinogens h;d been administered.65 

The CIA's project involving the surrept~tOus administration of 
LSD to unwitting human subjects in the United States was finally 
halted in 1963, as a result of its discovery during the course of an 
Inspector General survey of the Technical Sen"ices Division. '\Vhen 
the Inspactor General learned of the project, he spoke to the Deputy 
Director for Plans, who agreed that the Director should be briefed. 
The DDP made it clear that the DCI and his Deputy were generally 
familiar w.ith MICUL TR. \. H~ indicated, however, that he. was not 
sure it was necessary to brief the DDCI at that point. 

On 1\fay 24,1063, the DDP advised the Inspector General that he had 
briefed the Director on the ~IKULTRA program and in particular 
had cov~reJ. the question of the surreptitious administration of LSD 
to unwitting humua subjects. According to the Inspector General, the 
DDP said that "the Dire!!tor indic..a.ted no disagreement and therefore 
the 'testing' will continue."'' 

One copy of an "Eyes Only" draft report on !\IKULTRA was 
prepared by the Inspector General who recommended the termination 
of the sun-eptit1ous administration project. The prc,ject was suspended 
following the Inspector General's report. 

On December 17, 1963, Deputy Director for PJans Helms wrote a 
memo to the DDCt who with the Inspector General and the Executive 
Director-Comptroller had opposed the covert testing. He noted two 
aspects of the problem: ( 1) "lor· O\'cr a decade the Clandestine Serv­
ices has had the mis.c;ion of maintaining a capability for influencing 
human behavior;" and (2) "testing arrangements in futtherance of 
this mission should be as operationally realistic and yet as controllable 
as possible." Hc1ms argued t.hat the mdividuals must be "unwitting" 
as this "·as "the only realistic method of maintaininll the capability, 
considering the intended operational use of materials to influence 
human behavior as the operational targets will certo.inly be unwitting . 
Should the subjects of the testing not oo unwitting, the program would 
only bn "pro fonna" resulting in u. "fo.lse sense of accomplishment and 
rcaainess."., Helms oontinuia: 

clan uHd not be present. Tt:lere Ia no danger medically In the use ot thls material 
aa handled by TSS tr3lned ~nonaeL.,. Tbe omce ot ~led leal Sen· lees had taken 
the posltlon that LSD wa• *'medically dangerous." Both the Otflce of Security 
and tbe Otftee ot Medical Senlcee arrued that LSD "should not be administered 
unless preceded by a medieal t>GmltuJdoa. ••• and should be o.dminlstered only 
b)· or In the Pl?!leUC'e of a pb.r~~olclu who had studied U. and Its efrect. .. (llemo­
n.ndum trom .Tamt>t~ Aucletou, Cbiet, Counterintelligence Stotl' to Chief of Opero 
atlons. 12/12/51. pp. 1-2. 

1111 PhJ'tlldaM might be ealled with tbe hope that they would make a diagnosis 
ot m8tat breakdown whlcb would be useful in dtseredlUng tbe lndlvldual who 
"'u tbt~ 81Jbject of the CIA.lntt'rest. 

•Memorandum for the Ret..~rd prepared by the Inspector General. 5/15/63, p. 1 . 
.., l&IL.p.2. 
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If one grants the validity of the mission of maintaining this 
unusual capability and t.he necessity for unwitting testing, 
there is only t.hen the question of how best to do it. Obviously, 
the testing should be conducted in such a manner as to permit 
the opportunity to observe the results of the administration 
on the target. It also goes without saying that whatever test­
ing arrangement we adopt must afford maximum safe~uards 
for the protection of the A~ency's role in this nctiv1ty, as 
'veil as minimizing the possibility of physical or emotional 
damage .,o the individual tested.68 

In another memo to the Director of Central Intelligence in June, 
1964-, Helms again raised the issue of unwitting testing. At !hat time 
General Carter, then acting DCI, approved several changes in the 
l\IKULTRA program proposed by 1\Ir. Helms as a result of negotia­
tions bet,,een the Inspector General and the DDP. In a handwritten 
note, however, Director Carter added that "unwitting testing will be 
subject to a separate decision." 611 

No specific decision was made then or soon after. The testing had 
been halted and, according to '\Valter Elder, Executive Assistant to 
DCI ~IcCone, the DCI was not inclined to take the positive step of 
authorizing a resumption of the testing. At least through the summer, 
the DDP did not press the issue. On November 9, 1964, the DDP, 
raised the issue again in a memo to the DCI, callincr the Director's 
attention to what he described as "several other indications during 
the past year of an appa.r~nt Soviet aggressiveness in the field of 
covertly administered chemicals 'vhich are, to say the least, inexplic-
able and disturbing." ro . 

Helms noted that because of the suspension of covert testing, the 
Agency's "positive operational capability to use dru~s is diminishing, 
owing to a lack of realistic testing. \Vith increasing ~no,Yledge of the 
state of the art, we are less capable of staying up with Soviet adYances 
in this field. This in turn results in a waning- capability on our patt 
to restrain others in the intelligence community (such as the Depart­
ment of Defense)' from pursuing operations in this area." n 

· IIelms attributed the cessation of the unwitting testing to the high 
risk of embarrassment to the Agency as well as the "moral problem." 
He noted that no better covert situation had been devised than that 
which had been· used, and that ~'we have no answer to the moral 
issue." 12 · 

Helms asked for either resumption of the testing project or its defini­
tive cancE>llation. He argued that the status quo of n research and de­
velopnlent program without a realistic testing program was causing 
the Ai!encv to live "with the illusion of a capability which is becoming 
minimal ai1d furthermore is expensive.'' 73 Once again no formal action 
'vas taken in response to the Hdms' request . 

. • l!emorandum from DDP Helms to DbCI Carter, 12/17/63 . 
..,liemorandtim from DDP Helms to DCI, 6/9/64, p. 3. 
N Ibid., 11/9/64, p. 1. . 
n Ibid., pp, 1-2. 
11 Ibid., p. 2. 
Ta Jb(d. 
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From its beginning in the early 1950's until its termination in 1963, 
the program of surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non~ 
volunteer human subjects demonstrates a failure of the CIA's leader­
ship to pay adequate attention to the rights of individuals and to pro­
vide effective guidance to CIA employees. Though it was known that 
the testing was dangerous: the lives of subjects were placed in jeop­
ardy and their rights were ignored during the ten years of tt~sting 
which followed Dr. Olson's death. Although it was clear that the laws 
of the United States were being vlolated, the testing continued. "While 
the individuals involved in the Olson experiment were admonished 
by the Director, at the same time they \vere also told that they were 
not being reprimanded and that their "bad judgment" would not be 
made part of their personnel records. When the covert testing project 
was terminated in 1963, none of the individuals involved were subject 
to any dJsciplinary action. 
4. 1llonitoring and Control of the Teating and Uae orohemical and 

Biological Agenta by the 0 I A 
The Select Committee found numerous failures in the monitoring 

and control of the testing and use of chemical and 'biological agents 
within the CIA.74 An analvsis of the failures can be divided into four 
sections: (a) the \tai ver o~f noLnal regulationc;; or requirements; (b) 
t.he problems in authorization procedures; (c) the failure of internal 
review mechanisms su~h as the Office of General Counsel, the Inspector 
General, and the Audit Staff~ and (d) the effect of compartmentation 
and competition within the CIA. 

a. The Waive1• of Administrative Oontrols.-The internal controls 
within any agency rest on·: ( 1) clear and coherent regulations; (2) 
clear lines oi authority; and (3) clear rewards for those who conduct 
themselv-es in accord with agency regulations and understandable and 
immediate sanctions against those who do not. In the case of the test­
ing and use of chemical and bio]oCTical agents, normal CIA adminis­
trative controls '\vere waived. The destruction of the documents on the 
largest CIA frogram in this area constituted a prominent example of 
the waiver o normal Agency procedures by the Director. 

These documents were destroyed in early 1973 at the order of then 
DCI Richard ·Helms. According to Helms, Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, then 
Director of TSD: 

••. came to me and said that he was retiring and that I was 
retiring and he thought it would be a good 1dea if these files 
were destroyed. And I also believe part of the reason for 
our thinking this was advisa·ble was there had been relation­
ships with outsiders in government agencies and other orga­
nizations and that these would be sensitive in this kind of a 
thing but that since the program was over and finished and 
done with, we thought we would just get rid of the files as 

7* Section 2{9) ot S. Res. 21 instructs the Committee to examine: the .. extent 
to which United States intelligence agencies are governed by Executive Orders, 
rules, or regulations either publlsht;l or secret!' 
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well, so that a:nybody who assisted us in the past would not 
hf: subject to follow-up or questions, embarrassment; if you 
wilL'~'s 

The destruction was based on a waiver of an internal CIA regula­
tion, CSI 70-10, which regulated the "retirement of inactive records." 
As Thomas Karamessines, then Deputy Director of Plans, wrote in 
regulation CSI-70-10: "Retirement is not a matter of convenience ·or 
of storage but of con:3cious judgment in the ·applic.a.tion of the rules 
modified by knowledge of individual component needs. The heart of 
this judgment is to ensure that the complete sto~--y can be reconstructed 
in later years and by people who may be unfamiliar with the events." 78 

The destruction of the }.fKULTRA documents made it impossible 
for the Select Committee to determine the full ran~e and extent of the 
largest CIA research program involving chem1cal and biological 
ag-ents. The destruction also pre\rented the CIA from locating and pro­
VIding medical assistance to the individuals who were subjects in the 
program. Finally, it prevented the Committee from determining the 
full e.&:t.ent of the operations which made use of materials developed in 
the ~IKULTRA program.7r 

From the inception of ~fKULTRA normal Agency procedures were 
waived. In 1953, 1.-fr. Helms, then Assistant Dei2uty Director for Plans, 
proposed the establishment of 1\IKULTRA. 'under the proposal six 
percent of the research and development budget of TSD would be 
expended "without the establishment of formal contractual relations" 
because contracts would reveal government interest. Helms also voted 
that qualified individuals in the field "are most reluctant to enter. into 
signed agreements of any sort which connect them with this activity 
since such a connection would jeopardize their professional reputa-

n Richard Helms testimony, 9/11/75, p. 5. . 
·Many Agency documents recording confidential relationships with individuals 

and organizations are retained without public disclosure. lloreov-er. in the case of 
!IIKULTRA. the CIA bad spent millions of dollars developing both materials and 
deliv-ery systems wbtch could be used by the Clandestine Services; the reconstruc· 
tion of the research and development program would be dimcult if not impos· 
sible, without the documents, and at least one assistant to Dr. Gottlieb protested 
against the document" destruction on those grounds. 

15 Clandestine Servi~ Institution (CSI) 7Q-10. When asked by the Select 
Comnlittee about the regularity "f the procedure by which be authorized Dr. 
Gottlieb to destroy the l\II\:ULTRA records, .Helms responded: 

"Well, that's hard to say whether it ""ould be part of the regular procedure or 
uot, because the record destruction program is condUcted according to a certain 
pattern. There's a regular record destruction pattern in the Agency monitored by 
ce1tain people and done a certain way. So that anything outside of that, I suppose, 
would haYe been unusual. In other words, there were documents being destroyed 
because somebody had raised this specific issue rather. than because they were 
encompassed in the ~egular records destruction program. So I think the nus'\\·er 
to your question is prpbably yes." (Helms testimony, 9/11/75, p. 6.) 

r. Even prior to the destruction of docum~nts, the :!'!IKULTRA records w~re far 
from complete. As the Inspector General noted In 1003: 

"F!les are notably incomplete, poorly organized, and lacking in evalua.t1Ye state· 
ments that might give perspecth·e to management policies O\'er time. A substan· 
tial portion of the liKULTRA record appears to rest in the memories of the prin­

.. clpal officers and Is therefore almost certain to be lost with their departures.'' 
(IG Report on MKULTRA, p. 23.) . 
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~ions".111 Other Agency procedures, i.e., the forwarding of documents 
m support of invoices and the provision for regular audit procedures, 
were also to be waived. On April 13, 1953, then DCI Allen DulJes 
approved .MXULTRA, noting that security considerations precluded 
handling the proj.ect th.rough usual contractual agreements. 

Ten years later mvest1gat1ons of ltfKULTRA by both the Ins~ctor 
General and the Audit Staff noted substantial deficiencies which re­
sult~ from the waivers. Because TSD had not reserved the right to 
aud1t the books of contractors in :MKULTRA, the CIA had been 
unable to verify the use of Agency grants by a contractor. Another 
firm had failed to establish controls and sn.feguards which would as­
sure "proper accountability" in use of government funds with the 
result that "funds have been used for purposes not contemplated by 
grants or a_.llowable under usual contract relationship." 19 The entire 
~IKULTRA arrangement was condemned for having administrative 
lines which were unclear, overly permissh·e controls, and irrespon· 
sible supervision. 

The head of the Audit Branch noted that inspections and audits: 
led us to see :i\IKULTRA as :frequently having provided a 
device to escape normal administrative controls for research 
that is not especially sensitive, as having allowed practices 
that produce gross administrative failures. as having per­
mitted the establishment of special relationships with unreli­
·able organizations on an unacceptable basis, and as having 
produced, on n.t least one ocl'!asion, n.cavnlier treatment of a 
bona fide contracting organization. 

'\Vhile admitting that there may be a need for !'pecial mechanisms 
for handling- sensitive projects, the Chief of the Audit Branch wrote 
that 'fboth the terms of reference and the ground rules for handling 
such special projects should be spelled out in ad,yance so that diver.:. 
sion from normal channels does not mean abandonment of <}ontrols. 

Special procedures may be necessary to ensure the security of highlj 
sensitive operations. To prevent the erosion of normal internal con· 
trol mechanisms, such waivers should not be extended to less sensitive 
operations. lt.foreon~r, only those re~ulations which. would endan~er 
security should be waived; to waive regulations genera.Hy would 
result in highly sensitive and controversial projects having looser 
rather than stricter ndministmtive controls. lt!KN AO:\II, the Fort 
Det.rick CIA project for research and development of chemical and 
biological agents, provides another example where efforts to protect 
the security of agency activties overwhelmed administrath·e controls. 
· Xo written records of the transfer of agents such a.s anthrax or shell-

1 fish toxin were kept, "because of·the sensitivity of the area and the·· 
desire. to keep any possible use of materials like this recordless." 81 The 

,. Memorandum from ADDP Helms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab. A, p. 2. 
"'Memorandum trom IG to Chief, TSD, 11/8/63, as quoted in memorandum 

from Chief. Audit Branch. 
• The memorandum suggested that administrative exeluslons, ·beeause ot the 

Importance of such decisions, should require the personal approval of the Deputy 
Director ot Central Intelligence on an l~nalvidunl ease basis. Present CIA pollc:Y 
is that only the DCI can a"Uthorlze certain exemptions from regulations. 

n Sidne)• GottUeb testlm'ony. 10/18/15, Hearings, Vol. 1, p. 51. 
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result was that the Agency had no way of determinin~ what mate­
rialswere on hand, and could not be certain whether dehYery syst-ems 
such as dart guns, or deadlv substances such as cobra venom had been 
issued to the field. " . 

b. Authorizaticrn.-The destruction of the documents regarding 
MKULTRA made it difficult to determine at what level specific proj­
ects in the program were authorized. This problem is not solely a re­
sult of the document destruction, holrever. Even at the height of 
~.!KULTRA the IG noted that, P-t least with respect to the surrepti­
tious administration of LSD, the "present practice is to maintain no 
records of the planning and approval of test programs." 82 

\Vhile it is clear that Allen Dulles aut.horiZOO. ~fK'L'"LTRA, the rec­
ord is unclear as to ivho authorized SJ?ecific pro~cts such as that in­
volving the surreptitious administrat10n of LSD to qmvitting non~ 
volunteer human subjects. E\>en given the sensitive and controversial 
nature of the project, there is no evidence that when John ~IcCone 
replaced Allen Dulles as the Director of the Central Intelligence 
Agency he was briefed on the details of this project and asked whether 
it should be continued.83 Even during the 1963 discussions on the pro­
priety of unwitting testing, the DDP questioned whether it was "neces­
sary to brief General Carter," the Deputy Direct.or of Central Intelli­
gence and the Director~s "alter ago," because CIA officers felt it neces­
sary w keep details of the project restricted to an absolute minimum 
number of people.M 

In 1fay of 1963, DDP Helms told the Inspector General that the 
coYert testing program ivas authorized because he had gone to the 
Director, briefed him on it and "the Director indicated no disagree­
ment and therefore the testing will continue." 8 ~ Such authorization 
~ven for noncontroversial matters is clearly less desirable than ex­
plicit authorization; in areas such as the surreptitious administration 
of drugs, it is particularly undesirable. Yet according to testimony 

t:~ IG Report on llt!KULTRA, 1963, !'· !4. 
a A.cco!"ding to an assistant to Dr. Gottlle!.>, there were annual briefings of the 

DCI and the DDP on MKULTRA by the Chier o! TSD or his deputy. However, a 
liay 15, 1963 !lfemorandum for the Record from tht> Inspector General noted that 
:\Ir. l!cCone had not been briefed in detail about the r-rogram. Mr. McCone's Exec­
utive Officer, Walter Elder, testified that lt was "perte<.:!tly apparent to me" that 
neither :Ur. McCone nor General Carter, then the DDCI, was a\'\·are of the sur­
reptitious administration project ••or l! they bad -been briefed they had not under­
stood It." (Elder, 12/18/75. p. 13.) Mr. McCone testified that he "did not know" 
whether he talked to anyone about the project but that no one had told him about 
Jt In a way that "would ha-re turned on all the l!ghts." (John :\IcCone testimony, 
Zi3!16, p. 10.) . 

"According to Elder's testimony, "no Deputy Director, to m:r knowledge, 
bas ever been briefed or was it ever thought necessary to brief them to the extent 
to which you would brief the Director." 

11 IG Memorandum for the Record. 6/15/63. 
On the question of authorization of the covert testing program, Elder testified 

as follows: 
"Btlt my reasonable judgment ls that this was considered to be in the area of 

continuing approval, having once been appro>ed by the Director!' 
The theory ot authorization cnrrylng over from one administration to tbe next 

~eems particularly Inappropriate for less visible, highly sensitive operations 
which, unless brought to bls attention by subordinates, would not come to the 
attention of the Director. 
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before the Committee, authorization through lack of agreement ·is 
even more prevulent in sensitive situations.66 

The unauthorized retention of shellfish toxin by Dr. Nathan Go:rdon 
and his subordinates; in violation of a Presidential Directive, may have 
resulted from the failure of the Director to issue written instructions to 
Agency officials. The retention was not authorized by senior officials in 
the Agency. The Director, ~fr. Helms, haO. instructed :M:r. Karames­
sines, the Dep·1ty Director of Plans, and Dr. Gottlieb, the Chief of 
Technical Services Division, to relinqui&h control to the Army of any 
chemical or biological agents being retained for the CIA at J:i'ort De­
trick. Dr. Gottlieb passed this instruction on to Dr. Gordon. 'Vhile 
orders may be disregarded in any organization, one of the reasons that 
Dr. Gordon used to defend the retention was the fact that he had not 
receiYed written instructions forbidding it.87 

In some situations the existence of written instructions did not pre­
vent una.utho.rized actions. According to an investigation by the CIA's 
Inspector General TSD officers had been informed orally tluzt 1.l! r. 
Hel·1n.s ,.,.·as to be "advised at all times" when LSD was to be used. In 
addition TSD had received a memo advising the staff that LSD \vas 
not to be used without the permission of the DDP, Frank '\Visner. The 
experiment involving Dr. Olson went ahead without notification of 
either ~fr. \Visner or ~ft.- Helms. The absence of clear and immediate 
punishment for that act must undercut the .force of other internal in­
structions and regulations. 

One last, issue must be raised about authorization procedures within 
the Agency. Chemical agents were used abr()ad until 1959 for dis­
creditmg or disabling operations, or for the pu:tpose of interrogations 
with the approval of the Chief of Operations of the DDP. Later the 
approval of the· Deputy Director for Plans was required for such 
operations. Although t.lie medica.! staff sought to be part of the ap­
proval process for these operations, they were excluded because, as the 
Inspector General wrote in 1957: 

O~rational determinations are· the responsibility of , the 
DD/P and it is he who should advise the DCI in these 
respects just as it is he who is re~onsible for the results. It 
is completely unrealistic to consider assigning to the Chief, 
1\Iedical Staff, (what, in effect, would be authority over dan­
des~ine operations.) 88 

Given tlle expertise and training of physicians, participation of the 
~:Iedical Staff might well have been useful. . . 

Questions about authorization also exist in regard to those agencies 
which assisted the CIA. For instance, the project involving the sur­
reptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-volunteer human 
subjects was conducted in coordination with the Bureau of Narcotics 
and Dangerous Drugs. There is .some .q~estion as to the Commissioner 
of Narcotics' knowledge about the proJect. . · 

. - .•. ... 

• Mr. Elder. was asked whether the ptocess ot brlriging forward:a description of 
actions by the Agency In getting approval through the absence ot disagreement 
was 11 common one. He responded, .. It was not uncommon .•• ·• The more sensitive 
the project the more likely ·it would lean toward being a common practice, based 
on the need to keep the wr·ltten record to a minimum!' . 

.,. Nathan Gordan testimony; 9116/75, Hearings. Vol. 1. 
• 1957 IG Reoort. . 
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In 1963, the Inspector General noted that the head of the BNDD 
had been briefed about the ,p,roject, but the IG's report did not indi­
cate the level of detail prov1ded to him. Dr. Gottlieb testified that "I 
remember meeting :Mr. Anslinger and had the general feeling that he 
was aware." 89 Another CIA officer did not recall any discussion of 
testing on un-.":itting subjects when he and Dr. Gottlieb met with Com­
missioner Anslinger. 

In a memorandum for the record in 1967 Dr. Gottlieb stated that 
Harry Giordano, who replaced ~Ir. Anslinger, told Dr. Gottlieb that 
when he became Commissioner he was "only generally briefed on the 
arrangements, gave it his general blessing, and said he didn't want to 
know the details." The same memorandum states, however;that there 
were several comments which indicated .to Dr. Gottlieb that lir. Gior­
dano was aware of the substance of the project. It is possible that 
the Commissioner provided a general authonzation for the arrange­
ment without understanding 'vhat it entailed or considering its pro­
priety. A reluctance to seek detailed information from the CIA, and 
the CI.A.'s hesitancy to volunteer it, has been found in a nwnber of 
instances during the Select Committee's investigations .. This problem 
is not confined to the executive branch but has also marked congres-
sional relationships with the Agency. · 

c. Internal Review.-The wa.i\ter of regulations and the absence of 
documentation make it difficult to determine now who authorized 
which activities. :More importantly, they made internal Agency review 
mechanisms much less e1fective.9° Controversial and highly sensitive 
projects which should have.been subject to the most rigorous inspection 
lacked effective internal review. 

Given the role of the General Counsel and his reaction to the sur­
reptitious administration of LSD to Dr. Olson, it would have seemed 
likely that he would be usked about the legality or propriety of any 
subsequent projects involving such administration. This was not done. 
He did not learn about this testing until the 1970's. Nor was the Gen­
eral Counsel's opinion sought op other l\IKULTRA projects, -though 
these had been characterized by the Inspector General in the 1957 
Report on TSD as "unethical and illicit." 91 

There is no mention in the report of the 1957 Inspector General's 
survey of TSD of the project involving the surreptitious administra­
tion of LSD. That proJect was apparently not brought to the attention 
of the survey team. The Inspector who' discovered it during the IG's 
1963 survey of TSD recalls coming upon evidence of it inad\•ertently, 

• Gottlieb, 10/18/75, p. 28. 
10 .Tb~ IG's !eport on :M:KULTRA In 1968 stated: 
"The orJglnal charter documents SilecUied that TSD maintain exacting con­

trol of MKULTRA a:ctlvltles. In so doing, however, TSD hn.s pursued a phi­
losophy or minimum documentation In keeping with the high sensitidty of some 
of the projects. Some tiles were found to present a reasonably complete record, 
Including most sensitive matters, while others with parallel objectf>es contained 
llttle or no data at all. The lack of consistent records precluded use of routine 
inspection procedures and raised a variety of questions concerning manage-
ment and fiscal controls." · · · 

• 
11 

CIA. Inspector General's repol't on TSD, 1957, p. ~11. 
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rather than its having been called to his attention as an especially 
sensitive project.92 . . 

Thus both the General Counsel and the Inspector General, the prin­
cipal internal mechanisms for the control of possibly improper action.-;, 
,..,.ere excluded from regular reviews of the project. '\Vhen the project 
was discovered the Executive Director-Comptroller voiced strong op­
position to it; it is possible that the project would have been termi­
nated in 1957 if it had been called to his attention when he then served 
us Inspector General. 

The Audit Staff, which also serves an internal review function 
through the examination of Agency expenditures, a.lso encountered 
substantial difficulty with ~IKULTRA. lVhen l\IKULTRA was first 
proposed the Audit Staff was to be excluded from any function. This 
was soon changed. IIowever, the waiver of normal "contractual pro­
cedures" in ~IKULTRA increased the likelihood of "irregular.ities" 
as well as the difficulty in detecting them. The head of the Audit 
Branch characterized the l\lKULTRA procedures as "having allowed 
practices that produced gross administrative failures," including a 
lack of controls within outside contractors ·which would "assure proper 
accountability in use of government funds." It also diminished the 
CIA's capacity to verify the accountings provided by outside firms. 

d. Oompartmentatwn and Juri8dictirmal Oonflict Within the 
Agen.cy.-As has been noted, the testing and use of chemical and 
biological agents '}·as treated as a highly sensitive activity within the 
CIA. This resulted in a high degree of ccmpartmentntion. At the same 
time substantial jurisdictiOnal conflict existed within the A~ency he­
tween the Technical Services Division, and the Office of :Medical Sen'-
ices and the Office of Security. . 

This compartmentation ru1d jurisdictional conflict may well have 
led to du:phcation of effort within the CIA and to Agency policy-
makers bemg deprived of useful information. · 

During the early 1950's first the BLUEBIRD Committee and then 
the ARTICHOKE Committee were instituted to bring together rep­
resentatives of the Agency components which had a legitimate inter­
est in the area of the alteration of human behavior. By 1957 both these 
committees had fallen into disuse. No information went to the Tech­
nical Services Division (a component S\!PJ>oSedly represented on the 
ARTICHOKE Committee) aoout ARTICHOKE operations being 
conducted ·by the Office of Security and the Office of 1\!edical Sen-ices. 
The Technical Services Division whi~h was providing support to the 
Clandesti.ne Services in the use of chemical and biological a~ents, but 
provided little or no information to either the Office of Security or the 
Office of :M:edical Services~-As one TSD officer involved in these pro­
grams testified: "Although we were acquainted, we certainly diQ.n't 
share experiences.?' 9' 

. " Even after the Inspector ·came upon 1t the IG did not perform a complete 
lnv~tfg_atlon ot it. It was discovered at the end ot an extensive survey of TSD · 
and the Inspector was in the process of being transferred to another post witbln · 
the Agency. . . . ' · · · · · · 
. n Testimonr. of CIA officer, 11/21175, p. 14 . 
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QKHILLTOP, another group designed to coordinate researc.h in 
this area also had little success. The group met infrequently-onl.}' 
t~ ice a year-a~d little specific information was exchnnged.94 

Concern over security obviously played some role in the failure tO 
share information,95 but this appears not to be the only reason. A TSD 
officer stated that the Office of .Medical Services simply wasn't "par­
ticularly interested in what we were doing" and never sought such 
information.96 On the other hand, a representative of the Office of 
:Medical Services consistently sought to have medical personnel par­
ticipate in the use of chemical and biological agents suggested that 
TSD did not inform the Office of .Medical Services in order to pre­
vent their involvement. 

Jurisdictional conflict was constant in thls area. The Office of 
Security, which bad been assigned responsibility for direction of 
ARTICHOKE, consistently sought to bring TSD operations in· 
volving psychochemicals under the ARTICHOKE umbrella. The 
Office of Medical Services sought to have 01\IS physicians advise and 
participate in the operational use of drugs. As the Inspector Gen­
eral described it. in 1957, "the bnsic issue is concerned with the extent 
of authority that should be exercised by the Chief, :Medical Staff, over 
the activities of TSD which encroach upon or enter into the medical 
field," and which are conducted by TSD "without seeking the prior 
approval of the Chief, :Medical S~'lff, and often without informing 
him of their nature and extent." 97 

As was noted previously, because the projects and programs of 
TSD stemmed directly from operational needs controlled by the 
DDP, the IG recommended no further supervision of these activi­
ties by the ~fedicnl Staff: 

It is completely unrealistic to consider assigning to the 
Chief, :Medical Staff, what, in effect, would be authority over 
clandestine operations. FurtherrMre, some of the activitit!8 
of Ohen'ltical Division are not o·nly unorthodox bv..t unethical 
and· sometimes illegal. 1'he /) D P is i·n a bette1· 7;ositio·n to 
evaluate the ju,.!tificatiou for .<iuah operati01l8 tlta.n tl1e Oltief, 
11/edical Staff.'J8 [Emphasis add.ed.] 

Because the ndvice of .the Director of Security 'vas needed for 
"evaluating the risks involved"' in the programs and becnuse the 
knowledge that the CIA was "euga~ing in unethical and illicit activi­
ties would have serious repercussiOns in political and diplomatic 
circles/' the IG recommended that the Director of Security be fully 
nd vised of 1.'SD's activities in these areas. . 

Even after t.he Inspector General's Report of 1957, the compnttmell· 
tn.tion and jurisdictional conflict continued. They may have had a sub-

,. The oue set· of. minutes from n QKHIJ,LTOP meeting indi(:1lfE"<1 that lndh·i<l· 
unls in the Oftlce of lledicnl Ser--.jces stre-ssed the need tor more contact. 

"'W'hen nsked wbr informtttion o.n the snrrei.titious admlnb;trntion of r.sn 
wns not prese1ited to tlle ARTICHOKE coutmittce, Dz:. Gottlieb re:;;pom~f'd: "I 
lmugtne tht> only .renson would ha\'e bee-n n conct•ru fur bron(lening the aware-
ness of Its existence.'' • 

"CIA uttiN•t, 11/21!75, }1. U. · 
17 IG Mnr\·~·y of 'l'~J), 19G7, p. 217. 
"'Ibid. . 

.. 

l 
j 

j 

'1 .. 

.. -J . 

'l . ~ 

~ 
;_J 

~ 
~ 

"·j 
;"':-

] 
~ 

·, 

c 

,' ~ 

~ 

J 



... 

91 

411 

stantialnegative impact on policymaking in the A15ency. As the Dep­
uty Chief of the Counterintelligence Staff noted m 1958, due to the 
different positions taken by TSS, the Office of Security, and the Office 
of :Medical Services on the use of chemical or biological agents, it was 
possible that the individual who authorized the use of a chemical or 
biological agent could be presented with "incomplete facts upon which 
to make a decision relevant to its use." Even a committee set up by the 
DDP in 1958 to attempt to rationalize Agency policy did not have ac­
cess to records of testin~ and use. This was due, in part, to excessive 
.compartmentation, and JUrisdictional conflict. · 

C'. CovEnT TESTING ox Hc~IAN SuBJECTS BY l\fiLITARY INTELLIGENCE 
Gnours: MATERIAL TESTING PnooRAl\.r EA 1729, PRoJECT THIRD 
CHANGE, AND PROJECT DERBY HAT . 

EA 1729 is the cle5ignator used in the Army drug testing program 
for I:n:eqdc acid diethylamide (LSD). Interest in LSD was originally 
aroused at the Army's Chemical ""arfnre Laboratories by open litera­
ture on the unusual effects of the compound.99 The positive intelli­
gence and counterintelligence potential envisioned for compounds like 
LSD, and suspected Soviet interest in such materials,t00 supported the 
dC'\·elopment of an American military capability and resulted in ex­
periments conducted jointly by the U.S. Army Intelligence Board and 
the Chemical \Varfare Laboratories. 

These experirneots, designed to evaluate potentiaJ intelligence uses 
of LSD. were known collectively as "~fn.terial TE:'sting ProgTam EA 
1729." Two projects of particular interest conducted as part of these 
experiments, "THIRD CHANCE" and "DERBY HAT", involved 
the ndministrati"on of LSD to unwitting subjects in Europe and the 
Fni· East. 

In many respects, the Army's testing progTams duplic.'l.ted research 
which had already been conducted by the CIA. They certainly invo]ved 
thC' risks inherent in the early phases of drul! testing. In the Army's 
tests, as with those of the CIA, individual rights were elso subordi­
nated to national security considerations; informed consent and follow­
up examinations of subjects were neglected in efforts to maintain the 
secrecy of the tests~ Finally, the command and control problems which 
were aJ)parcnt in the CIA's programs are paralleled bv a lack of clear 
authorization and super,·ision in the Army's programs. 

"USAI:STC fltatf !>tudy, .. Material Testing Program, EA 1729," 10/15/59, p. 4. 
100 This snme U~AIXTC ~tudy cited "A 1952 (se,·eral years prior to initial U.S. 

intereflt in J.SJ).,.25) report that the So\"lets purchased a large quantity o! I.-SD-25 
from the· Sandoz Company ln 1951, reputed to be sufficient !or 50 mlllion doses." 
(Ibid., p. '16.) . . 

. Generally accepted Soviet·methods and counterintelligence concerns were also 
strong moth·attng factors In the inltlntlon of this research: 

"A 11rlmnr:r justlficntlon for fiE>ld experlmE>ntntiori in inteiUgence with EA 1729 
i!i! th~ couuter-intEC>lligE>nce or (lefense impll<-ntlon. We know that the EC>nem;v phi· 
ioHOJlli~· condoneR any kind of e~rclon or \*iolence for intelligence purpo1o;es. There 
L~ proof that his tnteiUgenc~ ~o:t>rvice hns nsed drugs In the past. There is strong 
e\•idence of keen interest in EA 1720 hy him. It for no other purpose fhan ~o know 
'''hat to expl>ct frmnenemr intelligence m;;e of tbe matE'rinland to, thus, hE' pre­
Imred to coJmter lt. field _xperlmeqtntlon. is justified ... (lbirl, p. 34) 
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Between 1955 and 1958 research was initiated by the Army Chemical 
Corps to evaluate the potential for LSD as a chemical warfare inca­
paCitating agent. In the course of this research, LSD was administered 
to more thnn 1.000 American \'olunteers who then participated in a 
series of tests designed to ascertain the effects of tho drug on their 
ability to function as soldiers. \Vith the exception of one set of tests 
nt Forl Bragg, these and subsequent laboratory experiments to evalu· 
ate chemical warfare potential were conducted at the Army Chemical 
'Varfare Laboratories, Edgewood, }.faryland. 

In 1958 a new se.r:ies of laboratory tests were initiated at Edgewood. 
These experiments were conducted as the initial phase of Material 
Testing Program EA. 1729 to evaluate the intelligence potential of 
LSD, and included LSD tests on 95 volunteers.101 As part of these 
tests, three structured experiments were conducted: . 

1. LSD was administered surreptitiously at a simulated 
social reception to volunteer subjects who were una.,vare of 
the purpose or nature of the tests in which they were 
participating; · 

2. LSD was administered to volu!lteors who were subse­
quently polygraphed; and 

3. LSD was administered to volunteers who were then 
confined to "isolation chambers". 

These structured experiments were designed to evaluate the validity 
of the traditional security tn:dning n 11 subjects had undergone in the 
face of unconventional, drug enhanced, interrogations. 

At the conclusion of the laboratory test phase of :!\.faterial Testing 
Program EA 1729 in 1960, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for 
Intelligence (ACSI) authorized. operational field testing of LSD. 'l'he 
first field tests were conducted in Europe by an Army Spechll Pur­
pose Team (SPT) during the period from 1fny to August of 191::il. 
These tests were· known as Project THIRD CHANCE and hn-oh·cd 
e]e,·en separate interrogations of ten subjects, None of the snbje~ts 
were vohmtcers and none were aware that they \T"ere to receive 
LSD. All but one subject, a U.S. soldier implicated in the theft of 
classified documents, were alleged to be foreign intelligence sources 
or agents. 'Yhile interrogations of these individnn.ls were only moder­
ately successful, nt least one subject (the U.S. soldier) exhibited 
symptoms of severe parnnoin 'vhile under the influence of t.he drug. 

The second series of field tests, Project DERBY HAT, were con~ 
ductrl'd by an Army SPT in the Far East during the period 
from :Au~ust to No,·ember of 1962. SE>,·en subjects were intenogated 
under DERBY H~\T, nil of whom were foreign nationals either sm;~ 
pect('d of dealing in narcotics or· implicated in foreign inte1ligence 
operation!". The purpose of this second set of experiments was to col· 
lcct additional data on the uti1ity of r ..... c:;D in field interrogations, nnd 
to m·alunte any differ(.lnt effects the drug might hnYe on "0rientn1s.~~ 
-...----~- •" 

lOl Inspector Gt>neornl of the Army neport. "rse of Yolnnteoers in C'heomical Agf'nt 
Rl'!':t•nrC'h," !l/10/76. p. 13ft 
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£. Inadequate Coordination A·m.-<>ng Intelligence A.gencie.tJ 
On October 15, 1959, the U.S. Anny Intelligence Center prepared 

lengthy staff study on ~fa.te.rial Testing Program EA.1729. The stated 
purpose of the staff study was: "to determine the desirability of EA 
1729 on non-US subjects m selected actual operations under controlled 
conditions.102 It was on the basis of this study that operational field 
tests were later conducted. · 

After noting that the Chemical 'Varfare Laboratories began experi­
ments with LSD on humans in 1955 and had administered the drug 
to over 1,000 volunteers, the "background" section of the study 
concluded: 

There has not been a single case of residual ill effect. Stndy 
of the prolific scientific literature on LSD-25 and personal 
communication between US Army Chemical Corps person­
nel and other researchers in this field have failed to disclose 
an authenticated instance of irreversible change being pro­
duced in normal humans by the drug.103 

This conclusion was reached despite an awareness that there -vere 
inherent medical dangers in such experimentation. In the body of this 
snme study it is noted that: 

The view ha,s been expressed that EA 1729 is a potentially 
dangerous drug, whose pl1armaceutical aetions are not fully 
understood and there has been cited the possibility of the 
continua•~.:e of a chemically induced psychosis in chronic· 
form, particularly if a latent schizophrenic were a subject, 
with consequent claim or representation against the U.S. 
Government.104 

An attempt was made to minimize potential medical hazards by care­
ful selection of subjects prior to field tests. Rejecting evidence that 
the dn1g might he hazardous, the study continued: 

The claim of possible pennanent damage cau~d by EA 1729 
is an unproven hypothesis bnsed en the characteristic effect 
of the material. \Vhile. the added stress of a real situation 
may increase the probability of pennanent adverse ·effect, 
the resulting riJJk is deemed to be slight by the medical re~ 
search peraonMl of the Ohemical Warfare· Labora~orle.'f. To 
prevent even such a sli2'ht risk, the proposed plan for field 
experimentation co.lls for overt, if possible~ or contrived- . 
through-ruse, if necessary, physi<>a.l and mental examination 
of !lny real situation subject prior to employment of the 
snb]ect.106_ 

This c.onclusion was drawn six years after one d~th had occurred 
which could be attributed. at least in part~· to ·tlie effec'ts of the 
very dntg the Anny was proposing to field test~ The FSAINTC stn.tr, 
howeve-1•. was api>arent.lv unaware of. the circumstances snrround­
in~r· Dr. Olson's death. This 1nck of knowledge is indicative of t-he 

: lT~AINTC Ata·tf Rtudy. "lfate-rlal T~ting Pr~grnm EA 1729.'' 10/15/59, p ..•. 
Ibid., p. 4. . . 

"'Ibid., p. 2:>. . 
1

1\'S Ibid • . . 
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genem l J.;ck of jnterngency communicntion on drug relnted r~~ear.ch. 
As the October W5V stndy noted, "there hns been no coor<tUHl.tlon 
with other inteHigt>.nce ngenci<.•s "P to the present." toa 

On De-cember 7, 1959, the Army .Assistnnt Chief of Stnff for Intelli· 
gence (ACSI, nppnr<>nt1y a Gent'I-nl \Yi1lems) was briefed on the 
propose<l opcmtionnlnsC'. of LSD by FSAINTC Project Officer Jacob­
son, in p1·epnrntion for ProjC'ct. TJIIRD CHANCE. Genct·a:l ""illems 
C'Xpressed concern thnt. the project hn<lnot been coordinntcd with the 
ltBI nml the C'I .-\..He is qnot{'d ns saYiug "thnt if this project. is goin~ 
to he worth nnJihin;:r it [LSDl should be nsc>d on hi;:rhcr tvpes of 
non-{~.S. subjects" in oth<'l' wor(Is ''stnlf<:'l'S." He indicnted thfs conlcl 
be nccomplished if the. CIA were brought in. The snmmnry of tlw 
hl'i<'fin;:r prepared by n )fnjor ::\IehoYsky continues: "Of p::u·ticular note 
is thnt .\C'SI di<l not direct ,·oor<lination with CIA and the FBI but 
only ml'ntione<l it. for consideration by the planners.~' 10

' 

.:\ftl'r the ln·iC'fing. fonr colonels~ two lieut<"nnnt colonels nml Jlnjor 
:\,f<'ho,·sky 111<:>t to discuss intl't·ngl'llQ' coopC>ration with CTA nnd ~BI. 
1 h0 group consensus 'Wns to postpone efforts tO\nu·d coordinnt10n: 

Lt. CoL .Tncobson commentNl thnt before W<' coordinnte with 
C'I.\ "'"should hnn• more fnctnal findin{..J'S from field expcri· 
m<>ntntion with cmmtedntelligenc<' cazes that will strcnf,rthen 
our position nn<l proposal for cooperntion. This nppronch 
wos ngreed to by the confer.e;:s.10

" 

I fa<l such coordination bel'll nchi<:>vNl, th~ safety of these experiments 
mi;:rht hn ,.e been. viewed di tferent ly nnd thl' t<"sts t h<'msch·es might 
hnve been seen ns unnc<'essnry . 
.1. Subo}'(lination of lnrlil'idzwl Riglds to ATational Secu.rity Oonsid~ 

erationa 
.Tnst ns many of t hPse expHiments mny ha ,.e been unneccssnry, the 

nntm·o of the operational tests (polv~rnph·nssistcd intcn·ogations of 
<lrnggcd suspects) reflects n bn:;;i<' ~disregard for the fundnm{'ntnl 
human rights of the subjects. The interrogation of an .\.mericnu 
soldier as pn1't of the THIRD CH.\XCE 19Gl tests is nn exnmple of 
this disregard.. . · 

Tho "trip ~·cporf' for P1·oject THIRD CH.AXCE, <luted Septem­
bet· 6, Hl61, recmmts th~ drcumstnnces smTOUIHling and the results of 
the tests as foHo\\·s: · 

[The subject) wns n U.S. soldier who had confessed to theft 
of clus.<;ified documents. Com·entionnl methods had fnilcd to 
ascertain whetherespionnge intent wns involved. A significant 
new udmission by subject thnt he t.old a fellow soldier of the 
theft whi1e·hc still had the .documents in his possession wns 
obtni~ed durino- the EA.1729 intenogation nlon~ with otl1ei· 
\"atriations .. of· Suhjl•ct's· p~do~s account. The intel'l·ogu.t ion 

· results \\"ere .deemed b)' the locaJ ope.rntiorinl authority 'satis­
factory e,·i~le~1ce of Subject's claim of innocence. in regard to 

· espionugc iiltl"nt.10$ 

•rwd .. p.·6. · 
m llehovf-lky Fnct Sheet. 12/9/60, p. 1. 
lGII Jbfd., p. 2. 0 ,. 
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The subject apparently reacted verv strongly to the drug, and the 
interro~t10n, while productive, .was difficult. The trip report 
conducted: · 

(1) This case demonstrated the ubility to interrogate a 
subject profitably throughout a highly sustained and almost 
incapacitating reaction toEA 1729. · 

(2) The apparent value of bringing a subject into the EA 
1729 situation in a highly stressed stu.te was indicated. 

( 3) The usefulness of employing as a duress factor the de· 
vice of inviting the subject's attention to his EA 1720-
influenced state .and threatening to extend this state in­
definitely even to a permanent coudition of insanity, or to 
bring it to an end at the discretion of the interrogators was 
shown to be effective. 

(4) The need for preplnnncd precautions against extreme 
paranoiac reaction to E.A. 1729 \Vas indicated. 

(5) It was brought to attention by this case that where sub­
ject has undergone extended intensive interrogation prior to 
the EA 1729 episode and has persisted in a version repeatedly 
dul'ing conve:ntionnl interrocrntion, adherence to the same ver­
sion while under EA 1729 inffuenc~. howe\·er extreme the reac­
tion, may not necessarily be evidence of truth but merely the 
ability to adhere to a well rehearsed story.110 

This strong reaction to the drug and the accompnnyin~ discomfort 
this indh·idual suffered were exploited by the use of traditional inter­
rogation techniques. 'Vhile there is no evidence that physical violence 
or torture were employed in connection with this interrogation, physi­
cal and psychological techniques were used in the THIRD CHANCE 
ex.Periments to exploit the subjects~ altered mental state, and to maxi­
mize the stress situation. Jacob:son described these methods in his trip 
report: · 

Stressing· techniques employed included silent treatment be­
fore or after EA 1729 administt·ation, sustained conventional 
interrogation prior toEA 1729 interrogation, deprivation of 
food, drink, sleep or bodily evacuation, sustained. isolation 
prior to EA 1729 administration, ltot-cold switches in ap­
proach, duress "pitches", verbal degradation and bodily dis­
comfolt, or dramatized threats to subject's life or 1uental 
health.U1 . . . 

Another gross vio1ution of an individual's fundamental ri~hts oc­
curred in· September 1962 as part of the Army's DERBY HAT tests 
in the Far East. A suspected Asian espionarre agent was given 6 
micrograms of J.,SD per kilogram of bodywcigftt. The administration 
of the clt·ug wns completed nt 1035 that morning: 

At 1120, sweating became evident, his pulse became thready. 
He was placed in n supine position. He began groaning \Yith 
expiration and became semicomatose.112 

110 Ibld., pp. 17-18. 
tn Ibid., p. 13. 
u.s .. DERBY HAT" Yedlcal.and Pharmacological Report: Case #1, 9/20/62.· 

p. D1Q-2. · . 
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For the next 28 minutes, the st~bject remained S'7mi~omatose. 
At 1148, responses to painful stimuli w!!-re slightly improved .. 
At 1155, he was helped to a sitting position. · ___ . 
At 1200, he became shocky again and was returned to snpme 

position. ' 
At 1212, he was more alert and able to sit up ·with help: . · 

·At 1220, Subject was assisted to the i~terrogation table. 
A~ 1230, he be~n moaning he wR-nted to. die and \,lSUa-Ily 

1gnored questions. Rarely he stated "he didn't know." 
}tt 1250, his phasic alertness persisted. He frequently re­
. focnse$1 his eyes with eyelid assistance. He frequently threw 
·his head back with eves closed. 

At 1330, he was slighti'y more nlel't. He was forced-walked for 
5 mimtf('S. He ph:rsicnlly would coopernte until he became 
sho.;ky ngnin ( sw~ating;thready pulse, pale) .113 

For the n<>xt three hours the subject remained in about the same con­
dition. Continued attempts at .interrogation yielded no relevant 
ans\Yers. Six hours after. receiving the drug, the subject began giving 
rcle,·n.nt answers to qtt('stions. Eight and one-half hours after the 
initial dosage, the subject was polygrnphed. The interrogation con­
tinued for seventeen arid one-half hours after the drug was ad-
ministered. -

There was some psychological and medical screening of· the in­
dividuals f(\ste<l within the United Stat('s~ in Enrop(', nnd in 
Asia. The proposal for the field experimentation in fact called for 
such ~xnminations. l'he fact of prescreening did not eliminate the 
riRk ·of injury; the availability of 111edical staff :did~ ·ho\vever, limit . 
inju.ry and mny well !1av(\. prevEmted the death of one or. more of th_e 
snbJects. As the merhcnl corps member of the team which surrepb­
t.ion~ly ndmini.stered the LSP noted, "one subject ... did collapse after 
the mterro~at10n and 'tll(' presence of the medical officer was not only 
of value to the subject bnt to the interrogation team who were t,hus 
assured that an unnecessary untoward r(\sult would not occur.:'' 1 u 

In the October 15, 1959\.USAINTC staff· study, moral and legal 
ramifications of co,·eit administrntion of LSD in field conditions were 
considered. · · 

It was always n tenet. of AI1ny Intelligence that the basic 
An'ler·icnn principle of the dignitv and welfare of the ln­
dh·idtial will not be ,·io1ated ..•. A more mt>ticulous regard 
for the prohibition ag-ainst vio1cmce or duress is taken in 
practice when the suspect is a US citizen or ally as against · 
an achto.l or potential <>nemy, in pence as against war, and in 
l'el?pect. to the nattu·<> of the crime •.•• In inte.UiJ!ence, the 
stak<'s -hwolvNl .and the int€'rests of national security may 
pemtit a more tolN-nnt interpretation of mornl-:-ethical 'Talues, 
but not. legal limits, throup;h . necessity. . .• Any claim 

ua : · · ~ · · · 
Ibul., p. Dl0-3. . 

~~~ RPT Tri11 RPport, Opt>ratlon THIRn CHANCE, 7/2a/6l, p.l. 
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against the us· Go,·ernment for alleged injury due to ~A 
1729 must be legally &hown to ha,·e been due to the material. 
Proper security and appropriate operational techniques 
can protect the fact of employment of EA 1729.116 

On the basis of this eva.luation, the st t!dy concluded that in view of 
"the stnkes involved and the interests of national security," the pro­
po;;d plan for_fi~ld testing~houl~ be approved. . _ . · . · · 

J.he surreptitious ndmmtstrabon of drugs to unwitting subJects by 
th~ Army raises serious coiistitutional and legnl issue.c;. The considera­
tion giv('n these issues by the: Army wns wholly insufficient .. The char­
acter of the Army's volunteer testing program and the possibility that 
drugs \rere simplv substituted for other forms of.violence or duress in 
field iJiterrogatioi1s rnises serious doubts as to '"·hether national se­
curity imperatives were properly interpreted. The "consent" forms 
which each American volunteer signed prior to the adn1inistration of 
LSD are n case in point. These forms contained no mention of the 
medical and psychological risks inherent in such testing, nor do they 
mention the nature of the psychotrophic drug to be administered:.· 

The general nature of the experiments in which I hnve 
volunteered. hnve been explained to me from the standpoint 
of j1'i,.:;sib1~ haz:trds to ·my he~lth. It i., my underatandi11g thnt 
the cxpenm£·::r . .: nre so des1gned, bnsed ·on the results of 
nniihnls and }H'l~\·ious human experimentation, that the antic­
izJated resultJJ ·will justify tlu perfoNnance of tlte e::cperi· 
ment. I understand further thnt experiments will be so con­
ducted as to n\·oid all unneressni)" physical and ·medical 
suffering and intury, and tlult f 1.v-ill be at liberty to request 

. that tlu; experiments be terrnirwtetl at any time if in my opin­
ion 1 ba,·e reached the physicnl or mentnl state where con­
tinuation of the experiments ·becomes undesirable. 

I 1•ecognize tlwt in the pursuit of certnin experiments 
tran.titory discomfort may occur. I recognize. also, thnt under 
these circumstances, I mu.'lt 'rely upon tl1e skill and 1.visdom 
of the physician aupert,iaing the e:eperimcnt to institute what­
ever medical or surgicnl measures arc indi-cated. [:Emphasis 
added.] 1111 · 

The exclusion of any specific discussion of the nature of LSD in 
these forms t·nises serious douh~s as to their validity. An "unclerstand­
i.ng ..• tho.t the anticipated results will justjfy the pcrfonnnnce of 

·the experiment" without fu11 knowledge of the nnturc of the cxperi­
meiit is an incomplete "unde1-stnnding." Similnl'ly, the nature of the 
experiment Jimited tl1e ability of both the subject to request its re­
quest. its termination.and the experimenter to implement such a request. 
Finally, the euphemist.ic characterization of ''transitory discoll}f_?rt" 
nnd the agreement to "rely on the skill and wif:;dom of the phystcJan" 
combine to conceal inherent risks in the experimentation and mny be 
\·iewed as disolving the experimenter of personal responsibi1ity for 
dnmnging aftereffects. In summary, a "volunteer" program in \vhich 
subjects nre not fully informt'cl of potential hnznrds to their persons 
is '.',·olunteer~' in nnme only. · : 

Ul USAI!\"'TC etf.fr study. ''llaterlal Testing Program EA 1129,"10/15/59, p. 26. 
,._ Sample volunteer consent form. 
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This problem was compounded by the security statements signed 
by each volunteer before he participated in the .testing. As part ·of 
this statement, pot~ntial subjects ngreed that they would: 

•.. n.ot divulge or make available any information related 
to U.S. Army Intelligence Center interest-.or partidpation in 
the Department of the Army lfedical Research Volunteer 
Program to any individual, nation, organization, business, 
assooia:tion, or ?ther gr~up or entity, not officially authorized 
to recetve such mformatlon. . · 

I understand that any action contrary to the provisi.ons of 
this statement will render me liable to pwlishment .under the 
provisions of the. Uniform Code of Jrlilitary Justice.119 

Under these provisions; a volunteer expcriendng aftereffects oj: the test 
might have ·been unable to seek immediate medical assistance. 

This disreg:ud for the well-being of subjects drug tcstil1g is in· 
excusable. Further, the absence· of any comprehensive long-.term 
medical assistance for the subjects of these experiments is not only 
unscientific; it is also un p1·ofess10nal. 
4. Lack of N ~ Autlwrizati<:rn and SupervWon 

It is apparent from documents supplied to the Committee that the 
.~rmy's test~ng programs otten operated under inf?rmal and nonrou­
tme a.ut4.ortzatton. Potent1a:lly dangerous operat10ns . such a~ t.hese 
testing pro~rams are the very projet!ts which ought to be subJect to 
the closest mternal scrutiny at the highest levels of the milita.ry ~om­
mand structure. There are numerous ~~xnmples of inadequate review, 
partial consideration, and incompletE'; approval in the administration 
of these programs. . · · 

When the first Army program to use LSD on American soldiers in 
"field stations" was authorized in 1\!ny 1955, the Army violated its 
own procedures in obta.ining approval...Under Army Chief of Stn.ff 
1\!emoran'dum 385, such prcposa]s were to he personally approved by 
the Secretary of the Anny. Although the p·Jan was submitted to him 
on April 26, 1956, the Secretary issued no. written authoriznti.on fol' 
the project, and there is no eVIdence that he either reyiewed or ap­
proved the plan. Less than a month later, the Anny Chief of Staff 
issued a memorandum authorizing the tests.120 

S\lbsequent ~sting of· LSD under l!uterinl Testing Program EA 
1729 opern~ed gener~lly 1.,mdcr this authorization. 'Vhen the plans for 
tllis testing ~e~ originally discu~d in .e~rly 1958 by officials. of Ute 
Army In!eJhgence Center at F~r;t Holabu'Cl. nnd repr~sentahves of 
the Chcmtcn.l 'Varfare Center nt Edgewood Arsennl, an Informal pro­
posal '"·as formulated: This pro~l 'vas submitted to the :Medic-al 
~e~rch Dh~tOrate a~ ·EdgewOOd. by t.h~ ~resid~nt of the Army In­
telhge~ce Boai'd on, June 3, ~958. There·ts no evt.dencc that the pJn~ 
was approved ut nny JeYel h~gher than the P~estdcnt of the I~te1h­
gence Bo.ard p1• the Cominandmg General of Edgewood. The approval 
.at: Edge\~~ ~ppea~ to have been iss~ed. py tl1e Conuu~nder's ·Adj n­
tant. The !t[¢dtcal Researc-h Laboratot'tes dtd not. subm1t thP plnn to 
the Sur~n. General for nppro\'nl' {a standard pt'occdure) &:cause 

1 
.. S;tmple Volunteter Securlty Sta.tement. • , . 

- In111pector General of the Army Report;· ''Use of Volunteers ·In ChPinicnl 
AI!'Pnt R...-nrtoh.'' 3/10/'fR. n. 109. · ' · ,: · ·· 
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the new program was ostensibly covered by the authorizations granted 
in ~Iay 1956.nl . · 

The two projects -involving the operational use of LSD (THIRD 
CHANCE and DERBY HAT) were apparently approved by the, 
Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence {General \Villems) on 
December 7, 1960.1'22 This verbal approval came in the course of a 
briefin~ on previo_:us drug program~ and on the plan.ned .field experi­
mentatiOn. There 1s no record of wntten approval bemg tssued by the 
ACSI to authorize these specific projects until January 1961, and 

. there is no record of any specific kriowledge or appro,tal by the Secre­
tary of the Army. 

On February 4, ·1963, :Major General C. F. Leonard, Army ACSI, 
forwarded o. copy of the THIRD CHANCE Trip Report to Anny 
Chief of Staff, General Earl 'Vheeler. ua 'Vheeler had apparently 
requested· a copy on February 2. The report was routed through a Gen­
eral Hamlett. 'Vhile this report included background on the origins 
of the LSD tests, it appears that General "'\Vheeler ms.y only have read 
the conclusion and recommendations.124 T~1.e office memorandum 
accompanying the Trip Report bears 'Vheeler's initials.115 

· 

5. Termination of Teatin_g 
On April 10, 1963, a .briefing was held .in the ACSI's office on the 

results of Projects THIRD CHANCE and DERBY HAT. Both 
SPT's concluded that more field testing was required before LSD 
could be -utilized as an integral aid to counterintelligence interroga· 
tions. During the presentation of the DERBY HAT results, General 
Leonard (Deputy ACSI) dirtrlP...d thp.t no further field testing be 
undert.aken.128 After this meeting the ACSI sent a letter to the Com· 
manding General of the Army Combat Developments Command 
(CDC) requesting that he review THIRD CHANCE and DERBY 
HAT H.Ild "make a net evaluation concerning the adoption of EA 1729 
for future use as an effective and profitable aid in counterintelligence 
interrogations." 121 On the same day the ACSI requested. that the CDC 
Commander revise regulution FM 30-17 to Tead in part: 

. . . in no instance will drugs be used as an aid to interro­
gations in counterintelligence or security operations without 
priOI," pemnssion of the Department of the Army .. Requests 
to use drugs ss an investigative aid will be forwa;rded through 
inte11igcmce channels to the OACSI, DA, for approval. .•. 

lfedical research has established that informa.tiQn obtained 
through t}te use of these drugs is unreliable and invalid. .•• 

It 1s oonsidered that DA [Anny] approval must be & pre· 
requisite for use of such drugs because of the moral, legal, 
medical and political problems inherent in their use for intel-

. ligence purposes.ua-

m Ibid., pp. '135, 187,188. 
~:~ Mebovu,. Fact Sheet, 12/9/60. 
"' llemorandum fro.:n I..eonard to Wheeler. 2/4/63. 
1
" SGS memorandum to Wheeler through Hamlett. 2/5/GS. 

1
• Ibid 

: liaJ.'F. Barnett, memorandum for the record~ 8/12/63 • 
•• Ynrua1d memorandum for the record. 7/16/63.. · 

Ibid; ' ,_ • 



100 

420 

The subsequent adoption of this reguJ~tiori marked the effective ter-
mination of field testing of LSD by the Army. · 

The official te.nnina.tion date of the-se testing programs is ra.ther 
~clear, but a. later ACSI memojn<.lica.tes that it may hav~ occurred 
111 September of 1963. On the 19th of that month a. meeti~ was held 
between Dr. Van Sims (Edgewood Arsenal), :Major Clov1s (Chemi­
cal Re..~rch Laboratory), ~nd . ACSI representatives (General 
Deholm and Colonel Sch.qlidt). "As a result of this confei-ence a. deter­
mination was made to suspend the program and any further activity 
pending a more profitable and suitable use." 12" · 

D. Coot.;RATION AND Co.ltPETITION AMoNo THE I:.sTELLIGENCE CoM-
:P.lUNITY AGEXCIES AND BETWEEN THESE AGENCIES AXD OTHER 

. IXDIHDU~\LS AXD INSTITUTIONS 

1. Relatiorultips A17W1lg AgericieJJ lVithin the Intelligence Community 
Relationships among intelligence community agencies in this area 

varied considerably over time, ranging from full cooperntim'l to in ten~ 
and wasteful competition. The early period was marked by a high 
degree of cooperation among the agencies of the intelligence commu­
nity. Although the military dominated research involving chemical 
and biologic!ll agents, the information de,·eloped wa·s shared \Yith the 
FBI and the CIA. But the spirit of cooperation did not continue. The 
failure by the military to share information apparently breached the . 
spirit, if not the letter, of commands from above. · 

As noted above, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence 
was briefed on the proposed operational testing of LSD under Project 
THIRD CHANCE, and expressed concern· that the project had not 
been coordinated with FBI and CIA. Despite this request, no coordi­
nation was achieved between the Army and either of these agencies. 
Had such cooperation been forthcoming, this project may have been. 
e\·aluated in a different. light. ·· · · 

The comP.etition between the agencies in this area reached bizarre 
]evels. A mtlitary officer told a CIA representative in confidence about 
the military~s field testing of LSD in Europe under Project THIRD 
CHANCE, and t.he CIA promptly attempted to learn surreptitiously 
the nature nnd extent of the program. At roughly the. sar:ne time llr . 

. Helms argued to the DDCI that the unwitting testing program should 
be continued, as it contributed·to the CIA's capability in the nrea and 
thus nllO\\"'Cd the CIA "to restrain others in t~e intelligence community 
(such a~ t!te J?epartmcnt of Defense) from pitrsuing operations.~~ 13

' 

The l!I\.NAO:MI program \\"'as ttlso marked by a failure to share 
info~~atio1i .. T~e Arm:y ~~cial Forces· (!he principal custom~r of the 
Sp~cutJ.Ope~~lons.Dn'ISJOn at F?rt Dtetn~k) and the ~IA rather 
than attemptmg to coordmate thetr efforts pr~:unulgated different re­
quirem~nts which varied only slightly. Th1s apparently resulted in 
some duplication of effort. In order to insure the .. security ·of CIA 
operations, the Agency would request materials from SOD fot· opera­
tlonnl use \\"'ithou.t fully or accurately describing the operational 
requirements. This resulted in limitations on SOD's ability to assist 
the CIA. . 

u. Undated ASCI memom:ndurit. \>. 2. . 
!.JII :Uemornndum from the DDP to the DCI, 11/9/&1, v. 2. 

'_1 . ~ . 
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B. RelatitYMhipa Between the .Intelligence Oom..mu:~ii.ty Age·n.ciea and 
ForeignLiai.8onService.B _ 

The subjects of the CIA's operationul testing of chemical and bio­
logical ng<'nts abroad were generally being held for interrogation by 
foreign intelligence or security organizations. Although information 
abont the use of drugs was generally withheld from these organiza­
tions, cooperation with them necessarily jeopardized the security of 
CIA interest in these materials. Cooperation also placed the American 
Government in a. position of complicity in actions which violated the. 
rights of the subjects, and which may have violated the laws of the 
country in which the experiments took place. 

Cooperation between the intelligence agencies and organizations in 
foreign countries was not limited to relationships with the intelligence 
or internal security organizations. Some ~fK'CLTR..:\. research was 
conducted abroad. 'Vhile this is~ in. itself,-not a questionable practice, 
it is important that such research abroad not be undertaken to evade 
.A111erican laws. That this was a possibility is suggested by an .lliTI­
CHOICE memorandum in which it is noted that working with the 
scientists of a foreign country ;;might be very advantageous" ::ince 
that government "permitted certain activities which were not per· 
m!tted by the United States government (i.e., experiments on anthrax, 
etc.)." 131 

3. The Relatio11ahipa Between the Intelligence 00'TTI.-mum'ty Agencie.s 
and Other Agencie8 of the U.S. Government 

C€-rtain U.S. government agencies actively assisted the efforts of 
int€'1ligcnce agencies in this area. One form of assistance was to pro­
vide "cover" for research contracts let by intelligence agencies, in 
ordH to· disguise intelligence community interest in chemical and 
biological agents. . . 

Other forms of assistance raise more serious questions. Although 
the C!.\.'s project involving the surreptitious administration of LSD 
was conducted by Bureau of Narcotics personnel, there was no open 
conn~tion l:x!twet>.n the Bureau personnel and the Agency. The Bureau 
was ser\·ing a..;; a. "cut.out" in order to make it difficult to trace Ag('ncy. 
participation. The cut-out arrangement, however, reduced the CIA's 
ability ·t~ control the program. The .Agency could not control the 
process by which subjects were selected and culthrated, and could not 
regulate follow-up after the testing. ~foreo\•er, a.s the CIA's Ins~tor 
General noted: "the handlin~ of test subjects in the last analysis rests 
with the [Bureau of Narcot-Ics] agent worh.-ing alone. Suppression of 

· h."Tlmrledgc:· of critical results from ·the top CIA management is an 
inherent risK: in th~ operations!.' 132 Th~ arrangement also made it 
impossible ·f9r the Agency· to be certain that the decision to end the 
surreptitious a'dministration of LSD would be honored by the Bureau 
personnel~ · · . 

The arrnngemeot with the. Burenu of Narcotics was described a.s 
"informal/' 133. The informality of the arrangement compounded the 
problem is o.ggravated by the fact thn.t the 40 Committee has bad vir-... 

u 1 ARTICHOKE l!emorandum, 6/13/G2. 
1:0 IG Rt>port on liKULTRA. 1003, p. 14. . 
111 !bitt, This \V8.S taken by one Agenc:y oflidal to mean that the~ would be 110 

WTitten contrnct and no formal.meebo.nism for pa)'1Il.en~. (Elder, 12/18/75, p. 31.) 
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apparent unwillingness on the part of the Bureau's leadership to .ask 
for details, and the CIA's hesitation in volunteering infonnatH:~n. 
These problems raise serious questions of command and contrfJl withm 
the Bureau. 

4- Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Agencies and 
Other Institutiona and Individuols, Public and PrbJate 

The Inspector.· General's 1963 . ..Sun·ey of 1\~KUI..~TR.A noted 
that "the research and development" phase was conducted through 
s~anding arranget;tents with "specialists _in lfnh:ersities, ph3;rmaceu~ 
tical houses, hospitals, state and federal mst1tutlons, and pr1vate re­
search organizations!' in a manner which concealed "from the institu­
tion the interests of the CIA." Only a few "key individuals" in each 
institution w~re "made '"itting of Ageney sponsorship." The research 
and de\·eloJ?ment ohase was succeeded by a pha.se involving "phy­
sicians~ toxicologists, and other specialists in mr..mtal, narcotics, and 
general hospitals and prisons~ who are provided the products and 
findings of the basic research projects and proceed with intensh·e test­
ing on human subjects." 1 u 

According to the Inspector General, the ~fK1JLTRA testing pro­
grams were "conducted under accepted scientific procedures ... 
where health permits, test subjects are voluntary participants in the 
programs." 135 This "·as clearly not true in the project involving the 
surreptitious administration of LSD~ which was marked by a com­
p]ete lack of screening, medical supen·ision, opportunity to observe. or 
medical or psychological follow-up. 

The intelligence agencies allowed individual researchers to design 
th('ir project. Experiments sponsored by these researchers (which in­
cluded one where narcotics addicts were sent to Lexingtq.n, Kentucky, 
who were. rewarded with the dru:! of their add!<::!tion in return for 
participation in experiments with LSD) call into question the deci­
~ion by the a,g-cncies not tb fix guidelines for the experiments. 

The- ~nrur.~TRA research and development program raises other 
questions, as well. It is not cleat· whether individuals in prisons, mental, 
narcotics a1l.d general hospitals cnn. provide ''informed cQnsent" to 
participation iP experiments such us-these. There is doubt as to w~ether 
institutions should be unwitting of the ultimate sponsor o~ 1.·esearch 
being done in their faci1ities. The nature of the arrangements also 
made it impossible for the individuals who were 1iot awat'f. of the, 
sponsor of the research .to exercise any choice, ~bout their part-icipa-
tion based on the sponsoring orgnnizution. - . 

Although greater precautions nre :now being taken in r~se~-rch con· 
ducted on behalf of the intellip:enc-c:community ns:reucies, the dilemma 
of classification remains. These a:;t('ncies obviom;ly .wishE-d to conceal 
their inte>rest in certain forms of research in order to avoid stimulating 
interest in the same areas by hostile ~tovernments. In som~ cases today 
contractors or researchers wish to conceal their. comiect.ion with the5e'. 
a-gencies. Yet the fact of classification pre,·ents open discussion and 
debate upon which schol_nrly \-rork depends. 

• •. J,M lliitl. p. 9. 
,,._Ibid. p. 10. 
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APPENDiX B 

DOCU~!ENTS REFERRING TO DISCOVERY OF ADDI­
TIONAL ~1KULTRA ~!ATERIAL 

·, ZZ June l9i7 
' ·. 

!'~~·: ....... ~~:···~;4.~>~~ .•. ·.·h· .. ?.··· •• ; ..... ."· .• ~.-~,-- : . .,. ':·: •;,;~ .· ... ::.: .· ·;.:· -'!-;~· "; ....... : •• ~·-.:--.:::.:~-~~ •• . • • :·. - - . . .... ' . : . . . . . ,_ ... '.:.<:.-::·. . . : ... ,-.;. . :. 
-.. ,. iiE}.tORA .. \tDIDI FOR: · Deputy Direc.tor ·of Cent-ral,· Intelligenc.e :_ . 

.. ·.·~~;···.•~;,:,':.*·~r.:.··.":! .• · . . :~_.:•:· ~.:·.~ ...... ". ~-~~~: .~ .. ·~-~·.·.-.~.·r•":.~:: :··-~.:'· .::;:,..; .· ···:·· 
THROUGH ;. .. · ·_ : Deputy Directo-r for Science and Jcchnolos:-· 

. ~::·. =~.:·. .:~ . ~ ... · .. ~ •. ..:..:~·:··:· ·.·:!···: .·:·. ::::~··,·~·-·.=··.::}.··: 

SUBJECT ·Request for "Guidance on Handling . : 
. Recently Loca'ted !>U.:ULTR.:\ tlaterial · ·· 

" ,. 
· ··1. (U/ AIUO) This nernorandu::t is to ad\"isc you that 

additional ~lKULTR.~ docut:tents ha\·e been discovered and to 
obtain ~our approval for follo~·on ac'tiuns required. 
Paragrnph 7 contains a -reco::t::tended course of action. 

) 2. (U/ AIUO) As a result. of John narks FOIA re­
quest (F-76·.374), all of the 2-IKULTRA material in OTS 
poss,ssion ~as revieved for possible release to him. 
·Follotdng that reviet>, the OTS ~ate-rial in the Retired 
Records Center was searched. It was during that latter 
search that the subproject files t\ere ·located anong 1:he. 
retired records of the OTS Budget and Fiscal Sect'iun. 
These files were-not discovered earlier as the earlie~ 
sea,rches ''e-re lir.tited to the ·examination of the_active 
and retire~ records of those branches considered most : 
likely to have generated or have had access t.!:> J.IKULTR.-\ · 
documents. Those branches included: Chd.mistr)• •· · 
Biological;· Behavioral Activities, and Contract's J.lanagc­
ment. Because D-r. Gottlieb ret·rieved and des.troyed all 

•the f.lKULTR..~ docur.lents he \~as abl:e to locate, it is not . 
surprising that the earlier sea-rch fo-r )!KULTRA documents,. 
directed at areas '"h'e-re they 1.>e-re most likdy to be found, 
'l"as unsuccessful. The purpose of establ;shing the MtliLTR.-\ 
mechanism was·to limit knowledge of th~ sensitive work . 

. being performed to those ,,fth an absolute ncEi'd tc kno,.-•.. 
If those precepts had been followed, the -recently found • 
B&F files should have·containcd·onlv financial ahd 
administr3th·e docuoents. (In retrospect. I realize t.hat .. . . 
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Rcqu~Sl: for Guidant;~ on H:.nGl in; R..::c~::-:.:::: 
Located ~~ULTRA ~atcrial ·· .... 

. : .. . ·· .. 
~ ·.··; ' 

a ~erio~s error was rn~dc in not ha~in~ BlF file~ i::-:.! cth~~ 
•e~~in;lY.i?~OC~O~S files S~~rched eaili•r.) ~! !~ S~~?~~l 
nost oz t~e~~nd1v1du~l sub~roiect folders conta~: =~c,e:: 

·;propo.!'3.l~ en.! f.:e:oranda !or 'the re:::ord, which i:-• . o:z:~-·!:..; 
.:.desre~s, ,;-h·e a· reaso:1abh· coo::':llete oictu:-e oi -::.:- :a·:e~~e-s 

· ··of rese.%Tc::t !undCC. throu.;h ~:~J::uLTR;. ·For '·ot!l-. -!~-===-=-~~!~:~ •. 
th . ~-~--1 .. - d· . ·-· - .. ,···a-~·· s=-- ... : '~-·· . e or-!1..-·•c. r.,_, .. oran ~tr: se ...... l:!~ u .... ·. "'...,.,.., .. · ... ""• .a.1-- ... - -.· 
!·lr. ·D~lies, .is also a::-~on:. thuc do;u.-:ents. ;.. c.:;:-· :i t~e 
t.le.:ora.n:!u:. is attsched. • · · . . · · · , . . . 

3. ~:rt:l.,!ijQI ~- thi~~: ,.r~-in·· it de .. !; n~-- •--=., ... 
.... 6 .. ~-~-<:- *"! .... -~::~,.. : ... • .. ~~:.: -~:.,. _:: ;'":.::-~;·:~~-that t ..... -- a .. : ........... 1 .......... n •.. _: lo~-~e- .. ~--·· ···-· 

, ... ·o~ld :.~:::..:~:e the :~l:~VLT?....:,. :l::i·.·:ti!-~ ,,·e:-P c~:-1" -:-~:-=~::.!='!\·;. 
or nor~ ~~~:roversial than i~di::ate~ by th~ Se:z:~ E~:e:~ 
(Ch~rc~) Co=~ittce aepor:. I! ~~yt~!~'i t~~ r•~~~·~ i~ 
t:TP-a .; C r--rc: .. 0;: -h,, n--•·}·· _,,...--. C'"~--!""'':e..--- .. - ... :----:.,t.:.""' 

• -:·· t =~· .. • • ,::·:~-.; n• • • ~·· ·.~.:-,;::.~ • .~ •- • : ~ :::.:::: ~ ~ ~; ': ~~..::;:.:- ::; ... ~ "" T1;t;s, ....... c~ o .. \:'.\...,.,.,, o ... ~~-- ... -1;-"' 1~ c:~5 ... , ........ ~--: .............. .:. .... =--· 
K;-~ -~~ ~x-·~-~onc t~c urn~~~t ;i~J f;'lc ln ~::e .: -~~ 

~ r.ti;~i;;- t~-~;Ir;: ·- · · · ·-·-·· - .. -· · -- -~·· 

:. ~J;A!UJ) One o! t~•f~ cxce~:io~s i• S~~;~=:•== 
.. - .. ~-'::>.nl"' "! ~ .~~; -~ CO'"""'""CT~' :1~ -,-- ~ \•i ..... : .. 'tJ....,.- ~!,.,.... ... "!.: ~ -·· .. O:...e·'-
·'~·:.~:-s~· -~~::;:-~- ••,:: 4 .. .:· ~::·.::~- .. ·,.:;c ·:~·;1. -~;;~-==-~·~:~ ::.::· r c ~ . .. "" .. .. .... .. ....... 1 .. • • • :1 _.. 'lt. ••• o , ..... t G .. .... .. .. t. _ ... ... ... •• ... • __ • - ..... ... \. .. 

a k~Qckc~: drc~ v~ich va; c~n:o:i;a~: Kilh •. a~~ a ~r-~=-~!=~ 
o:". c2;;..:c:- Te!=!'atch n-: 3 r:1f'JoiO!"- u~i\·f'rsi:,·. I: ;,.; =t:!.e• ... c-~ 
t:ha: ::t~ 6~je~ti\"e :readins, o! th3~ p:-oje·::t 9\t..·oul~· !:-~ .. :::.s~:'~t.~ 
th~. ~e:.:-:~ !o:- 'kho~kout r::.atc-:-ial~ and 3.tle!th~-ti.:s :.:::-~ 
cocpati~le a:ti~ities. However, the re~'6rc~·?:-:;:1zl 1 

sta-:cd t~:: "che::i.-::~1 a~c-nt$ ... , .. ·ill be St.ibjectc=. .. :: -=l!:l!=~: .. 
s;:reeni_~; ...... Q:-. adY:znced cance:· p3t .. ie~~s·•. :: · .... 

. --5. ~C) Subj~oic:t Xur.b~~ ~5 con:~ins !ul! :~::.ilr. 
of cr.!.'!' ::-::-:-:-:-!hu~io!-t of S3:"5,CI(I(l tc thf' Qa-;:;'-5· ,;:g; .. ;.::;~ 
e::......., t;:;;;.!'.~ ±:II Fiui lc.lin~: .Fur::!. The.- ,\:;c-~:,· t·:;.E- ':~.!-::-:. 
1~ ...... l ·~.'! .r,. ..... ... .. ;.. t"' ... -- !'t .... :;. •• :-"!.. ··~-~ •·:0 .. \~- ": .. ~, ...... ~,;... Te;-.C""!"C., rrc-r-r ...... ~::--. W.: .. n~ ('. 1\U...,~·; •:: •• 
b~l:ll: c~r.-.:uc-:c;..;. ny C5"---;:., · 1 ' r"',>•==n .... AJ. ;;;; .. t-:~OS!: :::::.•.t:1CS:. 
\.:CTC' in:!.i,:-,w:Hc·. ln 01"0.:'~' tO 1-;J..::i lit~IH' 'the.- O:l!!l:'i!l: 
T~~~~=-::h_ ~'Tc;~n::::. it· ,~~n$ dcci:J~.: tc 'C'~:~c~j t~ :h~ ::::1~rn:: 
p:--o~r~-:: ';-r CC":-;': :'"i hu: in~ tc it -:l::•"u;!i n .. ::!t.'Ch.:.t:l! F~ -:!'::.;.~ ~·a:: 
:tl:<Cl l•t-i?;:.:. u:::~J tc.• !uiu.! l'Ol~tc" of the: t'C'S.t":1:·.:!r .,:-:~c.::f' •. .. . , s· • . 

lr 
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. Tht· ccnt:d.:.:.::ic:; cou!d be contTO\'C::-!'ial in .that it \\"as 
m;tdt: tbrc:...;::. a ::ccbmisr.: r:tlll;!nl: it appc3r to be a prin1t;e 
<1on:. ti 0:1. :::-i·:a ~c donations quali!icc!. for, and e2!6:t'-5~ 
~s~ ':'~.::eh·c~. an ecu::~l :1no:.::1t o£ Federal matchins. 
funds. ~ ~e::e:- iror.: the 'office· of General Counsel ~ate~ 

·· .:!1 Febru:a:-:.· BE! attesting to the le~ali ty of this fundin& 
is in t:J;e __ :i;ie. .. . · · · · : --:·: · . ~ .. · · ·. 

~I, ~ .... •;. ,; .f\~·(: .. -..'!'', ·•·. ":' • • • • • 

· ..... 6. ·· -c:..~ ·;.:i:~) The Le~is'lllt:ivc Counsel he.:; been · 
~ace al.:a:-::- c: :he existence of th~se add! tional ~IKULTR.l. 
docu:::enu ~::.:..:::::. are. still under re\'ie"· a::d sanit:i:a'tion. 
The )1.:\RKS :::a:;~ is in 1 h.i{!a t ion. anc ·.,·c are COiii.r:ti tted to 
advise ~=-~ ~3i~s of the existence of these files shortlYr 
and to ce:!".·.:::- tb.~ rcl~as3'blc t:3terial tc his attorneys 
by 31 J~ly. ;.ae::er iror.: the Infor~3:icn apd Privacy. 
St3:f to ~::-. ~3~kf' attorneys infor~in~ them of the . 
existeno:::~ ~: :his·r.aterial is in tbe cocr~ination process 
a~d is s~:.~~~:~~ to be C3ilod en ~J June. · 

Thcr~ arc na~ tKo-actions that should 

J . -· 
....... ·::~le~$-C nT'~ropriatel'' s:~.:liti:ec r.;aterinl to 

Xr. ~=r~,· ~tto~n~~s :~.s rcq~lred by FOIA liti;3tio~ • . . . 
~. !~!cr= ~he Senate-S~lcct Cocnittce of the 

·e~is~i:l:e.c: the recontly located records prior to 
infc:-:::.:::; ~:r. !>::trks' 3ttorn~ys. · 

Ii: i.s r~co::::::ei'!de~ that you apf!rO\"e of beth of these:. actio:-:.s. 

s_ (U/Xl:UC') If additional details qn the ~ontenu 
of t.lti!'l- r.::rfc:-i:t1 arc- dcrsircd·, the O'(S o!ffc'ers 'mo.st !::~:r.ilia':' 

_\dtl\ it ~::-c p:-cp:~.r<?d 1:0 brief )'Ol.! at rour con\·cnicnce. 

. .. : 

.. :·:·"' 

· .. - .. /~::=- .• · :b.. /"y) ~-- .... 
. ::'!, t...._,):.~-c::.' ~ ... ii! , ~. ... ~ 

-:-: . . : · D:1\"id S •• Br3ndt>cin · 
DirC'ctor • 

Office- of Tc-chnic:~.l Scn·.ic~ 

., 

-· 

. .. 
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The Director of Ccntr3! Intel ligen<; -

~O.C:mJS 

The Honorable Daniel K. Inouye, Chat~n 
Select Committee on Intelligence 
United States Senate < 
Washington, o.c. 2051u 

Dear Kr. Chainman: 

" 

• < 

During the course of 1975 when the Senate Com.nittee. cbairf!d 
by Senator Church, was investf~a~ing intelligence "activities, the . 
CIA was asked to produce documentation on< a program of experimentation 
with tha effect of drugs. Under this project conducted front 1953 
to 1964 and known as "HK~ULTRA,u tests were conducted on American 
citizens in some c«\es without their knowledge. The CIA, after· 
searching for such documentation, reported that most of the documents 
on this matter have been destroyed. I find it rqy duty to <report 
to you now that ·pur continuing search for dr(tg related. &s well as 
other documents, ~'s uncovered certain papers which bear on this 
py;tter. let me hasten to add that I am persuaded that there was no 
prevfous attempt to conceal thiS. material in the original 1975· 
exploration.=- The mat~r.ial recently discovered was in the retired < 

. archives filed under f1t;~nch1 accounts and only uncovered by using 
extraordinary and extensive search efforts. In this connection, 
inc1dentally, I have personally col'llllended the emp1oyee whpse diligence 
produced this find. · 

Because the ne~ material now on hand is pri~cr11y of a financial 
nature, it does not present a comp1ete pictut·e of the field of drug 
exper1mentation activity but it does prov1.de rrore detail~ than was · 
previously available .to us. For example~ the following ty~s of. 
activities were undertaken:< · 

a. Possible additional cases of drugs being tested on 
Amer' can c1 ti&:ens, without thef r knowledge. 

b. Research was undertaken on.surreptitious methods of 
administering drugs. . 

c. Some of the persons chosen for experimentation were 
drug addicts or alcoholics. 

d. Research into the development ot: a knockout or "K" 
drug was performed in conjunction with being done to . 
develop pain killers for advanced cancer patients, and te~~s 
on such patients were .carr1ed out • 

. .·" 

l 
j 
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z. 

e. There is a possibility of an improper p~yment to a 
private institution. 

The drug related activities described in this newly located material 
began almost 25 years ago. I assure you they were discontinued over 
10 years ago and ·do not take place today. · .. . · 

In keeping with the President•s commitment to disclose any errors 
of the Intelligence Community which are uncovered, I would like to 
volunteer to testify before your Committee on the full details of this 
unfortunate series of events. I am in the process of reading the 
fairly voluminous material involved and do want to be certain that 
I have a complete picture when I talk with the Committee. I will be 
1n touch.with you next week to discuss when hearings might be 
scheduled at the earliest opportunity. 

I regret having to bring this issue to your attention, but I know 
that it is essentia1 to your o~ersight procedures that you be kept fu11y 
informed in a tirrely manner.. · 

STANSFIELD TURNER 
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APPENDIX C 

DOCU:MENTS REFERRiNG TO SUBPROJECTS 

. DR.U'.l! 
l. *r 19S3 

.. . -· -.-

1. SUllpro~ect 2 1a be•izlg aet up.:~de .a aee\U'& &:1111 :'4 -- ~-: 
•fticient 1:11&1:1.8 to e:qllOit £ W r ~ 1J:1. reg&: . 

.. . , . to tlw l!!l!I.'l:!iA P~· · • · · ·. • · · • · · 

c-. 2. , a ·,zrsw. a~~£~~ ;~ct·~;.;~J:-~ ~~~~c:_:. 
and a !CLCul.t)" c.t::ll:ler of the '.IIIII iA'6 j' ltt:r l'a~ · ~ 
podt10'11s h&Y~t imrlude:! Chief liell.l:'Cpsychi:.triet &t...... 1-- r/3~ 

13 ::J ~ Chief' t;/ tbe P~qeh.Ultrie Sf,c~ion at.UL I& ~~ -
Ill ll.tld OSS ex:;:erienee duri!lg World Va.r. II. !4 has been of 

'nl:lue 1.1:1. the general. MlWLTl!A field u &ll overall advi"or am . 
· cO'Ilsultc.nt,· he ·b.u been of value 1.1:1. c01:1.tact1ns il:.:UTiduaUI 1.1:1. thl! 

6--tdJ"III&IJ liP't.reA a::d. ill aettizlg up projects 'l:be:"e, az:d be hell 
done vork l:l:.l.l=.aelt ,.iUch hu eoc.tribute:! to the HXUL't!lA f'1eld. .ltts . 0 .• 
p%':1tesstOI:I.Al act:tvit:tu e.::4 m01m. e=ect:t~ rtth the I ' J' - t..? 

C- ""Z J . UZiil ERL fJ • . :,-; . . . • . ..... ·~ • • - . 
3· SubProject 2 voul.:1 keludet 

.•. 

a. Miscellaneous :-esearch and testtns se~ces 1c. the· 
geccral. :ri<llld of M!illt'J:M.. 

. . . 
b. Servi.cu as a contact e.::d cut-out for projects 1c. the 

M!im.mA t:te1d1 pri:::l.=1l;r those ·locnte:! 1c. th«4J llliQ -C,.. 
a:-es.. 

. ~ 

e. Mou:tto~-ng of .eteeted projects 1c. tbe.HKOLTRA tiel41 
llt:en loe'lted 1c. the centmljif1M Ql area. 

d •. Serviees cu1 a ge:1ero.l eonsultll.nt l!.lld edrtsor 1:1 the 
MKIJL'l'RA field. 

I 

4. 'l'b~ total cost or this proJ~ct :ta not to eiccee:! $4,6so.oo· 
tor a period of one ;year. •. 

C - S. •JU jw;.4lr1s ele!.l'e'i throuoh TOP s:::c:tE'l' 01:1. ~ cont_uct 
bub. I ~ 

116-401 0 - , - • 
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{ ~ ,. ... ... ..,. \ ' .... 

PROPOSAL.· 

Objective: To atud7 the posatble ~rgtsttc actioo of drugs 

VIUc:h may be app: opx tate tar UBe in abolisht~:~g c:onsctowrneu. 

Situation: There ta ressoc to b:elien tbat tvo ar 1110re drugs, 

used. in combt.r::.at.toc, are m:>re r,o.Uecttve t~u· uTl&le drug•s. 

'l'l!e e::::nbtned effect of so=e drugs, such as cc=btz:ati~ of 

l::ar~iturates., is.re':1a1ctorn~ With other combit:ations,.the ~egree 

of S)"Cergbm i_a not C:O"'I"'l· U considerable s,'llerst.s.'l u ~ound 

to exist, two pouibUities mu.st be co:lSidered: (l) tblt a 

p&rticularl.)o' use:tul. c:ocbin&tioc 1:11&)" bta tolmd, and (2) ·tbat & 

pe.rticul.ar eonbitl&tioo. -.y be hi!Lzardou.s beea.use of ita effect 
.... "'· 

on ~sptnttott ?%' •• other vital tunc:tion. To minimize 

b&.:.ards r animal experil:lenta should precede human e;rperillll!!nts, 

Pro'Oosal: Allocation o.t $1000 tar an'J.:r.al e~ri:lents 1 to be 

drawn -on es ueeded. That experi:letr .. G be cotldueted io!'cintallY · 

B - at ....,.vtth.out a speeitte grant, and Vith apprgprtate cover • . . 

.: 

~, 

J 

' 1 
j 

- ., . 
:l 
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, 

. ~ . 
O'bjeill!!! . '.!.'~~~tidy ~thod.s. ~o-: the ~istraticn of d.rugs 

·w1:t:hcut the b.awle<!ge c:!' t.te patien'G. P:i:-e~r.stien e!: e. l:III!Ul\US.l. 

.... 

Method: A Sl.tn'e:f of ~th.:d$. Yhic;'!:l have 'bee!l u~ lr.f <:r:Lmi:l.I'Lla 

far surre-pti.UQU.!J adl:i.inistratian o£ ~:s. A_r..t!.lysu ot the 

peyehod:;name:~~ at situatica.s cit this mt1:ll"ea 

'l'""" 

~!: Tl:.ai: $1000 be l!!.lle<::ate<i for this l('a.1"'p01ler f'J...."'<la to 

'te 'l:'eqw:sted u.i neede<l. 

l 
{ 

. ;: 
·1 

j . .. •• :' 
"' ·' .. , .. 

; 

. . . ... .. 
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~ .... ~ .. ~-
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.. · 

,. . 
• lo 1.. ~J4ktt 2/1 U bW:c 1DitiaW to i~....s... • .A 

lillCI:I:N ad. ~ IIMU ~ aploit.irc 1!!ii • 7 "J3 • --~ I I I vttb. -~ to tbe Kmtm.l ~- · -- · . - · · ... 
c --- . a. & ~ prr,rcbi&t2:'1.-t. 1a 
c. a4 & hGaltT ..:bezo ot 
c. s. - 'bee ot ft.l:.w 1JS the 

. pro~ect, ~ua.~Ud t 
oocealt&a.t,· ~ illd.t~ 1A tbt H .L -c.. 
ana. u4 ~. oa:t. h1a CNI:l ~ ~ 

'· ~J- 21.110Ql.4 izl.,]. tb8 t~J 
(&) Ml-''.........;~u4~·~ 
ill ~ ~ tuld·ot JQJl'.'1'S.l. 

• (l:t) ~ u & oar::r.t&ct d ~ tor proJ~ 
c ~ IIJ2Iintn3;Mt ~ tboao l.oc&t.s 1A 

(4) a.z.n.o.. &8 a ~ oac.w.ltct IID4 ~ 
ill * )CJ}I!JSA t1al4. . . . . . 

· ..-. (e). ii 1R1G14 act as ...U011l ~ C3l! ~tcrt '-·--::-·:at? • }~~-- ,..tehH.sb-. ., 
e. - be ~1114 tttr h1a IC"''1ooa 

., Cl4 ape!IIN& ot a !l:n"oiort at 1rrcpl.ar 
~ m.., i:::'aftl ap&MI C"8 ~· ~ 
Qll ot a ~ ~, tbq vUl. bt &-a-n't«t &D4 
~ ill Uw ~ IIIIIIIMZ"~ t.bl.:t. 11, ~ vitb. 
~ Ooftl~ ,,,.,....,... • . ...,_ 

·--.----~ ·-~-----~··,; ··~ 
_._._ ... tUN l.,.l I --' • 

.. 
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:. 

1 •. Su.'bproJec~ 16 ia a COI1tilxuat1on ot·Subproject 31 vhic:h 
1:l't0be<l tba eatabUah:aent &tid z:a.inte::~&t~.Ce of tac1Ut1~a tor the" 
rea.Uiti.c testil:lg_Qt CU"ta1n :reM&:'Cb. &tid 4e...-elop:=ent" items f.1t 
illte:reat to r:D/TSS &tid XFJJ/'rSS. 'fhe ta.c1Ut1ea wre set up \l:l:lder 
SUbproJect 3, &:ld· SUbproJect 1.6 1a i.Dtel:ld.ed to provide tor the 
cc:mtinue4 ll&i.nte~ ot the :tAC1lltiea. _ 

2. SUbprOJect 3 v-.. orl£1M"7 1.Dtecd.e4 to prov14e t'l.m!s tCIZ' the 
~e f.1t the :h.cllitiea tCIZ' cae ,-eu; but it tttrna CN.t th&t the 
costa ot alteration:;, eqtr':;:aent, &l:ll!. initi.al. an::ppUea vue \mder­
eathl&te<l 1D Subp:ooJect 3; hence the t~eC:euit7 to eatal:IUsh SUbproject 
1.6 &t thU till£ • , . ' 

~- S>tr:'rroJ~t 16 villl>e edmUeted by_ zsni>if !& & lL ••a. Certain ~JUPPQrt a.ct1rtt1ea v1ll be pr'0'1'id.ed 'b7 r:Dfrs,s 
&Di Al'D/TSS. . 

4. 'I'M esti=ated eoet tar a parlc::d ot ODe ,.eu JA tr/r~.oo. 

: l'l&te: 1 :.s ccf.. tr>~--;.J.· i.· . . 
il ... 

,. 

.. 

, .. .. 

.. 

... 

:.··.J 
. ' 

' 

·.·.·.·.1 ··.J! 

;J 
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~: P:'oJeet 1-0011'..-"""U,, SUbproject 23 

0~} 
1. · ~ .Cope ot this pro.ject i'S 1nteno:l= eneCI!lp&Ss Qll ·. • 

tllos.e actt-rities nov P-nc,-a.....t:-ed in b7 tl:e & A a a 1 I .i' 
in ita cwn :!'c.ciUtiu u:r:der t~ ~tion ot CDITS3a O'' 

~ At tli.e :vresent .ti=e the V':!...-icus !,7%"0jeet:s at this tcciUt~· {M l $ " 
13 [ a:d U I 'I are bein,& COl:C,.uded. :t.:ld it ia doer~ t!esi..••'l:ibl.e 
troc. the at.l:l.:1:!poi.c.t 0'! aeco:ei t:y e:ad. er!'iciecc:r to np~e these prO-
ject a ·nUl a._ sil:ilfi p:ro~ect core :;:ee,e::-:::ll. 1:1 ita a.~. ·· 

2. '.!!:a sttacl:.ed. 4>ropo!:U !rec Dr. ~c:c.tes the 
e:::te.nt ot t::le_ 1.r:rl'utie,-o.ttons t::.nt his ta.cWties YiU ~l.lo-.t hi:!. to 
co.rry out on -the r::a.terio.l.a developed 1:1 the three :i'r:IJe.et:~ · ~er.t'ed 
to 1:1 pa_-c.grc.:pb. l, c..s ..,eU c..s eerte.!:! ether :::.teria.!.S a! 1nta:oe.at to 
ca/'T:S3. . Or~- • I .:::..:Uo :Je:-ves as "' ~e:'o.l., C:Ol:Sd t:lt!t to this 
~-:!:sion .. :rovi:'!.u cover ~ e~t-out te.eilities to t;,.e _AQen::.•. 

. (C, 
:3, The to'!-3.1 cost at t~s ~j3c:t tOt' a :;l!r!oi ':It one ;"!tt.::' viU 

r.c: e:x.eeed. '?42, jOO .co.. e:l. . 
4. Dr. f I 1 .Jfb.c.s been ~ted a. 'top Sec:-et Cle::l.r""..r.ce ~ 

t!!~ A,.,~ney e:1d. !s :f'ul~· .z:::.p::l.".Jle a! ~teet1:=.;; tha seeurit7 or the 
~r.:l::!!n~ ':s i::lte:-est 1n sue!!. :::.:!.tters o.s this. 

EC~?..~·! :~O"i'ED 
,;.,::) ;z:~:: ~!E!): 

~~.''::I> 103 O!!.I~IO!': 
o1 r ... ":J)3: 

'-

.... J 
~t· 
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: ~ 
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. 'fha ~ct; ~~ i.e -.cel"l::4Jd, wi'l:t:a ch&ld.cal. ~='1:# WJ..c:.-. 
lll.rtl sft'e<:d.T8 if!~ 'ttl:~ ~ l!l.'!:ld ~~ 9£ tbs .;eoQ"&]. ~ ~. 

1 - I't i.e ~ to ~ a TU"JAty of ~ J:Np ill. thU ~eolca;i=l. cl.us 
tba-c &n :!.a p:-ano.t Uq n:n a u ~tbu.i.s.e WIIW cbaical. qctll or to-~ 
~ w.tl u ~way dti!III£ZII:l. 

: - ':he ~ ~ ~t~~ .11:ms~-c..t o.:r 'flrthawtl! 'ldJl. be ~ -
&W&l.a 't,o ~A tbi.U:> ~ &1ld ~ •e;:d.t.:U:y.. 'tbeir ~P,ca.l 
et'fe<:t~''ldll 'M ~eel liT 3 "1"1Lr'18ty c:l e.Utq ~.11, '81:•:11. u 'bJ.o.c4 pt'&.~ 
~t::l.cu, ~ I113JI.t:;.t!M ~~ ~ e;Cg'fle'ta, otc. Ccr;p 
~ ~ tadlJ.t:l.N 'lf'l..ll H ~ t"' Ci8 pzrp:lM lil:ld. p~~.'ChoJ.o~ 
ltl:ldT 'ldll. ba_,~-1 «1.1: ee dl;e a.u~ ~ W. 'COO ~ en Ma':Ltieed. 

~-~ ~~ il:fro~ 'lf.W. boJ ~~CD tM ami~- •• 
c:b.alctl. accu, &m4 ~te ~ ~ td.U 'N pa-t!lmllld, nc'b. 
... bl.ooct Oo:II!ZlU, ~, t:tc~ to~ .tiu! ti'!<!!ll:'tiTtSMill- dlelld.U 
~ o:t t!.wa ~ ~ ~~d.cllll.. . . 

4 - ~tll ~ rill b.;; ilcllmir.!C!Cf. of tb3 ~ at ~lr ~ .. 

5 - PropoM!l ~~ 

~as! 

S'yatbatia Cll'JLtlie ~ 
~~ui!Od.&te 
~l.o~u~ 
~"\.1u.aUcut: 
~g~ci,m. 
Clin:!:oaJ ndldd..rm . 
<'2levJeal ~ 

' ~ . . . 
'1'lml.1 ula:riml ti1r ~ 

~·~tm.l 

~ ~ Ull.in~ & !a.cill~ Cur.td.;;a & ~~ ~a , t"CpG'!d•bl111 
~ ~ eqtlipli'Emt 
'l'rln"il, ~l ~. ~-

total ~~tl.'t't'la 

--·---·--· .. ----

tl', :.300. 00 
5,500.00 
5,500.00 
48 00CI.OO 
.:1:,400.00 
3,600.00 
l,~S!:'!, 

4,000.00 
d,OOO.OO 
%,000.00··· 

. i.aOQ.O..&l 
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( ... 
ti!V..n'~-. e Outo'ber 1.954 

. ci'l . . . 
1. :Due ·;o .,/ecca:14erable bc:re&M in the acope or th8 vori; ~· 

tak.en 'b7 -· J I II at the d.1..ntet10!1 or TSS/c:IJ \mder Subproject 23, 
ProJect Mmt.':!l.A., tPe $42,700.00 ... ong!na117 oblipted. tor th!a vork 
t. 1.ua'l.tt':tc1U.t to COTe:" tba 7'1V 0 8 coata. It b therefore FOP?.H<i to 
ad4 $151000.00 to that &1..~ obUpted 1:ltll!er th1a ~Ject. 

~. 'ti:Yt ~,tal. cost 0t We Sllbpl'oJect tar tbe period 2B Js:zm&r'/' 1954 · 
to 28 J~ 1.955 YiU t:1nts ~t to $51,700.00. · 

3. '!'be il::l:f.'Xft.M 11:1 .eope rupoaalble tor th!a ~ con81sta ot 
tM d.rrel~t I!J!'Id p:u-tial. t~ t:Jf tvo MY aO\trt':ea ~biologic~ 
actift c~ ot inU:r,u·G in t.l'.\& pt"'gn4 -rss/CJJ u_ ~ cui;. 
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~ . 
9. -· 

·. 25 A~t 1955 
.. 

I 

.•. 

~ORA.ril:VM FOR: 'm :RECORD 

SU~J:X:T: 
.. ..::·.:. -­

k.ltboriz.ation. for Payment of Certain F.x:penses Under 
. · .. 

.:· ·.;· ~ Pr::>Ject ~~ SubproJect 23 . ... · ..•.. -..... 

. . . 
. • .. 

. ·.-.. 

1. · lJl order t(ll ett.rry 011 the vol'k at the abo;re Su'bproject,·1.t. 
vas neceuaey to t.<l>st t.te etteets ct certa.ili. ehe:w.ice.I aubsta.n~.:es 
'IItle c. ad::iniate:t-ed. to ~ beina;s. Cert.ain .of. the anticipated. 
etf'eet.s involved mental 1\m.et!ons Vhich pl'e(!lttd'l?/d tbll!' \U:Ie Oi i'O.elltal. . 
d.e!'ec::tives teir W.e parti..::ul.ar 11tudy. 

: JllfJ • • 

2. In viev· e!f!' tbese c:i.rcum.fl.ta.D.ees the proj~et engineer, ;."1 th 
ver~ a.pp:r."'Val trait hi a l'.hie:f 1 authoriz~ the eontrt.ctor to pay tbe 
hospi ta.ls expenSI'H!i of eert&.izl. persoeuJ~ suffering 1':::-an :tncun.ble earu::er 
for t!·J.e pr1 vill!e;e of st\1dyi.ng the e.f:!ect.a of' these ehemieals durl!'.l.f! 
their tentd..l:lal. illnesse~. The tot.aJ. :t'ur.ld..6 expellded. in this tuh1on 
amounted to :$658.05 &ld tull val.~ vu reeeivei. ..;· · . . . ..~ 

·~ 

_ 3· ·xt is requested that the ChJef1 ~ i•..,..."'~te his knwledie 
and apprc:r.-e.U of tb.is particular ~nd.itura tor,&Udit :purposes. · 

'l'"" • 

TSs/Chem.icsl Div::lrlcn 

APPR<:nED: 
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2l December 1954 

1-!E.!CRA!l'DUM. FCR: Director of Central !.ut~llit;;ence 

Project !·:{tlL'tRA1 Subproject 35 

l. \-lhile the Director's statutor:r authority to expend :f\lnds 
for co~idential ~urposes is not l~ted by lev1 ve believe that 
a gift of Goverr.::ent fu!!ds as such vould exceed the intent of the 
Co~ess in granting that power. l!O',..ever, where a gi!'t :!.s 1Il3.de · 
for the ex!?recs ~~se of producir.g sor:ethir.g of value to this 
N;<::ncy ·,;hieh ca."lnot cthCl-.t::!.se be obtair.~:i e.r.d tbere is a reason­
able e:xpectation that tbe vel.i.:.e C.S.'J be reeei\·C'd, the gift cay in 
ef:rect 'be a::::. ex:?enditu.re for 'Pl'Oper off'iei:.l. pu:-poses. 

2. In S~project 35 1 it is stat~d tha~.the.donation in 
question wuld acb!.eve cer-;ain ends desired by TSST '!'.ae.t:e .seews 
to be no question that those er.ds ;.-ould be ad.vs.n~eous 1 so the 
me.in questions appear to be wether they eould not be e.ttained 
by core direct 1 noroal methods, : e.nd., 11" not 1 wether the return 
is necessary and reasonable in relation-to the donation. 

3. We ere in no position to re•liev the require::ents of TSS 
or to S.Pl'!'l.\ise the B.dvnntages tha·t 'I.'Ould result :f'rOl:l this project. 
We do not co:!:lent, therefore, ·on the value received if :the 
project re:;ult:; in the be:;!!i'its forese~n. He i'eel w= should 
~o~ent on factors a~ecticg the probabilit; of achieving those 
ends. In. ~ legal sense, there is little or no control. · Once 
the f'Ur.ds ore. dor~~ed1 tbe inClividual, his foundation, or the 
hospital could conceivably refuse to work tor us or a.llo't us the 
u:.e of' the f'llcili ties. 

4. Practically 1 the c~ntrol see:::ts to be es~a'blished as. well 
as circ1.:!:l:;ta.nces permit. Certainly1 as long as thft indi,tidual is 
alive and in his present position, ve have every reason to expect 
his eo~plete cooperation~ tbe.future as in the past, unless 
th-"""ugb so;~e act or fault oi' our own he is. eJ.'ieno.ted. Even in the 
event oi' his death or incapacity, there appear~ to be a rensonnble 

• 

Copy II 1 o! 1 copy 
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<Mr.c• ct' .. con~:.:-:. ... :.:"~ t-ho :--:-c~cct.. I: t.he:C! ;:rot;o:c!l!~1~:~ c.r.;::nr 
::.ur::r:!cn~ ;.·::, eht..'S!.:s n:t a<.!eq~t.e re:..\!..~ ~er t~~ cxpe~:lit~e, tl:ere 
c~~ b~ r.o ~e~ o~j~et1on to ~h~s 45Fcct o~ ~r.~ ?roJoet. 

;. It should. be r.oted that there ere t·..-o Hrcuostn.n.cu '-tich 
r~qu1re consideration in a 1'1:41 det~ination. As stated in 
Section v, ou: contribution, b:r 3p;pee.ring to be from a. pri•te.te 
source 1 \o"Ould · incre:.se th~ ~tcbinz Ctoverr~en-c contribution by a 
si~!lar ~~o~t ~hicb vctud not be the case if it were Y~O'-~ that 
this '-~S in fact a Gove~~ent cor.~ribution also. Secondly, it is 
the stated ~licy of the hospital to.'cr.:.rge the Cover..::um~ e..::.d 
eo~ercial o:~cnizaticus So :er cent ove~heed on research contracts 1 
vhereas nonprofit fou.-:d.o.tiC:lS p:.y or.ly C.1r~:ct costs but no ov.:rhcad • 
Dacause of th~ oste~siblc sou:ce 1 our projects lr.Lll not be c~~ged 
o·;erhee.d.. This could be eonstrued -es c:orally vrongfu.l. to tb.c 
hospi ta.l 1 · .as nor:--3..ll:r ve 'llOuld r;e.y the SO pe:r cent oveJ.•hee.d 
cbarge tor projects perforr.~d directly tor ~s 1 but I ~~licYe 
this can be o!fse._1 at least to the e.:.::o\.l!lt o:r our don:::.tioc.1 end 
perha~s by the fu.~her a=o~t by which tte othe:r·Gov~err~ent contri· 
butior.s are increased by our ~er~tion. In A.~Y case 1 if th~ 
pro~cet is e. ~rcper o~~ ~ cuat be ~erfo~ei in t~is oe.~~er 1 
secur1·::y d.icta~es tl:lcsa circcstu.ces er.d the;,r1 there:t'ore 1 do 
not ~rese~t a le~al o~st~cle as s~eh. 

6. t4e raised the question .,,.hether t-..:n..is fer the tospit<l.l 
construction could ~ot be cb~.incd t=e~ otccr r.or-_al cba=itable 
sources. It app;!'lared t;l".at the:re ;.ras a· strcir4' r,oss~J:::l.lit;.- th:!t 
the indi·ltdual eo~eerned could raise adequatP. f~ds fr~ ~rivate 
resou:rces 1 ~ut 1t vas the position of TSS that if this ~era the 
ce.se 'i.•e would tiot obtain the-CO:.t:Qibent ·t:roct the indi Vidl.!.t'~ e.ncl 
the degree o< co~trol '~ich thi• pro~ 1• <eoi;o~o~iev~· 

. . ~~c_;=v-~&-i-~/ 
LA\-~ C.?.: R. HOUS'l"~:I 

General COU!lsol 

':" ,.,::~F;-:::~ed to: c.;:~i:: :::~:::: a 
~·:::c~::-1 tr or: 1a,·;75 " ... 
···--.. ----------

: .. ~··:"..::"": C:.i ;:~· 

DoY-r.t:-.ndcd to: r;::~:: :::: ... • 
?y nuthorH:.· cr: 1~7~i3 

1 .--~ .• • t , 

Copy I# 1 of 1 e"PY 

--
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8 April 1?55 

\\~ hs.ve noted ::cur =:e=crc.ndu:: of 6 April 1955 to tho 

.. 

Gener!ll Couns!:l 

~cnc;:Nldod to: i;ii;t;t~;M;.U_. 
~'l c~th~rity ot: lS~475 ~ 
C:~t·l: Jt:nG 1~77 •or~' · 
E:.! I:!PDS:l' ; • CL llY lS7 476 
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A po:-ticn of th' Ro:!~!.I'oh. and. .. De'7el.CT...cnt !'rc6l'e.::t ot 
TSS/Chdcs.l Di-r.idc.:n 13 d7'toted ·C.O tht~~ ~ilC0701'7 et the . 
!'ol.l::r,.r~ l:.S.t.a.:-W:s c:!ci l:i:!S·thods: · 

. l. Su"osta:leea l!l:ich vill prc:-:ota illezicl thinl~ 
e.!ld. ~nivoe:::.es:J to the point vharo the rccip!c::nt voulci be 
di:n:red.itad in public. 

2. Substances vbioh increase the e!'!'ieicney- o!' z:enta­
tion and perception. 

3. Hs.t3rlsl3 '1-:hioh v!.ll. pro·1Gnt or col.::lteract t:lo 
in~c:dc9.tiz:.l; of'!'u:::t.,91' aJ.collol. 

4. l·!:!.tei•i.o.ls vh.ie!l will p:ro.::::ota the ~to:d.es.tir~ a~­
!'eat o!' s.lcohol. 

s. V.atorie.le w;dch vill p:"o:luee the s:1ilJl3 e.u>! sy-.::pt.·'::D 
ot racog;:.i:ad Ci:lc.o.:sos in a :-evorsibl~ a-ay eo that th07 r::!!:f 
be ua,..-'1 i:o:;: me.liuger~, cto. · 

6. t·!titerc..:llc; which vill re!lder the induction c.! b~!losis 
easier or ot.horvi::~o c:l..i:ls.nce its u,.,eru.l.:l.ess. 

7. Sub~e-oe -which vill en!-..s..:o.ea tho a.bility o!' :U:t\1- , 
rtd.U!.ls to \dtl:l:::~d. priv::!.tion, tort..:::-a and. aoorc:ion (;;.l.ll'ln:; 
:tnterre;.l.ti::::l ~ .::o-c3llsd 11 b:'a1n-.'8.8.bin!J~• 

s. :V.ate.~a.l::J an.i phy:.ic:J.l c.etb.od:J vbich vlll produ~e 
e..mesi:J. tor ovonta proc~ e.:p. C:.:r:il:g thc.i.r u;:sa. 

9. Pby~cs.l l:.Otb.ods or prec!ueir.g chock &:ld. ec:U\urion 
over c::tended p-eri<Xb o:t ti:::s il:lct ce.;able ot SU..'"'l"C?tit!o~ 
uc•. 

· 10.. Subst1nc3::s v.h.ich produce p~:aieal. d.ioabltll".ant S'\loh 
u p~;:sis o~ the loll a, ·&cute s.ne::aiA, etc. 

. . 

··: .:~~=-~:.:~.-,.f tv: £8. 
• ··~.".::::·lf,j G1~: ~ ... i··:·.!j 

: ~ • .: ... l 



. .. 

.. 
•· 

124 

-2--------· ---- ~· ' . 
ll. S'J.bDtc.ncoe t-hioh "Jill produce 11pure~ CU?hor....e. •1:th no 

tr.lbscq;uent .let -<lew.. 

12. Subst.a:-.eer~ vhi-:b a.ltcr por~na.l!t;r structure in cuob 
a ..,.~ tb.t the ~daney- ot tl::.o reoipi~t to becol:!le deyl:lm!ent 
'UpCil e.no~l!er parecn !s c~ccd.. _ 

13. J.. r.it.t;3ri::\l 'lih!oh tr_ll C:lUOe I!:.~lltal. CO::l.!".J.SiOll Of :NOb 
a t;roe tbt tha i:::llvit!tt!ll c::.d~ i~iJ !.t:.i"lu~Me \l.'ill!i."lii 1~ 
dti':t'i<:it!lt to minta.in a. i'c.bricat:ion w:der q'l!e~tionin.g'. 

l4. Subetancos vhich v1ll l:-.:~ tho l!.tl'bitio ~ 
g:me...""S.l ".lv:"id.tlg e!f'icicncr.r or r:en. l.1:1:!ll' ad:r-.·jn.C :Jhred in 
ucdat~tabla ~xnta. 

15. 5-J.bG't.:mc~B •·h:!.ch prc::;ot" v~esa or distortion 
o!' th~ oye::;i;ht or lle=.r!ng i'c.cultie:l, pro!er.lhlj vithr;ut 
perzar.~~t o1:te:t3. 

16. A l::co:!,cut ,r-ill vhich c=n ~titious~ bo 
ad~1n1starcd in drink~, f'ood, oig~attcs, es ~ eerosol, 
etc.,, vbich ,,-:..u be s~o to use, provide a I:!l:i.::ul:1 ot 
t..;lG:;:i::., c.:::.:!. l:e :.:ui~le !c: t:.:::t by agent t.:;,t.:e::J on e:1 
a.d boo basi.s. 

17. ! c.tt.ri.alvbich ea.u be GOI'X'Optit:!.C'U:llf odm1nh­
t~red b7 tho a.'l::ove routes c..nd vhieh in ver;r :;;:all c01.:1ts 
vill cs..\ce it i:~X::;~;::ibl~ for a c:.n to pert'o:oc. e:q pb7Dical. 
:LCtivity v:i:Atover •. .. 
· The d.cvelo!""'snt ot C'!!.ter.uls o£ this t~s .follcr.l! the ·· 
~t?;'ldt"::l rrsctie3 ot' such ethiclll C..-,:g heu:o::~ a.a- 111111 - J..?. 

11 1 ill 1 lt 1:; .a. r-:lati--:ol7 routi.nn pr.::ceci'l.4""'0 to df)-;-elop a. a...--ug · 
to tba poi!lt cf hu:r.::u:1 tc:;:ti."'lq• Ci~.-di..~ 1 t!l3 ~ hCU:lSG clt:pel.!d 
U!,lO:J. tbQ :~rrlees cf priv.a.to pey:.::ici::.ns tor tl!9 ti:al cl!.:a!ee.l 
t~st~. !l-"13 ph;rcioilllls a.ro ~ to ac:;uo:o the f'Of!:Ot'..aibillt,-
. ot mt~h teattJ in c:"der to e.d.nnce tho scic:eo ot medioi:le. It 

f 

is di:!'ic:'llt c.::.d ~o:r.cths.!r 1J:;r..oz::sible tor T.SS/CD to of!:!r euch 
r.n icc!:lc:::ont \dth rocpec.t to ita prceuota. I:l ~eti~e, it hu 
been fOSsible. to us3 · out;t:!.do olea1•ed contnt.ct<Jrs tor th.e p:eH ... 1 n•.l:oy- • 
p!l:1CIJ:I 0'£ this \!O:ok. ft7 .. ~or, t~-:,t p:u't w.f¢:1 inVOlVe3 h\l...-.m 
.toot~ at e£t~oti~o dose levelo prasento e3~~tT proble=a vhich 
~ot ~ h.~cll$4 b;r the oriJ.ica.,.-r cc:1tr&ctor.. · 

1 

; ~ 

J 
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10 May 1955 

SUBPROJECT 35 OF PROJECT ~ULTR.A 

- . 
1... Subproject 35 &a approved by the OCI on 15 January 1955 contemplated .::. 
fi~nciu contribution ct su.s, ooo tc the •• ·v J cn•1 ri • to - B 
pa.rticipll.te in the construct1on o! a. new.re;.sea.rch wing to cost $3,00 , 000 · 
exclusive of furnishing• &.nd eq\lipment. -'-'Agency .funds will be transmitted . 

t~llOU;ih ulthe ... I ,_.. I I j a I L lth I rg i a.ll.bcu_t-out wdhich - • B 
W1. :rea t ~none-s-. ... ot e apace..., e new re1ea.ll:" •l w ng e1ng ma. e . 
a.vaih.ble !or Agenc:y-•pon•o:red research involving covert biological and. J 

chemical techniques o! wa.:rfue. 

z. At that time (lS .Tanu.a:ry 1955) liliill £ D [ Jl: il with CIA !3 
encow:agement indicated a. willingneu to contribtltc $5001 000 to the construc-
tion .f=d. The building fl!.lld. wa.1 to ha.ve been :ra.hed IU !ollow•: 

$1, 000, 000 - Conn-ibuted by G I I I J J 7 - 8 
Z5o, 000 ·Donation !rom PT 9 53 o! wh.i.c:h 

$ll5, 000 to be supplied by CIA 
1, 2.501 000 - Matching fund• under Public: Law Z.Z.l equal 

to the otmount of ~'e two above contributions 
500, 000 - - {J 

::;3, 000,000 -TOTAL 

-JJ 

3. Since it now appear• that ~'e expected contribution by will not be 
!ort!lcoming, ?ermisaion i& requested to increase ilie Agency'• contribution 
by $ZSO, 000 which will ruult in & financial •ituation as· follows;· 

$1, 000, 000 - Contributed by !f! Ill=~=~ ~~=·=·!~ -Jl 
500.900 - Don.ation • Iii including - 8 

$375,000 ~yClA 
1, 500, 000 - Matchin& !Wldl under Public Lav.• ZZ 1 equal 

to the amount o! the two above contributions 

$3,000,000 ·TOTAL 

4, T!l.e Agency's contribution would t!:.us total $375:000. Thh investment, 
together with the equ.al sum resulting !rom matched fn."'lds, i8 fully justified 
i"' the O?inion ol TSS !or reuon• which will be expldr.cd by <:. 
J Chid• TSS, and Dr. S!ciney Gottlieb, Chid, TSS/Chemic01.l Divilion. 

The •cope o£ •ubproject 35 h&• r.ot changed. since the Director ori;li.n&lly. 
&iJproved a request by TSS for permiulon to 1pend $1ZS, 000 of a.va.U•ole 

A • • / • .~· .L_ j ~ • / • l 
.-.:...c. .... ''~ .... rr ~;A-:-Y ~~4-t..~ ~-4 ~~·~ 

% ~· . ..~ 1ft: -- • ,.. - •.• .t:~. - • I VL .,, /~ v '- . .,::,.,.,- ..... ;~.~---?. ··~// ,..........-._:.."':,...·~ "tJi7 ·..., •• ~ ..... 
'J- ~ .... ~ ...... ~... ¥fl'-. • .-.t ~ •• ~4"a ... • ' I' ~·- .. · ......... ,., .• ,;.5,.11 •• • .. . 

' . "' ., '-·-· .. . • 

.. 

] 

J 

f-1 
j 

J 



Ill 

-· 

127 

. H 
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~·:r.•h f .. :: this ;-urpoae til:r:our;h the eoE!ttoh liLl:ld p:oecdu.re• elltablhoH~4 
[ .• .,. :.~;.t:t.TU.A. At t.ht! time &ubp:t>jec~ JS was ut up wiiliil'l. the tc~?pe o! 
\ .... ; :;s !lt .. n ;•ro:;r;;:.m. se.::u:rity consicl.e:r&tiona a.r.d co ... er :1::-rangcme!ltl 
"'<'T<: ... ne!·Jily.revi~~:wed, and the OUiee of Gener:d Ceur.ael a.nhted in leed 
•l•·~<·rtr,;nations. With the u:c:eption o! f~ing a.rra.n:emcs:;.ta, no chan&ea iu 
:·,.~ ;>ro~:.r~m h•wt. 11ince b.,en ma.d.e, Jl 

./}1 . 
"· F·.1ruh to eove:~r ~e pre'ri.oualy <~.:;>prov~d aum 
w•t'·in the TSS ili'lllbudget !or FY 55 and !IJl.;oe b en ae~ uid.e. The TSS 
t .. u! :ct, howe.,ll!r, l.li.S:k.• funda with which to eo r the auppl.er.tu:ntal swn of 
$l~O, ooo. &!ld l.t illl'equested th&t the TSS~udzet be incrc;ued by tbia 
•1mount, .Supplementary funds a.nilabl.e !or. &Ybpro~~:ct 35 can ddi.:oitdy be 
oblicated by the <i'nd o! 11Y 55, 

;;:;~~:::\;·;f~l,.!]~ .. 
t.::t\e: J::l!o 1l)77 
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AMENDMENT TO SUBPROJECT 3!5, PROJECT MKULT!l.A 

.For the P1.1rpo1.e oJ I:nabli•hing & Cover Orga.nl.zation !Qr Highly Sensitive 
Projectt in the Field. o£ Biological, Chemical and Radiological War!are 

L BackgroW'l.d o! Subproject 35. 

In Ja..nu.a.ry 1955 appro.,._l waa giv'l!n by the DCI t4 Subproject 35 o! Project 
MKULTRA. The documenU which lead to thia approval (including com.menu 
ol the OOC] ~re attached herewith &I Taba ~. A &nd 3. 

Project J.C<ULTRA h tl:.e fra.z:nework o! procedures 11.11d control& ~nder which 
research projecu in certain highly sensitive lir:tds are carried out by TSS. 
A ducription o! the backgrou.nd o£ Project MKULT!l.A may be lound on 
page l o£ T&b A. 

Subproject 35 utablisbu cover "under which the Chemical Divisiol:\ o! 
DO /P 'TSS would conduct cntain se-;..aitive project• in the !ield.s o! biological 
.;.nd chemical war!:u·e and con1i1t1 of 11. propo1ed arr11.11geme:ct whereby the 
J\geJJcy covertly contribute'• !Wldt to auin tbec4 ll7 &11111 - g 
C ] • in the co:utruction o! a new researe.h wing, Contribution o! these ' 
fund• i~ 'to be made thrOuJb the - l1 
.. j, cut-out so that the · wcn.ol:i :rema!.::. - 1?:. 
u.nwitting o! Agency participation in the buildin; program, Projectl would 
la.ter be carrieq out by the Chemical Diviaion using the !acilitiu of the 
new rl!sea.rch wing, and Agency employee• would be a.ble t4 participate 
in the work without the University or the Ho•pital authorities being aware 

. o! Agency interest. Subproject JS c:ontempbted the contribution o! Agency 
lunda to u 1ist in the con1truction of !aeilitiet, Fut1.1re :rei e:uch work 
would be curied out through the.. I llllllf u cut-out U\d would be - /?;. 
tepa:rately £unded W\der ex:i1ting procedures a.nd controh. 

~nd the background o! - n 
ilil! amrrrns I IF • are described 01'1 page ~ of Tab A. On the 
nme page there wilt be !ou.nd a fu.rther dncription o! the - ] - G 

7 HI I '¢11 • • I I 

II. B uilc!i:ng Fund. 

The Ul'llveuity will :req,1dre $3,000,000 £or the aix•ltory addition to the 
holpital exclusive o£ the cost o! l:u~d, heating &ncl powe.r 111pply which are 
being provided by the University. Under Public: uw ZZl, Suba.ppropria.tion . 

. . 
r ,~r.-£ot>~·l: r~''!'tf!f!Htta 
: .. .:. .. :~!:-,:-1li" o:·: ls·:,-;s ·~ 
.· •.. : :;:n: n;:r ~ 
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663, da:cd 26 Auguat 195-4, !w:uh a.:re a.vail.able to ~d.t~h !U:~dt :r&ised !or 
this pu..rpose by t.he University. 

Wh~n Subproj~c:t 35 was first p::-epared, it w.aa hoped a.:;d e;x:pec:ted that the -
£u.r.d1 required woutd l:.e provi<:!ed. a.s follows: The Unin::r:sity b.u allocated 
$1,000, 000 to tb.i• project a.l>Cl. will auuoc u;:;lu:ep .z.:-:6 JJ~!h:.g obt~:;a.tiona. 

<':. • .... ,.. a;reed th.U i! the Agdc:y would provide~- [1 

llillll ~ith a. gunt o! $12.5, 000, the Fu.t~d would :ma~b CUt~ a.n-..<>unt and 
ma.ke :& tot:l.l donation o! 5250,000 to the Uni"''e:rsity B\li1ciinz }:'l..:ld, At that. 
time, citcunion• with+ 7 r1 IE t 7 t l2 t IJf"1ta .:.. {3 

indic:a:ed that ., ?Ji;pwould contribute. $500, 000 
to the bYilciing project on the ba.tis that rad~gical rueuch would be 
eonduc:ted in the new wing a:1d tll&t the c:cust:ru~·tioZI o! the new !a~ilitiu 
was o! interest t~:~ tb.at A~:enc:y. I.:l au..~y, tl:l f!n:a.nc:ial Jitu:a.tion was 
to have beec. a.l !ollow•: a 

n. ooo, ooo. .,._ • ' • "' • ! '" I ~ • 

ZSO, 000 ·Donation !rom ••• l(o! wb.i.eh - 23 
$125,000 waa 1upplied by ClA) 

1, 250,000 - Matehed Fw:~ds w:de:r Public La.w 221 
500,000 - 117 - & 

$3, ~CO, 000 -TOTAL B 
!twas recorr;,i:ted that the Federal con~ibution 1, 250, ooo· w:.der Pul>lle 
La-. ZZI would be 1eemingly in!late_d by re~s o! the inelu .. lioa. o! the CI.A 
c:ontribution in that o! · It was !elt that the n.lue to 
the Agel'lcy waa n.cb that this i.J:lilation o! the Fe<!eral c:or:t:ribu.tion was more 
than justified by the importanee o£ the over-all proj~c:t and that !u:rtl:e:rmore, 
the inelu1ion o! the CLA contribution in tha.t o! was the 
but mean• o! maint.ai.ninz ueu:rity. ' [) 

m. • -- 8 C. C.. 
/ / .,/!> 

The origin.:~l inlormal eommitmer.t Cl!l_,tlle PVt of wu £iut obtained 
throu::h verbal dilcualiolU with whic:h were !ellowed 
up by >1n u:c:luu~gc o! correspondenle"bet:wcen the...I)Cl ~nd W - c::.. 
Unrortun.a.tc:ly a.' that time , fully oeeupied with the centro~ 
vere;· c:onc:c:rnln.c the • and continued contact with - - C 

wo,..l<l not c:ontribute to the B"uUciing IUid, but would bf . inc _to a .apport 
3n .::.nniL"ll rueuc:h pro.~:ram ;u::no=t;: : to $50, ooo· to $75: 0 It is not 

!-s..J:!\!.oz:c;lia.atu ruultcd. in t. ~c:h:ion that c:oul<i ~ot or 

I;-~ . . : f •• : • • • ~ w • ... ~ u ·... IJ 
-. t .... ·-·· 11 .. ·I Cepy I 1 o£ 1 c:opy 
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known whether thil eha..nge in policy was auggested tp .Q TJ• or 
whether it originated with him. Be that aa it may, when the change ln 
polic;· became apparent, l.t was evident that additior.&l !unda would be re­
ql.l.i: cd to complete the hospital construction. 

IV. Su:;;;ested Funding. ·.r ."'.,· 

luding 
$1,000,000 - • ' 
• 500,000 - Donation !rom i 

$3751 000 •upplied by CLA) 
1, 500, 000 - Matched Fund• !rom Public Law 7.Zl 

$3, 000,000 - TOTAL 

- & 
The donHion from 1Qt1 [ &UIII»would thua contiat o! the origir1al 

;;;; 

(. 

$1ZS, 000 to be aupplied by CLA plua thlll sumo£ $US, 000 to be provided by 
the Fund and a 1upplemental CIA contribution o£ $250, 000, Originally 
Subr-roject 35 requested permiuion tom.;~'!;;;:: a. contribution o£ $1Z5, 000 to 
the building !und a.nd a.pp:oval wa.1 give~. This approval i111 ene.lo_sed 
herewith u Ta.b 2, The purpo11e o! tb.i11 amendment to Subproject 35 is to 
request permiuion to contribute a.n a.ddition&l $250,000 to the bl.l.ilding 
conuruction fund through • J ••• a IP It •hould be noted that - IJ 
t!le tot.:l.l Government contribution to the ho•pital fund 1till remains 
unchansed at $1,875,000, The inc:>:"u.r;e in the alze o! the contribution 
by the Fund h nor out o! keepinc with other operation• o! !')$ and will - iJ 
not &rouse undue comment becauu o! ita magnitude, The originally approved 
contribution h3s not aa yet been tra.namitted toC'W'""''f and neither the - 11 
ori;in:a.! contribution nor the •upplement would be p;oi4 to C ] until - (!, 
!untls <lucc;.u~te to complete the project are r:nade &va.ilable·, Th.b condition 
Vl.l\a 1pC<::i!icd by the l)CJ in apprOvin~ the Original COntribution_ 

V. Source of CIA Fund•. 

Funtls to cover the initially approved 1um o£ $125) 000 ~re available and have 
been •es::-es:ated !or thi• purpose within the TSS FY 1955 Bud;et £or Reuarch 
And Develo)Jment, In•u!ficient fund• remain in the TSS budget to cover the 
1upplcmcnt~ry •urn of $'Z.SO, 000, and it ia therefore rcquut.:d that the TSS 
but!~,·t be inc:rea.ud by this amount o.nd that the lnc.rea•e l:le made a.vaila.b!e 
to Sull!lrojec:t 35 o! Project MKULTilA. 

r· .. ·-.. ,_ .! tv'"· ~-~--~ .. ~·~'!1!1!11,.. 
1·• '"'•· ... , ~()" ..... ....... u .. [A ' 
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~..2!!'ments}>r the Of!ice o! General Counsel. 

Tab ) ill a memorandum !rom the Ci~enera.l Counael to tho!: DCI dated 21 
Dcc:embcr 1954, corru:nenting Oil Subproject 35, a.nd lllt&tin( in part that 
there ar'll 110 {undamcntat legal objec:tiono ii the probable be~:~eCits are con­
lli.dcred a. !air return !or thts expendi~re. The atnent!.ment to t.be Subproject 
eontempl&hn& only a.n in.:.rease in funds and in no v1a.y ehangee any other 
;upeet o! the project. Tl:11~ p~·oject hall beel:l referred ba.ek to the CCiC even 
though no ch:utge in it:s structure is contemplated, and Tab 4 containa his . i 
comment11, 

VU. Ju~tilleatioti, 

The advantage& and benefits accruing to the Agency outlined in Tab A are 
felt by TSS to" provide adequa.t<e and complete just!Iication £01: the expe11diture 
o! the additional 11um herein requested which bdng11 the total CIA contribu­
tion to $315, 000. The molllt imporUnt of these advantages and benditll 
m:~.y be ~tamn;.;u:·i:t;cd a:• !oHows: (FuHu e:x:pl1.1.nationa may be fo~.~nd in Tab A), 

a. One-sixth of the total tlpace in the new h.:>spita.l wing will be 
a.v~ila.ble to the Chemical Division o( TSS, thereby pt;ovid!.ng labora.~ 
tory and oi"!ice sp,.ce, tecb:lical usiatanta. equipment and experi· 
mental a!llma.lll. 

b, Aget~.ey ipor.sorsb.ip o! sendti•.re :r:eeu.reh projects will be 
c:ompletdy denb.ble. · 

c:, Fun profuaional cover will be p:rovtded !o:r •1.p to three bio-
chemlcal.employua o{ t.he Chemical Dl.vitlion. ' 

d. Human pao.HanU and volunteer • !or experimer~.tal u'se will be 
available "i.lnder controlled clf.nic:&l conditionS! within the fuU 
·~pervhlion o{ - a 

Subproject 35 was originally conceived in October &nd November ol. U54, 
ami \he ~nsuing si.'l: month!! have indicated that increasing emph&1ia and 
import:lnce are being placed on the Chemical Dlvi!7ion'll work in tbl.1 field, 
The f01cUitlc• of the hocpit&l and the abHity to conduct controlled experl­
mef\tl. under liilfe clinical coD<!lUons uling "'''teria.hl with which 1.\ny.Agency 

•. ~connection mutt be completely deniAble w!ll &l.lflment and complement other , 
pro~;u.nu recently tak;m over by TSS, such ;u ..... pr - fl 
r~-~·: ~:-:•..!•.! to:-iiiJ"IIT• -------.... ·•. •. 
1~ .. ~ .::.:a·1L'• or: lt17\t75 
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I , - .lii!J¢ 

It was ori:;inally thought that at leut 18 months wouW elap-se &!ter the 
buil<:iing !unc!s had been railed before the facilities would be .finished and 
could ~c occupied by TSS. Thit lengthy delay has now been overcome, 
When , , · .· , . 

has rais.ed the SSOO, 000 which his Fund will ostensibly contri::,ute,· 
he will then be allowed to ttse existing space in the present hospital in 
order that he may build up the organi:r.a.tion which will late:r occupy the new 

.. wing. This means that TSS will be able to begin to take advantage o! this 
cover situation within a matter o! months in11tead o£ waiting !or a year and. .. 
a~~ I 

VIII. S.:c11rity, 

Security matteu. and details are being co-ordinated with the 'I'SS Liaison 
and Security O!!icer. Security o£ t:a.nsm.ittal o£ the !und.s and. cover arrange­
ments are described in Tab, A and remain unchanged, 

tx. Agreem~nt with•if l'riiF- ~ C. 
-~ . . '4" c 

The ag:eemcnt with q Jl' R i11 described in Tab A, and. t..'l.e extent 
o! hi• co-operation and the control ove-r his actions remain unchanged.. 

X. R e! ;.ltant Financial Saving, 

The tot:!. I contributi-on ·o! $375,000 by CIA will ruult in an additional 
$375,000 in matching !u...')ds provided. und.er Public Law %%1, It is .felt that 
the expenditure o! these total !undt is juati!ied by the importa.nce o£ the 
pro.:nms which will be pursued at the new !acility. Even though the CIA 
contribution is increued u.nder thit a.mend.ed project, the total o£ Federal 
!unds remains u.nebanget!, The use of this facility will allow work to 
proceed unrlcu· conc!itions o£ coyer and security which would be impouible 
to obl;:,in ehcwhere without an expend.iture o£ equivalent o.r greater fund•. 
tn addition, by !u.ndillg ind.ivid~Ul projects !or this !acUity through the 

B- no ch:1:rge will be incurred !or overhead expense. I! 
ruearch projects are o_F.cnly sponroied by the - {3 
U. S. Covernment, 1t is customary to pay an ove,.head ra.te equivalent 
to IIO'!t of ularie•.-.Ho~ever, if a. non-profit lund, IUCh AI... a I - B 
~ spon1or1 reteareh, the !und.li cranted for the wor~ are customarily 
used ,only to pay f4r eal!i.l'iel, equipment and. 1upplies, but not overhead, 

• ·· The A:;cN::y thus bu.ys c:onaiderably rnore research. through... r1 -G 
~han ·would. be the cue Uno eut~out were 1ued. · 

t.::.;.::.~:"';:.; .. tl to: c ............. u..r 
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SUBPROJECT 35 ·• PROJECT MKULT.RA 
·For the purpose of establishing a cover o:rganiz.a.tion for highly· 
a~naiUve proJects in the field of covert Biological, Chemical 

and Radiological War{a.n 

I. Backgrou!'ld of Project MKULTRA, 

In 1953 the DCI approved Project MKULTRA which established procedures i 
and controls under ~hicb ruea.rch· projecu in certain highly sensitive 
!ielda could be carded out by TSS without the necessity o£ aigning the 
usua.l contra cu. The approved procedures apply 4 81 ·• _ · ·f/ 
over-all .Reaeal'ch and Development budget, and no additional £unils 
are requir.ed, Controh enablbhed in the Project Review Committee 
approval of the Reae&.l'Cb and Developm<~nt frogl:'am (other than the 
~_ig~m.& ai ..a. c.onn:act) remain unchanged, and special provisions for 

· a~.;.:Ht-are included. All !ilea _are retained by TSS. 

Thete proc•·durf!s and controle were approved since it i• highly un­
dcairable fn>m a policy and security point of vil:w that contn.cts be 
signed indicating A(ency or (.':overnment interest in thia field o£ en­
deavor. In a a:reat many in~tances the work must be conducted by in­
dividuals wh<.> are not a.nd should not be a..,are o£ Agency interest. In 
othn eases the individUR.la involved are unwilUng to have .their names 
on a contract which remains out o£ their control in our files, Experience 
ha• sho·Nn that qu&li!ied, competent individuals in the lield of phyaio­
loglcal, psychiatric" and other biological sciences are very reluctant 
to enter 'tnto signed agreements of any sort which would connect them 
.with this activity sinc:'e such connection might se:dously jeopardize 
their professional reputation&, 

When Project MKULTRA was approved, it WOI.I not contemplated that 
lt would be used {or the establishment of cover. Over forty individual 
rese01.rcl-i and development projects have been e:atablished under this 
framework and have been carried out extremely suc:c:esdully, both 
l::~m technical and administrative points of view, 'rhe experience 
gained in handling theae projecu hu emphasized tha.t establishment 
of better cove.r both !or the projects and {or auoc:iated Agency scientists 
h of utmost importance, Subproject 35 would establish auch cover • 
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.. . 
U. Background o! the 1111111[·- ll 

The' 45'. I .lW!Zf!2W PL a •. wu incorporated in - fj 
Jfti)'IF I£ [ 1 b I . It hu a Board o! Directors o! six 
members, one of whom is r 1.1 I ~ •• who acts IU Executive - c. 
Director of the Fund. •• I. it nas solicited £rmdl !rom various - fl 
individual• to fina~ce a program o£ basic -research in the chemotherapy 
o£ cancer, asthma, hypertension, psychosomatic disorders and other . . 
chrbnic clisu.ses. Since 1%1' 1.--pu.a.tc.d..wit.b.;hc.w, ... -. /$ ..... 
Chemical Division o! ':::'5$ and acted nnoothly and e!!iciently, both &ll 

& c:ut-out !or dealing with contractors in the £ield:: e>f covert chemical •. 
&:ld biological wa.rlare, and a• a prime contractor !or certain areal e£ 
biological re&earch. Projects presently beinz handled. !or the Aa;ency 
by t.he Fund are administered under the cont::ol1 and procedures 
previously approved t::.r MKULTRA. 

m. ·Background o£. -·-c.. ..c. 
~~~~~~-==!~!~~ h lnternationally_J<;.nown u. a... • -·C. 
in the !ield of research. a.nd is -~ I -. --. -· 

F a£ I 5 t L lh tlie paat ~u bun a.uocia.ted in 
a research capacity with both the ·- 8 

D~·ing the w.u m • • a served &I .q 7 I a c. 
i1:1 the Bureau o£ Medicine a..nd Surgery in the Nav;•. Stnce then he·ba• 
maintained a consultins relationship to the Navy medical ruearch pro­
gram. •lfQ · I If is TOP SECRET clured.&nd witting of Agency - C. 
spo1:110rship o!.the programs carried out by the Fund as are two other 
membera o£ the Fund's Board .o£ Directors. 

:..{j 

~~~~~~~~t- c~c 
to 

of erecting a l'lew clinical research wing on the existing 
• R • The ruurc'h wing will caulst o! a - 11 ""' . .. .. , . -. ;.. ' ~ . 

building six noriu high, 320 !eet lun1 a.nc:l SO teet wide. Two-thirds 
o! ~he 1pace will be research laboratories and of!ices while 100 
reaearch be do ·wilt occupy the remainder. partici· - c.. 
pation in th.e fund-raising campaign outlinc:.d belc;tw will result in h\s 
having control o! one-si)o.-th oJ the tot~l space In addition to the base-

r. ;;:--··~:·.-:~ed to: ( ::.:i?A:!!!f! .. !" 
t · ::•:!~CI:'lty ot: l(l7~'lS '-
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ment and general out-patient !acUities. In this eltbr~. 
has secured tht. enthusiastic: support o£ the medical !a.:ulty and. the 
o!!ic:er:a ol the University who have carried the preliminary arrangemen~l 
forward to the maximum extent o! their re~ourcu. 

v. Financial Situation. 

The University will require about ~3, 000, IJOO !or the $.story addition~ 
This aum is exeluslve o! the cost oi land and the heating and power supply i 
whieb are already available :rt t.he site-: At the present tioe under Public 
Law :au, funds are available to match !u.nds raised by the University, 
The. Unh·ersity bas allocated $1,000,000 to tl'lil! project and will assume 

c 

upkeep and etaf!ing obligations. trarag-reed that if CIA - C 
will provideC 111:: •111~a. grant of $l:a5, 000, GI:USBFwill - G "':"" 
match this amount .&na. rr.a&<;e~al donation o£ $Z50, 000 to the University 
Building Fund. Thh Agency1e eontribution will be ma-le under the con- \. 
ditinn that it will be ref\:;"lded i£ const::-uction does not take. place. 

TSS he.s discussed this aituation with.nCI! ~ 1111!11 l'lllllla - I! 
~if UWJR and has encou:aged.. D.to d~l:!ate - 1!. 
$5vv,OOO to th~ building project on the buill that ...,.. li a Ml~ltll ~ 4 
will be c:onduct!!d"in tho: new ·Gi:::;; ·cftii!R1Qe thougl"i aw_a.re <l! our .:... ~ 
~nterest in the 'building, h u.nwitting o! our specific "fields of ruea:.:ch ~., 

.-and indivic!ual projeets •. X:a 1i~mmary, the financial situation would be aa 
!c:-llows: · 

$1, ooo, 000 - flllidi!Jt:ll~ 
zso, 000 -
• ($1Z 

1, ZSO, 000 • M:1te 
500,000-

$3,000,000 -TOTAL 

y CIA) 
.f;:om Publi.c l.,;.w 2~1 

-ll . . ~ 

\ 

-· ·. 

Atthough it is recogn.ized that the Federal contribution o£ $1, ZSO, 000 u."1der .:...S 
P. L, ZZl h aeeminWn!latl!d by reason o£ the ineluaion o! the CIA contri- . -• 
bution in. that oC C.J(BII J"JPS'Rli'at actually t.he value .to the CIA il - /J .· 
$ZSO, 000 and not just $1ZS, OQO, the am~unt o! CIA's contribution; fu!:'ther• ··~ 
more the inclusion ol the CIA co"ntribution in that of • •'I'll ;( I - .1 ,: 
.. is the best method of maintaining security •. 

·•. 

C:opy I _/_ ol Z copies 

-3-

'] 

n 
: l 

'1 
] 
~··c~ . . 

~ 
R 

( '] 

J 

~ .. 
j 

T.1 . ~ 

~j 

• r '1 
j 

·. ~ 

d 

d 
;1 
L 



• 

137 

------·---- • :•u•: 

VI. DiC!iculties Faced by TSS. 

It ha.s been generally reccsnlzed !or some time that the external re­
search activities of the Chemica! Division c! TSS in the !ield of covert 
biological, chemical and radiological warfare are sorely in need o£ 
proper cover. Although Project MKULTR.A provides excellc.nt a.dmini· 
stra.tive and llnancial cover !<Jr projects, it does nnt al!crd cover !or 
scientific or technical personnel, M.!(ULTR.A has been used !or TS 
dealing through "'41\W J • at a cut-cut and !or working 
directly with individuah 011-private companies, The uae of..... J S 3 Dr - J. 
~n the future will be lncua.singly limi:ted·due to · · 

(a)' The increa.sing number o! people who, albeit 
properly cleared, are aware of the Agency 
connection with I I 4[ • - i3 

(b) The feeling by Q that the Agency - C 
employees contacting him (Dr1. Cottlieb, <- etc,) have no cover c! any sort ana - C 
consequently expose him to unncceslliLrY and 
highly undesirable pt:rsonal risk.; and 

(c) ,The wtdespre\.d intra-Agency awareness of 
the nature o! the relaticnship between the 
Fund and the Agency. 

Another serious problem !aced by TSS/CD as a result o! lack o! s~.tit­
able cover is the di!!iculty in pl..anning career I lor technical and 
scientific peraonnd in the biological field. A lon&-range career 
concept of activities in this !ield inevitably ir..cludes proper cover !or 
the: individual concerned. TIJe availability c! resear·ch ia.cilitics . /], 
at I liP' JIPS -· !i i!f!,..will o!!er a~_~nt opportunity -
to eolve many ol the above problems, anc W' INU -is willing - C 
and able to make i!.ny rt":Dsonable arra.ngemcnta to suit our needs, Up .;.. 
to three Chemical Diviaion employees can be integrated into IJ/A; - c 

f 3[ I • program !or work in the new botpital wing on the 
Agency's research projects, Although career planning was not a 
consideration when plar.ning the procedures and controla established 
by Project MKULTR.A, nevertheleu thit particular subproject, in 
addition to ita primary objective, will be o~ very_ great ~ec:on~a.ry help 
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m dmpli!ying and elimizu.ting ma.ny o! the very awkward and danaerous 
coz:.ditions f'.&cins certain Chemical Oivtsicn employee•. 

VU. • Advantagu and :Bendiu Accruing to TSS. 

The contem:i)lated arrangement,• wil1.;re•u1t in many advantagel &nd 
benefits, including the !ollowi:tOs: 

(a) 

(b) 

One-sixth o! the total apace in the new re1earch 
wins i11 to in a.vailabte to I • ]8 • and - C. 
in turn, will be available to the Chemical 
Oivi1ion o£ TSS. This will provide laboratory 
and o!!ice •pace, technical &•abt&nU, e<l.uip-
t.:-ent a.nd experimental a.nim.ala !or uae o! Chemical 
Division peraon:.ael•in co.~:nection with 1peci1ic 
!ut\U'e project&. 

The co•t o£ Chemical Dh"i.•ion projects ll<l'li:::h are 
to be carried out under thia cover will be covered 
by !u.Ddl made available through Project MKULTR.A, 
&nd projects will be subject to the procedure• 
:::.d c;:-.t;-elr; e:a-:;.~lh•hcd t::.r }..a{ULTR.A. The . ' !u.Dd• will be paued through 181 111 ... P. 
4lllllllb..z::~ hu been done in the put. a - ,:; 
m turn will either pay expen•u directly or 

I transfer the money to the Univer•ity !or thia 
purpote, Each project will be individually 
!u.nded ba•ed on ita particular bud1et, and there 
will be no other continuing or rec\U'rin& charae• 
for items auch a a space, £acilitie s, etc.. 

(c) The Aaen.c:y1s aponsorahip o! sensitive reaearch 
projects would be. com,?letely deniable aiuce no 
connection would exi•t between the Univeraity 
and the Agency. 

(d) Excellent pro{euioaal cover would be provided 
!or up to three bio-chemical employee• of the 
Chemical Oivi&ion o£ TSS, Thill would allow open -
attendance at acienti!ic meeting a, I the advancement 
o! peraonal &tanding in the acienti!ic world, and I 

a a· auch, would conatitute a m&;;r ef£i.cicncy and 
Z::c-::o~rOIC!?<l t.o: 9;9:::__.,,., .. ·· 
L-- ::·~Lhorlt.~ d': 1:17·~15 ', 
( .~:: J~~c 1~77 l --·--- Copy ~..L or 2 copiu 
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morale 'booster, 

(e) H~.<m&n pa.~ienu &m! votunteer s fot:> C:t<f>erirnenu.l 
uae will be a.vail&'ble under exceUer\t clinical 
!=Onl!itionil wit!:. ~he full cupo!:r•risi.on of "CP r» - Jl 
~\} 

(f) There would be &vailabte the equivalent of a 
hospital aafehou11e, 

(g) It is expecnd that tkrte output o! use£1.11 l:'esulu 
o! the Chemical Pivillon in the bio~chemical 
field will be grea.t!y improved tbrou&:h the rno!:'e 
e!fi.eient ume of tccl:tnic:al perao=el u.•ho would 
be able to ·~end mou: o! thdr t-ime on &ctual 
laboratory work, 

(i) Excelhmt f:i.eilitie• would bt- provided f<1r 
recruiting I'HIW scit'nti!ic peraon.:cd &inc e 
membu11 o( the Chemic:~~.\ Divi'lion wo~:king under 
thil> cover wilt be in daily contact with members 
o! the a~aeuue So:bo(;'l o£ the Univeuity. 

(j} The regular Univeuity libr~l")< :1\.nd :t"<::print 
urviee will b~: available a' a IIQU:ree o( 
t!!lchnical infl;)rnu.ticu•~ 

vw. FundinS!. 

lt h propoled that SlZS. COG bC~- ~rant;ed to • II IS 
approv;r.t is granted, TSS will ~rrange !or payment tu bo: made under 
the procedures and controls of Ml<ULTRA. These !unda wQuld come 
out of the preuntly approv'l:d TSS llue&rch and OeveleprneXlt budget 
!or FY l?SS and no new f~.tnth· &l'e inv.:'llved. The fund~ wculd be 
t:ranllferred u t1. gun; to•... B$?1!118J<W In htrn. pp• JIM I - J 
...-,will ma.~ch theee flUids with &O equ.r.l amount and donate a tot:&l .. 
o! $lSO, 000 to the Uni.veuity at ou&Uned in pangnph V. The sumo! 

• $1 ZS, 000 would be entirely in the nature o£ & gnnt ii!.nd would in due 

t.·~:::::-~~'ld to: iTiil'aM' 
t·· ::·~~!:~::-Jty O!l 1SN7S •• ''I. 
( ·: :-::::' 1!1?7 ' 
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c:our1e be merged •ith the entire $3,000, 000 rai,ed. (or the c:onatruc:• 
tf'!)!'! of the. wing. Tlse A&enc:y would reta.ln no relldua.l interelt in the 
building or title to any e-quipme-nt or facilities pu.rc:hased with thil 
money. 

This lingle grant will c:onltitute the Aa:enc:y'• entire partic:ipatic:m in 
the new hospital wing, and there will be no rec:~:~rring obligations in 
the !or:n of annual·•upport of the hospital or additional grant•. Trans-
miuion o! Agency furu.h to will be mad<! - f3 
thro.ugb previou•lr e1tabli.Aed c:ovn:..eh.a. • ..:'~!: set up by the.... 1 

'IQDt-Cor •imilar transmittals !.n the p•ut. :ru: .!~!:!:.tion on._. -ri 
~ book• will be shown &I having been received from 4111M81•••• 
... &LIP&]] lee. 

In the !~:~ture when TSS aponaou sensitive resu,rc:h projectll which are 
to be carried out to • II a 11• llt_each proj~c:t -
~ill be individ~:~ally !in.ai'lced thr.:~ugh all ill . -:u·it ho.s 
been i%1. the past in &ccordance with previoully eatabliahecfproc.,durea 
&nd controla using •Uotted portions ol the .um.u.a.l Reae&rch and Develop­
ment tudget. The University will be totally u:~witting of Agency 
lpor:no::hip, a.nd the projecU to eve:l'y outward appea.ra~c:e will be 
lponaored by I!Ji ] • - C · 

-'-

-
B 

In the event of ,, • I r death, wrwm continue in 
being and any activities under thi1 project will be cC>ntinued t.'1rough.. - S 
~nd will be un.a.Ueeted by bil death. .. 
IX. Memorandum o! Agreement. 

A memorandum of agreement will be signed ~th CM.IIIII •• IIt 
outlining to the greatest extent po.uib\e the a.rra.ngc:ments under whic:h 
the hospita.l apace under hil control will be made av&ilable to Chemical 
Division pe:raonnel and the manner in whic:b cover will be pro'\ided. and 

C, 

other bene!it4 ot-talned. No contract wi!l be ai~td since J 1• 
would be unable to refiec:t any-ol the Agency'• contractual tern"I.S in his 
a.rrangtoments with the University when · n~Akee the 
donation in q,ueation. The memorandum o! agreement will be retained 
in TSS. 

X. Security, 

All security matters and detnila are 't:teing c:o.rordinnted witl'l the TSS/ 
,., Liaison and s .. c:uritv O!!icc:, . 
.,..;,'!'::-:·~-.. ~~!::~ \0; ~<::..: ........... ==-
't .... ;:.;.;:~~::.:.•!t.y o:: .1,11'4':"5 .... 
•• tt ... : J~!l~ 1!)7'7 
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- .. 
XI, Resultant Fir.aneial Savi::.l:.. 

The $12.5, 000 to be -contributed by CIA pht» the $1-'5, OCO in matehin.Ji !unds 
provided under P. L. Z7.1 to the Building Fund will be mort' tha.n o!het 
in a few ye<u s by the savings which wi.il result £rom use of this non-pro!it 
!und. 1! a. rueueh prc>ject at o:r other ec!uc::a- Jj 
tiona! non-profit institution is sponsored by the U, S. Ciovernment, it 
is customary !or the Ciovernment t; pay !or sala.ri~s, equipment, · 
eupplies, etc, ami for overhead aa well, In the case o! ~ A 
•• &:0 th~ o~·erhead a:m\Ull'ttl! to SQ.'JI. o! sa.la!'ies, However, i! a non- • 
profit !ow:.dati.on euc:h u ~73 % .... !pon~or s rueareh. at a - B 
ncn~-prolit i:ratitution, the: !u~:~ds s:-anted for the. wo:rk are customarily 
uaed to pay Cor JalarielS, equirai:umt and ~Jupplies but not {or overht~~ad. 
The Cover!'1ment dollar tbus buys considerably m<:>l:"e :re~earch through JiiBa ...... th<U:l w~uld 'be the case if no cut-out were used. - g 

XII. Lesal Matt~~.:.. 

This r.-...a:ter has .been d\9-=ussed with_~~o! the O!!ice -A 
o! General Counsel, and be iJ fully aware o£ all <illt:~i;s lhl:rour.ding this 
----· IS.'""--·· 

Copy I _L_ o£ Z. co pic t 
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SU!:lJ:S:CT 

1. Tbo ;:>urpo• e o! tbh tri1.1 v.:.• t.o m~e arra.o.;;e:nenfa !or 
clodi:IQ' Ou.t th'l ... ?::"tljC~ • .-\~d. bce.n t;iVO!l a.::::::1plo i)l'CViOUI 

.aoli.c:o t.h.:ot e:u:i1 w.:~.1 ~ety t.o bo th..i l.c:c.:~.t o£ t~o vi tit, en;! he pl'e• 
p.'l.rc<l bJ .. c::ucll a.cc:ol'din,Jly. 

z. It wa.a e:x~ted t= l II - tfl:..t it would not bo 
po1olblo ta carry over fWl<la berona tlHI end of tho~~ cul'ren~ .fisc:al 
year. Tuueioro :Ill "WOrl· woi.l.ld h:~vo~ to be c:o::~:~pletcd a.a.d. all tl&Y• 
me.o.t1 .c.~e prior t.o 30 Juce. Th.i.11 ci:::WUne a~,i>ll:lri:C! a.c:c:.:Ft.ac1e to 
t:W:a. a.c.:S it ,.,.,. &&roed C..'l.at I 11t0ultl 1!l&k4 :=y ~ vl.tit ther• to 
rec:e.lvo repol'h a.tld attend. to ~ «l:t::Uls oa. 16 Jw:o, .._ .. Ud cot 
havo I. C:IOZl'C:C! Ull.:a.:u:.ioiJ report, bu.; ho eat!.:::ute:l th.:i.: £=<!11 C:llrr=tly 
CA ~cl wcn:ld 'b3 ;a..bout sl:.!ilde.n! for re:::-..:U.-l.lag cr.pcnd.l.tul:'u. L:e 
&::ll'>~cd to ae11d tllo !XJciety wi>.¥n t!:.e nc.xt 10 tl;;.ya .:». ll:l.Orlll Cl.lQ.~ •u.t•· 
nu.nt o£ cur::-c:M ln.1a.a.ce =d osti::l:l~cd rem:U::.!.>:.3 c:.:;pantli:V.r::s. I 
tried to Lmpreu ~ I'W:::I. Gtrocgly tho.t tra.::u!e:- oi S.C:d!!io::lal iur:de IJ.Jltl/ 
or r<et\l!'n of \J..:H:::c.;>-end-:<:1 !l!nd' C!ll:ilt b~ <:~;l:ted ""eU i::.:!<;::c t!::e e.::d 
of tb:e 1lae1Ll you. -- -

3, Of t.'la 30 e.:a•a• called !o:: i.e. the o:is;bs.l dod;,:a 13 b.&ve 
been c:=pletQ<J (l1c.t only " have lie.:::~ t:ra.o.•c:ibc:d from the tapo:!41). In 
adt.!l;ion t;bere &U 8 C.IUICI i.a prO._'l:'C~I (of n1c:f:l two :~ore d:e;1:iy 1.J:1. 
U:.tc:rviow a.lld 6 era worked up to the point o£ h:wills the lhh o! quution• 
prepared). n llr.ll a~ru<l t~t t.o meet t.::le ccadliAe we WOI.ll<.l b.:l.ve to 
l.U:::Iit tha doalall to those a6 calu. 

4. It 1o &?Para.::.t ttu.: ... il 110 iavolved in tbe adrni.nhtr=.tivo 
p:toblem.a o£ tbe proj•= tlu.t be i• uot raying a.ny attenti.ou 1,:) t!\1 re:~ulu •. 
Sillco t.o tll:lto only 4 c:au• b.&v• b.eoo t:.·=acribed t.!.tere il no way of tcllil.J 
w~t ill cc.c::.i.:lg oul o! U. 1 a•awne t~ere were no d:::u::'latic re:lctio:u, bo• 
c:.auao tb.c lo.t::rvieworl 1:'011ld b.&ve lee h.i.a:l. kolo>:? &b:>ut t!:lc-.:c u~d tboy em .. :r:.;e::!. 
It 111 pocdblo, bow-or. th.::.t our c"''A aoaly:ai:~ n:! t.'le d~u may drcd:e t!p 
•=HMas o! vlll11..41, &lth.o~r;lll ..:n uubioue on C.W.s poi::lt. 

5, .. ;ave me hh uaw:~.l lOA~ l!'l:Volve<l U.lk on tho C:l.Uicultiu 
he hAd er:u:.~t~red w!sic!l =.ccO'Wll lor the d.elaya. H• abo bl:Oed a& ICliUI 
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lel'$;tb about bia "e::r,>er!..=•ntl!\" ""ith by;>-"l.oo&u, ·#OJ:~:>u a•pe~tl of wh.lclt. 
ue n:J.l.;ly ~:.r3ln:::z, 71.:=.:;J\y l:!.o ~o q,u . .Ue" pi.tc!.t .:o~ co .. t!..:>"'!.&:>i: 
sor1:10 ~Cucb project 11.1 'UIJ.a co:o:t y~:u, "'l:?itl:l. .-cm.lh;l.c:, •>'cc:i!lc: c:let.cUI.'l•U• ... 
l toll! t.iCl we W"OWoi d.heuse pos:.~~l.I~UtJ.u .ohc::r tbc ?l'C:IIc.o.at ;:>rQje~ ,......, 
=?lcted ~d we ba.d a,. cJ-•• : .. ,u:o HJ c:touly c:~.r:~,U..t t!l• t::J.l::.8, 

L 
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.. 
The·experiment designed to test the effectiveness or 

eerta1n ~ed1cat1on in causing individuals to release guarded in­
fo.!":llation has been cor.~pleted in accoreiance vith the or!ginal ex­
per1mental design, vit.'"l t..'le exception that 25 instead of .30 cases 
vere used. !his catte~ was discussed in ~orl detail L, my letter 
~ July 15. Abstracts on all 25 eases, trans~r1ptions of the in­
terviewsJ •echsler~Bellevue Intellige~ee Tests given at the hos­
pital and ~reviously given at this clir~c, post-experimental 
rauk!ngs and evaluation sheets, and a schedule covering the drug 
adcinistration have all been submitted to you ~der separate 
cover. 

l!:nclosed is a financial state=.ent which reprl'llents the 
final acco~,t1ng or the f~ds allocated by you ror use 1n this 
project. Ir, !or your purpose, you require a more detailed sum­
mary or vhat specific professional services were performed or 
more detail ~th reference to travel expenses or an7 other item, 
killdly let me ~OW'. • · ·' ··1 

You. vill note, ill this conne~ion 
compensated ill ~ amount exceeding taat· 
was occasioned br the fact ~lr~--~ 
the files ac4 records at tbe 
Jlllla Pr~son selecting cases 
pose. It ll'as !ro= the cases selected by him that 
used ill tbe experiment vere !lnally ehosen. 

I have been instructed to vrite a check to the Society 
for tbe balance.in the account as or todar. I vould like to 
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delay this matter tor a fev days. Several checks have been vr1t­
ten durin~ recent ~ays, and 1 .vould like to be sure.they cleared 
the bank 1r. ·=.before el:o-sins out the aeeount. :X:ou will 
receive a cheek in the aco~~t of $1356.26 early next veek. 

It there is any additional 1n!orm3tion required, 1 will 
be happy to cooperate • 

Enc. 
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"'-1 ~t: . .:. ;.,-.\v-:;~:.i .. ~'14.1'!5 
• c::-.tt·: ,.'!:;:.: l~i7 -,-.,.., 

'•1•o ro::e.::.rc..'l :•rojec';, U"...ll l:o c:..'":"ieC. e-.1t. at t.~.e JJ••a••••• 
JI&X 1 I r JJ I 7 II I a l~'to.t.t·::ir. ,. ••: II • ur.ieh 1::1 

lc~Lcd J'iiiiifl&l l I l.lii.Rill!I7III'VC1!&1 11C t - *· ':';1o 

!l03;7!.t.nl }-~15 cme t~eur;ll.l'ld, e:t'l hu.-v!f~J ~.d '.1';1;-ty-.Ci'\"C (l,l;~) \:.o1:-. • 

.it t1J., prostmt ti1:.o th~ro :>l'Q o:.o i:w~~ a.-.:!. .ro~;;-t.:.;o (!42) :-.en-
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... _._,A_._.==_.._ .. ~ 
•(!FPP¥*, a p:..ycholo;:ist tlho h:~.o l::ld e.::.t.c:msiw 

c.':;orio.~!l 1.:1 ex::.::.i.ci.n;:; e:'i."::i.F~tnas 1::-Ut!<m c;.."tcr.sivcJ.s 

en p.."';"C-'".op:rt.l'lic cm:ua.l ~7'-.:.~ioncJ ia an aatho:it7 on poly-

............ ,.® • .-... 

-c. 

I· ' 

---~- o. pt:.•c:.!•il:~rlat \1!-:o hol).;, a l=~c i"o-ivat.o - C.. 

p::-acticc. ;,t, tJ'IC prt:~c.'1t t.i.r.fl ho ic C!:);ol~:siv:lJ,;r e.c-:otL~ 

his ti:.o to p£;";,·ch~.:Js'::i:::. .l!o l:..::l:l ha.ci ~e.~.!li·m o...-r.ericn-;G 

~::..~i.ir..: c:ri::::..V:.:llh /.s t. lia.V)' p:.~-ctl1ntrist i:.o t::, ~ 

c:..-t!msive c:.-vcricncc in 

d?l. 3 ?Jr i:1 t.!1c !iclt!. c::t osctc...."'n ct:J.t1:.r0s, Orient.:U. 

J:~"CI:i.atr-J, l:-ra:!.r..: all!Un{:, etc. ilo ha:~ alae dor.:: cl:r'l:c i:.tGr• 

r-o~ll.t.:!.on l."ith c:rird.r."'.le n.;:i h.."\:s c~:l,';;od in nsrco~.ncl;y01ia 

:md h;";;lo'lell.-cly:::iu • 

-c.. 
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~--·----t.::. ,.::.: .li'.'l; c .. " . 
-··lflfi• : ;::;,;;!;1~tr:1:.-t 1:i··o !:3 'en tho-c. 

c~:-.!!' o1' 8Un~ 1[1111!1·1·~·- I) 

•••c :;..-:d ~~~l:l t. pri'>"':lZ~ !:ra<:'i.ieo i:l ~·.e !ic:W. 

c 
-·. t·' 

Uo.sl.1:1<: uit!l t:ri.-;:!;J:ll2 t;o1:;f. b.ack :::=..-:-.o i,.;;~ntj•fi vo ;;ca.ru, 

( 
-J .. S D 

c-9 Tit<- eaJi!2rit!i'ftl '! e -.-"'"J,.<:~'l !or tho --...; t·.:cm~:r-t:!.\'e ~.,..IW .• .., .-• c. 
, \ 
14 yc::.r::., hils \;13<.Q - IIi -·!11111 Sa~--

.. ·..,.. ·:-· .. -' -~-· .· .:.. ..,. :-~ ·.• .. 111111· t:.:.:; h!l.i cx:.cnLi•'t! ~:p(!ri-

~-·· 

. ·-·fh.::.:. :::t:..:;:::::r-..,;::.:r C:l.'l of <;ho p:;j'"cl:.iatl'i~~5 £::-o:: 

D!l )".:!t but. r.d.cht ...-r.ll inelu::!a p:::;chelo,:is' .. u c:r T.\:):'!icu nO'of 

att<:~u~ to ~. ::'l;'l cee:rot:;r.; vill - 8 

c. 

bl3 tllillftl p:c::unt. :;ce::-cta-;,· l.t~o uill do l1ll the r.::lceo- C.. 

11 

n:::-eo tc;-;-;n C! tl:-::1 liel'l.i.Cr pro:o::JiO:-:.:Jl ~)!:'l. flll<".h \::!..U \)o oolcetod. ~ 

Cn7 tc:r.t "'~t-1:!:'..:~ l!f~ft :..:.~ tielccted ~~rt!.lr: c: pC.t.i.Y:O:t!'\ ttil.l U:3 

~:-... ·.·--~·.-.·· .•·.·:··· ~,._ 
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... _ .. _ 
G:V..:;> ~;;: :-~b~cct.= v:U ~:.::<~ :;•.:-... i.tt.t :!.."ltcr:"::;;:ltiens u;::; uit.'l i.'lte:Te,;;..ticn . -

0:1 t..'...:l •!ru..:::D to 1.-e u;;ed c..r.d l'J.l o1• t:l::~ ~~Z-:-~olo~i c.::.l. cmi r.::~co.l }=:cr.t­

l.ed.::-c ·r.;ll.ir..l!;l Go !t: in t.he 1.lM o! t.h:l co dr\:.:;11. 

I.-:=loc":~r.;:; vo-.:.p.:; c·! fi".:.b~E<et.:~ !or cx;>¢rirx:rlt.=.tic;'l, tho !::llc-.;i.~.s; 

ol:je::~~·.c3 \li.ll co eo~~;ht: 

4) ~c.-:.:..:rt NCOrei::::;:.~ lli.ll bo :.-.ndo ot t.'lc ~;~;;ctiO!l 

(..:::1 -:;·:·:H t.t:m rc-:.ort.D l.l'!ll bJ ol.l~:.i.::.ed in o:.!:or e:l.l:e::J. 
':"'..:"':'1~.~"';'·!\·~ to: ci" .. i'KiWl 
!'·· ~'~~~:-,':"lt.•: ot: 1:::·t.;75 
.~ ~ .. : ···~"1 I 1!\1"1 

-··----------"' · ·.:: r:., :;y ,.~~-~-::; 
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J.Z.l!,ORAliDUH FOR TS:.: R::CORD · 

DRA.F'!J-IJACIC . /'f_ 
30 Jw:~wu·y l$61 

SUBJECT: ProJect Jr~T.RA1 Subproject 42 

. l.. Subprojec~ 42 is to be ;:ontinued fer the same· pu:rposes a1 
~ .. . ... ; . 

when orir,inallY-eetablished: to support covert 
• I 

and.realistic field tri~ls or certain research W1d develop:ent itecs 

of interest to TSD, ~nd to caintain the pbyeicnl facilities re~uired tor 

these trials. 

2. In the past yeo.r a t~u:lber or covert s..od. realistic field , -
triels ~Ye been SUCCessfully carried OUt. The results o£ these 

e~riceots h3ve provided factual data essen~1al to establishing 

protocols for a n~ber ot conte~plated operations. A cont1nunt1on 

or c~;ert and ~nlistic field trials are necessitated by the production 

or new cater1nl3 in TSD progra.~nS 1 particularly· in o.reas requiring 

dets;led knet.tledGe ot the ef!ectivet:ess ~nd et.t'iciency ot del!.ver-J 

systems. ·Additiocal trials are also necessitated by tbe need tor 

better controlled "field-type" expericents.----·· 
-..... ~- ·-· .. "'" ···-

3· .The estimated cost ot the project is $5 1 000:00 for o. pe:iod 
r 

of six conths. Charges should be made against Allotment 1125-13$0-3902. 

4. Aceountino for funds and equipment under this subproject has 

been esto.blished on a detailed basis With the nuditor W1d will continue 
I . 

as in the past. ( 
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] is approved for TOP SECRET ~y the Agency and 
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operntes under cover tor purposes or this subproject. 
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. ··. - ....... , ... 
: ._....... .... 

• - .~ .... ~-: •• ,. ., • f 

J.::O·:OR.A.NDUM FOR THE P.EOORD 

SUBJECT: Project HKULTRA, Subproject 42 

l. Subproject 42 is being e"ta'b¥shed to provide !cr the 
continued. support o! thetllal• iii5l"a.cillties, and as such, 
is a con~inuation o! Subo!"oiect 1~ Under Subproject 42, g~ 

LJ ~s inten1ed. that· tt'.~-cili~fe.s. be moved !rem...._ 
..o ·e;rJ 1 Ji& •• tp IIJI{ ''?'> Tpese facilities, 

in the new location, will continue to provide a. means !or the 
realistic testtn~_o! certain R and D items ot interest to 
CD/TSS and APDf!SS. . c, 

2. Subproject 42 trill be concucted. by }~. ~­
a sea.:nan. Certilin support activities 'Will be prz:~ 
CD/rSS and .t.FD/TSS. 

'· The estimated cost for a period or one year is 
$'31 JCO.OO, start~ l l{arch 1955. 

AfFRCVBD F~R OBLlGhTICN 
OF F\nms: .. 

Date:- ,z 7}-~ -t4o-:r, 
Original Only •. 

·i 
j 

-~~~~ :m:'E.":C G<..TTL!7.B . • 
· Chiet · 

T3S/Chemical Division 

APPROI.'ED FOR ADDmOIW. . 
OBLZCA!r!ON OF FUllDS: (~,o89·34) 
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~·;~ :U. HU'oh ~--
~'illtlX Fat: Tm: P.!:CCl'.O 

Stl'BJECT r. ProJeet.-K':UL!RJ., ~~roJect 45. 

: l. ~~~ scope or this proJect is intended to encOCi)US /G) 
all those actirlties nov engaged in b7 the &;a :C~ ~ 

"'t!!'!a:iJ!SiS!SI'?IR j5IW = ... 111 its ova tacilities under t.he 
direction of" l'SS, Che.:Ucal Divi:lion. ~ese activities vill . 

. take the torm or ~.re. lines or biocbacical inves~igation; 
nu.al;r, the curare-like e.f!ect ot eertai.n· thiols, the prepara­
tion Of b]drogecated quinolines L"ld ~le alkaloids, &.ed. the 
continued stuc!.T ot diphenollc co::pounds. In addition te t.he 
above in?estigations; the preaent biological testing and ns­
saying tech:liques"Wi.U be elaborated cd broadened to i."lclude 
cardiovascular and an ticarcinogenic e!'tects or COD!j)Ounds · re-
sulting !'ro:~~ the above progra:u. - {(~:) 

2. ~·attached proposal rr::-cx::lW UE.!E~dice.tes 
the extent or t.'lte investigations ~.a.t his f"acilities vill allo\1 
~ to cury out 0:1 ~e 111&!-erials de'iel'oPed hi the three lines 
or research referred to in parsgra?h 1, as well as certain ot.'l.e® .. 
ma!.eria.ls or interest to TSS/CD • .t4 • 5&#£ il also serves (' ) •· 
~a general consU1tant to this Division and provides·cover ~~d ~ 
cut-out !'acUities to !.he ~er.cy. 

3. ~e tot.al cost ot this project !"or a period or cne :Te!U' 
'llill not exceed $100,000.00. At the prese:1t ti=, .the su:11 o!' 
$40,000.00 is be1.1lg co=itted, the bal&:lce _ot the total to .be 
c@),ted at a later date. · _ · 

(! . - . . . 
. 4. ~f#\S!OObas been ~ted a TOP S::CR..'C'T clea:a.::.ce 
b7 tbe .A.gecc;r, and is !'Ull;r capable o!' protectL~ the :!eeu:it7 
or t.he Govei'nl:'lent's interest in thi:s ::at.ter. 

'IJ'PR.OVED FOR OBLIGATIO!I 
. or rmms: 

, 

· .. "· 

..... ·-
=-· 

.LPHlOVED FCR JlDITIO!UL U.P.!torRUTIC 

Attach:1ents1 
· Propos~ ... 
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-"""""7 .... ·-~ 

- ~} • - 6. It ....U :::'b.:&ll.7 agreed that do=a:ltation 11.11d a.eeoc."lticg !or 
~~ 1 t.-avel ex;:11.11su vblc:.h &.."'e nor:al1J- re~$a.ble bT tbeJj 4 IY»-
\..':r ..crsha.ll oontor:a vi~.ileeepte<i pnet1c:u or thE i W · 

@J . . 7.· ri a_ ~e~ u: eo::pl,.- v.!.;h ;!le :equire=ll.l1t;:or 

·. 

the Ke.:lorazxia:a or Ar.eel:ell t. . i 

- ") 

J.P?P.':NFD FCR 03UCJ.l'ION 
CF iir.;DS: 

ittaebnent: ·-
Propo~. 

Dht.r1but1o:~: 
Cr1gina.l ~ 
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··- • .. -·~--

perf..ad. tor t:ht.ch ttnar..::!.el eupport ts requ.este~ z..··1..1lbe tiet:oted­

ta ~ conttn:.e~ cr.4l¥st.s ct tr..e n.etH':::l c.r-4 er.Cocrf..n..e :-.ecr..<:nts.'!l 

of stress <:.1'14 't.h.e c1'.e.~:~t.ccl cger.t~. ~.at !.7'./~~er.ce :_t. :rr~. scr~~.':!r.g ... ,..._ 
proce~ures arc b<:ee::! lcr:el 'V upcr. c ;''urt.r..e r cr.41"Vsts of p1'.4us o/ 

stress cr.C tM t.r-.tluer.css ot th'Ls p/'.'fls'tolr:"tc ber.t:n:t.cr C(;:t:_:::le::: 

upon both bod71 ~ skt.r. te~;;er.::ures cs ~~~t.le::! tr. ~~ accc~~r.y. 

tng report. 

ot r.e~ co~pc~.Cs ~~11 be ccr.ttr~4 

~u;ent.s!or. o:~-·r 
ur~er :r4 super=~ston ~ 

ti-.etr .capccttv to ;;uvoke s-tress ~. ~.~ f!Upr_r.e~a the stress recctton. 

tr. tts a~uie cr chrcr.tc pi-~ses. Ar.t~.al eeattr.g ~~;1. tr.cl~e ;r~~~­

colo~c screel".tr.~ ar.4 proper to.-:-tctty stt.:d:tes .. o,;" ti-..ese CCI'f:;our.4.s as 

r.e re to/ are. 

S1J.tt.able tortctt71 r.:r.lfe .z:'""ll .~' subject.e<! to cltr.tcc.l screer.tr.~t or. 

cppro;:H..cte ,pctt.ents, tr.e !nttic.l screer.tn.,; betr.; carrt.e:! out cr. 

cuat.lccle fro~ btolo;tc sources cs ~ell cs ~cse S'flnthestse: tr. tr. 
proJect ~11 be screer.e=, ,pcrt.tcularl'!l tr~se tr.at ere ccttve tr. 

etther rct.str.g or lor.:ert.r.g ba~ll te~;ercture. --
' .. -·-- ----..... .... - ............ '""'""#"" ;,,..,.,h. 1')/\ tran..sz:>lant 

~ ··-~·~k ..... ·--·- ------
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SUBJECT 

exceptioo. o! those cutout 

!unction!! 3ped!ically rnentioo.ed i:'l connection •....ith other MKULTRA 

aubprojecfi-:· In genc:-a.l, tbl'i re1earch e!!ort under thil subproject 

'IO>'ill cont!.n_ue alor.g the lines laid down in previous years. Theu 

involve the syothe sis and pber:nac:ologieal alld cHnic~1 evaluation 

c! compounds o£ tboH: chemical fa.r:nilies known to have appljc:atlon 

!••os:re,s.b.a!t been made ir. the area rebted to ztre~sor c:.ompouocs 

and the rel<;.tionship of these materials to the _:>bysiological pathwa:ys 

through which beth stress and, the reac:tioc. to it are mediated in 

bu:ra.n beings.[ fAll is ind_lcated iD. the :ttac:hed proposal, the ';ork 

·o£ ttle ;>a3t year has progrused to fhe point where more de!icitive 

experi..-neoh oc tbe stress reaction cat~ be carried out. ?::i..'":larily 

this was brought about by the characte::i:atioo o! several new 

materials which pr?duce stre!l's reaction in hwnans a.nd the applica-

Uon o! sQ.rne r.ew c:linicalJ11ethods of mea. suring the extent o! the 

disturbance produced. During th.e next year proportionally :nore 

e!!ort will be e:xpeaded en the ;>roble:::~. of tb.e development o! aew 



160 

:-~••k•oak-.:o~t. .. &yp•• •~ •••af'• •ln. c.• J>t"O& .. •• • h•• "b•eQ. •1o-•r 'ha.a 
'. ".t' ,. 

·11 dedra.ble i:a·. i_bh .cllr~c:ti~c and because a new a.p:>roach to the 

problem hu bee~· ~orked _!)ut.J{ · 

. .c - . . 
2. 41 1 :r ·c ~also serve.!! as a general consultant to· 

. tb.e Agetu::y, provides aervicea o! a sensitive nature ou ac. ad hoc: 

bash, aud serve• as a c:ut;.out in procuremec.t problem•. 

3. The total cost o! this .project !or a period o£ one year 
'/.)#~ •): 

will aot exceea $71, SOO. 00. Char get should be made against 

Allotment O_?Z5-l006_490Z. _ 

4. ~= bas been requested to 3ub:nit a aur.r:::.r.:1.ary 

accouatic.g o:r a copy oC tbe Fucd'' aooual audit :report !or the 

tpoc.sor'• inspec:tioa; Abo, it has been reqc.ested that acy unexpended: 

fuads sb.al.l be returned to tbe Agency. 

· 13P!!II!i!Gtts~·£!4ii':!:, io lieu o! hlgb.e:- pve:-bead :ra.tu .• 
. ' 

6. It was mutually agreed tllat doc:umeotatioc. and ~s.c:o11ntiag 
. 8 

!o;: t::avel expenses wbiJ:h a.re aon::1ally reimbursable by~ 

e;:reS:!~t~hall c:oa.!orm with the !LC:C:epted p;-ac:tic:u o! the 

.Fur.d. 

t:3-:::~sr:.!114 to: 'CCllfOD!TIJ.l 
~,. a·..;t!:o:-1 t.7 o:: 181475 

• ~':: :~· 1977 

:£:a I:::i"l)!T; CL !t 187475 

• ... 

. . 
·1·· . 

• .. 1l 
. ,, 
j 

J 
".: .~. 
·.···.·] 

>J 
l 

[j 

] 



) 

J. 

1 

--.. ·-

c 
;B 

161 

----;:'"• ........ . 
'lD !QI!COJ!Il) ••.• - •·.-...·~.,, • ..,..,_~ -

. C:CIIl.t1nl.:&ti011 0: .M!I:IJI.'l:!!J1 S~Jec:t zro·. li-S -

.. · .... 
. . ... . ~ .. . 

1. ~ sc:c:ip. ot this llll't-proJec:t 1l:1c:l.u4ea aJJ. thoce act1vitilts 

~~~~by I .. . IS; 
Ull4e.r tbe ¢1J:ec:t1c:D. 0! '}:SD/p:J Y1 th ~ .~cept1.C".r:t ol- ·thoee: eu.teut­

:t'lmct1oll.8 apeC:U1.¢11ll.7 l:lell.ticmed 1.1:. c:oc:!!Alc:ticn vi th other ~ 

wbproJec:u. In general, the ruearc:b e.ttort \mlier th1l subproJect 

1l1ll c:011til:nla &long tbe lhea lAid 4ov: 111 pnTit:n~ ;reus. ~ae 

il:1TOlTI!I the_ IJ'11thu1a e.::d pb&..""'Zc:Cllosic:&l &.1l4 c:l1l:lical. eval.ua.ticn 0: 

c~ ot t!loae c:bem.ic:al t&m1l1u kl:lovu to haTI!I appl1c:&t1CIIl. 1::1 the 

:psyehoclleclic:a.l &1:111 "r' :Uelda. t1Ur1.tl8 the c:~ :year :tt 1a pla:me<l 

to coc.c:entn.te can ~ctl;r Cl1 tl1fl u:ore l'l'&Ctic:&l aapec:t.a of "t!le 

"la:i.ccki:lut" problal!l., lnQUOh XU1V potell t I ubi t&ll.C:U h& 70 be C:OCIII & vai.lal:>le 

l.a.tel;r to lllllke IIUc:b a cha.l.lge 1::1.-:-,..l:luia :vort.l:tvh1..U. In c:Cl:l.Ciect:tCIIl. 

Yith t.'Us ~ 1~ &hcuJA. be noted .~t cert&il:l. fiJ:ld!l:ss !ll64e 1::1 

z WQ proJect at W vt11c:b CI!Wl.ot .be turtb.er exploited at 

--
-
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.3· -· ~t&J.. co•"- oJ: ~:t• P"""J•c.., t:or .• ;penc:4 ~ .,... ~&>:' ~ 1 . 
not •=•ed fl!O,ooo.oo. o.a:rses shoul4 be -.4.e ~t Al.lotment 

.. 
~ aU.ll 'be ret=d to ~· Ageac;r. . ,; 

., 
5. ·n tle to e..n::r pe.I:'CIIIIZletlt equip~~~ent pui-cllaaed by tw:ds granted 

C, "7"1fT.,.....IIha.l.l. be retaille4 by 4!!!!1 fli!l~ID:iiAUE;as'illlD ~ 
.:B .-:Uiiil.,.. 1n JJ.eu ett M~er cverhea4 rates. 

6. It -. 11111~ aeree<S. tha; do<:Ualeat.at1on and aeeou~tiq tor . . . 
travel ~oeea vh!dl a.:re no~ re:t.l::bunable by$ f! M!~: 

shall co!l.!orm. vit.ll the &ccel'ted practices ot ~ ~· 

I} 

.. 

'· :::.H·:~ 

D&~·---------------------
Att&clur.ent: Prcpoaa.l. t\114 ~t 

( 

] 
'1. 
~:~J 

] 

\ d 
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........... r., 
DRAFT • - d;3f,.~f:._~{.;~ 

'C" • ~ 
24 January 1954 ,l.l71._: 

.. L· .,...,7. • --

A ~'11.1//£1-:~~ 
..tzU .. ·I. • '·f~···, Ja~:ORANDTJM FOP. 'mE RECORD ·tv . i,v'•· v I 

t ·. ,LJ.J.J- . • • 
~- "' fi .,.. 

SUBJECT 1!;\l,"t:r?.A, Subproject ~

7
9 ' 1 t:JPtf til'<! ~~,!J;;:.:.,'. 

;f4/ . z... ,!_,.1-../1 .' ·'b'• '.4·"1"1 v ()/r • ll,,:.~ f ·:. 'P 
l. This subproject is being established f.or the purposE? .·:~.I ·· 

/ . \ <;,;.lf.~'Y I 
o:f Stlpportins realistic tests of ce::.!J.!in de_:::elop:r.ent i te_i and 

·-----. I I r·~~ ./ 
delivery systems of interest. to TSD/BB. · , · f · ./ 

2. During the course of developme~~· ·i; is sometimes . · ,./~ 
tcu.g_d that certain. very necessary experiments or tests are not 'F: 

. . /.-~ 
suited to ordinary laboratory h.ci.lit:!es. At the same 1:ir:1e, ,.,.,. 

it would be difficult if not impdssible to condcct such tests 

as operatiQnal.field tests. !~is project is designed to pro­

vide a capabl.lity a::~j :tacilities to till this inter:r.ec1iate . 

requ1re~:~ent. 

3. The a.ctivi_t:l.IU! un~er this subproject will be con-

ducted b;' Mr. ~--· at' .:tn.:Hvidual in tba i::tport and C.... 
export business, in~--- Mr.~ holds 'a TO? 

SECRET Treasuz·y Dep:lrtment .:le:a.i:ance and fl. SECRET Agency 

approval. He is co::~pletely witt.ing o:! the aims and goals of 

his activities. 

C 4. Ur.,. possesses unic:;u-~·-;.~cilities and personai 

abilities which ~:J.kes him invaiuable in this kind of testin;; 

operntion. lit•. Jill/Ill because of l1is p(H:ulia:r."-..tauu:t..s. ::md 

(!__· 
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- z -

cap~bilities as wGl~ as his excellent connections with all.ot 

the local law en!orce~ent .agencies, will_provide a unique and 

essential capability, Because lir. i£.fll'is no longer re-C....: 

sident .o! th~--- area; it is necessary that:~ 
suitable replaceaent be provided in order that a capability 

for continuance o! our activities be maintained. 

~. Tbe estimated cost o! the pr~ject is $10,000.00 tor 

a pGriod o! one year, Charges should be made againdt Allotment 

Number 4125-1390-3902, Reimbursement will be madq tor services 

rendered. ·••.:.-

6. Accounticg tor funds advanced and any e~uipment under 

this-subproject will be in accordance with accounting D. roc:ea 

ures ~sta.blished by ·the~~M-;...:,tz:~c.. .. Jc((t -n 
7, A memorandum of agreement ~long lines es~~••z•.~u.u~ 

previous audit recommendations in llke situations will be 

executed. 

TSD/Biological Branch. 

Distribution: 
Original .only 

t 

] 

•• , 
:t:-,) 
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SUSJECT: Request t:or SUpport or Research on the l".sehan1sm or Brain Coneun1on 

1. This is a request tor !ir.aneial support tor research on the mechanism or 
brain concussion for the period 1 Feb 1956 to 1 Feb 1957• 

2, The resonance-cavitation theo:::-J' upon which this research is to be bued . 
has ~en presented in the proposal sulr.litted to thlm~ 
dated 27 ~~rch 1954. . 

:3. The progratr1 as origiMlly 5ub:'lltted estir.l.a.· .. ed. the duntion o£ the program 
to be !rom three to five years requesting a total or $72.109 for the initial 
:rear. 

At the request ~~ the ""##~'~!'$J..a red.~eed budget was ;sub.."litted. 

s .. ~~==~~==~~;~;~uDo~u:~nting to $24.925, w.u then awarded to the 
.<G to :rupport this program frorrt 1 Feb 1955 

t Feb l9;io,· 

6. " The progre~s ~~e to date under the above contract can be s~~~ari%~d as 
follOws: '· 

A. RESEARCH FACll.!l'IES 

The following research facilities have been established tor the 
investigation of the ver,r diver=e aspects or the problems being 
lltudied: 

a.~at!!®""" 
Atotal or 250 square feet of laborator,r and office 

· equipped \lith ~ueh of t!'le diversUied r.l!lehinery and 
necessar,r !or research in thi5 !ield. 

spac11 
.npp;aratus 

b. Blast P.ange · • 
A bl.nt range hgs been established at.~ located 
approxir.lately~r the I!IOI~~r,r. This 
area is owned bi-t~and 1, closed to the public. 
Tht~e blast test-series have been run to date. 

c.~.,.~,.~ . ·- .. 
A.rrnnb~c:nt3 hove been m~do With the ~S ~~ 
~~ lOWW 71'Mo!or use or their 
h~~~ c.ndavcrs. A te=t ar~a h:s ~en as~isned tor this 

( •·.-·- •· . Tt:LLJc;:;NCI! 
t~-c!St,rlO MnHO!)S INVOLVED --. ~:...' ···- ·~·-- ....... ~~· 
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B.~ 
...... ~ ....... 

Both !ull-t~e tec~~ical personnel and part-t~e professional 
research personnel have been ac~uired and indoct~ated relative 
to their specitic !unction. 

C. T.EC!!N:::CAL PROORESS 

I 
I 
; 

I 
Foll011ing is 'the tech.:ucal progress made wtder the current 

.ll!Mill contract : · : · · ~ . #. . n . . 
a. Spec1.aU:ed instl'\111\entation and numerous testing techniques 

have been developed to obtai{l
7
the desired d;ynamic data. 

b. Considerable data has now been obt:D.ined suppor:t1ng the 
resonance-caVitation theor,r of brain concussion. 

c. PreJ.i.r.o.i.nar,r acceleration threshold data ha's been obtained 
for a tluid-!illed glau silnulated skull. 

d. Data }.las been obtained on the nature anc1. the magnitude· o:t 
pressure tluctu.ations Within a glass simulated skull :n:.bject. 
to either i.mpact. or 110und waves pro;>agat.ed in air. 

e. ~~tial studies have been mace on th6 simulated glass skull 
attempting to est~blish the caVitation patterns for v;rious 
types o:t ~ct. 

7. The proposed method and progra:n plan re:nain the same as stated in the 
original proposal, except for the temporar,r·deletion o:t the ~ersion 
blast.study. · 

8. 

9. 

~YARNING 

The ~~rrent level of activity on this pt~ject can be indicated by the 
1110st recent billing to the "'liM for the 'nonth of Nove:r.ber, which a.mou.'lted 
to $4,0.)4.61. ' --· ·"' ~ . 

In the interest of efficienC)" and econ~ it is requested that at least 
this level of actiVit)' be maintained for the corning ;year, 
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transient statu due to head 1nju~ wh1eh is or Lnstantanicus 
onset, ~~n1rests v1do~pread s~ptons or purely paralytic 
k1nd, does not as such comprise ~ny evidence or structural 
cerebral inju~. and is always follo~ed by a~nes~a for the 
actual lllo"'ent or the accident." 

10,2 The ~plication of the underlined portion of the above statc~ent 
is that it 1 technique vere devised to induce brain concussion 
without ~~ving either advance warning or causing external physical 
tra~~a, the person upon recover; would be una~le to r~call vnat 
had happened tC' him. Under these conditions the sa."'e technique 
c.r producing C.he concussion ccJ..I.d be re-used r.1any t1Ms vithout 
disclosure or its nature. 

10.) First, con~ider1ng the possibilities o! direct ir.1pact to the 
head_.£r_bod;;r, it should bc.possible !rc111 the fir.dings or this 
research program to dete~ine the following: 

a. Opt1Jr.Uill desi;:n or impacting devices. . 
b. Opt1 .. .,~.,. point.s or impact en skull or body 

!or the speci!ic effects desired •. 
c, Intensity or the blow for the effect desired, 

I 

10.4 In re;::1rd to the potential inpactinj!: devices, there are certai.."' 
design requsites~t~At ~re apparc~t at this t11!1e: 

a, The 11!1~act should be delivered·without 
advance warning. 

b. ~: :~c~ ;! L«p~ct =~~ ~c~cc Ci~t~bwtivn 
should be such that surface trauna does 
not OC'-Ill', 

c. The intensity or the impacting :orce and 
its duration should be such as to obtain 
the desired effect. 

d. The device should be as s~all.and as silent 
as possible. 

10,5 The ·specific impacting devices might tate the iorm oi any of 
the following: 

a, A panc~ke type black-jack giving a high peak 
i~pact force with a low ur.it surface pressure, 

b. Concealed or camouflaged spring-loaded i~pacting 
devicetl that trigg~:r upon co·ntact with the head. 

(Oricl.nal :md sole copy :n:;:) 
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d, An explosive pad detonated in contact wi~h the 
head or the body. 

i 
Let us now consider the pos~ibilities or exciting the resonance 
cavitation directly w1tho~t L~pact. There is co~siderable evidence 
that re~on~nce cavitation can be induced directlY in the following 
ways: 

a. A blast wave propagated in air. (Blast Concussion) 

b. Physical excitation With a mech~ical driver 
or horn, 'f:.~.ed to the resonant frequency of' 
the head. il . 

A single blast pressure wave propagated in air ~ust have considerable 
intensity in order to produce br31n concussion, h~Jever, there Ls 
considerable evidence (Carver & Dinsley) that 111oq1iication of' the 
pressure wave can produce profound effects • 

Excitation of tne resonance cavitation ~ using a tuned driver 
at this tiMe appears to be well within the relM of possibility. 
'!:•e neurotic-lilcll l'laniit~stations nol"!.ally associated With blast 
c'neussion eould possibly be induced ~ this method. 'Ose of 
this method,Qowever, would require actual physical contact with 
the drivers. * 

10.9 Excitaticn of the resonance cavitation ~ tuned sound waves also 
apr,ears tG be ·a reasonable possibility. Concentration of the sour.e­
field at s~me re~ote point could be effected with accoustical lenses 
·and raflectors, The blast duration would be in the order of' a 
tenth of a second. Y~sking of a noise of' this duration should not 
be too diiicult. 

11.0 It would p~ssibly be advantageous to establish the effeetivness 
of' bot~·of. the above ~ethods as· a tool in brain-wash therapy. 
A full knoWledge or the r.ethod and the r'sulting sequela should be 
of aid to any person forced to submit to such treatment. 

12.0 Possibly the ~ost significant potential aspect of this.stuey would 
be in the develoP"'ent or practical means of giving a person tmmunit7, 
even thou;h tempo~ar.r, to brain concussion. One technique that appears 
to have potent1cl1ties involve~ the introquction of a s~~ll quantity 
of cas, approxi~ately 1 ec, into the spinal cord. This gas bubble 
would then nor.::ally 111igrate to the ventricles located at the centru.':l 
of the brain. The ability of this bubble to expand under dyna111ic 
loading would be most effective in preverit~ng resonance cavitation 
fro111 occuring, · 

(Orig1n:ll ar.d sole eopy :ag~:) 
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MATERIAL FOR THE RECORD 

MKSEARCH. OFTEN/CHICKW'IT 

).!KSEARCH was the name give-n to the continuation of the :\IETLTHA pro­
gram. }'umlinl! commenced in FY 1006, and end(!>d In FY lUi:!. Its purpose wus to 
d<:velop, test, o.n!l evaluate capabilities in th~ ('OYert u~>e of biologicul, chemical, 
and radioactive material syst~.>ms and te<:bnit1ues for Ilroduciug lll'e<iictable human 
hehaviornland/or phy;.:iologknl d1anges in 8upport of highly :;ensitiY(' nperntional 
requirements. 

OF"rEX/CHICKWIT 

In 1907 the Otfiee of Resenr<·h nnd De,·e!opment (ORD) aml the Edgewood 
Arsenal Re~nrcl1 Laboratorif.'s undertook H 11rogrnm for doing research on the 
identification nud chnrncterizntion of drugs that could influence human behavior. 
Edgewood had tlH' fllt:ilitie:; for the full mng-t' nf laiJom tory nnd dinicnl tt>~ting. 
A phased pro:.rram ·wns em·isicmed that would consi;-;t of acquisition of drugs and 
chemical compounds believed to lm;·e effed~ on the J.x.lulvlor of humans, and 
testing aud eYaluating these materials tllrot<gh !al.mril.tul'Y Pl'Oi::~lures and toxi· 
cologicnl studie;;. Compounds !Jplienxl 11romising ns u x-esult of tesh; on animals 
were then to be e,·aluated clinicaUy with human subjects nt t;dgewood. Substances 
of pot€'ntial use would then be ana!;n;ed structurally ns a basis for identifying aml 
synthesizing possible new derivatives of greater utility. 

'The program was <livid~d into t·wo projed;;. ProjPct OFTE:'i was to deal \Vith 
testing the toxicological, trunsmisi vity and i1ehn vio:..-al effects of drugs in animals 
and, ultimntel,r. humnns. ProjPct CHIC'KWIT wns l'OO<>Prnffi-with ncquirlng infor­
mation on uew drug devel.ovments in Euroxle nnd the Orient, and with acquiring 
samples. · 

There is n discrepancy bet\\"een the testimon~· of DOD and CIA .re~arding the 
te~'ting at Edgewood Ars£•nal ·in June 19i3. 'Vhile tllere i:; agr€'ement that human 
te!'ting occurred at that place nnd time, ti11?re is di~agreement us to who wa~ 
responsible for financing- and sponsorship. ( !5ee hearings before the Subcommittee 
on Het'lth and Scientific Research of the Senate Humnn Resources Committee, 
SE.'ptem!Jer: 21, 197i.) 
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THE DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE 

WASHINGTON. D. C. 20!05 

Office of legillotive Counll!l 23 December 1977 

Honorable Daniel K. Inouye, Chairman 
Select Committee on Intelligence 
United States Senate 
Washi~gton, D.C. 20510 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

During Admiral Turner's 3 August 1977 testimony 
before your Committee and the Senate Human Resources 
Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research, you asked 
whether any Agency employees had been terminated because of 
their participation in MKULTRA Subproject 3. Admiral 
Turner indicated he did not believe any employee had 
been terminated, but would have Agency records searched 
on this question. Our records have been searched and the 
results confirm the Director's testimony that no such 
actions were taken. 

Sincerely, 
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QKHILLTOP DEFINITION 

QKHILLTOP was a cryptonym assigned In 1954 to a project to study Chinese 
Communist brainwashing techniques and· to del"elop Interrogation te<>hniques. 
~ost ot the early studies are bellen~d to ban? been conducted by the Cornell 
Universlty :\iedical School HutPan Ecology Study Programs. The effort was 
absorood into the :\IK'C'LTRA program and the QKHILLTOP cryptonym became 
obsolete. The Society for the in>estigation of Human Ecology, later the Human 
Ecology Fund, was an outgrowth of the QKHILLTOP . 
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